OBJECTIVE DIETARY ASSESSMENT IN NUTRITION EPIDEMIOLOGY STUDIES

EDITED BY: Megan A. McCrory, Natasha Tasevska and John Draper PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Nutrition



€ 🕫 🗘 کې





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88971-731-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88971-731-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

OBJECTIVE DIETARY ASSESSMENT IN NUTRITION EPIDEMIOLOGY STUDIES

Topic Editors: **Megan A. McCrory,** Boston University, United States **Natasha Tasevska**, Arizona State University Downtown Phoenix campus, United States **John Draper**, Aberystwyth University, United Kingdom

Citation: McCrory, M. A., Tasevska, N., Draper, J., eds. (2021). Objective Dietary Assessment in Nutrition Epidemiology Studies. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88971-731-6

Table of Contents

05 Comparing Self-Reported Sugar Intake With the Sucrose and Fructose Biomarker From Overnight Urine Samples in Relation to Cardiometabolic Risk Factors

Stina Ramne, Nicola Gray, Sophie Hellstrand, Louise Brunkwall, Sofia Enhörning, Peter M. Nilsson, Gunnar Engström, Marju Orho-Melander, Ulrika Ericson, Gunter G. C. Kuhnle and Emily Sonestedt

19 Future Directions for Integrative Objective Assessment of Eating Using Wearable Sensing Technology

Andy Skinner, Zoi Toumpakari, Christopher Stone and Laura Johnson

28 Traditional Self-Reported Dietary Instruments Are Prone to Inaccuracies and New Approaches Are Needed

Michele N. Ravelli and Dale A. Schoeller

- Reproducibility of Dietary Intake Measurement From Diet Diaries, Photographic Food Records, and a Novel Sensor Method
 Juan M. Fontana, Zhaoxing Pan, Edward S. Sazonov, Megan A. McCrory, J. Graham Thomas, Kelli S. McGrane, Tyson Marden and Janine A. Higgins
- 40 Design and Characterisation of a Randomized Food Intervention That Mimics Exposure to a Typical UK Diet to Provide Urine Samples for Identification and Validation of Metabolite Biomarkers of Food Intake Naomi D. Willis, Amanda J. Lloyd, Long Xie, Martina Stiegler, Kathleen Tailliart, Isabel Garcia-Perez, Edward S. Chambers, Manfred Beckmann, John Draper and John C. Mathers
- 56 Within- and Between-Household Variation in Food Expenditures Among Low-Income Households Using a Novel Simple Annotated Receipt Method

Sruthi Valluri, Simone A. French, Brian Elbel, J. Michael Oakes, Sarah A. Rydell and Lisa J. Harnack

- 67 Challenges Associated With the Design and Deployment of Food Intake Urine Biomarker Technology for Assessment of Habitual Diet in Free-Living Individuals and Populations—A Perspective Manfred Beckmann, Thomas Wilson, Amanda J. Lloyd, Duarte Torres, Ana Goios, Naomi D. Willis, Laura Lyons, Helen Phillips, John C. Mathers and John Draper
- 86 Characterizing Measurement Error in Dietary Sodium in Longitudinal Intervention Studies

Adam Pittman, Elizabeth A. Stuart and Juned Siddique

- **95** Genetic Variants Shaping Inter-individual Differences in Response to Dietary Intakes—A Narrative Review of the Case of Vitamins Aikaterini Niforou, Valentini Konstantinidou and Androniki Naska
- **113** The Potential of Multi-Biomarker Panels in Nutrition Research: Total Fruit Intake as an Example

Aoife E. McNamara, Janette Walton, Albert Flynn, Anne P. Nugent, Breige A. McNulty and Lorraine Brennan

121 Estimating Dining Plate Size From an Egocentric Image Sequence Without a Fiducial Marker

Wenyan Jia, Zekun Wu, Yiqiu Ren, Shunxin Cao, Zhi-Hong Mao and Mingui Sun

131 Dietary Inflammatory Index Is Associated With Inflammation in Japanese Men

Ayaka Kotemori, Norie Sawada, Motoki Iwasaki, Taiki Yamaji, Nitin Shivappa, James R. Hebert, Junko Ishihara, Manami Inoue and Shoichiro Tsugane

139 Validity and Reliability of a Water Frequency Questionnaire to Estimate Daily Total Water Intake in Adults

Abigail T. Colburn, Evan C. Johnson, François Péronnet, Lisa T. Jansen, Catalina Capitan-Jimenez, J. D. Adams, Isabelle Guelinckx, Erica T. Perrier, Andy Mauromoustakos and Stavros A. Kavouras





Comparing Self-Reported Sugar Intake With the Sucrose and Fructose Biomarker From Overnight Urine Samples in Relation to Cardiometabolic Risk Factors

Stina Ramne^{1*}, Nicola Gray², Sophie Hellstrand¹, Louise Brunkwall¹, Sofia Enhörning^{1,3}, Peter M. Nilsson¹, Gunnar Engström¹, Marju Orho-Melander¹, Ulrika Ericson¹, Gunter G. C. Kuhnle² and Emily Sonestedt¹

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Natasha Tasevska, Arizona State University Downtown Phoenix Campus, United States

Reviewed by:

Timm Intemann, Leibniz Institute for Prevention Research and Epidemiology (LG), Germany Katherene Anguah, University of Missouri, United States

> *Correspondence: Stina Ramne stina.ramne@med.lu.se

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 09 February 2020 Accepted: 17 April 2020 Published: 06 May 2020

Citation:

Ramne S, Gray N, Hellstrand S, Brunkwall L, Enhörning S, Nilsson PM, Engström G, Orho-Melander M, Ericson U, Kuhnle GGC and Sonestedt E (2020) Comparing Self-Reported Sugar Intake With the Sucrose and Fructose Biomarker From Overnight Urine Samples in Relation to Cardiometabolic Risk Factors. Front. Nutr. 7:62. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.00062 ¹ Department of Clinical Sciences Malmö, Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden, ² Department of Food and Nutritional Sciences, School of Chemistry, Food and Pharmacy, University of Reading, Reading, United Kingdom, ³ Department of Internal Medicine, Skåne University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden

Studies on sugar intake and its link to cardiometabolic risk show inconsistent results, partly due to dietary misreporting. Cost-effective and easily measured nutritional biomarkers that can complement dietary data are warranted. Measurement of 24-h urinary sugars is a biomarker of sugar intake, but there are knowledge gaps regarding the use of overnight urine samples. We aim to compare (1) overnight urinary sucrose and fructose measured with liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, (2) self-reported sugar intake measured with web-based 4-day food records, (3) their composite measure, and (4) these different measures' (1-3) cross-sectional associations with cardiometabolic risk factors in 991 adults in the Malmö Offspring Study (18-69 years, 54% women). The correlations between the reported intakes of total sugar, added sugar and sucrose was higher for urinary sucrose than fructose, and the correlations for the sum or urinary sucrose and fructose (U-sugars) varied between $r\approx$ 0.2–0.3 (P < 0.01) in men and women. Differences in the direction of associations were observed for some cardiometabolic risk factors between U-sugars and reported added sugar intake, as well as between the sexes. In women, U-sugars, but not reported added sugar intake, were positively associated with systolic and diastolic blood pressure and fasting glucose. Both U-sugars and added sugar were positively associated with BMI and waist circumference in women, whereas among men, U-sugars were negatively associated with BMI and waist circumference, and no association was observed for added sugar. The composite measure of added sugars and U-sugars was positively associated with BMI, waist circumference and systolic blood pressure and negatively associated with HDL cholesterol in women (P < 0.05). Conclusively, we demonstrate statistically significant, but not very high, correlations between reported sugar intakes and U-sugars. Results indicate that overnight urinary sugars may be used as a complement

5

to self-reported dietary data when investigating associations between sugar exposure and cardiometabolic risk. However, future studies are highly needed to validate the overnight urinary sugars as a biomarker because its use, instead of 24-h urine, facilitates data collection.

Keywords: added sugar intake, nutritional biomarkers, urinary sucrose and fructose, overnight urinary sugars, cardiometabolic risk factors

INTRODUCTION

Sugars have received increasing attention in recent decades and have been linked to metabolic syndrome and related conditions and diseases (obesity, type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease) (1-3). However, the strength of the available evidence is weak (4), and the inconsistent results might partly be explained by difficulties in measuring sugar intake as an exposure. Misreporting through self-reported dietary assessment methods is a challenge that complicates the conclusions of epidemiological investigations of health risks associated with high sugar consumption. Hence, there is a need to identify objective measurements of dietary intake in the form of nutritional biomarkers to complement subjective self-reported data (5). It should also be emphasized that with this need for nutritional biomarkers follows an almost equally important need for these biomarkers to be relatively cost-effective and easily measured.

The measurement of 24-h urinary sucrose and fructose as a predictive biomarker for sugar intake was first recognized after its dose-response relationship was demonstrated through controlled sugar intake and its validity to estimate sugar intake (after ad libitum intake) was confirmed (6). Thereon, this biomarker has been compared against several different dietary assessment methods (7, 8), e.g., correlation of r = 0.21 with a 4-day food record (8). As compared to the predictive 24-h urinary sugar biomarker, the concentration biomarker from spot or overnight urinary sugar samples (9, 10) is substantially easier to collect but has only been compared with reported sugar intake in three previous studies (two in the same cohort) (11-13). Only one of these studies, which was performed in children, reported correlation coefficients between the spot morning urinary sugar levels and reported sugar intake (r = 0.25) (13). In the other cohort, higher urinary sucrose levels (from any time spot urine samples) were associated with an increased risk of being overweight, whereas higher self-reported sugar intake was associated with a decreased risk (12).

The principle behind this biomarker is based on the understanding that very small amounts of sucrose can evade hydrolysis by sucrase and be absorbed in the jejunum as a disaccharide instead of being cleaved into glucose and fructose (10, 14). Fructose, either directly from the diet or as hydrolyzed sucrose, is transported to the liver and only small amounts can evade the hepatic metabolism and remain in the circulation. In the circulation, sucrose and fructose, unlike glucose, are not hormonally regulated by insulin, and hence, non-metabolized sucrose and fructose are excreted in the urine (15). At most, \sim 0.05% of consumed sucrose and fructose is excreted in the urine and detected in 24-h samples, but this small amount correlates very well with sugar intake under controlled dietary intake and urination conditions (r = 0.88) (6). This correlation exists even though the dietary and urinary sugars reflect somewhat different factors: consumed and absorbed sugars. However, there is a lack of knowledge on the performance of this biomarker in free living populations and in overnight urine instead of 24-h urine samples, which means that both the biomarker and self-reported dietary data in this study are subject to individual uncertainties.

This biomarker from non-24-h urine samples classifies as a so-called concentration biomarker, and therefore lacks the ability to predict true sugar intake and to use for regression calibration (10, 16). However, Freedman et al. (17, 18) have proposed that combining self-reported intake with concentration biomarkers into composite measures is a way to improve investigation of diet-disease relationships.

The objective of this study was to compare the measurement of sucrose and fructose in overnight urine samples, self-reported sugar intake and their combination, as well as to assess and compare their associations with cardiometabolic risk factors.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Subjects

The Malmö Offspring Study (MOS) is a prospective cohort comprised of adult children and grandchildren of participants from the Malmö Diet and Cancer-Cardiovascular Cohort (MDC-CC), which was conducted in the 1990s. The individuals comprising MOS were recruited through invitation letters beginning in 2013. The eligibility criteria were a minimum of 18 years of age and at least one parent or grandparent who participated in the MDC-CC. The participants visited the research clinic twice (\sim 1 week apart) for clinical examinations, collection of biological samples and instructions on how to fill in a lifestyle questionnaire and maintain a 4-day web-based food record at home (19). Participants started recording their diet prospectively the day after their first visit and brought their overnight urine samples on the morning of the second visit. For the present cross-sectional study, from the first 1,532 urine samples collected in the MOS, we selected those from all the non-diabetic participants with complete dietary data

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; BP, blood pressure; e-GFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; LTPA, leisure-time physical activity; MDC-CC, malmö diet and cancer-cardiovascular cohort; MOS, malmö offspring study; PC, principal component; QC, quality control; SSB, sugar-sweetened beverage; U-fructose, urinary fructose; U-osm, urine osmolality; U-sucrose, urinary sucrose; U-sugars, sum of urinary sucrose and fructose.

and a reported energy intake within the range of 500–6,000 kcal/d (**Figure 1**). The MOS received ethical approval from the Regional Ethics Committee in Lund (Dnr.2012/594) and all the participants signed a written informed consent form prior to participation, all in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Dietary Data

Dietary data were collected using the Riksmaten2010 method, developed by the Swedish National Food Agency, which involves an online 4-day web-based food record (20). Each participant started recording their diet on the day after the first visit to the research clinic to ensure representation of all days of the week among the studied population. The participants were instructed to record everything they consumed for four consecutive days. The portion size was estimated using photographs of different portion sizes, and the food record was linked to the food database of the Swedish National Food Agency.

Data on total mono- and disaccharides and sucrose were obtained from the food database. Total sugars (g/d) were calculated by summing all mono- and disaccharides (which includes glucose, fructose, galactose, sucrose, lactose and maltose), and the total sugar density (g/1,000 kcal) was calculated by dividing the total sugar intake by the energy intake/1,000. The level of added sugars, as defined by the European Food Safety Authority and the Nordic Nutrition Recommendations: "The term "added sugars" refers to sucrose, fructose, glucose, starch hydrolysates (glucose syrup, high-fructose syrup) and other isolated sugar preparations used as such or added during food preparation and manufacturing." (21, 22) (including isolated sugar preparations such as honey and syrup), was estimated by subtracting naturally occurring monosaccharides and sucrose in fruits and berries (10 g/100 g), vegetables (3 g/100 g), and juices (8 g/100 g) from the sum of the reported intake of monosaccharides and sucrose (assuming that lactose and maltose are not added to foods). The following formula was used for the estimation (all intake variables are expressed in g/day): added sugar = monosaccharides + sucrose-(fruit and berries \times 0.1 + vegetables \times 0.03 + juice \times 0.08). The resulting value was transformed into the percentage of non-alcoholic energy intake (E%). The total sugar density is expressed in g/1,000 kcal, whereas the added sugar density is expressed in E% to facilitate comparisons with previous studies. The investigated sugar sources were desserts (desserts, cakes, cookies, pastries and ice cream), sweets (sweets, chocolate and bars), toppings expressed in servings/day (1 serving of table sugar, syrup or honey = 10 g, 1 serving of jam, marmalade or jelly = 20 g), sugar-sweetened beverages (SSBs; soft drinks, non-carbonated sugar-sweetened drinks, chocolate drinks), fruits (fruits and berries including dried and preserved) and juices (fruit and vegetable juices). One subject outlier was excluded from the statistical analysis due to an extremely high reported juice intake, which resulted in an unreasonable estimation of added sugar intake; and thus, the total study sample comprised 991 subjects (Figure 1). The added sugar intake (E%) was the dietary variable primarily investigated in this study because that is what



is of most interest in terms of cardiometabolic risk. This is despite the fact that the measured urinary biomarker cannot distinguish between naturally occurring and added sucrose and fructose, but the alternative, i.e., investigation of the total sugar intake, does not perfectly reflect the biomarker either because both lactose and maltose form a substantial part of the total sugars.

Urinary Data

Collection of Overnight Urine Samples

Comprehensive instructions to ensure a standardized urine collection procedure were provided on the first visit to the research clinic. Overnight urine was collected on the morning of the second research visit. The instructions were to empty the bladder before bedtime and collect all urine thereafter during the night and all of the first morning urine in a plastic bottle while fasting. At the clinic, the urine samples were stored in a refrigerator for a maximum of 4 h before being transferred to the laboratory, where they were aliquoted and relocated to a -80° C freezer.

Preparation of Calibration Standards, Internal Standards and Quality Control

Calibration standards of sucrose and fructose (Sigma Aldrich, Gillingham, UK) were prepared ranging from 0.1 to 500 μ mol/L. Stable isotope-labeled internal standard solution was prepared in acetonitrile containing $^{13}C_{12}$ -sucrose at 4 μ g/mL and $^{13}C_6$ -fructose at 10 μ g/mL. Quality controls (QCs) of 1 μ mol/L (low QC), 7.5 μ mol/L (medium QC), and 75 μ mol/L (high QC) were analyzed in duplicate throughout each batch of samples. The precision and accuracy of the analysis were assessed by determining the replicates of the low, medium and high QC samples across all batches of samples.

Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS/MS)

The urine samples were stored at-80°C until, thawed at 4°C and diluted with the internal standard mix. LC-MS/MS analysis was performed using an Acquity UPLC system (Waters, Milford, MA, USA), coupled to a Quattro Ultima tandem quadrupole mass spectrometer (Micromass, Manchester, UK). The mass spectrometer was operated through electrospray ionization in positive ion mode using multiple reaction monitoring mode. In total, 226 samples were not successfully analyzed, and 81 samples were outside the calibration range and were thus excluded from the analysis. Out of those 81 samples, those above the calibration range (24 sucrose samples and 7 fructose samples) were reanalyzed at a 4-fold-higher dilution and a calibration range extending to 1,000 µmol/L. These re-analyses were successfully performed and resulted in re-inclusion for the sucrose samples (with the exception of 4 samples), but not with fructose (Figure 1).

Adjustment for Urine Dilution

To adjust for urine dilution, the urinary sugars concentrations were expressed as ratios to the urine osmolality (U-osm, mOsm/kg H₂O), i.e., in units of $(\mu \text{mol} \cdot \text{L}^{-1})/(\text{mOsm} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1})$. U-osm was selected for dilution adjustment over urinary creatinine because the latter could be associated with body mass index (BMI) and could consequently induce a false association between urinary sugars and BMI. U-osm was measured using an i-Osmometer basic (Löser, Germany). The osmolality-adjusted urinary sucrose (U-sucrose) and fructose (U-fructose) were also added together and investigated as their sum (U-sugars). U-sugars was correlated (r = 0.95, P < 0.001) with the sum of urinary sucrose and fructose adjusted for creatinine. The osmolality-adjusted urinary sugar variables are used throughout this paper unless stated otherwise.

Data on Cardiometabolic Risk Factors

During the visits to the research clinic, anthropometrics and blood pressure were measured, and fasting blood samples were collected by a research nurse. Weight was measured using either a calibrated balance beam or a digital scale with the participant wearing light clothing. Height was measured to the nearest centimeter using a stadiometer. BMI was calculated as weight (kg)/height (m)² (19). Waist circumference was measured between the lowest rib margin and the iliac crest with the participant in a standing position. Resting blood pressure (BP) was assessed while lying after 10 min rest as the mean from two measurements. Fasting blood samples were drawn and plasma was analyzed directly for fasting glucose using HemoCue Glucose 201⁺ (HemoCue AB, Sweden) and within 4 h for total cholesterol, triglycerides and high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol using the Cobas system (Roche Diagnostics, Germany). Low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol was calculated using the Friedewald equation.

Data on Confounding Factors

Data on potential confounders were collected via a lifestyle questionnaire. Leisure-time physical activity (LTPA) was assessed using a four-level scale ranging from sedentary to regular activity ($\geq 3 \times 30$ min/week). Smoking status was categorized as never smoked, ex-smoker, irregular smoker, and regular smoker. Alcohol consumption habits were assessed on a five-level scale from never to ≥ 4 times/week, and their education level was categorized as compulsory school, upper secondary school and university degree. Data on medication use were also self-reported via the lifestyle questionnaire. The relative estimated glomerular filtration rate (e-GFR) was estimated using the revised Lund-Malmö equation (23).

Misreporting of energy intake was evaluated according to Goldberg and Black's cutoffs for misreporting of energy intake based on a two-standard-deviations discrepancy between individual physical activity levels and the ratio of energy intake to the basal metabolic rate (24). Individual physical activity levels were obtained from the Riksmaten2010 based on physical activity at work and LTPA (both assessed using a four-level scale ranging from sedentary to heavy manual labor/exercise $\geq 3 \times$ 30 min/week). To enable comparisons with the ratio of energy intake to basal metabolic rate, basal metabolic rate was calculated using the Oxford equations by taking sex, age, and weight into account (22, 25).

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using Stata/SE (version 15; StataCorp LLC, USA). The urinary sugar variables were skewed even after adjustment for U-osm and were therefore \log_{10} -transformed. Since sex differences were observed, the statistical analyses were mainly performed divided by sex.

The baseline characteristics were evaluated separately for men and women over quintiles of U-sugars and 6 categories of added sugar intake, namely, $\leq 5E$, $>5-\leq 7.5E$, $>7.5-\leq 10E$, $>10-\leq 15E$, $>15-\leq 20E$, and >20E%, which were previously investigated in relation to mortality in the Malmö Diet and Cancer Study (26). Categorical variables were expressed as percentages and continuous variables were expressed and mean (SD) or median (IQR), dependent on their distribution.

Partial correlation analysis adjusting for energy intake, age, sex, and BMI was performed between the different urinary sugar variables and the reported dietary sugar variables to evaluate the agreement between the two measurement methods. An alluvial plot was created to visualize the agreement between the 6 added sugar intake categories and the quintiles of U-sugars. To assess misclassification, equal groups are necessary and for this purpose sex-specific quartiles were used for crosstabulation of the Usugars and reported added sugar intake.

We assume no mediation through the urinary sugar biomarker in the potential association between sugar intake and cardiometabolic disease. Therefore, according to reasoning by Freedman et al. (17) the combination of U-sugars and reported added sugar intake (E%) into one composite measure of exposure was obtained using both the principal component (PC) method and the Howe's method. In the PC method, in the case of only two variables that are positively correlated (such as in this situation), the first PC is proportional to the sum of the two variables, each divided by their own standard deviations. In Howe's method, all U-sugar values and added sugar values were ranked, and the ranks were summed (17).

Linear regression was used to examine the associations of Usugars, reported added sugar intake (E%) and their composite measures with cardiometabolic risk factors. In the regression models, model 1 was adjusted for age and sex [and total energy intake for the analyses of added sugar intake (E%) and the composite measures, i.e., the multivariate nutrient density model was used for energy adjustment (27)], and model 2 was additionally adjusted for educational level, LTPA, smoking status, alcohol consumption habits and fiber density (g/1,000 kcal). The regressions with total cholesterol, triglycerides, HDL and LDL cholesterol were also adjusted for the usage of lipidlowering drugs, and the regressions with systolic and diastolic BP were also adjusted for the usage of antihypertensive drugs. The interaction with sex was evaluated in all regression analyses. In sex-specific analyses, interactions with obesity (BMI≥30 or BMI<30) were evaluated for U-sugars, and interactions with energy underreporting (yes or no) and obesity were evaluated for added sugar intake.

To further understand the relationships, an attempt to identify and map out all potential and measured predictors of Usugars was performed through partial correlation analyses for men and women separately. The multivariate partial correlation model was determined through stepwise backward linear regression. All covariates were added simultaneously to the linear regression model, and the covariate with the highest P-value was excluded from the model in a stepwise manor until all covariates were deemed statistically significant. The investigated variables included added sugar intake; intake of desserts, sweets, toppings, SSBs, fruit, and berries, and juice; educational level; smoking status; alcohol consumption habits; LTPA; BMI; waist circumference; systolic BP; fasting glucose; Uosm; and e-GFR. We investigated U-sugars unadjusted for Uosm. Instead, U-osm was included as a covariate. All of these sexspecific partial correlations and multivariate linear regressions were adjusted for energy intake and age. A significance level of $\alpha = 0.05$ was applied and corrections for multiple testing were not performed. Therefore, the presented P-values should be interpreted with caution.

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics

Among the total study sample of 991 participants with complete dietary data, we obtained valid measurements within the calibration range for U-sucrose [median 32.7 µmol/L (12.6-85.7)] from 889 participants and for U-fructose [median 18.0 µmol/L (7.4-44.0)] from 775 participants (not adjusted for Uosm). In total, 763 participants presented valid measurements for both U-sucrose and U-fructose (Figure 1). The mean age of the cohort was 39 years (range 18-69). As observed in Tables 1, 2, the lowest mean age was seen in the highest groups of both added sugar and U-sugars. A higher percentage of women were seen among the low groups of both added sugar and U-sugars. Among those reporting high added sugar intake, we observed lower proportions of energy underreporters, high consumers of alcohol and individuals with regular LTPA \geq 3 × 30 min/week in both men and women. In those with high Usugars, the proportions with a university degree appeared to be lower. High reported energy intake was observed among those reporting high added sugar intake, but not in those with high U-sugars. Higher U-osm was observed in women with higher Usugars. Intake of most sugar-rich foods and beverages appears to increase with increasing U-sugars, while intake of fruit appears to decrease. Although, a substantial part of zero-consumption has been reported for some of the sugar-rich foods and beverages (Table 2).

Correlations Between Urinary and Dietary Sugars

The alluvial plot in **Figure 2** displays the agreement between the 6 categories of added sugar intake and quintiles of Usugars based on the proportion of participants belonging to each category of the two different variables. In assessment of misclassification, the percentage of gross misclassification equaled 8% for women and 7% for men, while 32 and 34%, respectively, of the values were correctly classified (**Supplementary Figure 1**).

Sucrose intake (g/d), total sugar intake (g/d), total sugar density (g/1,000 kcal) and added sugar intake (E%) showed a higher statistically significant correlation with both U-sucrose and U-sugars ($r \approx 0.20 - 0.30$, P < 0.01), than with U-fructose ($r\approx 0.11-0.14$, P < 0.03), after adjusting for energy intake, age, sex and BMI (Table 3). Overall, the correlations were slightly weaker with total sugar and total sugar density (r = 0.21, P < 0.21) 0.01 and r = 0.20, P < 0.01 with U-sugars, respectively) than with reported intake of sucrose and added sugar (both r = 0.24, P < 0.240.01 with U-sugars), and were weaker for women than for men e.g., (r = 0.20, P < 0.01 and r = 0.27, P < 0.01 between addedsugar intake and U-sugars, respectively). U-sugars correlated with intake of desserts, sweets and SSBs, but not with toppings, juice and fruits. Additionally, among men but not women, SSB intake correlated with all the different urinary sugars, and Ufructose was positively correlated with juice intake and negatively correlated with fruit intake.

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of women and men in the Malmö Offspring Study across 6 categories of added sugar intake, E%.

Added sugar intake, E%	≤5E%	>5E% to ≤7.5E%	>7.5E% to ≤10E%	>10E% to ≤15E%	>15E% to ≤20E%	>20E%
Women (<i>n</i> = 533)						
<i>n</i> (% women)	13 (34.2)	50 (53.2)	100 (56.5)	192 (52.3)	119 (58.1)	59 (53.6)
University degree, %	60.0	45.8	50.0	48.1	41.7	49.1
LTPA \geq 3 × 30 min/wk, %	46.2	38.0	21.0	35.9	35.3	20.3
Current smokers, %	0.0	14.6	11.0	8.15	13.8	19.6
Alcohol consumed >twice/wk, %	40.0	41.7	47.8	26.1	22.9	8.93
Energy underreporters, %	69.2	36.0	31.0	30.2	20.2	28.8
Age, y	39.3 (15)	45.7 (13)	43.2 (12)	39.7 (13)	37.6 (14)	32.5 (11)
BMI, kg/m ²	22.2 (1.8)	24.7 (3.2)	25.2 (5.0)	25.0 (4.9)	24.1 (4.3)	26.1 (6.8)
Energy intake, kcal/d	1348 (402)	1569 (398)	1782 (450)	1833 (486)	1894 (493)	1920 (564)
U-osm, mOsm/kg	556 (325)	535 (218)	563 (233)	578 (231)	597 (229)	675 (255)
Men (<i>n</i> = 458)						
<i>n</i> (% men)	25 (65.8)	44 (46.8)	77 (43.5)	175 (47.7)	86 (42.0)	51 (43.4)
University degree, %	26.1	23.1	41.8	41.8	21.1	31.3
LTPA \geq 3 × 30 min/wk, %	36.0	34.1	36.4	29.7	22.1	19.6
Current smokers, %	8.33	15.4	7.46	9.87	17.8	12.5
Alcohol consumed >twice/wk, %	25.0	53.9	46.3	39.7	28.8	21.7
Energy underreporters, %	64.0	45.5	46.8	30.3	24.4	25.5
Age, y	39.4 (11)	42.2 (15)	41.1 (13)	38.5 (13)	38.2 (13)	37.7 (13)
BMI, kg/m ²	27.2 (4.1)	25.9 (3.3)	26.2 (2.9)	25.9 (4.2)	25.9 (4.3)	26.3 (4.1)
Energy intake, kcal/d	1991 (779)	2014 (532)	2127 (532)	2389 (672)	2440 (664)	2497 (669)
U-osm, mOsm/kg	695 (260)	660 (236)	683 (249)	737 (249)	689 (264)	764 (286)

The categorical variables are expressed as percentages. The continuous variables are expressed as the means (SDs).

LTPA, leisure-time physical activity; BMI, body mass index; U-osm, urine osmolality.

Cardiometabolic Risk Factors

Differences between men and women were observed in the associations between sugar exposure (both added sugar intake and U-sugars) and several cardiometabolic risk factors. Usugars, but not reported added sugar intake, were positively associated with systolic BP, diastolic BP and fasting glucose only in women. However, added sugar intake, but not Usugars, was negatively associated with fasting glucose in men. Additionally, in women, both U-sugars and added sugar intake associated positively with BMI and waist circumference, whereas among men, U-sugars were negatively associated with BMI and waist circumference, and no association was observed for added sugar intake. Statistically significant interactions with sex were found for the associations of both U-sugars and added sugar intake with BMI and waist circumference. Added sugar intake was negatively associated with HDL cholesterol in both men and women. No associations were found with total cholesterol, triglycerides or LDL cholesterol (Table 4).

The combination of U-sugars and reported added sugars into a composite measure of sugar exposure using the PC method revealed statistically significant positive associations with BMI, waist circumference and systolic BP, and a statistically significant negative association with HDL cholesterol in women, whereas none of the cardiometabolic risk factors were associated with the PC of sugar exposure in men (**Table 4**). Combining by Howe's method (**Supplementary Table 1**) showed resembling associations with the same cardiometabolic risk factors as when using the PC method, but overall yielded lower coefficients and only the associations with HDL were statistically significant.

Energy underreporting was identified as a statistically significant effect modifier in the associations between reported added sugar intake and BMI and waist circumference in women. These positive associations were attenuated after the removal of energy underreporters. A statistically significant interaction between obesity and U-sugars was obtained in the regression with systolic BP in women: obese individuals exhibited a markedly stronger positive association than the non-obese individuals (BMI \geq 30: β = 3.15, *P* = 0.03; BMI<30: β = 11.9, *P* < 0.01; **Supplementary Table 2**).

Potential Predictors of Overnight Urinary Sugars

We used stepwise backward linear regression in an attempt to identify the major predictors of U-sugars (not adjusted for U-osm) (**Table 5**). After taking possible and measured predictors into account, the main predictors of the various sugar intake variables were added sugar intake for men (r = 0.31) and intake of desserts (r = 0.10) and sweets (r = 0.21) for women. U-osm was found to be a strong predictor in both women and men (r = 0.41 and r = 0.40, respectively). Systolic BP and fasting glucose also exhibited positive associations with U-sugars in women, whereas education level and waist circumference showed negative associations

TABLE 2 Baseline characteristics of women and men in the Malmo	Offspring Study across quintiles (Q1–Q5) of U-sugars, $(\mu mol \cdot L^{-1})/(mOsm \cdot kg^{-1})$.
--	---

	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5	
U-sugars, mean	0.02	0.05	0.09	0.17	0.43	
(range), (μmol·L ^{−1})/(mOsm·kg ^{−1})	(0.01–0.04)	(0.04–0.07)	(0.07–0.12)	(0.12–0.26)	(0.26–3.85)	
Women (<i>n</i> = 412)						
n (% women)	75 (49.0)	76 (50.0)	70 (45.8)	96 (62.8)	95 (62.5)	
University degree, %	50.7	60.0	44.8	50.0	36.0	
LTPA≥3 × 30 min/wk, %	29.3	35.5	31.4	25.0	26.3	
Current smokers, %	7.04	8.45	10.5	17.4	13.5	
Alcohol consumed >twice/wk, %	29.6	32.4	32.8	39.5	21.4	
Energy underreporters, %	32.0	25.0	22.9	25.0	27.4	
Age, y	41.1 (14)	42.2 (12)	40.1 (13)	39.8 (13)	36.9 (13)	
BMI, kg/m²	24.4 (4.17)	25.2 (4.76)	24.6 (4.18)	24.6 (4.27)	25.5 (5.63)	
J-osm, mOsm/kg	540 (236)	568 (229)	636 (250)	592 (239)	653 (244)	
Energy intake, kcal/d	1,782 (508)	1,869 (481)	1,840 (443)	1,835 (500)	1,864 (536)	
Sucrose, g/d	33.0 (20.3)	38.2 (23.7)	35.7 (19.2)	41.2 (23.9)	45.9 (27.8)	
Total sugar, g/d	73.7 (30.4)	83.1 (31.2)	76.2 (30.5)	84.3 (35.2)	90.5 (38.4)	
Total sugar density, g/1,000 kcal	41.3 (11.3)	44.6 (12.4)	41.1 (12.8)	45.5 (14.5)	48.3 (14.6)	
Added sugar, E%	11.6 (4.98)	12.8 (4.50)	12.1 (4.92)	13.6 (5.85)	15.0 (5.42)	
Desserts, g/d ^a	25.3 (10.0, 53.1)	28.1 (10.6, 69.8)	35.4 (21.3, 59.5)	38.1 (11.9, 73.1)	37.5 (12.8, 75.	
Sweets, g/d ^a	10.0 (0.5, 20.8)	13.4 (3.5, 28.9)	13.8 (3.5, 37.0)	15.5 (4.3, 35.9)	13.8 (0.0, 50.0	
Toppings, servings/d ^a	0.24 (0.0, 0.54)	0.05 (0.0, 0.84)	0.0 (0.0, 0.59)	0.26 (0.0, 0.71)	0.0 (0.0, 0.54	
SSBs, g/d ^a	0.0 (0.0, 50.0)	0.0 (0.0, 75.0)	0.0 (0.0, 125)	25.0 (0.0, 129)	0.0 (0.0, 150)	
Juice, g/d ^a	0.0 (0.0, 75.0)	0.0 (0.0, 90.6)	0.0 (0.0 (75.0)	0.0 (0.0, 87.5)	0.0, 0.0, 75.0	
Fruits, g/d ^a	103 (39.0, 170)	95.1 (55.8, 169)	81.1 (47.2, 128)	82.3 (32.6, 152)	75.6 (24.5, 15	
Men (<i>n</i> = 351)						
n (% men)	78 (51.0)	76 (50.0)	83 (54.3)	57 (37.3)	57 (37.5)	
University degree, %	33.3	50.8	30.0	25.5	22.7	
LTPA ≥3 × 30 min/wk, %	32.1	26.3	28.9	28.1	29.8	
Current smokers, %	7.04	8.82	18.1	6.38	15.9	
Alcohol consumed >twice/wk, %	40.3	48.5	40.9	36.2	27.3	
Energy underreporters, %	39.7	36.8	33.7	31.6	21.1	
Age, y	39.7 (11.0)	41.5 (12.8)	39.9 (14.5)	39.1 (13.7)	36.9 (14.3)	
BMI, kg/m²	27.5 (4.52)	25.9 (3.53)	25.8 (3.61)	26.4 (3.98)	25.5 (4.23)	
J-osm, mOsm/kg	740 (264)	698 (262)	692 (245)	689 (260)	781 (230)	
Energy intake, kcal/d	2,278 (707)	2,297 (670)	2,370 (624)	2,285 (575)	2,479 (698)	
Sucrose, g/d	36.6 (29.3)	47.4 (31.7)	47.0 (25.9)	50.3 (33.7)	66.8 (39.9)	
Total sugar, g/d	79.9 (40.6)	93.7 (46.3)	96.7 (41.0)	97.7 (47.4)	113 (49.3)	
Total sugar density, g/1,000 kcal	34.2 (12.0)	40.5 (13.6)	40.5 (12.9)	42.0 (16.3)	45.3 (14.5)	
Added sugar, E%	10.6 (4.94)	12.5 (5.06)	13.0 (5.06)	13.8 (5.51)	15.4 (6.15)	
Desserts, g/d ^a	27.5 (0.0, 57.5)	30.0 (6.3, 63.5)	38.0 (10.0, 72.5)	33.8 (10.0, 72.5)	56.3 (15.0, 94,	
Sweets, g/d ^a	0.0 (0.0, 20.5)	7.8 (0.0, 20.8)	11.3 (0.0, 26.3)	9.0 (0.0, 35.0)	12.5 (0.0, 49.0	
Toppings, servings/dª	0.0 (0.0, 0.39)	0.09 (0.0, 0.67)	0.31 (0.0, 0.89)	0.0 (0.0, 0.80)	0.0 (0.0, 0.76	
SSBs, g/d ^a	0.0 (0.0, 100)	75.0 (0.0, 175)	75.0 (0.0, 200)	125 (0.0, 275)	200 (0.0, 375	
Juice, g/d ^a	0.0 (0.0, 100)	0.0 (0.0, 150)	0.0 (0.0, 100)	0.0 (0.0, 150)	0.0 (0.0, 150)	
Fruits, g/dª	42.7 (5.7, 84.5)	57.1 (14.5, 103)	42.5 (12.5, 98.0)	31.7 (4.4, 100)	28.0 (2.0, 64.5	

The categorical variables are expressed as percentages. The continuous variables are expressed as the means (SDs) unless stated otherwise.

^a data is expressed as median (IQR) due to skewed distribution.

U-sugars, sum of urinary sucrose and fructose; LTPA, leisure-time physical activity; BMI, body mass index; U-osm, urine osmolality, SSB, sugar-sweetened beverage.

with U-sugars in men. When examining osmolality-adjusted U-sugars instead, excluding U-osm in the multivariate model, the same predictors remained to a similar extent (data not shown).

DISCUSSION

We showed statistically significant correlations of $r \approx 0.20-0.30$ between reported sugar intakes and overnight urinary sugars



FIGURE 2 Alluvial plot demonstrating the agreement based on crosstabulation of the 6 categories of reported added sugar intake (\leq 5E, $>5-\leq$ 7.5E, $>7.5-\leq$ 10E, $>10-\leq$ 15E, $>15-\leq$ 20E, and >20E%) and quintiles of U-sugars (Q1–Q5). U-sugars, sum of urinary sucrose and fructose.

after adjusting for age, sex, energy intake, and BMI. The relatively low coefficients of these correlations and the modest agreement observed in the alluvial plot may reflect that both these measures of sugar intake are subject to random variation and measurement error. However, importantly, such possible errors are completely unrelated (misreporting and potential unknown determinants), which therefore indicates a potential and need for the combination of these two measurements. As discussed and shown in both data simulations and in real world examples by Freedman et al. (17, 18), even when the correlation between reported intakes and the biomarker is not very high, combination of the two measurements is motivated. Hence, these two measurements could potentially complement each other to

improve the assessment of the associations between added sugar intake and cardiometabolic risk.

The observed correlation coefficients in this study agree with the results of a previous study of spot morning urine samples in children (r = 0.25) (13). This similarity was obtained even though the collection of urinary and dietary data did not reflect the exact same days in our study, which was the case in the previous study. However, the previous study did not reveal large differences in the comparison of the single 24-h recall from the day before collection of the morning spot urine samples and multiple 24-h recalls (13). The correlation coefficients obtained in our study are also similar to previous findings obtained with the validated predictive 24-h urinary sugar biomarker in free living populations; in the Nutrition and Physical Activity Assessment Study, the correlation with total sugar density from a 4-day food record was r = 0.21 (8), which is comparable to that found in our study between total sugar density and U-sugars (r =0.20). Because we only can compare against self-reported sugar intake and not true intake, it is not straightforward to compare these correlations and the observed exact agreement of 32-34% to warranted limits used in biomarker validation studies [r =0.5-0.6 and quartile agreement of at least 50% (28, 29)].

In our study, the correlation of reported added sugar intake with U-fructose was notably weaker than that with U-sucrose (0.14 and 0.27, respectively), even though only monosaccharides, in theory, should be absorbed in the jejunum. In addition, total sugar (g/d) and total sugar density (g/1,000 kcal) were not as strongly correlated with the urinary sugars as sucrose intake (g/d) and added sugar intake (E%). Previous studies have also revealed weaker correlations for intrinsic sugar (included in total sugars) than for extrinsic sugars (mainly added sugars) with the urinary sugar biomarker (13, 30). This effect could be due to the rate of digestion and absorption of the sugars, which is believed to be lower when the sugars are naturally occurring in complex foods compared to simple sugars added to foods (31). Additionally, the relatively high intakes of sugars from dairy (lactose, included in total sugars) in the Swedish diet might contribute to some of these differences.

We observed slightly stronger correlations between dietary sugars and urinary sugars in men than in women, which is supported by the findings of previous studies (7, 12). In addition to biological differences between men and women, another plausible reason for the sex differences could be that women generally tend to underreport their dietary intake more than men (7, 32, 33). However, we do not know the degree of sugar intake underreporting in our study, and energy misreporting does not necessarily reflect misreporting of sugar. However, the percentage of energy underreporters was lower among those with higher added sugar intake and tended to be lower in those with higher U-sugars. Furthermore, the high proportion of zero-reporters of SSB intake among women (57%), might contribute to why we only can see a statistically significant correlation between SSB intake and U-sugars in men but not in women.

No previous studies have evaluated urinary sugar biomarkers in relation to cardiometabolic risk factors other than TABLE 3 | Partial correlations between U-sucrose, U-fructose and U-sugars and different measures and sources of dietary sugars in all, women and men in the Malmö Offspring Study.

		U-sucros	9		U-fructose		U-sugars		
	n	r	P-value	n	r	P-value	n	r	P-value
All									
Sucrose (g/d)	889	0.27	< 0.01	775	0.13	< 0.01	763	0.24	< 0.01
Total sugar (g/d)	889	0.22	< 0.01	775	0.12	< 0.01	763	0.21	< 0.01
Total sugar density (g/1,000 kcal)	889	0.22	< 0.01	775	0.13	< 0.01	763	0.20	< 0.01
Added sugar (E%)	889	0.27	< 0.01	775	0.14	< 0.01	763	0.24	< 0.01
Desserts (g/d)	889	0.09	< 0.01	775	0.05	0.14	763	0.11	< 0.01
Sweets (g/d)	889	0.20	< 0.01	775	0.07	0.04	763	0.18	< 0.01
Toppings (servings/d)	889	0.03	0.31	775	-0.01	0.78	763	0.02	0.67
SSBs (g/d)	889	0.18	< 0.01	775	0.09	0.01	763	0.16	< 0.01
Juice (g/d)	889	0.04	0.25	775	0.11	< 0.01	763	0.06	0.08
Fruits (g/d)	889	-0.04	0.21	775	-0.04	0.25	763	-0.05	0.15
Women									
Sucrose (g/d)	467	0.23	< 0.01	421	0.11	0.03	412	0.19	< 0.01
Total sugar (g/d)	467	0.19	< 0.01	421	0.13	< 0.01	412	0.18	< 0.01
Total sugar density (g/1,000 kcal)	467	0.15	< 0.01	421	0.12	0.02	412	0.16	< 0.01
Added sugar (E%)	467	0.21	< 0.01	421	0.13	< 0.01	412	0.20	< 0.01
Desserts (g/d)	467	0.05	0.25	421	0.005	0.92	412	0.09	0.07
Sweets (g/d)	467	0.21	< 0.01	421	0.12	0.02	412	0.20	< 0.01
Toppings (servings/d)	467	-0.02	0.65	421	-0.05	0.33	412	-0.04	0.48
SSBs (g/d)	467	0.08	0.08	421	0.01	0.79	412	0.05	0.34
Juice (g/d)	467	0.02	0.71	421	0.05	0.27	412	0.03	0.48
Fruits (g/d)	467	-0.05	0.33	421	0.0007	0.99	412	-0.03	0.60
Men									
Sucrose (g/d)	422	0.30	< 0.01	354	0.14	< 0.01	351	0.28	< 0.01
Total sugar (g/d)	422	0.25	< 0.01	354	0.11	0.03	351	0.22	< 0.01
Total sugar density (g/1,000 kcal)	422	0.27	< 0.01	354	0.12	0.02	351	0.23	< 0.01
Added sugar (E%)	422	0.31	< 0.01	354	0.13	0.01	351	0.27	< 0.01
Desserts (g/d)	422	0.13	< 0.01	354	0.11	0.05	351	0.12	0.02
Sweets (g/d)	422	0.18	< 0.01	354	0.01	0.83	351	0.16	< 0.01
Toppings (servings/d)	422	0.08	0.12	354	0.02	0.68	351	0.05	0.34
SSBs (g/d)	422	0.26	< 0.01	354	0.16	< 0.01	351	0.25	< 0.01
Juice (g/d)	422	0.05	0.33	354	0.15	< 0.01	351	0.09	0.11
Fruits (g/d)	422	-0.04	0.37	354	-0.12	0.03	351	-0.10	0.05

The partial correlations are adjusted for age, sex, energy intake and BMI (not adjusted for sex in sex-specific analyses). The urinary sugar variables are log₁₀-transformed. U-sucrose, urinary sucrose; U-fructose, urinary fructose; U-sugars, sum of urinary sucrose and fructose; SSB, Sugar-sweetened beverages; BMI, body mass index.

anthropometric measurements. The examination of spot urinary sucrose (not morning urine) in relation to obesity measures in the EPIC Norfolk cohort revealed a positive association between the risk of being overweight and higher spot urinary sucrose, whereas a negative association between risk of being overweight and higher self-reported sugar intake (12). Hence, it can be speculated that the lack of a positive association between reported sugar intake and risk of being overweight might be partly explained by a measurement error bias in the dietary assessment, which is not an issue with the objective measurement of sucrose in spot urine samples. Similar patterns were observed in our study for systolic BP, diastolic BP and fasting glucose in women; these parameters were positively associated with U-sugars but not with reported added sugar intake. However, such a pattern was not observed for the other cardiometabolic risk factors. In fact, both Usugars and added sugar intake were positively associated with BMI and waist circumference and negatively associated with HDL cholesterol in women, indicating quite credible associations, and the combination of the two measurements strengthened the associations for these cardiometabolic risk factors. In men, however, U-sugars were negatively associated with BMI and waist circumference, while no association was found with added sugar intake. Nevertheless, cross-sectional examination of BMI and waist circumference in relation to dietary intake is difficult because large body measurements might affect one's dietary awareness more than the "nonvisual" cardiometabolic risk factors. Hence, the direction of the TABLE 4 | Linear regression of U-sugars, added sugar intake and their composite measure (PC) on cardiometabolic risk factors in the Malmö Offspring Study.

		A	I			Wom	en	Men		
	n	ß	95% CI	P-int sex	n	ß	95% CI	n	ß	95% CI
BMI (kg/m²)										
U-sugars (μ mol·L ⁻¹)/(mOsm·kg ⁻¹)										
Model 1	763	0.15	-0.45, 0.77		412	1.03	0.14, 1.92	351	-1.00	-1.84, -0.16
Model 2	677	0.08	-0.58, 0.74	<0.01	381	1.05	0.12, 1.97	296	-1.45	-2.40, -0.51
Added sugar (E%)	0	0.00	0.000, 011 1		001		0112, 1101	200		2110, 0101
Model 1	991	0.08	0.02, 0.13		533	0.14	0.06, 0.22	458	0.01	-0.05, 0.08
Model 2	889	0.03	-0.03, 0.09	0.03	493	0.10	0.01, 0.19	396	-0.03	-0.10, 0.05
Composite measure	000	0.00	0.00, 0.00	0.00	100	0.10	0.01, 0.10	000	0.00	0.10, 0.00
Model 1	763	0.35	0.15, 0.55		412	0.55	0.28, 0.82	351	-0.04	-0.35, 0.27
Model 2	677	0.26	0.04, 0.48	<0.01	381	0.50	0.22, 0.79	296	-0.24	-0.59, 0.11
Waist circumference (cm)	011	0.20	0.04, 0.40	<0.01	001	0.00	0.22, 0.79	230	-0.24	-0.33, 0.11
U-sugars (μ mol·L ⁻¹)/(mOsm·kg ⁻¹)										
Model 1	763	-0.09	-1.68, 1.50		412	2.00	-0.21, 4.21	351	-2.94	-5.18, -0.70
Model 2	677	-0.09 -0.20	-1.84, 1.45	<0.01	381	2.00	-0.23, 4.28	296	-2.94 -3.79	-6.19, -1.39
Added sugar (E%)	011	-0.20	-1.04, 1.40	<0.01	301	2.02	-0.23, 4.20	290	-3.79	-0.19, -1.39
Model 1	991	0.24	0.11, 0.37		533	0.34	0.14, 0.53	458	0.13	-0.05, 0.30
Model 2		0.24	,	0.05				396	0.05	,
	889	0.15	0.01, 0.29	0.05	493	0.25	0.03, 0.46	390	0.05	-0.14, 0.24
Composite measure	760	1.00	0.49, 1.51		412	1.04	0.69, 0.00	051	0.00	0.60 1.06
Model 1	763		,	0.01		1.34	0.68, 2.00	351	0.23	-0.60, 1.06
Model 2	677	0.76	0.22, 1.30	<0.01	381	1.19	0.51, 1.88	296	0.19	-1.09, 0.70
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)										
U-sugars (µmol·L ⁻¹)/(mOsm·kg ⁻¹)								054		
Model 1	763	-0.08	-0.22, 0.05		412	-0.06	-0.23, 0.11	351	-0.11	-0.33, 0.11
Model 2	677	-0.14	-0.28, 0.01	0.91	381	-0.12	-0.30, 0.06	296	-0.15	-0.40, 0.10
Added sugar (E%)								150		
Model 1	990	-0.006	-0.02, 0.01		532	-0.009	-0.02, 0.01	458	-0.002	-0.02, 0.02
Model 2	888	-0.009	-0.02, 0.004	0.41	492	-0.02	-0.03, 0.0003	396	-0.001	-0.02, 0.02
Composite measure										
Model 1	763	-0.02	-0.06, 0.03		412	-0.02	-0.07, 0.04	351	-0.01	-0.09, 0.07
Model 2	677	-0.03	-0.07, 0.02	0.69	381	-0.03	-0.08, 0.03	296	-0.02	-0.11, 0.08
Triglycerides (mmol/L)										
U-sugars (μ mol·L ⁻¹)/(mOsm·kg ⁻¹)										
Model 1	757	0.04	-0.05, 0.13		409	0.02	-0.07, 0.11	348	0.06	-0.11, 0.23
Model 2	671	0.02	-0.08, 0.11	0.96	378	0.007	-0.09, 0.11	293	-0.01	-0.20, 0.18
Added sugar (E%)										
Model 1	980	0.007	-0.001, 0.01		527	-0.00001	-0.01, 0.01	453	0.01	-0.001, 0.02
Model 2	878	0.003	-0.01, 0.01	0.49	487	-0.004	-0.01, 0.01	391	0.006	-0.01, 0.02
Composite measure										
Model 1	757	0.03	-0.00001, 0.06		409	0.01	-0.02, 0.04	348	0.06	-0.01, 0.12
Model 2	671	0.02	-0.01, 0.05	0.49	378	0.003	-0.03, 0.03	293	0.03	-0.03, 0.10
HDL cholesterol (mmol/L)										
U-sugars (μ mol·L ⁻¹)/(mOsm·kg ⁻¹)										
Model 1	763	-0.06	-0.13, -0.003		412	-0.10	-0.19, -0.01	351	-0.02	-0.10, 0.06
Model 2	677	-0.04	-0.11, 0.02	0.16	381	-0.07	-0.17, 0.02	296	0.01	-0.07, 0.09
Added sugar (E%)										
Model 1	990	-0.02	-0.02, -0.01		532	-0.02	-0.03, -0.01	458	-0.01	-0.02, -0.005
Model 2	888	-0.01	-0.02, -0.01	0.04	492	-0.02	-0.02, -0.01	396	-0.009	-0.02, -0.002
Composite measure										
Model 1	763	-0.04	-0.06, -0.02		412	-0.05	-0.08, -0.02	351	-0.03	-0.06, -0.01
Model 2	677	-0.03	-0.05, -0.01	0.32	381	-0.03	-0.06, -0.001	296	-0.03	-0.06, 0.002

(Continued)

TABLE 4 | Continued

	All					Wom	ien		Men		
	n	ß	95% CI	P-int sex	n	ß	95% CI	n	ß	95% CI	
LDL cholesterol (mmol/L)											
U-sugars (µmol·L ⁻¹)/(mOsm·kg ⁻¹)											
Model 1	763	-0.06	-0.18, 0.06		412	-0.02	-0.17, 0.13	351	-0.11	-0.31, 0.09	
Model 2	677	-0.13	-0.26, 0.01	0.66	381	-0.09	-0.26, 0.07	296	-0.16	-0.39, 0.07	
Added sugar (E%)											
Model 1	989	0.006	-0.004, 0.02		531	0.006	-0.01, 0.02	458	0.007	-0.01, 0.02	
Model 2	887	0.002	-0.01, 0.01	0.68	491	-0.003	-0.02, 0.01	396	0.008	-0.01, 0.03	
Composite measure											
Model 1	763	0.01	-0.03, 0.05		412	0.02	-0.03, 0.06	351	0.006	-0.07, 0.08	
Model 2	677	-0.006	-0.05, 0.04	0.90	381	-0.006	-0.06, 0.04	296	0.008	-0.07, 0.09	
Systolic BP (mmHg)											
U-sugars (μ mol·L ⁻¹)/(mOsm·kg ⁻¹)											
Model 1	761	2.92	1.13, -4.70		410	4.22	1.74, 6.71	351	1.54	-0.98, 4.05	
Model 2	675	2.95	0.99, 4.92	0.22	379	4.63	1.96, 7.30	296	1.30	-1.55, 4.16	
Added sugar (E%)											
Model 1	988	-0.09	-0.24, 0.05		530	-0.02	-0.23, 0.20	458	-0.12	-0.31, 0.07	
Model 2	886	-0.09	-0.26, 0.08	0.87	490	-0.02	-0.27, 0.22	396	-0.09	-0.31, 0.13	
Composite measure											
Model 1	761	0.48	-0.11, 1.06		410	0.89	0.13, 1.66	351	0.13	-0.79, 1.06	
Model 2	675	0.46	-0.19, 1.12	0.55	379	1.01	0.17, 1.85	296	-0.09	-1.13, 0.96	
Diastolic BP (mmHg)											
U-sugars (μ mol·L ⁻¹)/(mOsm·kg ⁻¹)											
Model 1	761	1.10	-0.13, 2.33		410	1.80	0.16, 3.43	351	0.17	-1.71, 2.04	
Model 2	675	1.30	-0.01, 2.62	0.43	379	1.81	0.07, 3.55	296	0.58	-1.48, 2.64	
Added sugar (E%)											
Model 1	988	0.03	-0.07, 0.13		530	0.008	-0.13, 0.15	458	0.05	-0.09, 0.20	
Model 2	886	-0.01	-0.12, 0.10	0.98	490	-0.02	-0.18, 0.14	396	0.003	-0.15, 0.16	
Composite measure											
Model 1	761	0.54	0.14, 0.94		410	0.49	-0.01, 0.99	351	0.60	-0.08, 1.28	
Model 2	675	0.45	0.02, 0.88	0.86	379	0.48	-0.06, 1.02	296	0.41	-0.34, 1.16	
Fasting glucose (mmol/L)											
U-sugars (μ mol·L ⁻¹)/(mOsm·kg ⁻¹)											
Model 1	762	0.09	-0.003, 0.19		412	0.14	0.04, 0.25	350	0.01	-0.15, 0.18	
Model 2	677	0.10	0.0003, 0.20	0.22	381	0.16	0.05, 0.26	296	0.03	-0.17, 0.22	
Added sugar (E%)											
Model 1	990	-0.007	-0.01, 0.001		533	-0.003	-0.01, 0.01	457	-0.01	-0.02, -0.0000	
Model 2	889	-0.008	-0.02, 0.001	0.04	493	-0.002	-0.01, 0.01	396	-0.01	-0.03, 0.001	
Composite measure											
Model 1	762	-0.0003	-0.03, 0.03		412	0.009	-0.02, 0.04	350	-0.03	-0.09, 0.03	
Model 2	677	-0.0004	-0.03, 0.03	0.11	381	0.01	-0.02, 0.05	296	-0.03	-0.10, 0.04	

Total cholesterol, triglycerides, HDL, and LDL cholesterol and fasting glucose are measured in plasma. U-sugars are log₁₀-transformed. The composite measure is the first PC of the two variables U-sugars and added sugars.

Model 1 is adjusted for age and sex (and energy intake for added sugar and the composite measure).

Model 2 is additionally adjusted for educational level, LTPA, smoking status, alcohol habits, and fiber density. Regressions with total cholesterol, triglycerides, HDL, and LDL cholesterol are additionally adjusted for usage of lipid lowering drugs and regressions with systolic and diastolic BP are additionally adjusted for usage of antihypertensive drugs. U-sugars, sum of urinary sucrose and fructose; PC, principal component; BMI, body mass index; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; BP, blood pressure; LTPA, leisure-time physical activity.

observed associations is uncertain. Furthermore, there may exist sex differences in the effects on weight gain from a high sugar diet as it has been observed that the inhibition of lipolysis by insulin is more profound in women than men (34). Our observed sex differences in the associations with cardiometabolic risk factors were unexpected findings outside the scope of our study objective, which futures studies are encouraged to elucidate. TABLE 5 | Partial correlation coefficients between U-sugars (not adjusted for U-osm) and its potential predictors in women and men of the Malmö Offspring Study.

		Wome	n (<i>n</i> = 373)		Men (<i>n</i> = 295)					
	Separate models ^a		Multivariate model ^{a, b}		Separate models ^a		Multivariate model ^{a,}			
	r	Р	r	Р	r	Р	r	Р		
Added sugar (E%)	0.23	< 0.01			0.27	< 0.01	0.31	< 0.01		
Desserts (g/d)	0.09	0.08	0.10	0.04	0.14	< 0.01				
Sweets (g/d)	0.22	< 0.01	0.21	< 0.01	0.16	< 0.01				
Toppings (servings/d)	-0.02	0.72			0.05	0.35				
SSBs (g/d)	0.07	0.15			0.25	< 0.01				
Fruits (g/d)	-0.10	0.05			-0.14	0.01				
Juice (g/d)	0.02	0.68			0.10	0.07				
Education level	-0.12	0.03			-0.12	0.05	-0.13	0.02		
Smoking status	0.05	0.35			0.06	0.28				
Alcohol habits	-0.09	0.09			-0.005	0.93				
LTPA	-0.05	0.34			-0.03	0.56				
BMI (kg/m²)	0.11	0.02			-0.08	0.12				
Waist circumference (cm)	0.09	0.08			-0.08	0.12	-0.18	< 0.01		
Systolic BP (mmHg)	0.18	< 0.01	0.17	< 0.01	0.08	0.13				
Fasting glucose (mmol/L)	0.13	< 0.01	0.12	0.01	0.01	0.78				
U-osm (mOsm/kg)	0.41	< 0.01	0.41	< 0.01	0.39	< 0.01	0.40	< 0.01		
e-GFR (ml/min/1.73 m ²)	-0.05	0.33			-0.08	0.16				

^aAll partial correlations are adjusted for age and energy intake.

^b The multivariate partial correlation model was determined through stepwise backward linear regression. All covariates were added simultaneously to a linear regression model and the covariate with the highest P-value was excluded in a stepwise manner from the model until all covariates were deemed significant.

U-sugars are log₁₀-transformed. Fasting glucose is measured in plasma.

U-sugars, sum of urinary sucrose and fructose; U-osm, urine osmolality; SSB, sugar-sweetened beverages; LTPA, leisure-time physical activity; BMI, body mass index; BP, blood pressure; e-GFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate.

Previous studies have discussed whether the amount of urinary sucrose and fructose might differ between obese and lean participants (11, 35) due to the potentially higher gut permeability of obese individuals (36, 37). Therefore, the associations between U-sugars and measures of obesity might be due to other underlying causes in addition to the notion that a high sugar intake would lead to weight gain. Nevertheless, no difference in the 24-h urinary levels of either sucrose or fructose in obese compared with normal weight subjects was observed in a randomized controlled trial (35). In women, we observed positive correlations between U-sugar and systolic BP and fasting glucose and these parameters also fell out as predictors of U-sugars, but one could discuss the putative causal direction of these associations. In addition to the theory that a high sugar intake would lead to an impaired metabolic status, both systolic BP and fasting glucose are major risk factors for renal insufficiency and it is possible that this could influence urinary excretion of sugars (38). However, to our knowledge, no previous study has shown that the amounts of sucrose and fructose excreted in the urine is affected by insulin resistance. Because only glucose is regulated by insulin in the circulation, the same principle as for urinary excretion of glucose cannot be applied to sucrose and fructose.

The limitations of this study are the lack of longitudinal data for the cardiometabolic risk factors and that urinary sugar data is generated from overnight urine samples instead of 24-h samples. We were therefore also bound to use

other methods than regression calibration for combining the biomarker with reported intake (10). To date, the overnight urine biomarker has only been compared to self-reported sugar intake data, which cannot be used for validating a nutritional biomarker (39), and no earlier study has ever reported the correlation between the sugar concentrations in overnight urine samples and 24-h urine samples. However, the benefit of using overnight samples over any time spot samples is that they are less affected by recent past meals (40). Furthermore, residual confounding can almost be considered indisputable, and future studies are needed to identify the determinants of spot and overnight urinary sugars. Therefore, the following important question remains: Which measurement is most valid, the self-reported added sugar intake, which is likely to be biased by misreporting, or the sum of sucrose and fructose in overnight urine samples, which only reflects a point measurement and for which determinants other than sugar intake remain unknown? At this current state of knowledge, we believe that they both contribute partly to the truth and may complement each other. However, this must be validated against true sugar intake or the 24-h urinary sucrose and fructose biomarker in the future. Future studies should also investigate potential sex differences to improve the understanding of the urinary sugar biomarker, as well as considering the use of repeated overnight or spot urine samples to obtain improved precision, while still facilitating urine collection as compared with 24-h urine sampling.

In summary, we found statistically significant correlations at levels of $r\approx 0.20-0.30$ and demonstrated the potential for using the sugar level in overnight urine samples to complement self-reported dietary data in investigations of cardiometabolic risk. The combination of U-sugars and added sugar intake indicated that a higher sugar intake in women is associated with higher BMI, waist circumference and systolic BP and lower HDL cholesterol. Considering the potential gains from collecting only overnight urine instead of 24-h urine in regard to participant burden, drop-out rates, missing data and selective participation, the overnight urinary sugar biomarker calls for further validation.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The dataset for this article is not publicly available because of ethical and legal restrictions. Requests to access the dataset should be directed to the Chair of the Steering Committee for the Malmö cohorts, see instructions at https://www.malmo-kohorter.lu.se/english.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Regional Ethics Committee in Lund. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SR and ES designed the research. SR performed all statistical analyses and wrote the manuscript under the supervision of ES. NG performed the laboratory analyses of the urine samples

REFERENCES

- Malik VS, Popkin BM, Bray GA, Despres JP, Willett WC, Hu FB. Sugar-sweetened beverages and risk of metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care.* (2010) 33:2477–83. doi: 10.2337/dc 10-1079
- Te Morenga L, Mallard S, Mann J. Dietary sugars and body weight: systematic review and meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials and cohort studies. *BMJ*. (2012) 346:e7492. doi: 10.1136/bmj.e7492
- Te Morenga LA, Howatson AJ, Jones RM, Mann J. Dietary sugars and cardiometabolic risk: systematic review and meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials of the effects on blood pressure and lipids. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2014) 100:65–79. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.081521
- Sonestedt E, Overby NC, Laaksonen DE, Birgisdottir BE. Does high sugar consumption exacerbate cardiometabolic risk factors and increase the risk of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease? *Food Nutr Res.* (2012) 56:19104. doi: 10.3402/fnr.v56i0.19104
- Jenab M, Slimani N, Bictash M, Ferrari P, Bingham SA. Biomarkers in nutritional epidemiology: applications, needs and new horizons. *Hum Genet*. (2009) 125:507–25. doi: 10.1007/s00439-009-0662-5
- Tasevska N, Runswick SA, McTaggart A, Bingham SA. Urinary sucrose and fructose as biomarkers for sugar consumption. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2005) 14:1287–94. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-0 4-0827

under the supervision of GK. SE contributed with data on the urine osmolality. The collection of dietary data in the MOS was administered by SH, UE, LB, and SR. PN is the principal investigator for the MOS, whereas MO-M is in charge of the dietary data in the MOS. NG, SH, LB, SE, GE, PN, MO-M, UE, GK, and ES all contributed important input to the manuscript. SR and ES had primary responsibility for the final content.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the Swedish Research Council (2016-01501); the Heart and Lung Foundation (2016-0267); and the Albert Påhlsson Foundation. The MOS was supported by grants from the Swedish Research Council (521-2013-2756, 2013-210, 2014-366, 2018-02784); the Heart and Lung Foundation (2015-0427, 2013-0598, 2017-0523); the Region Skåne, Skåne University Hospital; the European Research Council (ERC-CoG-2014-649021); the EFSD Lilly Award 2014 (2015-338); the Swedish Diabetes Foundation (DIA 2018-358); and the Novo Nordisk Foundation (NNF17OC0027348, NNF18OC0034386). We also acknowledge the support provided by the Swedish Foundation for Strategic Research (IRC15-0067).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the participants and research staff in the Malmö Offspring Study.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2020. 00062/full#supplementary-material

- Tasevska N, Midthune D, Potischman N, Subar AF, Cross AJ, Bingham SA, et al. Use of the predictive sugars biomarker to evaluate selfreported total sugars intake in the Observing Protein and Energy Nutrition (OPEN) study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2011) 20:490–500. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-10-0820
- Tasevska N, Midthune D, Tinker LF, Potischman N, Lampe JW, Neuhouser ML, et al. Use of a urinary sugars biomarker to assess measurement error in self-reported sugars intake in the nutrition and physical activity assessment study (NPAAS). *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2014) 23:2874–83. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0594
- 9. Kuhnle GG. Nutritional biomarkers for objective dietary assessment. J Sci Food Agric. (2012) 92:1145–9. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.5631
- Tasevska N. Urinary Sugars–A biomarker of total sugars intake. Nutrients. (2015) 7:5816–33. doi: 10.3390/nu7075255
- Bingham S, Luben R, Welch A, Tasevska N, Wareham N, Khaw KT. Epidemiologic assessment of sugars consumption using biomarkers: comparisons of obese and nonobese individuals in the European prospective investigation of cancer Norfolk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2007) 16:1651–4. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-06-1050
- Kuhnle GG, Tasevska N, Lentjes MA, Griffin JL, Sims MA, Richardson L, et al. Association between sucrose intake and risk of overweight and obesity in a prospective sub-cohort of the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer in Norfolk (EPIC-Norfolk). *Public Health Nutr.* (2015) 18:2815–24. doi: 10.1017/S1368980015000300

- Intemann T, Pigeot I, De Henauw S, Eiben G, Lissner L, Krogh V, et al. Urinary sucrose and fructose to validate self-reported sugar intake in children and adolescents: results from the I.Family study. *Eur J Nutr.* (2018) 58:1247–58. doi: 10.1007/s00394-018-1649-6
- MENZIES IS. Absorption of intact oligosaccharide in health and disease. Biochem Soc Trans. (1974) 2:1042–7. doi: 10.1042/bst0021042
- Deane N, Smith HW. Fate of inulin and sucrose in normal subjects as determined by a urine reinfusion technique. J Clin Invest. (1955) 34:681–4. doi: 10.1172/JCI103118
- Kaaks R, Ferrari P, Ciampi A, Plummer M, Riboli E. Uses and limitations of statistical accounting for random error correlations, in the validation of dietary questionnaire assessments. *Public Health Nutr.* (2002) 5:969–76. doi: 10.1079/PHN2002380
- Freedman LS, Kipnis V, Schatzkin A, Tasevska N, Potischman N. Can we use biomarkers in combination with self-reports to strengthen the analysis of nutritional epidemiologic studies? *Epidemiol Perspect Innov.* (2010) 7:2. doi: 10.1186/1742-5573-7-2
- 18. Freedman LS, Tasevska N, Kipnis V, Schatzkin A, Mares J, Tinker L, et al. Gains in statistical power from using a dietary biomarker in combination with self-reported intake to strengthen the analysis of a diet-disease association: an example from CAREDS. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2010) 172:836–42. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwq194
- Ottosson F, Brunkwall L, Ericson U, Nilsson PM, Almgren P, Fernandez C, et al. Connection Between BMI-related plasma metabolite profile and gut microbiota. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2018) 103:1491–501. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-02114
- Amcoff E, Edberg A, Enghart Barbieri H, Lindroos AK, Nälsén C, Pearson M, et al. Riksmaten — vuxna 2010-11: Livsmedels- och Näringsintag Bland Vuxna i Sverige — Metodrapport. Uppsala: National Food Agency Sweden (2014). Available online at: https://www.livsmedelsverket.se/ globalassets/publikationsdatabas/rapporter/2014/riksmaten-vuxna-2010-11metodrapport--rapport-8---2014.pdf
- EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition, and Allergies. Scientific opinion on dietary reference values for carbohydrates and dietary fibre. *EFSA J.* (2010) 8:1462. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1462
- Nordic Council of Ministers. Nordic Nutrition Recommendations 2012. Integrating Physical Activity and Nutrition. 5th edn. Nord (2014) 2014:002. doi: 10.26530/OAPEN_483279
- Bjork J, Grubb A, Sterner G, Nyman U. Revised equations for estimating glomerular filtration rate based on the Lund-Malmo Study cohort. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest.* (2011) 71:232–9. doi: 10.3109/00365513.2011.557086
- Black AE. Critical evaluation of energy intake using the Goldberg cut-off for energy intake:basal metabolic rate. A practical guide to its calculation, use and limitations. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. (2000) 24:1119–30. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0801376
- Henry CJ. Basal metabolic rate studies in humans: measurement and development of new equations. *Public Health Nutr.* (2005) 8:1133–52. doi: 10.1079/PHN2005801
- Ramne S, Alves Dias J, Gonzalez-Padilla E, Olsson K, Lindahl B, Engstrom G, et al. Association between added sugar intake and mortality is nonlinear and dependent on sugar source in 2 Swedish population-based prospective cohorts. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2018) 109:411–23. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/ nqy268
- Willett WC, Howe GR, Kushi LH. Adjustment for total energy intake in epidemiologic studies. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1997) 65(Suppl. 4):1220S-8S; discussion 9S-31S. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/65.4.1220S

- Lampe JW, Huang Y, Neuhouser ML, Tinker LF, Song X, Schoeller DA, et al. Dietary biomarker evaluation in a controlled feeding study in women from the Women's Health Initiative cohort. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 105:466–75. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.144840
- Masson LF, McNeill G, Tomany JO, Simpson JA, Peace HS, Wei L, et al. Statistical approaches for assessing the relative validity of a food-frequency questionnaire: use of correlation coefficients and the kappa statistic. *Public Health Nutr.* (2003) 6:313–21. doi: 10.1079/PHN2002429
- Tasevska N, Runswick SA, Welch AA, McTaggart A, Bingham SA. Urinary sugars biomarker relates better to extrinsic than to intrinsic sugars intake in a metabolic study with volunteers consuming their normal diet. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2009) 63:653–9. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2008.21
- Englyst KN, Englyst HN. Carbohydrate bioavailability. Br J Nutr. (2005) 94:1–11. doi: 10.1079/BJN20051457
- 32. Livingstone MB, Black AE. Markers of the validity of reported energy intake. *J Nutr.* (2003) 133(Suppl. 3):895s–920s. doi: 10.1093/jn/133.3.895S
- Johansson L, Solvoll K, Bjorneboe GE, Drevon CA. Under- and overreporting of energy intake related to weight status and lifestyle in a nationwide sample. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1998) 68:266–74. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/68.2.266
- Varlamov O, Bethea CL, Roberts CT Jr. Sex-specific differences in lipid and glucose metabolism. *Front Endocrinol.* (2014) 5:241. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2014.00241
- Joosen AM, Kuhnle GG, Runswick SA, Bingham SA. Urinary sucrose and fructose as biomarkers of sugar consumption: comparison of normal weight and obese volunteers. *Int J Obes*. (2008) 32:1736–40. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2008.145
- Xing J, Chen JD. Alterations of gastrointestinal motility in obesity. Obes Res. (2004) 12:1723–32. doi: 10.1038/oby.2004.213
- Wisen O, Johansson C. Gastrointestinal function in obesity: motility, secretion, and absorption following a liquid test meal. *Metabolism.* (1992) 41:390–5. doi: 10.1016/0026-0495(92)90073-J
- Campbell R, Tasevska N, Jackson KG, Sagi-Kiss V, di Paolo N, Mindell JS, et al. Association between urinary biomarkers of total sugars intake and measures of obesity in a cross-sectional study. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0179508. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0179508
- Kuhnle GGC. Stable isotope ratios: nutritional biomarker and more. J Nutr. (2018) 148:1883–5. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxy247
- Luceri C, Caderni G, Lodovici M, Spagnesi MT, Monserrat C, Lancioni L, et al. Urinary excretion of sucrose and fructose as a predictor of sucrose intake in dietary intervention studies. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (1996) 5:167–71.

Conflict of Interest: GK previously received an unrestricted grant from Mars for research on flavanols unrelated to the current study.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Ramne, Gray, Hellstrand, Brunkwall, Enhörning, Nilsson, Engström, Orho-Melander, Ericson, Kuhnle and Sonestedt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Future Directions for Integrative Objective Assessment of Eating Using Wearable Sensing Technology

Andy Skinner^{1,2*}, Zoi Toumpakari³, Christopher Stone^{1,2} and Laura Johnson^{2,3}

¹ School of Psychological Science, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom, ² MRC Integrative Epidemiology Unit, Bristol Medical School, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom, ³ Centre for Exercise, Nutrition and Health Sciences, School for Policy Studies, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom

Established methods for nutritional assessment suffer from a number of important limitations. Diaries are burdensome to complete, food frequency questionnaires only capture average food intake, and both suffer from difficulties in self estimation of portion size and biases resulting from misreporting. Online and app versions of these methods have been developed, but issues with misreporting and portion size estimation remain. New methods utilizing passive data capture are required that address reporting bias, extend timescales for data collection, and transform what is possible for measuring habitual intakes. Digital and sensing technologies are enabling the development of innovative and transformative new methods in this area that will provide a better understanding of eating behavior and associations with health. In this article we describe how wrist-worn wearables, on-body cameras, and body-mounted biosensors can be used to capture data about when, what, and how much people eat and drink. We illustrate how these new techniques can be integrated to provide complete solutions for the passive, objective assessment of a wide range of traditional dietary factors, as well as novel measures of eating architecture, within person variation in intakes, and food/nutrient combinations within meals. We also discuss some of the challenges these new approaches will bring.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Natasha Tasevska, Arizona State University Downtown Phoenix Campus, United States

Reviewed by:

Adam Hoover, Clemson University, United States José María Huerta, Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Spain

*Correspondence:

Andy Skinner andy.skinner@bristol.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 02 March 2020 Accepted: 05 May 2020 Published: 02 July 2020

Citation:

Skinner A, Toumpakari Z, Stone C and Johnson L (2020) Future Directions for Integrative Objective Assessment of Eating Using Wearable Sensing Technology. Front. Nutr. 7:80. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.00080 Keywords: objective, assessment, eating, wearable, technology

INTRODUCTION

Non-communicable diseases now account for almost three quarters of global mortality, with cardiovascular disease (CVD) being the leading cause of death. Diet is responsible for more than half of CVD mortality worldwide (1). The proportion of diet-related deaths has remained relatively stable since 1990 suggesting interventions to improve food intakes have had limited success (1). A major issue in combatting diet-related disease is the way in which food intake and eating behavior are assessed. Accurate measurement of eating is key to monitoring the status quo and responses to individual or systems level interventions.

Recent years have seen a shift in nutritional science away from a focus on single nutrients such as saturated fats, toward a recognition that the complexity in patterns of food intake (e.g., combinations of foods and nutrients throughout the day), is more important in determining health (2–4). In addition to what we eat, we need to extend our understanding of eating architecture—the structure within which food and drinks are consumed. Factors such as the size, timing, and

19

frequency of eating are increasingly recognized as independent determinants of health over and above what food is being eaten (5, 6). For example, skipping breakfast is consistently associated with higher body weight and poorer health outcomes (5, 7). Breakfast tends to be a small meal eaten in the morning made up of foods higher in fiber and micronutrients and it's not clear which of these features (meal size, timing, or food type), if any, are causing the benefits to health (8).

Traditional methods of dietary assessment, such as food diaries, 24-h recalls and food frequency questionnaires (FFQs), are self-reported and prone to substantial error and bias (9–11), which may distort diet and health associations (12). Misreporting is one widely recognized limitation of self-reported dietary assessment methods, with systematic under-reporting of energy intake identified in upto 70% of adults of adults in the UK National Diet and Nutrition Surveys (13, 14). Under-reporting occurs for a range of reasons including; difficulties estimating portion sizes for ingredients of complex meals, a desire to present one's diet positively (social desirability), and poor memory (11). People tend to under-report between-meal snacks, possibly because these snacks tend to be less socially desirable or because they are more sporadic, easily forgotten events (15).

Multi-day food diaries or 24-h recalls compare best with "gold standard" dietary biomarkers (16). But diaries or recalls are labor intensive for researchers to interpret and code, and burdensome for participants, which means data capture is limited to short time periods, (typically 3–7 days) and can take years to be available after collection (17). In addition, accurate memory is essential for 24 h recalls and even with prospective methods like food diaries, reactivity is a problem, where participants report accurately but eat less than usual because their eating is being recorded (10).

FFQs, although simpler and quicker to use, only capture average food intakes. Therefore, exposures increasingly acknowledged as important like the timing of eating (6), the way that foods are combined within a meal (18) and within person variation throughout the day or day to day (17) are unmeasured. With analyses of 4-day food diaries revealing that as much as 80% of food intake variation is within-person and only 20% variation between people (19), there are many untapped avenues for research into novel mechanisms relating diet to disease and identifying opportunities for interventions.

Online versions of "traditional" dietary assessment methods have been developed, but errors and biases remain. Validation studies of a range of online 24-h recall and food diary tools have shown the same problems as their paper-based equivalents; misreporting, portion size estimation, accurately matching foods consumed to foods in composition databases, and high participant burden (16, 20, 21). With the best methods currently available, on paper or online, a maximum of 80% of true intake can be captured and there are systematic differences in the 20% of food intake missing (10, 15).

There is a clear need to enhance dietary assessment methods to reduce error and bias, increase accuracy, and provide more detail on food intake over longer periods so that truly causal associations with health can be identified. A range of reviews and surveys have provided insights into the use of technology to advance dietary assessments (22–24). Recent reviews in particular have highlighted the potential for hybrid approaches that use multiple sensors and wearable devices to improve assessments (25–27). We offer an overview of the state of the art in the use of sensor and wearable technology for dietary assessment that covers both established and emerging methods, and which has a particular focus on passive methods—those that require little or ideally no effort from participants. We illustrate how integrating data from these methods and other sources could transform diet-related health research and behaviors.

WHAT WE EAT

The most commonly used methods for objectively identifying food and portion sizes are image-based. The widespread adoption of smartphones (28) by most adults in high income countries means individuals always have a camera to hand as they go about their daily lives. Many smartphone apps exploring the use of food photography for dietary assessment have been developed and validated. Examples include the mobile food record (mFR) (29) and Remote Food Photography Method (RFPM) (30), where participants capture images of everything they eat over a defined time period by taking a photo before and after each meal. Initial problems with these methods included ensuring all meals were captured, and that photos captured all foods. There were also issues in identifying food items, both automatically and with manual coding systems. These apps were improved by adding customized reminders [drawing on ecological momentary assessment methods (31)], real-time monitoring of photos by researchers to encourage compliance, prompts to improve photo composition, and requests for supplementary information alongside photos. For example, users can confirm or correct tagged foods automatically identified in images (mFR) or add extra text or voice descriptions (RFPM).

The mFR and RFPM systems have been validated in adults using doubly labeled water (DLW) to assess the accuracy of energy intake estimated from several days of food photographs taken in free-living conditions. The mFR underestimated DLW measured energy expenditure by 19% (579 kcal/day), while the RFPM reported a mean underestimate of 3.7% (152 kcal/day), which is similar, if not slightly better, agreement than seen in selfreported methods (30). However, food photography currently has considerable researcher and participant burden because of the requirements for training, real-time monitoring, and provision of supplementary information. Crucially, participants still have to actively take photographs of everything they eat, and this may be affected by issues with memory and social desirability (32).

The introduction of wearable camera systems recording point of view images addresses some of these issues, by making the capturing of images of meals largely passive. Among the first wearable camera systems were those developed for life logging; recording images of events and activities throughout the day in order to aid recall for a variety of benefits (33, 34). Feasibility testing of one such device, SenseCam, which was worn around the neck and automatically took photographs approximately every 30 s, indicated it was promising in enhancing the accuracy of dietary assessment by identifying 41 food items across a range of food groups that were not recorded by self-report methods (35). However, wearing the device around the neck meant variations in body shape could alter the direction of the lens, so for some individuals the device did not record images of meals.

Another passive wearable camera system, e-Button, reduced the size of the device so that it could be worn attached to the chest (36). Chest mounting improved the ability of the device to capture images of meals. However, the system was a bespoke development, and the use of bespoke solutions produced in limited numbers brings challenges, including potentially high unit costs, limited availability of devices, and issues around ongoing technical support.

Recent studies in other research domains have used massmarket wearable cameras of a similar shape and size to e-Button. For example, studies of infant interactions with environments and parents have used pin-on camera devices that are widely available online as novelty "spy badges" (37, 38). These devices have many characteristics that make them ideal for capturing images of meals; their small form and light weight mean they can be easily worn on the body, and their low cost facilitates use at scale. However, these devices typically capture individual images or video sequences initiated by the user, so they lack the passive operation of devices like eButton that capture images automatically throughout the day.

If using camera devices that capture images throughout the day, the first major challenge is to identify which images contain food and drink. A camera taking photographs every 10 s and worn for 12 h a day for a week will capture nearly 30,000 images, of which perhaps only 5–10% contain eating events (39), so identifying food-related photographs is a non-trivial first step. Automatic detection of images containing food using artificial intelligence shows promise for photos taken in ideal conditions (achieving an accuracy of 98.7%) (39). However, photos taken with a wearable camera are uncontrolled and more susceptible to poor lighting and blurring, and the accuracy of identifying images that depict food ranges from 95% for eating a meal to 50% for snacks or drinks (39).

Once meal images have been identified, the next step is to code food content and portion size. Expert analysis of photographs by nutritionists is currently the most common method but requires trained staff, is time-consuming (typically months to return a dataset), and expensive (>\$10 per image). Alternatively, automated food identification and portion size assessment, using machine learning (ML) methods, is complex and computationally intensive. The latest approaches using convolutional neural networks appear promising, with accuracy ranging from 0.92 to 0.98 and recall from 0.86 to 0.93 (40) when classifying images from a food image database (41) into 16 food groups. However, identification of individual food items remains limited (42). ML methods require large databases of annotated food photos to train their algorithms, which are time-consuming to create. With more than 50,000 foods in supermarkets (21) and product innovation changing the landscape constantly, considerable challenges remain for ML approaches.

Humans, on the other hand, have life-long experience visually analyzing food, and are excellent at food recognition. Crowdsourcing approaches, in which untrained groups of people perform a short, simple (usually Internet-based) task for a small fee, might therefore offer a rapid low-cost alternative to expensive experts while ML methods develop. Platemate is one dietary assessment app that employs this approach (43). It is an end-to-end system, incorporating all stages from photographic capture of meals through to crowd-based identification of all foods and their portion sizes and nutrient content. The system is complex, however, and by involving crowds of up to 20 people per photo it results in an average processing time of 90 min and cost of \$5 per image. To be feasible for use in large-scale longitudinal studies or public health interventions, crowdsourcing of food data from photographs needs to be fast and low cost. We developed and piloted a novel system, FoodFinder (44), and found that small (n = 5) untrained crowds could rapidly classify foods and estimate meal weight in 3 min for £3.35 per photo. Crowds underestimated measured meal weight by 15% compared with 9% overestimation by an expert. A crowd's ability to identify foods correctly was highly specific (98%-foods not present in the photo were rarely reported) but less sensitive (64%-certain foods present were missed by the crowd). With further development crowdsourcing could be an important stepping-stone to the automated coding of meal images as ML methods mature. Crowdsourcing could also play an important role in this development, by creating annotated databases of meal photographs to facilitate training of ML algorithms.

In addition to image based methods for assessing meals, more recent developments in body-worn sensor technology have aimed to passively measure the consumption of specific nutrients. Small, tooth mounted sensors in which the properties of reflected radio frequency (RF) waves are modulated by the presence of certain chemicals in saliva can detect the consumption of salt and alcohol in real time (45). Similarly, tattoo like epidermal sensors that attach to, and stretch and flex with the skin can detect a variety of metabolites in an individual's perspiration that relate directly to their diet (46). For these devices, it is important that metabolites detected are specific to food intake, and not conflated with endogenous metabolites produced by the body as a result of eating.

To date these new oral and epidermal sensors have largely been tested in laboratory settings and are some way from becoming widely available. There are clearly compelling uses for these, for example accurate measurement of salt intake in patients with high blood pressure and sugar intakes in patients with diabetes, as well as enhancing food photography methods by providing non-visual nutritional composition information (e.g. sugar in tea or salt added in cooking). However, it is worth noting that these methods alone are not able to identify the food that contained these nutrients. For some dietary interests (e.g., changing dietary behaviors), food items need to be assessed rather than the nutrients they contain, and in these cases image-based methods for assessing meals will be required.

WHEN WE EAT

To advance our understanding of the effects of diet, we require objective assessments of not just what we eat, but when we eat too. A variety of approaches for the passive detection of eating events have been proposed, including; acoustic methods using ear-mounted microphones to detect chewing (47), throat microphones to detect swallowing (48) and detection of jaw movements using different sensor types attached to the head or neck (49–52).

Although these methods are capable of detecting eating events passively, they need the individual to wear bespoke sensing devices attached around the head and neck, and when used on a daily basis this inevitably introduces a considerable level of device burden. To address this, one approach is to use sensors that are embedded in or attached to items that are already part of people's daily lives.

One method explored has been the use of sensors that are part of spectacles. Some approaches to this have used piezoelectric strain sensors on the arms of glasses that are attached to the side of the head to measure movements from the temporalis muscle when chewing (53, 54). High levels of performance have been reported with this approach, with one study reporting an area under the curve for chewing detection (in a combination of laboratory and free-living tests) of 0.97 (55). However, it does require the sensors be manually attached to the head every time the glasses are worn. Others have used electromyography, in which the electrical activity associated with temporalis muscle contraction is detected using sensors imbedded in the arms of 3D printed eyeglass frames (56). This also gives good performance, with recall and precision for chewing bout detection above 77% in free-living conditions. This approach does not need manual attachment of sensors, but it does require individually tailored glass frames to ensure sufficiently good contact of the built-in sensors with the head. More broadly, not everyone wears glasses, so there is also the issue of how these approaches would work for those who do not.

Another method is to use wrist-worn devices equipped with motion sensors to automatically detect eating events. Data from gyroscope and accelerometer motion sensors can be used to identify the signature hand gestures of certain modes of eating (57, 58). Early adopters of this approach strapped smartphones to the wrist (59). This functionality is now more conveniently available in the form of off-the-shelf activity monitors and smartwatches. These devices can be highly effective in detecting eating events, with recent reports of 90.1% precision and 88.7% recall (60). However, building recognition models that can generalize well in free-living conditions where unstructured eating activities occur alongside confounding activities can be challenging, and can result in reduced precision in detection (61).

Recent reviews concluded that smartwatches are of particular interest for eating as they represent an unobtrusive solution for both the tracking of eating behavior (62), and the delivery of targeted, context-sensitive recommendations promoting positive health outcomes (63), such as Just-in-Time interventions (64).

The latest ML techniques are enabling researchers to go beyond detection of eating events using wrist-worn wearables,

to also measure within meal eating parameters such as eating speed. In a recent example, convolutional neural networks and long short-term memory ML methods were applied to data from the motion sensors in off-the-shelf smartwatches worn by 12 participants eating a variety of meal types in a restaurant (65). Sequences of bites were first detected, which were then classified into food intake cycles (starting from picking up food from the plate until wrist moves away from the mouth).

The ability to passively detect meal onset is an essential aspect of other healthcare systems too. One example is closedloop artificial pancreas systems for the management of blood glucose in patients with type 1 diabetes. Such systems rely on detecting a rise in interstitial fluid glucose concentrations (a proxy for blood glucose) using continuous glucose monitors (CGM). Meal detection can be challenging as interstitial glucose rises well after a meal has begun, limiting the current use of CGM in real-time monitoring systems. However, meal detection models using CGM have developed from being purely computerbased simulations to now showing promise when fitted to realworld data. The mean delay in detecting the start of a meal has reduced from 45 to 25 min (66). CGM could therefore be another method for the passive, objective detection of meal timings in future, although further research, particularly in populations without diabetes, is required. Encouragingly pilot work in the US indicates that wearing a CGM for up to a week is as acceptable as wearing accelerometer-based sensors for 7 days (67). Furthermore, our own pilot work in the UK ALSPAC-G2 cohort demonstrated that using the latest CGM devices, which no longer require finger prick tests for calibration, improves uptake of 6 days of monitoring (68). This reflects a growing demand for non-invasive methods for CGM.

Photoplethysmography (PPG) is a technique that detects changes in levels of reflected light as a result of variation in properties of venous blood, and which is routinely included in off-the-shelf smartwatches and activity monitors for the measurement of heart rate. This same technique can also be used to non-invasively measure glucose levels, and the latest enhancements give measurement performance approaching that of reference blood glucose measurement devices (69). This opens the possibility that non-invasive CGM using commercially available smartwatches and activity monitors may be widely available in the near future, and theoretically devices of this kind could detect glucose patterns associated with meal start and end times. Once again though, the latency between start of meal and detection would need to be determined, and meal detection algorithms evaluated.

INTEGRATING METHODS

The methods outlined above individually provide objective measurements of when, what and how much someone is eating. Integrating these methods offers the possibility of objectively capturing more complete and detailed pictures of dietary intake, while minimizing participant burden.



One previous proposal for an integrated system for objective dietary assessment involves combining smartwatch motion sensors with a camera built into the smartwatch (70). The motion sensors detect the start and stop of an eating event, and this triggers the camera to take an image of the meal for subsequent offline analysis. While this is a compact solution minimizing device burden, it does need the individual to direct the watch camera toward the meal to capture an image. More importantly, trends in smartwatch design have changed, and smartwatches typically no longer come equipped with built in cameras.

A more recent proposal again had a wrist-worn activity monitor to detect eating events, but this time combined with onbody sensors for detecting chewing and swallowing to capture more detailed information on bite count and bite rate within a meal (22). An interesting aspect of this system was the use of the individual's smartphone as the basis of a Wireless Body Area Network (WBAN) (71) to link up the activity monitor and different sensors. This enabled local communication between sensors via the smartphone, without the need to connect the sensors to a static wireless network or a cellular data connection. In **Figure 1** we propose a new architecture for an integrated system for objective assessment of diet. We draw on some elements of these previous proposals, but also incorporate new and future developments in wearable sensing technology for objective dietary assessment. The operation of the system can be conceptualized as follows:

- 1. The individual wears a smartwatch containing accelerometer and gyroscope motion sensors. Classification algorithms applied to the motion data in real time on the watch can detect the beginning and end of an eating event, the mode of eating, and provide "within meal" metrics such as speed of eating. In the future the smartwatch may also have PPG-based CGM, which provides additional data on meal timing and size.
- 2. The individual is also wearing a chest-mounted camera capturing images from their viewpoint. To keep battery consumption and data storage requirements low (minimizing device size and maximizing time between charges), the camera takes still images at short intervals (e.g., every 10 s) and stores them for a brief period (e.g., for 5 min). Images are then

deleted unless the smartwatch detects the start of an eating event, in which case images before, during and after eating are stored as a complete visual record of the meal. Saving multiple photos maximizes the chances of capturing high quality images unaffected by temporary issues with lighting, camera angle, blur, etc.

- 3. On-body sensors including oral tooth-mounted sensors and epidermal tattoos could be added to provide more detailed nutritional assessments for monitoring of specific nutrients or calibrate estimates from other tools.
- 4. The individual's smartphone forms the basis of a WBAN around their body. Most devices (e.g., activity monitors, cameras) will communicate with the smartphone using a Bluetooth connection. Oral and epidermal sensing devices that do not currently have power supplies or data storage or transfer capabilities could use Near Field Communication (NFC) as a power source and to transfer data from the sensor to the smartphone.
- 5. Segmentation, food item recognition, and volumetric estimates of portion sizes are initially computed locally on the smartphone using data from sensors and images, and these may be used to support Just-in-Time type eating behavior change interventions.
- 6. The smartphone also provides a secure connection to a cloud-based central dietary profile for the individual. Data captured by sensors is processed on the smartphone and the processed data are regularly uploaded to the central profile, perhaps when the individual is at home and their smartphone connects to their home wireless network. Processed data can then, at the individual's discretion, be linked to other sources of their own health data, including omics, clinical, and imaging data. Raw data from sensors are not uploaded to reduce privacy concerns and data transfer requirements.
- 7. Depending on the needs of the particular scenario, and balancing speed, accuracy, and cost, data from the central profile may be sent for further analysis. For example, images of meals may be sent to a crowd-based application (44), or a dietician to refine food item identification and portion sizes (72).

The resultant cloud-based central dietary profile represents a detailed view of a person's food intake and eating behavior that will provide the following benefits:

- A) Summaries of the individual's data for their personal use.
- B) Dietary data that is stored and made available for future research on eating [for example prospective cohort studies like Children of the 90s (73)].
- C) Information that can be automatically analyzed within computer-based personalized nutrition behavior change interventions involving monitoring progress in achieving changes in diet-related goals [e.g., see (74)].
- D) Information that feeds into health professional consultations [e.g., enabling a dietician to get a better picture of an individual's overall intake and eating behavior so they can spend more time on behavior change techniques rather than

having to assess diet as part of the appointment—for example see (75)].

DISCUSSION

In this article we briefly looked at how emerging digital and sensing technologies are enabling new objective assessments of dietary intake. These new methods have the potential to address many of the issues associated with current paper and online dietary assessment tools around bias, errors, misreporting, and high levels of participant or researcher burden. They do so by automating the detection and measurement of eating events, food items and portion sizes, and by providing detailed information on specific nutrients and within meal eating behaviors.

Image-based methods remain the most popular approach for objective assessment of food items and portion size. The use of on-body cameras to passively capture images of meals for subsequent processing has a number of advantages. As the individual does not have to manually initiate the capture, this helps mitigate issues such as the stigma of photographing their meals. The reliance on an individual's memory or willingness to self-report is also removed, therefore burden and bias are reduced. However, having to wear the camera device does represent a different burden, and there are issues around privacy, for example concerns from others that they may be inadvertently recorded. For nutritional assessment, image capture could be limited to eating occasions, so while concerns remain, they would hopefully be reduced.

In terms of camera devices, future developments should combine the passive operation and ease of use of a system like e-Button (36), with the low weight, size and cost, and broad availability of commercially available products. If such a device was of utility to multiple research domains (following the model of e-Button), and particularly if it had compelling mass market health or dietary use cases, demand could be sufficient for commercial production. Integration of such a device into other items already accepted for daily use (clothing, jewelery, etc.) could possibly increase acceptability further.

The emergence of sensors that attach directly to teeth or to the skin holds the promise of real time measurement of specific nutrients. These devices are at the proof of concept stage, and there are important considerations to address around durability, and how to power and read data from these devices. However, many of the mobile and wearable devices we currently use have capabilities that could possibly be adapted to work with these new sensors. For example, the near field communication wireless technology now included in most smartphones to make wireless card payments uses high frequency radio signals that could potentially be adapted to power and communicate with oral and dermal sensors (76).

In terms of detecting when people are eating, smart glasses could potentially detect the movement of, or electrical signals from the muscles used to chew, although there are the issues of sensor attachment and positioning, and how this approach

would work for people who do not normally wear glasses. Wristworn wearables such as smartwatches have the ability to detect the signature hand movements unique to eating. Consumer demand for these devices continues to grow, with worldwide shipments predicted to exceed 300 million by 2023 (from under 30 million in 2014) (77). Smartwatches are worn by individuals as part of their daily routine so they do not represent additional device burden. In addition, such devices have the capability to run 3rd party applications providing the opportunity for delivering just-in-time behavior change interventions based on the eating behaviors detected. However, battery life continues to be an issue, with smartwatches typically needing to be charged daily. Continuous monitoring of eating behaviors will exacerbate this. Also, the detection of eating behaviors from motion data often use computationally intense machine learning algorithms (e.g., convolutional neural networks) that cannot currently be used on wearable devices to detect eating in real time. This may change in the future as the processing power and battery life of smartwatches and other wearables improve and more sophisticated classification algorithms can run on these devices.

In the current review, we have proposed an architecture for an integrated system for the objective assessment of diet. Integrating methods will enable researchers to build a more detailed and complete picture of an individual's diet, and to link this with a wide range of related health data (e.g., omics, clinical, imaging). Storing this information in a central location will enable healthcare professionals, researchers and other collaborators the individual wishes to interact with to have controlled access to their detailed dietary data. However, this raises a number of important questions. Should cloud-based storage be used and where this would be hosted? What format to use for the stored data to maximize utility across applications? What model should be used for making the data available, given the rise of new models in which individuals can monetise their own data? (78).

Another key issue for new methods will be that they need to be financially sustainable over time. For integrated systems, architectures are required that minimize the time and cost of maintaining operation of the system when one component (e.g., a sensor) changes. For example, systems arranged with central hubs to which each sensor/device connects and communicates

REFERENCES

- GBD 2017 Diet Collaborators. Health effects of dietary risks in 195 countries, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet*. (2019) 393:1958–72. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30041-8
- Mozaffarian D, Rosenberg I, Uauy R. History of modern nutrition science implications for current research, dietary guidelines, and food policy. *BMJ*. (2018) 361:k2392. doi: 10.1136/bmj.k2392
- Leech RM, Worsley A, Timperio A, McNaughton SA. Understanding meal patterns: definitions, methodology and impact on nutrient intake and diet quality. *Nutr Res Rev.* (2015) 28:1–21. doi: 10.1017/S0954422414000262
- Willett WC. Nature of variation in diet. In: Willett WC, editor. Nutritional Epidemiology. 3rd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2013). p. 34–48.
- Smith KJ, Gall SL, McNaughton SA, Blizzard L, Dwyer T, Venn AJ. Skipping breakfast: longitudinal associations with cardiometabolic risk factors in the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2010) 92:1316–25. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2010.30101

reduce the impact of a change in one component compared with fully connected architectures in which each sensor/device communicates to many others.

For all of these new techniques for passive measurement of dietary intake, it will be important to understand if they introduce unexpected measurement errors and biases. New methods for estimating multiple sources of error in data captured using the latest technologies could help in this respect. These are able, for example, to separate out the effects of factors such as coverage (access to the technology), non-response and measurement error (79).

Finally, whether these methods, individually or integrated, become widely adopted will rest largely with the individuals that use them. Extensive feasibility testing will be required to explore which of these new methods people are happy to use, and which ones they are not.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AS, ZT, CS, and LJ contributed to conceptualizing and writing the article.

FUNDING

AS was funded by a UKRI Innovation Fellowship from Health Data Research UK (MR/S003894/1). LJ, AS, and CS were funded by MR/T018984/1. LJ and AS were affiliated with, and CS was a member of a UK Medical Research Council Unit, supported by the University of Bristol and the Medical Research Council (MC_UU_00011/6). ZT was funded by the Jean Golding Institute at the University of Bristol for research unrelated to this review. Some of the work presented here was funded by a catalyst award from the Elizabeth Blackwell Institute for Health Research a Wellcome Trust Institutional Strategic Support fund.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge Ben Kirkpatrick for the illustration.

- Mattson MP, Allison DB, Fontana L, Harvie M, Longo VD, Malaisse WJ, et al. Meal frequency and timing in health and disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:16647–53. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1413965111
- Monzani, A, Ricotti R, Caputo M, Solito A, Archero F, Bellone S, et al. A systematic review of the association of skipping breakfast with weight and cardiometabolic risk factors in children and adolescents. What should we better investigate in the future? *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:387. doi: 10.3390/nu11020387
- Betts JA, Chowdhury EA, Gonzalez JT, Richardson JD, Tsintzas K, Thompson D. Is breakfast the most important meal of the day? *Proc Nutr Soc.* (2016) 75:464–74. doi: 10.1017/S0029665116000318
- Dhurandhar NV, Schoeller D, Brown AW, Heymsfield SB, Thomas D, Sørensen TIA, et al. Energy balance measurement: when something is not better than nothing. *Int J Obes.* (2015) 39:1109–13. doi: 10.1038/ijo.20 14.199
- Stubbs RJ, O'Reilly LM, Whybrow S, Fuller Z, Johnstone AM, Livingstone MBE, et al. Measuring the difference between actual and reported food intakes

in the context of energy balance under laboratory conditions. *Br J Nutr.* (2014) 111:2032–43. doi: 10.1017/S0007114514000154

- Subar AF, Freedman LS, Tooze JA, Kirkpatrick SI, Boushey C, Neuhouser ML, et al. Addressing current criticism regarding the value of self-report dietary data. J Nutr. (2015) 145:2639–45. doi: 10.3945/jn.115.219634
- Reedy J, Krebs-Smith SM, Miller PE, Liese AD, Kahle LL, Park Y, et al. Higher diet quality is associated with decreased risk of all-cause, cardiovascular disease, and cancer mortality among older adults. *J Nutr.* (2014) 144:881–9. doi: 10.3945/jn.113.189407
- Johnson L, Toumpakari Z, Papadaki A. Social gradients and physical activity trends in an obesogenic dietary pattern: cross-sectional analysis of the UK National Diet and Nutrition Survey 2008–2014. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:388. doi: 10.3390/nu10040388
- Rennie K, Coward A, Jebb S. Estimating under-reporting of energy intake in dietary surveys using an individualised method. *Br J Nutr.* (2007) 97:1169–76. doi: 10.1017/S0007114507433086
- Poppitt SD, Swann D, Black AE, Prentice AM. Assessment of selective under-reporting of food intake by both obese and non-obese women in a metabolic facility. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. (1998) 22:303–11. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0800584
- Park Y, Dodd KW, Kipnis V, Thompson FE, Potischman N, Schoeller DA, et al. Comparison of self-reported dietary intakes from the automated self-administered 24-h recall, 4-d food records, and food-frequency questionnaires against recovery biomarkers. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2018) 107:80– 93. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqx002
- Thompson FE, Subar AF. Dietary assessment methodology. In: Coulston AM, Boushey CJ, Ferruzzi G, editors. *Nutrition in the Prevention and Treatment of Disease*. 3rd ed. Cambridge, CA: Academic Press; Elsevier (2013). p. 5–48.
- Woolhead C, Gibney M, Walsh M, Brennan L, Gibney E. A generic coding approach for the examination of meal patterns. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2015) 102:316–23. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.106112
- Toumpakari Z, Tilling K, Haase AM, Johnson L. High-risk environments for eating foods surplus to requirements: a multilevel analysis of adolescents' noncore food intake in the National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS). *Publ Health Nutr.* (2019) 22:74–84. doi: 10.1017/S1368980018002860
- Greenwood DC, Hardie LJ, Frost GS, Alwan NA, Bradbury KE, Carter M, et al. Validation of the Oxford WebQ online 24-hour dietary questionnaire using biomarkers. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2019) 188:1858–67. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwz165
- Wark PA, Hardie LJ, Frost GS, Alwan NA, Carter M, Elliott P, et al. Validity of an online 24-h recall tool (myfood24) for dietary assessment in population studies: comparison with biomarkers and standard interviews. *BMC Med.* (2018) 16:136. doi: 10.1186/s12916-018-1113-8
- 22. Schoeller D, Westerp-Plantenga M. Advances in the Assessment of Dietary Intake. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press (2017).
- 23. Selamat N, Ali S. Automatic Food Intake Monitoring Based on Chewing Activity: A Survey. IEEE Access (2020). p. 1.
- Magrini M, Minto C, Lazzarini F, Martinato M, Gregori D. Wearable devices for caloric intake assessment: state of art and future developments. *Open Nurs* J. (2017) 11:232–40. doi: 10.2174/1874434601711010232
- 25. Bell B, Alam R, Alshurafa N, Thomaz E, Mondol A, de la Haye K, et al. Automatic, wearable-based, in-field eating detection approaches for public health research: a scoping review. *Dig Med.* (2020) 3:38. doi: 10.1038/s41746-020-0246-2
- Hassannejad H, Matrella G, Ciampolini P, De Munari I, Mordonini M, Cagnoni, S. Automatic diet monitoring: a review of computer vision and wearable sensor-based methods. *Int J Food Sci Nutr.* (2017) 68:1–15. doi: 10.1080/09637486.2017.1283683
- Vu T, Lin F, Alshurafa N, Xu W. Wearable food intake monitoring technologies: a comprehensive review. *Computers*. (2017) 6:4. doi: 10.3390/computers6010004
- Statista. Smartphone Ownership Penetration in the United Kingdom (UK) in 2012-2019, by Age. Available online at: https://www.statista.com/statistics/ 271851/smartphone-owners-in-the-united-kingdom-uk-by-age/ (accessed January 6, 2020).
- Boushey C, Spoden M, Delp E, Zhu F, Bosch M, Ahmad Z, et al. Reported energy intake accuracy compared to doubly labeled water and usability of the mobile food record among community dwelling adults. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:312. doi: 10.3390/nu9030312

- Martin C, Correa J, Han H, Allen H, Rood J, Champagne C, et al. Validity of the Remote Food Photography Method (RFPM) for estimating energy and nutrient intake in near real-time. *Obesity*. (2011) 20:891–9. doi: 10.1038/oby.2011.344
- Maugeri A, Barchitta M. A systematic review of ecological momentary assessment of diet: implications and perspectives for nutritional epidemiology. *Nutrients*. (2109) 11:2696. doi: 10.3390/nu11112696
- 32. McClung H, Ptomey L, Shook R, Aggarwal A, Gorczyca A, Sazonov E, et al. Dietary intake and physical activity assessment: current tools, techniques, and technologies for use in adult populations. *Am J Prev Med.* (2018) 55:e93–e104. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2018.06.011
- 33. Gemmell J, Williams L, Wood K, Lueder R, Brown G. editors. Passive capture and ensuing issues for a personal lifetime store. In: *Proceedings of the 1st ACM Workshop on Continuous Archival and Retrieval of Personal Experiences*. New York, NY: Microsoft (2004).
- Hodges S, Berry E, Wood K. SenseCam: a wearable camera which stimulates and rehabilitates autobiographical memory. *Memory*. (2011) 19:685–96. doi: 10.1080/09658211.2011.605591
- Gemming L, Doherty A, Kelly P, Utter J, Mhurchu, C. Feasibility of a SenseCam-assisted 24-h recall to reduce under-reporting of energy intake. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2013) 67:1095–9. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2013.156
- 36. Sun M, Burke L, Mao Z, Chen Y, Chen H, Bai Y, et al. eButton: a wearable computer for health monitoring and personal assistance. In: *Proceedings/Design Automation Conference*. San Francisco, CA (2014).
- Sugden N, Mohamed-Ali M, Moulson M. I spy with my little eye: typical, daily exposure to faces documented from a first-person infant perspective. *Dev Psychobiol.* (2014) 56:249–61. doi: 10.1002/dev.21183
- 38. Lee R, Skinner A, Bornstein MH, Radford A, Campbell A, Graham K, et al. Through babies' eyes: Practical and theoretical considerations of using wearable technology to measure parent–infant behaviour from the mothers' and infants' viewpoints. *Infant Behav Dev.* (2017) 47:62–71. doi: 10.1016/j.infbeh.2017.02.006
- Jia W, Li Y, Qu R, Baranowski T, Burke L, Zhang H, et al. Automatic food detection in egocentric images using artificial intelligence technology. *Public Health Nutr.* (2018) 22:1–12. doi: 10.1017/S13689800180 00538
- Caldeira M, Martins P, Costa RL, Furtado P. Image classification benchmark (ICB). Expert Syst Appl. (2020) 142:112998. doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2019. 112998
- Kawano Y, Yanai K. FoodCam: a real-time food recognition system on a smartphone. *Multimedia Tools Appl.* (2014) 74:5263–87. doi: 10.1007/s11042-014-2000-8
- Ahmad Z, Bosch M, Khanna N, Kerr D, Boushey C, Zhu F, et al. A mobile food record for integrated dietary assessment. *MADiMa*. (2016) 16:53–62. doi: 10.1145/2986035.2986038
- Noronha J, Hysen E, Zhang H, Gajos K. PlateMate: crowdsourcing nutrition analysis from food photographs. In: UIST'11 - Proceedings of the 24th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology. Santa Barbara, CA (2011). p. 1–12.
- 44. Johnson L, England C, Laskowski P, Woznowski PR, Birch L, Shield J, et al. FoodFinder: developing a rapid low-cost crowdsourcing approach for obtaining data on meal size from meal photos. *Proc Nutr Soc.* (2016) 75. doi: 10.1017/S0029665116002342
- Tseng P, Napier B, Garbarini L, Kaplan D, Omenetto F. Functional, RF-trilayer sensors for tooth-mounted, wireless monitoring of the oral cavity and food consumption. *Adv Mater.* (2018) 30:1703257. doi: 10.1002/adma.201703257
- Piro B, Mattana G, Vincent N. Recent advances in skin chemical sensors. Sensors. (2019) 19:4376. doi: 10.3390/s19204376
- Amft O. A wearable earpad sensor for chewing monitoring. In: *Proceedings* of *IEEE Sensors Conference 2010*. Piscataway, NJ: Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers. (2010). p. 222–7. doi: 10.1109/ICSENS.2010.5690449
- Sazonov E, Schuckers S, Lopez-Meyer P, Makeyev O, Sazonova N, Melanson E, et al. Non-invasive monitoring of chewing and swallowing for objective quantification of ingestive behavior. *Physiol Measure*. (2008) 29:525–41. doi: 10.1088/0967-3334/29/5/001
- Sazonov E, Fontana J. A sensor system for automatic detection of food intake through non-invasive monitoring of chewing. *IEEE Sens.* (2012) 12:1340–8. doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2011.2172411

- Farooq M, Fontana J, Sazonov E. A novel approach for food intake detection using electroglottography. *Physiol Measure*. (2014) 35:739–51. doi: 10.1088/0967-3334/35/5/739
- Kohyama K, Nakayama Y, Yamaguchi I, Yamaguchi M, Hayakawa F, Sasaki T. Mastication efforts on block and finely cut foods studied by electromyography. *Food Qual Prefer.* (2007) 18:313–20. doi: 10.1016/j.foodqual.2006. 02.006
- Kalantarian H, Alshurafa N, Sarrafzadeh M. A wearable nutrition monitoring system. In: Proceedings - 11th International Conference on Wearable and Implantable Body Sensor Networks. Zurich (2014). p. 75–80.
- Farooq M, Sazonov E. Detection of chewing from piezoelectric film sensor signals using ensemble classifiers. In: *Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society.* Florida, FL (2016). p. 4929–32.
- Farooq M, Sazonov E. A novel wearable device for food intake and physical activity recognition. Sensors. (2016) 16:1067. doi: 10.3390/s160 71067
- 55. Farooq M, Sazonov E. Segmentation and characterization of chewing bouts by monitoring temporalis muscle using smart glasses with piezoelectric sensor. *IEEE J Biomed Health Inform.* (2016) 21:1495–503. doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2016.2640142
- Zhang R, Amft O. Monitoring chewing and eating in free-living using smart eyeglasses. *IEEE J Biomed Health Inform.* (2017) 22:23–32. doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2017.2698523
- Dong Y, Hoover A, Scisco J, Muth E. A new method for measuring meal intake in humans via automated wrist motion tracking. *Appl Psychophysiol.* (2012) 37:205–15. doi: 10.1007/s10484-012-9194-1
- Thomaz E, Essa I, Abowd G. A practical approach for recognizing eating moments with wrist-mounted inertial sensing. In: ACM International Conference on Ubiquitous Computing. Osaka (2015). p. 1029–40.
- Dong Y, Scisco J, Wilson M, Muth E, Hoover A. Detecting periods of eating during free-living by tracking wrist motion. *IEEE J Biomed Health Inform*. (2013) 18:1253–60. doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2013.2282471
- Kyritsis K, Diou C, Delopoulos A. food intake detection from inertial sensors using LSTM networks. In: New Trends in Image Analysis and Processing. (2017). p. 411-8.
- 61. Zhang S, Alharbi R, Nicholson M, Alshurafa N. When generalized eating detection machine learning models fail in the field. In: *Proceedings of the 2017 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing and Wearable Computers.* Maui, HI (2017). p. 613–22.
- Heydarian H, Adam M, Burrows T, Collins C, Rollo M. Assessing eating behaviour using upper limb mounted motion sensors: a systematic review. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:1168. doi: 10.3390/nu11051168
- Noorbergen T, Adam M, Attia J, Cornforth D, Minichiello M. Exploring the design of mHealth systems for health behavior change using mobile biosensors. *Commun Assoc Inform Syst.* (2019) 44:944–81. doi: 10.17705/1CAIS.04444
- 64. Schembre S, Liao Y, Robertson M, Dunton G, Kerr J, Haffey M, et al. Just-in-time feedback in diet and physical activity interventions: systematic review and practical design framework. J Med Internet Res. (2018) 20:e106. doi: 10.2196/jmir.8701
- Kyritsis K, Diou C, Delopoulos A. Modeling wrist micromovements to measure in-meal eating behavior from inertial sensor data. *IEEE J Biomed Health Inform.* (2019) 23:2325–34. doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2019. 2892011
- Zheng M, Ni B, Kleinberg S. Automated meal detection from continuous glucose monitor data through simulation and explanation. J Am Med Inform Assoc. (2019) 26:1592–9. doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocz159
- Liao Y, Schembre S. Acceptability of continuous glucose monitoring in freeliving healthy individuals: implications for the use of wearable biosensors in diet and physical activity research. *JMIR*. (2018) 6:e11181. doi: 10.2196/ 11181

- Lawlor DA, Lewcock M, Rena-Jones L, Rollings C, Yip V, Smith D, et al. The second generation of the Avon longitudinal study of parents and children (ALSPAC-G2): a cohort profile [version 2; peer review: 2 approved]. Wellcome Open Res. (2019) 4:36. doi: 10.12688/wellcomeopenres. 15087.2
- Rodin D, Kirby M, Sedogin N, Shapiro Y, Pinhasov A, Kreinin A. Comparative accuracy of optical sensor-based wearable system for non-invasive measurement of blood glucose concentration. *Clin Biochem.* (2019) 65:15–20. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2018. 12.014
- Sen S, Subbaraju V, Misra A, Balan RK, Lee Y. The case for smart watch-based diet monitoring. In: Proceedings of the 2015 IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communication Workshops (PerCom Workshops). St. Louis, MI (2015). p. 585–90.
- Movassaghi S, Abolhasan M, Lipman J, Smith D, Jamalipour, A. Wireless body area networks: a survey. *IEEE Commun. Surveys Tutor.* (2014) 16:1658–86. doi: 10.1109/SURV.2013.121313.00064
- Beltran A, Dadabhoy H, Ryan C, Dholakia R, Jia W, Baranowski J, et al. Dietary assessment with a wearable camera among children: feasibility and intercoder reliability. J Acad Nutr Dietetics. (2018) 118:2144–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2018.05.013
- Golding J, Pembrey M, Jones R, ALSPAC Study Team. ALSPAC–The Avon longitudinal study of parents and children. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol.* (2001) 15:74–87. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3016.2001.00325.x
- Forster H, Walsh M, O'Donovan C, Woolhead C, McGirr C, Daly EJ, et al. A dietary feedback system for the delivery of consistent personalized dietary advice in the web-based multicenter Food4Me study. J Med Internet Res. (2016) 18:e150. doi: 10.2196/jmir.5620
- 75. Shoneye C, Dhaliwal S, Pollard C, Boushey C, Delp E, Harray A, et al. Imagebased dietary assessment and tailored feedback using mobile technology: mediating behavior change in young adults. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:435. doi: 10.3390/nu11020435
- 76. Cao Z, Chen P, Ma Z, Li S, Gao X, Wu R, et al. Near-field communication sensors. Sensors. (2019) 19:3947. doi: 10.3390/s191 83947
- Statista. Total Wearable Unit Shipments Worldwide 2014-2023. Available online at: https://www.statista.com/statistics/437871/wearables-worldwideshipments/ (accessed January 6, 2020).
- Batineh A, Mizouni R, El Barachi M, Bentahar J. Monetizing personal data: a two-sided market approach. *Procedia Comput Sci.* (2016) 83:472–9. doi: 10.1016/j.procs.2016.04.211
- Antoun C, Conrad F, Couper MP, West BT. Simultaneous estimation of multiple sources of error in a smartphone-based survey. J Survey Stat Methodol. (2019) 7:93–117. doi: 10.1093/jssam/smy002

Conflict of Interest: AS and CS are listed as inventors on patent applications 1601342.7 (UK) and PCT/GB2017/050110 (International), Method and Device for Detecting a Smoking Gesture. LJ has received funding from Danone Baby Nutrition, the Alpro foundation and Kellogg Europe for research unrelated to this review.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Skinner, Toumpakari, Stone and Johnson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Traditional Self-Reported Dietary Instruments Are Prone to Inaccuracies and New Approaches Are Needed

Michele N. Ravelli¹ and Dale A. Schoeller^{2*}

¹ Department of Neurology, University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI, United States, ² Nutritional Sciences and Biotechnology Center, University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI, United States

Background: Diet is a modifiable behavior that influences an individual's health. Because of this, diet assessment is an important component of public health surveillance, evaluating response to community health interventions, and monitoring individual compliance to medical interventions. Diet assessments are usually performed using one of three basic methods: diet recall, diet diaries, or food frequency questionnaires. Although these three assessment instruments have displayed a strong agreement between themselves, when reported intake is compared with intake measured using quantitative nutrient biomarkers, investigators have identified systematic misreporting errors for all three of these self-reported dietary instruments.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Natasha Tasevska, Arizona State University Downtown Phoenix Campus, United States

Reviewed by:

Robin M. Tucker, Michigan State University, United States José María Huerta, Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Spain

> *Correspondence: Dale A. Schoeller dschoell@nutrisci.wisc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 28 February 2020 Accepted: 15 May 2020 Published: 03 July 2020

Citation:

Ravelli MN and Schoeller DA (2020) Traditional Self-Reported Dietary Instruments Are Prone to Inaccuracies and New Approaches Are Needed. Front. Nutr. 7:90. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.00090 **Aims:** This work aims to summarize the state of knowledge regarding misreporting and why it impedes diet–health research and to introduce advances in the collection and the treatment of dietary data.

Methods: This work reviews and summarizes published data on misreporting and the recent efforts to reduce such errors.

Results: The evidence demonstrates a strong and consistent systematic underreporting of energy intake (EIn) across adults and children studies. Underreporting of EIn has been found to increase with body mass index (BMI), and the differences between macronutrient reports indicate that not all foods are underreported equally. Protein is least underreported, but which specific foods are commonly underreported are not known.

Conclusions: Because energy underreporting varies as a function of BMI, self-reported Eln should not be used for the study of energy balance in the study of obesity. The between-individual variability in the underreporting of self-reported intake of energy and other nutrients attenuates diet–disease relationships. Recent efforts to correct for underreporting have reduced misreporting of diet outcomes, but improvements have been incremental in nature and more research is needed to validate and extend these efforts.

Keywords: diet records, self-report, energy intake, underreporting, doubly labeled water method

INTRODUCTION

Investigations into the role of diet in the development of disease in humans are viewed as difficult but important because diet is one of the behaviors that individuals may employ to maintain or improve health (1). For example, human feeding studies performed or dictated by external disruptions of food supplies have clearly demonstrated that diet plays a central role in the negative impacts on health resulting from energy, vitamin, and mineral deficiencies in controlled studies conducted for at least 75 years (2). At the same time, the Minnesota Semi-starvation Study demonstrated the difficulty and the ethical issues of performing month-long feeding trials in order to investigate the quantitative nature of diet–disease relationships using only an inpatient paradigm (3).

A major source of difficulty has been documenting what individuals consume as their typical diet due to dietary measurement error (4). Because controlled and thus more accurate feeding studies are costly and difficult to perform, a far more common approach to the study of the relationship between diet and disease has been to perform studies of freeliving participants. These studies usually rely on assessing diet using self-report instruments to access diet and this introduces diet measurement error into the study (5). The most common dietary assessment instruments are diet recall surveys, in which the participants report from memory each item of food consumed for the previous day, weeks, or months; food frequency questionnaires (FFQ), which have the aim of assessing the food consumption during some specified period of time or over a period such as adolescence; and diet diary methods where the subjects record dietary intake for each eating event for a period of days or weeks.

Perhaps the best documented evidence of dietary instrument measurement error is that of self-reported energy intake (EIn) being often less than that of the individual's measured energy expenditure. The aim of this short review is to summarize the development of that evidence and how misreporting impedes diet—health research. Because of the evidence, there has been a renewal of efforts to improve or develop alternatives to these instruments. These recent advances are introduced here as part of a series of reviews in this issue.

DIETARY MISREPORTING

Over the past 50 years, many traditional diet assessment instruments have undergone modification of content or structure, sometimes to the degree of being considered a new instrument, and then were validated by comparison against an older version or previously evaluated instrument. In most instances, these comparisons demonstrated a moderate or strong agreement between the basic types of dietary assessment instruments and the tool was considered to be of reasonable accuracy and precision (6). A few investigators, however, performed studies comparing self-reported dietary intake against a biomarker of dietary intake, such as urinary nitrogen, which provides an objective measure of dietary protein intake (7). Such comparisons against a biomarker often did not find these self-report instruments to be accurate. For example, Warnold et al. (8) reported that self-reported protein intake underestimated protein consumption by 47% compared to protein intake measured using urinary nitrogen outputs among women undergoing a weight loss treatment. Studies comparing self-report against biomarkers to test the accuracy of traditional diet instruments, however, were infrequent and had only a modest influence on the growth of the use of self-report dietary assessments in the study of diet–disease relationships.

The number of dietary instrument validations against a biomarker increased dramatically following the development of the doubly labeled water (DLW) method to measure total energy expenditure (TEE) in humans (9). This method, developed by Lifson, is based on the difference in the elimination kinetics of two stable isotopes in water, namely, deuterium (²H) and ¹⁸O (10). The difference in the elimination rate of ²H and ¹⁸O is proportional to carbon dioxide production (10). The latter is the end-product of oxidative phosphorylation, and TEE can be calculated using standard indirect calorimetric equations (11). The human validations that included conditions of weight stability, overfeeding, underfeeding, intravenous feeding, and heavy exercise have been summarized by Speakman et al. (12-15). These validations have displayed an average accuracy of TEE of 1 to 2% and an individual precision of 7%, which support its use as a biomarker for use in a criterion method against which one may test the accuracy and the precision of self-reported energy intake.

The development of the DLW method for the measurement of TEE created an opportunity to validate diet assessment instruments against an objective energy expenditure based on the first law of thermodynamics. The first law of thermodynamics states that energy cannot be created nor destroyed, and thus EIn equals energy expenditure plus or minus the change in body energy stores during the measurement interval. Moreover, when body energy stores are unchanged over time, the energy storage term falls to zero and then EIn equals energy expenditure. Among pregnant women, infants, and children, change in energy stores over time is expected. At 1 month of age, the average daily energy storage is about 40% of EIn, but this decreases to 3% by 1 year of age and continues to decrease to 1% at 10 years of age (16). Among pregnant women, the average increase in body energy stores is about 190 kcal/day or 8% of EIn during the 3rd trimester (17). Among most non-pregnant adults, weight gain is not recommended, but it is common. The rate of weight gain is 0.2-0.7 kg/year or about 1-2 g/day (18). Assuming that the gain is adipose tissue with 20% fat-free mass and 80% fat mass, this stores only about 8 to 16 kcal/day or about 0.3-0.6% of EIn (19) and thus energy expenditure almost equals EIn, and TEE is an excellent biomarker of EIn. There are exceptions to this essential near-equality assumption in adulthood. These include periods of voluntary weight loss, loss of appetite during illness, or periods of holiday feasts when energy intake can be quite different from expenditure and TEE will fail to be a quantitative biomarker of actual EIn. Under habitual conditions outside of these short periods, EIn roughly equals TEE. Thus, TEE is termed as a biomarker of habitual dietary energy intake rather than one of actual EIn. This is an important distinction because while TEE is generally a good measure of habitual energy intake for the study of diet and health, it fails as a measure of actual energy intake under the above mentioned short-term conditions.

Another consideration in using TEE as a biomarker of habitual EIn is that energy intake can be expressed in one of three ways. The first is gross energy. This is the total energy available when foods are combusted to dioxide carbon, water, and nitrogen gas using bomb calorimetry (20). Not all the gross energy, however, is available to the body for metabolism. About 8% of the gross energy is not absorbed and thus lost from the body as waste products in feces (21, 22). The second expression is the absorbed energy. Finally, not all the absorbed energy is available to the body for energy production because some compounds that still contain chemical energy are lost as waste products in urine. The third expression is the portion of absorbed energy retained by the body that is available for energy production, which is the metabolizable energy. Metabolizable energy, as the name implies, is available for use in oxidative phosphorylation. This is the energy value listed in the food handbooks and tables. Metabolizable energy is thus the energy value used for calculating the dietary EIn by dietary assessment instruments.

Many of the human studies using DLW performed during the 10 years between 1982 and 1992 included an assessment of dietary EIn using traditional instruments. One of the first studies was conducted by Prentice et al. (23), in which it was observed that EIn, assessed using a 7-days food diary, was 34% (P < 0.05) less than TEE measured by DLW in young adult obese women $(32.9 \pm 4.6 \text{ kg/m}^2)$, but there was no difference detected between EIn and TEE (2%, NS) in lean women. The authors also found that half of the EIn vs. TEE difference was due to underrating as assessed by weight loss during the dietary diary period. These findings of low self-reported EIn were confirmed in a later review (24), which included papers which found that underreporting of dietary EIn was observed in women with anorexia nervosa, who perceive that they have excess body fat, and also in individuals with measured excess body weight, who are concerned about actual excess fat. Thus, underreporting was associated with individuals likely to be concerned about excess weight and not just with actual weight status (body mass index, BMI) itself (24). Thus, as early as 1990, it was found that underreporting of dietary EIn was common among adults and linked to concerns regarding excess body weight or fat (24). Even these early studies found that the degree of underreporting was of similar magnitude regardless of whether intake was assessed using retrospective instruments such as diet recalls or histories or with instruments such as food diaries (24). Based on these observations, it was concluded that dietary assessment instruments were subject to errors that increased with the individual's concern regarding their relative weight, which would result in a correlation of increased underreporting with increased BMI (24). Because of this, it was strongly recommended that self-reported EIn should not be used as a primary assessment instrument to measure EIn in investigations into the role of EIn in weight regulation as early as 1990 (24).

Most of these early studies employing DLW as a quantitative biomarker of dietary EIn were conducted in cohorts with sample sizes categorized as small to medium and, in many cases, by investigators without extensive experience on the use of dietary

assessment instruments. Based on anecdotal evidence provided by questions from the audience following oral presentations, some investigators in the audience suggested that the finding of underreporting may have been an artifact and that it might not occur if experienced investigators performed studies in large cohorts. This hypothesis, however, was not supported by the results from one study and soon thereafter by four more studies that were performed by investigators who had extensive experience on the use of dietary assessment instruments and which included cohorts with several hundreds of adult subjects each as summarized by Freedman et al. (25). The combined results of these studies confirmed that underreporting of habitual EIn in the United States was common as it was observed in each of the five studies which, when combined, involved over 2,000 participants (25). The 24-h recall (24HR) exhibited an EIn underreporting compared to the DLW-measured TEE which averaged -16% (range, -10 to -28%), and the FFQ was subject to an even larger reporting error than was 24HR (range, -26to -32%) (25). The combined number of participants in these five studies (n = 2,265) permitted sub-analyses, and it was found that those having a BMI of $>30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ underreported EIn by 7% more than those of a BMI in the healthy range, but there was no difference between men and women or adult age groups when centered on ages 50-59 years (25). One of these five studies (26) found that the administration of up to eight 24HRs on different days of the week did not eliminate the average reporting error, thus demonstrating that the underreporting was not simply due to day-to-day variation in actual EIn. The underreporting did decrease when two 24HRs were averaged (-11%) relative to that when only one 24HR was employed (-15%), but the percent error changed only a little when more than two 24HRs were averaged. Even when six 24HR data were collected and averaged, the bias dropped to only -9%. Thus, dietary data were more consistent when two recalls were employed in each participant, but little was gained by further replication.

The findings from the combination of the five large studies discussed above have been confirmed and extended through a systematic review conducted by Burrows et al. (27). The review identified an additional 59 studies that included 6,298 adults, including the abovementioned five studies and the 2,265 participants in the abovementioned summary by Freedman (25). The studies employed a mixture of diet instruments, including 24HR; the food diaries include weighed food records and FFQs. The degree of underreporting relative to habitual EIn as measured by DLW varied over a wide range. This included two studies that reported group averages displaying over-reporting (7 and 8%), but the vast majority identified cohort average underreporting by between 1 and 38%, and the plurality of studies found an average under-reporting between 20 and 30%. A comparison of methods indicated that the most misreporting was observed for the FFQ and the least for 24HR, but all three methods displayed underreporting errors. Studies that included advanced technology such as photography, handheld personal digital assistants, or oral recordings did reduce the underreporting slightly compared to non-technology-assisted instruments but were still found to be subject to underreporting. Included in that review were studies conducted in countries other than the United States, including Australia, Brazil, Canada, Finland, Germany, Japan, New Zeeland, Norway, Sweden, and the United Kingdom, demonstrating that underreporting with regard to EIn was a global problem.

Two systematic reviews concluded that underreporting of EIn was also an issue among children (28, 29). There have not been as many studies performed in children (aged 3–18 years) as have been performed in adults, but the results were similar with those in adults. Underreporting was common in children, and children with excess weight (overweight or obese) underreported more than those having a BMI in the healthy weight range. It was found that underreporting was reduced when parents assisted their children for ages <11 years. Unlike what was observed in adults, age was a significant modifier of misreporting, and underreporting was greater in adolescents than it was in younger children.

Because of the significant underreporting of EIn observed in the studies discussed above, one of the vital next steps for research directed at studying the phenomenon of EIn underreporting is to identify whether underreporting of EIn is due to a failure to accurately report specific foods or is a general underreporting of all foods. Addressing this issue is difficult because it means one has to measure something that is not reported rather than what is reported. We speculate that one means of accomplishing this would be to include multiple biomarkers in a study of selfreported dietary intake. As evidence, studies that have included DLW as a biomarker for EIn and urinary nitrogen as a biomarker for protein intake have shown that energy is underreported by a larger percentage than protein. For example, the abovementioned study combining the results from five large dietary intake studies (25) found that while energy was misreported by -16% (range, -6 to -28% using 24HR), protein was misreported by only -5% (range, -21 to +20%), indicating that protein was not as underreported as carbohydrate and/or fat. We speculate that a cluster analysis using multiple quantitative and possibly semi-quantitative biomarkers will provide vital insight into the foods that are misreported. The value of identifying what foods were being underreported as well as the difficulty of doing so without using biomarkers is illustrated by a Brazilian study performed in obese women prior to bariatric surgery (30). The study found that the under-reporters reported lower intakes of foods with high energy density but with similar intakes of calories provided by healthy foods (fruits, leafy vegetables, and vegetables) compared to those of plausible reporters. This reporting behavior influenced the determination of dietary patterns by exploratory factor analysis, in which the principal component analysis with VARIMAX rotation was applied for the selection of food groups that composed the matrix and then used for dietary pattern interpretation (30). By combining diet factor analysis with biomarker data on energy, protein, sugar, sodium, and potassium, it should be possible to infer if these differences were due to actual dietary intake differences.

Misreporting of energy and protein intake when assessing diet by self-report is well-documented and recognized by many as a major limitation to the investigation of the effects of diet on health. The problem of underreporting, particularly because of the inter-individual variation in misreporting, dramatically attenuates diet–disease relationships. Kipnis et al. (31) modeled the effects of misreporting of protein and EIn in the OPEN study and concluded that the variation in the degree of misreporting using an FFQ would severely attenuate the relative risk between true protein or EIn and disease from a true value of 2.0 to an apparent relative risk of <1.1. Even worse, it may even reverse the association between diet and disease as had occurred in an analysis of energy balance using self-reported EIn and physical activity by Kromhout et al. (32). The data from these investigators indicated that energy balance and BMI were negative and becoming more negative with increasing BMI, a result that they considered implausible and a possible artifact of underreporting EIn.

In summary, the problem of misreporting of dietary intake is limiting the ability of investigators to study diet-disease relationships (31). Investigators are, therefore, performing studies of novel approaches that may either reduce misreporting or adjust the self-reported data using *post hoc* techniques that may reduce the effect of such misreporting on study outcomes (33). These include the development of advanced technology to reduce the reporting errors themselves, adjustment of reported nutrient intake using calibration against a nutrient biomarker, statistical approaches that provide novel analyses of data from traditional self-reported dietary instruments, or direct use of dietary biomarkers to assess intake (34).

APPROACHES TO REDUCE MISREPORTING

Advanced technological tools include digital photography with on-line submission, movement monitors on the wrist or eating utensils to detect feeding, microphones to detect chewing, and scales to monitor the disappearance of food from a plate. Photographic methods provide the most detailed information about foods consumed, but they are still prone to underreporting (27) and they require a large amount of technical support (35). The other methods listed above have demonstrated the ability to detect eating events, but they provide only partial quantitative and qualitative information regarding the foods being consumed (34).

In addition, post hoc approaches that reduced the influence of misreporting have been presented. For example, Mozaffarian et al. (36) analyzed diet data obtained using an FFQ administered at 4-year intervals in a large longitudinal study. They used dietary change scores from the bracketing FFQs in place of raw intake scores from a single FFQ to identify foods that were associated with 4-years changes in body weight. This approach of using diet change and subsequent weight change is difficult to validate for dietary reporting accuracy, but the foods identified in this study as being associated with weight gain or loss were in general agreement with small, shorter intervention studies and thus extended the findings from the short-term interventions to the population level. Additionally, it provided high statistical power, but it did require a study design where the diet was assessed multiple times over a period of years in a large cohort and an outcome that was continuous. A second post hoc data analysis approach was employed by Freedman et al. (37). They combined multiple 24HRs with an FFQ in order to use the quantitative information from 24HR along with the larger list of foods consumed from the FFQ against true intake as measured by dietary biomarkers. They reported an improvement in the correlation coefficients between reported and biomarker-measured true dietary intake of energy, protein, potassium, and sodium compared to the use of single 24HR by an average of 0.14. The highest correlation coefficient, however, was 0.64 for potassium in women, and thus the variance explained was <40%.

As an alternative to the above-discussed methods to reduce problems arising from misreporting, Prentice and Huang (38) have proposed and tested the use of a post hoc calibration to adjust reported intakes for misreporting identified by the use of a quantitative biomarker in the entire study cohort or a subsample of that cohort. Tasevska et al. (39) applied this approach to an analysis of self-reported sugar intake and the likelihood of developing type II diabetes or cardiovascular disease. They found that correcting reported sugar intake based on the calibration eliminated what appeared to be an implausible inverse relationship, thus avoided a false finding. The resulting positive correlation, however, was small and did not result in a significant increase in the odds ratio for disease development with increasing sugar intake during the 16-years follow-up in the Women's Health Initiative cohort of older women, thus not ending the controversy around sugar consumption and type II diabetes.

The final approach to be discussed in this review is that of Goldberg et al. (40, 41). This approach involved characterizing a self-reported intake as plausible or implausible. During a period of bodyweight stability, the ratio of $\frac{energy intake}{resting metabolic rate}$ should correspond to the ratio of $\frac{total energy expenditure}{resting metabolic rate}$, which is identified as physical activity level (PAL). Considering the biological variability of the components of the equation, confidence limits (cutoffs) are calculated to classify the probable

accuracy of the reported EIn, and its sensibility improves when individual PAL classification is used in the cutoff points (42). A not dissimilar approach is to calculate the ratio of reported EIn to TEE from DLW (24). As an alternative to the DLW method, it may be possible to use a predicted TEE based on weight, height, age, sex and physical activity (18). The optimal method for defining the cutoff for excluding implausible reported intakes is still under debate, but the value is recognized (43).

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

Dietary assessment is central to the study of diet-health relationships. The most common assessment instruments are diet recalls, diet diaries, and food frequency questionnaires, and all are dependent on self-reported data. Self-reported Ein, using all of these instruments, has been shown to yield reproducible intake results. They have also been shown to yield good to strong correlations between foods consumed when compared against one another. Comparisons against quantitative biomarkers of dietary intake, however, have clearly demonstrated that self-report is prone to misreporting errors for EIn and other nutrients and that inter-individual variability in the degree of underreporting attenuates the strength of diet-disease relationships and raises questions regarding what foods are being misreported. Recent research has identified several methods for reducing many of these reporting errors. There remains, however, a need for further research to optimize the accuracy or correct for inaccuracies in self-reported dietary data because of the importance of dietary data in the prevention and the treatment of diet-induced diseases.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MR and DS conceptualized the manuscript. MR and DS drafted and edited the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- U.S. Department of Health Human Services U.S. Department of Agriculture. (2015). 2015 – 2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans. 8th. Available online at: https://health.gov/our-work/food-and-nutrition/2015-2020-dietaryguidelines/ (accessed February 20, 2020).
- Keys A, BroŽek J, Henschel A, Mickelsen O, Taylor HL. The Biology of Human Starvation, Vols. 1 and 2. Minneapolis; London: University of Minnesota Press; Geoffrey Cumberlege, Oxford University Press (1950). doi: 10.5749/j.ctv9b2tqv
- Kalm LM, Semba RD. They starved so that others be better fed: remembering Ancel Keys and the Minnesota experiment. J Nutr. (2005) 135:1347–52. doi: 10.1093/jn/135.6.1347
- Freedman LS, Schatzkin A, Midthune D, Kipnis V. Dealing with dietary measurement error in nutritional cohort studies. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2011) 103:1086–92. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djr189
- Dao MC, Subar AF, Warthon-Medina M, Cade JE, Burrows T, Golley RK, et al. Dietary assessment toolkits: an overview. *Public Health Nutr.* (2019) 22:404–18. doi: 10.1017/S1368980018002951
- 6. Kirkpatrick SI, Baranowski T, Subar AF, Tooze JA, Frongillo EA. Best practices for conducting and interpreting studies to validate self-report

dietary assessment methods. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2019) 119:1801-16. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2019.06.010

- Bingham S, Wiggins HS, Englyst H, Seppanen R, Helms P, Strand R, et al. Methods and validity of dietary assessments in four Scandinavian populations. *Nutr Cancer*. (1982) 4:23–33. doi: 10.1080/01635588209513735
- Warnold I, Carlgren G, Krotkiewski M. Energy expenditure and body composition during weight reduction in hyperplastic obese women. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1978) 31:750–63. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/31.5.750
- Schoeller DA, van Santen E. Measurement of energy expenditure in humans by doubly labeled water method. J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol. (1982) 53:955–9. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1982.53.4.955
- Lifson N. Theory of use of the turnover rates of body water for measuring energy and material balance. J Theor Biol. (1966) 12:46–74. doi: 10.1016/0022-5193(66)90185-8
- Weir JB. New methods for calculating metabolic rate with special reference to protein metabolism. J Physiol. (1949) 109:1–9. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1949.sp004363
- 12. Speakman JR. The history and theory of the doubly labeled water technique. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1998) 68:932s-8s. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/68.4.932S
- 13. Schoeller DA, Kushner RF, Jones PJH. Validation of doubly labeled water for measuring energy expenditure during parenteral

nutrition. Am J Clin Nutr. (1986) 44:291-8. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/4 4.2.291

- Schoeller DA, Ravussin E, Schutz Y, Acheson KJ, Baertschi P, Jequier E. Energy expenditure by doubly labeled water: validation in humans and proposed calculation. *Am J Physiol.* (1986) 250(5 Pt 2):R823–30. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.1986.250.5.R823
- Ravussin E, Harper IT, Rising R, Bogardus C. Energy expenditure by doubly labeled water: validation in lean and obese subjects. *Am J Physiol.* (1991) 261(3 Pt 1):E402–9. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.1991.261.3.E402
- Institute of Medicine. Dietary Reference Intakes for Energy, Carbohydrate, Fiber, Fat, Fatty Acids, Cholesterol, Protein, and Amino Acids Washington, DC: The National Academies Press (2005).
- Butte NF, King JC. Energy requirements during pregnancy and lactation. *Public Health Nutr.* (2005) 8:1010–27. doi: 10.1079/PHN2005793
- Yanovski JA, Yanovski SZ, Sovik KN, Nguyen TT, O'Neil PM, Sebring NG. A prospective study of holiday weight gain. N Engl J Med. (2000) 342:861–7. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200003233421206
- Thomas DM, Schoeller DA, Redman LA, Martin CK, Levine JA, Heymsfield SB. A computational model to determine energy intake during weight loss. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2010) 92:1326–31. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2010.29687
- Miles CW, Kelsay JL, Wong NP. Effect of dietary fiber on the metabolizable energy of human diets. J Nutr. (1988) 118:1075–81. doi: 10.1093/jn/118.9.1075
- Atwater WO, Bryant AP. *The Availability and Fuel Values of Food Materials*. Connecticut (Storrs). Agricultural Experiment Station 12th Annual Report, 1899 (1900).
- Food and Agriculture Organization. Food Energy Methods of Analysis and Conversion Factors. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (2003).
- Prentice AM, Black AE, Coward WA, Davies HL, Goldberg GR, Murgatroyd PR, et al. High levels of energy expenditure in obese women. *Br Med J.* (1986) 292:983–7. doi: 10.1136/bmj.292.6526.983
- Schoeller DA, Bandini LG, Dietz WH. Inaccuracies in self-reported intake identified by comparison with the doubly labelled water method. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* (1990) 68:941–9. doi: 10.1139/y90-143
- Freedman LS, Commins JM, Moler JE, Arab L, Baer DJ, Kipnis V, et al. Pooled results from 5 validation studies of dietary self-report instruments using recovery biomarkers for energy and protein intake. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2014) 180:172–88. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwu116
- Arab L, Wesseling-Perry K, Jardack P, Henry J, Winter A. Eight selfadministered 24-hour dietary recalls using the Internet are feasible in African Americans and Whites: the energetics study. J Am Diet Assoc. (2010) 110:857– 64. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2010.03.024
- Burrows TL, Ho YY, Rollo ME, Collins CE. Validity of dietary assessment methods when compared to the method of doubly labeled water: a systematic review in adults. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. (2019) 10:850. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00850
- Walker JL, Ardouin S, Burrows T. The validity of dietary assessment methods to accurately measure energy intake in children and adolescents who are overweight or obese: a systematic review. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2018) 72:185–97. doi: 10.1038/s41430-017-0029-2
- Burrows TL, Martin RJ, Collins CE. A systematic review of the validity of dietary assessment methods in children when compared with the method of doubly labeled water. J Am Diet Assoc. (2010) 110:1501–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2010.07.008
- Ravelli MN, Sartori MMP, Corrente JE, Rasera I, de Souza NPP, de Oliveira MRM. The under-reporting of energy intake influences the dietary pattern reported by obese women in the waiting list for bariatric surgery. *Rev Nutr.* (2018) 31:235–49. doi: 10.1590/1678-98652018000200009

- Kipnis V, Subar AF, Midthune D, Freedman LS, Ballard-Barbash R, Troiano RP, et al. Structure of dietary measurement error: results of the OPEN biomarker study. Am J Epidemiol. (2003) 158:14–21; discussion 2–6. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwg091
- Kromhout D, Saris WH, Horst CH. Energy intake, energy expenditure, and smoking in relation to body fatness: the Zutphen Study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1988) 47:668–74. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/47.4.668
- Bennett DA, Landry D, Little J, Minelli C. Systematic review of statistical approaches to quantify, or correct for, measurement error in a continuous exposure in nutritional epidemiology. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. (2017) 17:146. doi: 10.1186/s12874-017-0421-6
- Schoeller DA, Westerterp M (editors). Advances in the Assessment of Dietary Intake. 1st ed. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press (2017). doi: 10.1201/9781315152288
- Martin CK, Kaya S, Gunturk BK. Quantification of food intake using food image analysis. *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc.* (2009) 2009:6869–72. doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2009.5333123
- Mozaffarian D, Hao T, Rimm EB, Willett WC, Hu FB. Changes in diet and lifestyle and long-term weight gain in women and men. *N Engl J Med.* (2011) 364:2392–404. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1014296
- 37. Freedman LS, Midthune D, Arab L, Prentice RL, Subar AF, Willett W, et al. Combining a food frequency questionnaire with 24-hour recalls to increase the precision of estimation of usual dietary intakes-evidence from the validation studies pooling project. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2018) 187:2227–32. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwy126
- Prentice RL, Huang Y. Nutritional epidemiology methods and related statistical challenges and opportunities. *Stat Theory Relat Fields*. (2018) 2:2– 10. doi: 10.1080/24754269.2018.1466098
- 39. Tasevska N, Pettinger M, Kipnis V, Midthune D, Tinker LF, Potischman N, et al. Associations of biomarker-calibrated intake of total sugars with the risk of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease in the women's health initiative observational study. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2018) 187:2126–35. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwy115
- Goldberg G, Black A, Jebb S, Cole T, Murgatroyd P, Coward W, et al. Critical evaluation of energy intake data using fundamental principles of energy physiology: 1. Derivation of cut-off limits to identify under-recording. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (1991) 45:569–81.
- Black AE, Goldberg GR, Jebb SA, Livingstone MB, Cole TJ, Prentice AM. Critical evaluation of energy intake data using fundamental principles of energy physiology: 2. Evaluating the results of published surveys. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (1991) 45:583–99.
- Black AE. Critical evaluation of energy intake using the Goldberg cut-off for energy intake:basal metabolic rate. A practical guide to its calculation, use and limitations. International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders. J Int Assoc Study Obesity. (2000) 24:1119–30. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0801376
- Banna JC, McCrory MA, Fialkowski MK, Boushey C. Examining plausibility of self-reported energy intake data: considerations for method selection. *Front Nutr.* (2017) 4:6. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2017.00045

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Ravelli and Schoeller. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Reproducibility of Dietary Intake Measurement From Diet Diaries, Photographic Food Records, and a Novel Sensor Method

Juan M. Fontana^{1,2}, Zhaoxing Pan^{3,4}, Edward S. Sazonov⁵, Megan A. McCrory⁶, J. Graham Thomas⁷, Kelli S. McGrane⁸, Tyson Marden^{8*} and Janine A. Higgins^{9*}

 ¹ Department of Mechanical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, National University of Rio Cuarto, Rio Cuarto, Argentina,
² National Scientific and Technical Research Council (CONICET), Buenos Aires, Argentina,
³ Department of Pediatrics, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States,
⁴ Department of Biostatistics and Informatics, Colorado School of Public Health, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States,
⁵ Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, The University of Alabama, Tuscaloosa, AL, United States,
⁶ Department of Health Sciences, Boston University, Boston, MA, United States,
⁷ Department of Providence And Computer States, Providence, RI, United States,
⁸ Colorado Clinical and Translational Sciences Institute, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States,
⁹ Department of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Weimin Ye

Weimin Ye, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden

Reviewed by:

Omar Cauli, University of Valencia, Spain Rosilene Ventura Ribeiro, University of Sydney, Australia

*Correspondence:

Tyson Marden tyson.marden@cuanschutz.edu Janine A. Higgins janine.higgins@childrenscolorado.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 03 April 2020 **Accepted:** 04 June 2020 **Published:** 14 July 2020

Citation:

Fontana JM, Pan Z, Sazonov ES, McCrory MA, Thomas JG, McGrane KS, Marden T and Higgins JA (2020) Reproducibility of Dietary Intake Measurement From Diet Diaries, Photographic Food Records, and a Novel Sensor Method. Front. Nutr. 7:99. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.00099 **Objective:** No data currently exist on the reproducibility of photographic food records compared to diet diaries, two commonly used methods to measure dietary intake. Our aim was to examine the reproducibility of diet diaries, photographic food records, and a novel electronic sensor, consisting of counts of chews and swallows using wearable sensors and video analysis, for estimating energy intake.

Method: This was a retrospective analysis of data from a previous study, in which 30 participants (15 female), aged 29 ± 12 y and having a BMI of 27.9 ± 5.5 , consumed three identical meals on different days. Four different methods were used to estimate total mass and energy intake on each day: (1) weighed food record; (2) photographic food record; (3) diet diary; and (4) novel mathematical model based on counts of chews and swallows (CCS models) obtained via the use of electronic sensors and video monitoring system. The study staff conducted weighed food records for all meals, took pre- and post-meal photographs, and ensured that diet diaries were completed by participants at the end of each meal. All methods were compared against the weighed food record, which was used as the reference method.

Results: Reproducibility was significantly different between the diet diary and photographic food record for total energy intake (p = 0.004). The photographic record had greater reproducibility vs. the diet diary for all parameters measured. For total energy intake, the novel sensor method exhibited good reproducibility (repeatability coefficient (RC) of 59.9 (45.9, 70.4), which was better than that for the diet diary [RC = 79.6 (55.5, 103.3)] but not as repeatable as the photographic method [RC = 43.4 (32.1, 53.9)].

Conclusion: Photographic food records offer superior precision to the diet diary and, therefore, would be valuable for longitudinal studies with repeated measures of dietary intake. A novel electronic sensor also shows promise for the collection of longitudinal dietary intake data.

Keywords: dietary intake, diet diary, food record, photograph, sensor, precision, reproducibility

34

INTRODUCTION

Measurement of dietary intake is a necessary but difficult undertaking in clinical and research settings. Common methods used to measure dietary intake include 24-h diet recalls, diet diaries, photographic food records, and food frequency questionnaires (1). There are advantages and disadvantages to each method in terms of cost and participant burden, but all methods share the limitations of self-report. Studies using doubly labeled water have shown that underreporting of food intake is a common problem for self-report methods (2–6). Despite the limitations of these self-report methods, they remain the only validated methods available for measuring dietary intake in free-living situations.

Proper research practice requires that methods be validated against a standard: a previously validated method and/or a biomarker, such as doubly labeled water for energy expenditure (5). Validity refers to the accuracy of any measure; that is, how close the measured value is to the actual value. An equally important, and often overlooked, feature of a method is its reproducibility or precision. Reproducibility or precision is the extent to which a measure yields the same results under similar conditions.

The reproducibility of an instrument is especially important when dietary intake will be recorded longitudinally to assess habitual intake or changes over time. A study using repeated 24h recalls showed total energy correlation of r = 0.59 between measurements (7). Reproducibility research conducted with food frequency questionnaires at two time points has shown that total energy correlations between repeat administrations of questionnaires range from r = 0.30-0.92 (7–13). Watson et al. (9) cited under- or over-reporting as a likely contributor to the low reproducibility for the food frequency questionnaire. This concept of systematic under- or over-reporting in dietary assessment was examined by Black and Cole (3). Their review of seven studies with repeated measurements of dietary intake revealed that some persons are more likely to underreport dietary intake than others, regardless of the assessment method used. This personal reporting bias is an issue that should not be ignored when examining dietary intake data and considering the necessity of repeated measures in such research.

Although two previous studies have looked at the reliability of diet diaries, neither used a gold standard reference method, such as a weighed food record, during the same period as the diet diary was recorded, thus limiting the general applicability of the data (14, 15). To our knowledge, no previous study has rigorously examined the reproducibility of the diet diary, which is one of the most commonly used methods to measure freeliving dietary intake, or the photographic food record. Both instruments have been studied for accuracy, but there exists no data on their precision. The aim of this study was to examine the reproducibility of diet diaries, photographic food records, and a novel electronic sensor from three separate, identical meals using weighed food records as the gold standard reference method.

METHODS

Participants

Thirty participants (15 females and 15 males) with a mean (\pm SD) age of 29 \pm 12 y (range: 19–58 y) and body mass index (BMI) of 27.9 \pm 5.5 kg/m² (range: 20.5–41.7) were recruited at the Clarkson University campus to participate in the study. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board at Clarkson University, Potsdam, NY and all participants read and signed an informed consent form before participation. Participants with temporo-mandibular joint disease, dysphagia or other difficulties for chewing and/or swallowing were excluded from the study.

Each participant consumed three full meals at three different visits in the laboratory, \sim 1–4 weeks apart and at the same clock time at each visit. At the first visit, each participant was asked to select foods according to their own preferences (content and size) from the menu offered by one of the Clarkson University food courts. Any foods or amounts could be chosen by participants, with no restrictions. The initial meal selection was documented so that the selected meal was identical for all three study visits. Participants had no limitations on the quantity of consumed foods or order in which the foods had to be consumed.

Energy Intake Measurements

Four different methods were used to estimate total mass and energy intake: (1) weighed food record; (2) photographic food record; (3) diet diary; and (4) mathematical models based on counts of chews and swallows (CCS models) obtained via the use of electronic sensors (16).

To obtain the nutritional intake data from meals, records were deidentified and sent to the Colorado Clinical and Translational Sciences Institute's (CCTSI) Nutrition Core. A single operator assessed all deidentified photographic food records and logged consumed food amounts in a standard diet dairy format. A second blinded, independent operator entered all converted photo and original participant food diaries into the nutritional analysis program Nutrient Data System for Research (NDS-R; University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN). None of the data entry operators at the CCTSI Nutrition Core were involved in data collection. Using a single, trained operator at each step is the current operating procedure for all CCTSI protocols and reduces variation due to inter-operator differences in data entry. All weighed food records, photographic food records, and diet diaries were de-identified before operator entered nutritional intake into NDS-R. The novel method of using models to count chews and swallows to determine total mass and energy intake was blinded so that operator processing the data was not involved in the post-ingestion annotation of chews and swallow from the original videos.

Weighed Food Records

Before and after each meal, food was weighed by a trained member of the research team to calculate the total amount consumed. Each meal was documented and logged into a chart containing detailed information of each food item such as food name and description, mass at beginning and end of the meal, and total mass consumed. For items that could be deconstructed
(e.g., a sandwich), each food item was weighed separately before and after consumption. The item was reassembled before being served to the participant. For items that could not be deconstructed (e.g., pizza or cookies) total energy intake was estimated using total weight consumed multiplied by the caloric density of the item. Weighed food records were used as the reference method for actual dietary intake. All other methods were compared to actual dietary intake measured by the weighed food records.

Photographic Records

Pre- and post-meal photographs were taken by study staff using a digital camera. The serving plate occupied the entire field of view, and photographs were taken at a 45° angle so that the depth of foods could be estimated (17). A picture of the selected meal was taken before serving and another picture was taken at the end of the eating period. A trained, validated CCTSI nutritionist used these pictures to estimate portion sizes, using the Portion Photos of Popular Foods guide (18) and entered consumed amounts into the food analysis program, NDS-R.

Diet Diary

At the beginning of the first visit, participants were trained to complete a diet diary. Oral and written instructions were given to participants for estimating portion sizes and recording foods in sufficient detail to obtain an accurate estimate of dietary intake. Examples of both fully complete and incomplete diaries were explained to demonstrate how to appropriately record intake. Participants also received a portion estimation guide that was used as a reference, but only during the first visit. All materials were supplied by the CCTSI Nutrition Core.

 TABLE 1 | Repeatability coefficients (95% confidence interval) between

 measurement methods for percent deviation from weighed measurement.

Outcome	Assessment method	RC for percent deviation from weighed measurement ^a
Total energy (kcal)	Diary	79.6 (55.5, 103.3)
	Photo	43.3 (32.1, 53.9)*
	Sensor	59.9 (45.9, 7.4)
Carbohydrate (g)	Diary	84.1 (56.8, 109.1)
	Photo	42.2 (23.5, 59.0)
Fat (g)	Diary	96.5 (59.4, 136.4)
	Photo	80.6 (48.1, 116.4)
Protein (g)	Diary	99.3 (64.7, 131.2)
	Photo	55.0 (38.3, 70.8)
Fiber (g)	Diary	96.1 (65.9, 123.1)
	Photo	45.2 (28.8, 61.3)*
Calcium (mg)	Diary	93.2 (62.1, 125.2)
	Photo	47.0 (37.8, 55.9)*
Iron (mg)	Diary	188.6 (61.0, 300.2)
	Photo	61.1 (40.8, 79.6)
Sodium (mg)	Diary	224.9 (78.4, 363.3)
	Photo	88.8 (44.2, 134.0)

^a {[Weighed-Diary (or photo)]/weight} × 100.

*Statistically significant difference in RCs from diet method at a 5% significant level.

After each meal was finished, participants recorded the food items they just consumed in a blank food diary. Each food item was recorded on a single line indicating the type of food, preparation style, and amount consumed. Participants did not receive any help during this stage; however, the diet diary was reviewed to ensure that it was completed appropriately (i.e., all foods listed had a portion size and description assigned). Participants were not prompted to add any food items they had forgotten to record. Participants only filled out diet diaries for research meals, and no other meals consumed during the 3 days of the study.

Models Based on Counts of Chews and Swallows

Estimation of the mass and energy consumed during each meal was computed using participant-dependent models based on counts of chews and swallows. Before starting the experiments, participants were instrumented with a sensor system for monitoring ingestive behavior (19). The system consisted of: (1) a jaw motion sensor placed below the ear to capture chewing events; (2) a miniature microphone placed on the throat to capture swallowing sounds; and (3) a digital camera for video monitoring. Sensor data and video footage were used to compute the number of chews and swallows associated to each meal as previously described (16). The total mass and energy for a given meal was estimated using a counts of chews and swallows observed in the remaining two meals consumed by the same participant (16).

Statistical Analysis

This was a retrospective data analysis of a previous study (16). The sensor method was only analyzed for total energy as this is an exploratory method, still under development and the form described in (16) was only able to estimate mass and energy intake during a meal. When the sensor method is further developed, it will be used to estimate energy, macronutrient, and micronutrient intakes.

Because the actual amount of food consumed varied between study visits, the percent difference from that assessed by the weighed food method serves as the outcome to compare reproducibility across diary, photographic, and sensor methods. The repeatability coefficient (RC) defined as $RC = 1.96 \times \sqrt{2 \times SD}$ withinsubject was used to assess the extent of reproducibility for each method. Within-participant variability (SD withinsubject) of the outcome across three time points was assessed using the with-subject variance from a linear mixed effects model, where the fixed effect consists of intercept only and had a compound symmetry covariance structure. Five thousand Bootstrap samples were based to calculate the 95% confidence intervals for RC for each method and the difference in RC between methods as well as the *p*-values. SAS 9.4 software (SAS Institute Inc.) were used for all the analyses.

RESULTS

Comparison of the weighed intake data from the three meals indicated that there were no differences in energy or macro-



FIGURE 1 | RC and 95% Cl of percent difference from weighed method for energy measurements over three time points. The photographic food record and sensor methods had greater reproducibility (lower RC values) than the diet diary for overall energy intake over three time points.

Outcome	Comparisons	Difference in repeatability coefficient (95%) CL between two methods	p ^a
Total energy (kcal)	Photo vs. Diary	-36.2 (-63.7, -10.1)	0.004*
	Sensor vs. Diary	-19.6 (-50.7, 8.0)	0.19
	Sensor vs. Photo	16.6 (-2.9, 34.2)	>0.99
Carbohydrate (g)	Photo vs. Diary	-41.9 (-74.7, -8.4)	0.01*
Fat (g)	Photo vs. Diary	-15.9 (-75.0, 39.4)	0.62
Protein (g)	Photo vs. Diary	-44.3 (-83.0, -5.0)	0.02*
Fiber (g)	Photo vs. Diary	-50.9 (-85.6, -15.3)	0.36
Calcium (mg)	Photo vs. Diary	-46.2 (-78.2, -14.3)	0.004*
Iron (mg)	Photo vs. Diary	-127.5 (-230.4, -6.9)	0.02*
Sodium (mg)	Photo vs. Diary	-136.0 (298.3, 6.3)	0.1

 $^a95\%$ CL and 2-tailed p-values are based on 5,000 bootstrap samples. $^*P < 0.05.$

or micro-nutrient intake between the three meals (data not shown). The RC values for the percent difference from the weighed food records revealed that the photographic food record and sensor methods had greater reproducibility [RC = 43.4 (32.1, 53.9) and 59.9 (45.9, 70.4), respectively] than the diet diary [RC = 79.6 (55.5, 103.3)] for total energy intake over three separate meals (**Table 1** and **Figure 1**). Differences in RC values between photographic food records and diet dairies were significantly different for total energy (p = 0.004), carbohydrate (p = 0.01), protein (p = 0.02), calcium (0.004) and iron (p = 0.02) intake (**Table 2**), with photographic food records having greater reproducibility for all nutrients measured (**Table 1**).

DISCUSSION

Participants completed diet diaries immediately following each meal under supervised conditions. The method of completing

the diary immediately post-meal under controlled conditions, as in this study, gives the greatest chance for this method to perform at its best. However, the diet diary method displayed the lowest reproducibility of the three methods tested for total energy intake, and it was inferior to the photographic food record for macronutrients and micronutrients examined. It should be noted that the food photographs were taken by study staff, so this method was also performed under optimal conditions that are not normally present when photographic food records are used.

Reproducibility is an important factor to consider when designing longitudinal studies in which dietary intake is to be measured repeatedly. Under these circumstances, a tool that is more reproducible will decrease the variance in the data collected over time, thereby simplifying data interpretation. Considering the cost and time spent on such studies, as well as participant burden, any instrument which is highly reproducible would add value. Indeed, previous work showed that the photographic food record is as accurate as the diet diary in both energy intake and macronutrient composition but decreases participant burden (17). With the added benefit of higher reproducibility, the photographic food record offers increased utility over the traditional diet diary.

Although two previous studies have looked at the reliability of food records, both compared diet diaries recorded at different times, with no consistency of foods eaten during each recording period (14, 15). Therefore, any differences noted could have reflected actual differences in dietary intake rather than methodological issues. Putz et al. compared two diet diaries to a weighed food record as a reference method (15). However, the weighed food record was completed at separate time from the diet diaries so it is unclear if the dietary intake was similar across occasions and therefore, if the differences measured were due to the method used or actual differences in dietary intake on the different recording occasions. In these previous studies, for estimating total energy intake, the reproducibility of the diet diary was low to moderate [ICC of 0.49 and 0.69 for (14, 15), respectively], which compares well with our estimate of low reproducibility (RC = 43.4). Conversely, we found that the reproducibility for the sensor and photographic record methods was moderate to high, respectively.

Limitations of this study include small sample size, limited age range of participants, that energy intake was not matched between meals for each participant, and photographs in the photographic food records were taken by study staff and not participants. Whereas weighed food records are considered the gold standard and this method was used in our laboratory setting, in a free living situation doubly labeled water could be used to compare reported intake to total energy expenditure, albeit at greater expense. With regard to expense, studies have shown photographic food records to be similar in cost or less costly than self-report methods such as diet diaries and 24-h recalls (20-23). However, when compared to written diet diaries, it does take \sim 20 more mins per day of intake recording to analyze photos and convert the visual information to amounts for data entry, which is likely irrelevant for smaller studies but could create higher cost overall for large studies. This study had several strengths, however, including the use of a within subject repeated measures design, the large variety of foods for participants to choose from, the use of more than two repeated measures, and that the study took place in a controlled laboratory setting where the researchers had the ability to accurately determine energy intake using weighed food records, considered the gold-standard (24 - 26).

An interesting finding from this study is that the photographic food record was more precise/reproducible than the sensor method, even though previous work showed that the sensor was more accurate than photographic food records (19). Accuracy may be of greater concern when working with understudied or vulnerable populations where little data currently exist, or in studies that measure dietary intake at a single point. Under these circumstances, the sensor method displays promise, particularly for vulnerable populations such as children with developmental delay or the elderly who may not be able to complete any other method for the estimation of dietary intake. As the sensor can be placed on the participant's jaw and behind the ear, unobtrusively estimating energy intake via measurement of chewing, the need for participant literacy or cognizance of food choices is abolished. In all populations, this method would significantly reduce participant burden and negate some of the pitfalls of self-report. Our future work aims to combine the strengths of the photographic and sensor methods by enabling the sensor to automatically take images of food ingested during the day.

CONCLUSION

The higher reproducibility of the photographic food record warrants its use over the diet diary in longitudinal studies which aim to measure dietary intake repeatedly. The novel sensor method for estimating energy intake also shows promise as a dietary intake assessment tool for the future.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board at Clarkson University, Potsdam, NY and all participants read and signed an informed consent form before participation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualization: JF, ZP, ES, MM, and JH. Data curation: JF and TM. Investigation: JF and ES. Project administration: ES, MM, JH, and JT. Supervision: ES, MM, and JH. Writing original draft: TM, JH, and KM. Writing review and editing: JT, JF, ZP, KM, ES, MM, TM, and JH. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

Research reported in this publication was supported by the National Institutes of Health through the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases award numbers R21DK085462 and R01DK122473 and National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences award number U01TR002535. The content was solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the Colorado Clinical and Translational Sciences Institute Nutrition Core for assistance with data analysis.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

Photographic Records: http://dx.doi.org/10.21227/5mjw-jz09.

REFERENCES

- Thompson FE, Subar AF. Dietary assessment methodology. In: Coulston A, editor. Nutrition in the Prevention and Treatment of Disease. Bethesda, MD: Academic Press. (2013) 16–23. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-391884-0.00001-9
- Kaczkowski CH, Jones PJ, Feng J, Bayley HS. Four-day multimedia diet records underestimate energy needs in middle-aged and elderly women as determined by doubly-labeled water. J Nutr. (2000) 130:802–5. doi: 10.1093/jn/130.4.802
- Black AE, Cole TJ. Biased over- or under-reporting is characteristic of individuals whether over time or by different assessment methods. J Am Dietetic Assoc. (2001) 101:70–80. doi: 10.1016/S0002-8223(01)00018-9
- 4. Goris AH, Westerterp-Plantenga MS, Westerterp KR. Undereating and underrecording of habitual food intake in obese men: selective underreporting of fat intake. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2000) 71:130–4. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/71.1.130
- Hill RJ, Davies PS. The validity of self-reported energy intake as determined using the doubly labelled water technique. Br J Nutr. (2001) 85:415–30. doi: 10.1079/BJN2000281
- Trabulsi J, Schoeller DA. Evaluation of dietary assessment instruments against doubly labeled water, a biomarker of habitual energy intake. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* (2001) 281:E891–9. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.2001.281.5.E891
- Sanjeevi N, Freeland-Graves J, George GC. Relative validity and reliability of a. 1-week, semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire for women participating in the supplemental nutrition assistance program. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2017) 117:1972–82.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2017.05.013
- Cullen KW, Watson K, Zakeri I. Relative reliability and validity of the block kids questionnaire among youth aged 10 to 17 years. J Am Diet Assoc. (2008) 108:862–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2008.02.015
- Watson JF, Collins CE, Sibbritt DW, Dibley MJ, Garg ML. Reproducibility and comparative validity of a food frequency questionnaire for Australian children and adolescents. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2009) 6:62. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-6-62
- Horn-Ross PL, Lee VS, Collins CN, Stewart SL, Canchola AJ, Lee MM, et al. Dietary assessment in the California teachers study: reproducibility and validity. *Cancer Causes Control.* (2008) 19:595–603. doi: 10.1007/s10552-008-9124-y
- Wakimoto P, Block G, Mandel S, Medina N. Development and reliability of brief dietary assessment tools for Hispanics. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2006) 3:A95. Available online at: http://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2006/jul/05_0117.htm
- Kobayashi T, Kamimura M, Imai S, Toji C, Okamoto N, Fukui M, et al. Reproducibility and validity of the food frequency questionnaire for estimating habitual dietary intake in children and adolescents. *Nutr J.* (2011) 10:27. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-10-27
- Morel S, Portolese O, Chertouk Y, Leahy J, Bertout L, Laverdière C, et al. Development and relative validation of a food frequency questionnaire for French-Canadian adolescent and young adult survivors of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Nutr J*. (2018) 17:45. doi: 10.1186/s12937-018-0355-9
- Yoshizawa K, Willett WC, Yuan C. Reliability of repeated measures of nutrient intake by diet records in residents in the Western region of Japan. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:2515. doi: 10.3390/nu11102515
- 15. Putz P, Kogler B, Bersenkowitsch I. Reliability and validity of assessing energy and nutrient intake with the Vienna food record: a cross-over

randomised study. Nutr J. (2019) 18:9. doi: 10.1186/s12937-019-0431-9

- Fontana JM, Higgins JA, Schuckers SC, Bellisle F, Pan Z, Melanson EL, et al. Energy intake estimation from counts of chews and swallows. *Appetite*. (2015) 85:14–21. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2014.11.003
- Higgins JA, LaSalle AL, Zhaoxing P, Kasten MY, Bing KN, Ridzon SE, et al. Validation of photographic food records in children: are pictures really worth a thousand words? *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2009) 63:1025–33. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2009.12
- Hess MA. Portions of Popular Foods. New York City: Culinary Nutrition Publishing (2014).
- Fontana JM, Lopez-Meyer P, Sazonov ES. Design of a instrumentation module for monitoring ingestive behavior in laboratory studies. *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc.* (2011) 2011:1884–7. doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2011.6090534
- Martin CK, Han H, Coulon SM, Allen HR, Champagne CM, Anton SD. A novel method to remotely measure food intake of free-living individuals in real time: the remote food photography method. *Br J Nutr.* (2009) 101:446–56. doi: 10.1017/S0007114508027438
- Martin CK, Correa JB, Han H, Allen HR, Rood JC, Champagne CM, et al. Validity of the Remote Food Photography Method (RFPM) for estimating energy and nutrient intake in near real-time. *Obesity*. (2012) 20:891–9. doi: 10.1038/oby.2011.344
- Martin CK, Nicklas T, Gunturk B, Correa JB, Allen HR, Champagne C, et al. Measuring food intake with digital photography. J Hum Nutr Diet. (2014) 27(Suppl. 1):72–81. doi: 10.1111/jhn.12014
- Zhaoxing P, Marden T, Mande A, Higgins J. A novel approach to calculating energy density from food images reduces analysis time and cost. *Food Nutr Sci.* (2019) 10:235–47. doi: 10.4236/fns.2019.102018
- 24. Carlsen MH, Lillegaard IT, Karlsen A, Blomhoff R, Drevon CA, Andersen LF. Evaluation of energy and dietary intake estimates from a food frequency questionnaire using independent energy expenditure measurement and weighed food records. *Nutr J.* (2010) 9:37. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-9-37
- 25. Abebe BT, Weiss M, Modess C, Roustom T, Tadken T, Wegner D, et al. A 24-h recall does not provide a valid estimate of absolute nutrient intakes for rural women in southern Ethiopia. *Nutrition.* (2011) 27:919–24. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2010.10.015
- Nightingale H, Walsh KJ, Olupot-Olupot P, Engoru C, Ssenyondo T, Nteziyaremye J, et al. Validation of triple pass 24-hour dietary recall in Ugandan children by simultaneous weighed food assessment. *BMC Nutr.* (2016) 2:56. doi: 10.1186/s40795-016-0092-4

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Fontana, Pan, Sazonov, McCrory, Thomas, McGrane, Marden and Higgins. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Design and Characterisation of a Randomized Food Intervention That Mimics Exposure to a Typical UK Diet to Provide Urine Samples for Identification and Validation of Metabolite Biomarkers of Food Intake

Naomi D. Willis¹, Amanda J. Lloyd², Long Xie¹, Martina Stiegler¹, Kathleen Tailliart², Isabel Garcia-Perez³, Edward S. Chambers³, Manfred Beckmann², John Draper² and John C. Mathers^{1*}

¹ Human Nutrition Research Centre, Population Health Sciences Institute, Newcastle University, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, United Kingdom, ² Institute of Biological, Environmental and Rural Sciences, Aberystwyth University, Aberystwyth, United Kingdom, ³ Nutrition and Dietetic Research Group, Division of Diabetes, Endocrinology and Metabolism, Department of Medicine, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom

Poor dietary choices are major risk factors for obesity and non-communicable diseases, which places an increasing burden on healthcare systems worldwide. To monitor the effectiveness of healthy eating guidelines and strategies, there is a need for objective measures of dietary intake in community settings. Metabolites derived from specific foods present in urine samples can provide objective biomarkers of food intake (BFIs). Whilst the majority of biomarker discovery/validation studies have investigated potential biomarkers for single foods only, this study considered the whole diet by using menus that delivered a wide range of foods in meals that emulated conventional UK eating patterns. Fifty-one healthy participants (range 19-77 years; 57% female) followed a uniquely designed, randomized controlled dietary intervention, and provided spot urine samples suitable for discovery of BFIs within a real-world context. Free-living participants prepared and consumed all foods and drinks in their own homes and were asked to follow the protocols for meal consumption and home urine sample collection. This study also assessed the robustness, and impact on data quality, of a minimally invasive urine collection protocol. Overall the study design was well-accepted by participants and concluded successfully without any drop outs. Compliance for urine collection, adherence to menu plans, and observance of recommended meal timings, was shown to be very high. Metabolome analysis using mass spectrometry coupled with data mining demonstrated that the study protocol was well-suited for BFI discovery and validation. Novel, putative biomarkers for an extended range of foods were identified including legumes, curry, strongly-heated products, and artificially sweetened, low calorie beverages. In conclusion, aspects of this study design would help to overcome several current challenges in the development of

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Weimin Ye, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden

Reviewed by:

Thea Magrone, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Italy Tiziano Verri, University of Salento, Italy

*Correspondence: John C. Mathers john.mathers@newcastle.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 11 May 2020 Accepted: 07 September 2020 Published: 21 October 2020

Citation:

Willis ND, Lloyd AJ, Xie L, Stiegler M, Tailliart K, Garcia-Perez I, Chambers ES, Beckmann M, Draper J and Mathers JC (2020) Design and Characterisation of a Randomized Food Intervention That Mimics Exposure to a Typical UK Diet to Provide Urine Samples for Identification and Validation of Metabolite Biomarkers of Food Intake. Front. Nutr. 7:561010. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.561010

40

BFI technology. One specific attribute was the examination of BFI generalizability across related food groups and across different preparations and cooking methods of foods. Furthermore, the collection of urine samples at multiple time points helped to determine which spot sample was optimal for identification and validation of BFIs in free-living individuals. A further valuable design feature centered on the comprehensiveness of the menu design which allowed the testing of biomarker specificity within a biobank of urine samples.

Keywords: dietary intake, metabolomics, free-living participants, biomarkers, radomized control trial

INTRODUCTION

The amount and pattern of foods and beverages consumed influence gene expression (1) and are major determinants of multiple health outcomes (2). Despite this centrality in the atiology of health and disease, the estimation of habitual dietary intake remains difficult (3). Conventional tools based on dietary self-report are tedious and time-consuming for both study participants and researchers. Dietary misreporting is common and substantial (4) and is exacerbated in those who are overweight or obese (5). Whilst the development of digital tools to assist with dietary recording may reduce the workload for respondents and researchers (6), use of such tools does not eliminate the subjectivity and biases inherent in approaches based on self-report. To improve measurements of dietary intake, there is a need to develop strategies for the objective identification, validation and deployment of suitable biomarkers (7).

Biomarkers of food intake (BFIs) assessed in body fluids or easily-accessible tissues offer potential alternative, objective routes to estimating dietary exposure (8). Measurement of BFIs (9, 10) could overcome some of the limitations of traditional dietary assessment methodologies by providing additional objective estimates of food exposure (11). Such biomarkers are of two main types: (i) those biomarkers which attempt to estimate a major class of nutrients e.g., urinary nitrogen excretion as an index of dietary protein consumption (12) and (ii) biomarkers which attempt to estimate intake of specific foods or food constituents (13). Most foods contain large numbers of characteristic metabolites many of which are cataloged in comprehensive databases of food composition, e.g., FoodB (developed by the University of Alberta, Canada: www.foodb. ca) and of selected food components, e.g., Phenol Explorer (developed by INRA: www.phenol-explorer.eu). However, when foods are consumed, they undergo metabolic transformation during digestion and absorption by enterocytes and colonocytes, by bacteria within the gut lumen and by Phase 1 and Phase 2 enzymes within the liver. Therefore, although the patterns of metabolites present in blood or urine reflect what has been consumed, the specific metabolites in such body fluids may differ substantially from those ingested (14).

We, and others, have applied metabolomics approaches to blood, saliva and urine in human studies to discover novel BFIs (8, 15–22). We have focused on urine as the body fluid of choice because of the ease of collection and the fact that, in contrast with blood, it provides an integrated estimate of exposure over several hours and because of technical advantages in sample preparation for metabolomics assay (8). This has led to the identification of a substantial number of putative biomarkers of individual foods (23) and to potential biomarkers of the overall healthfulness of the diet (24). Consensus guidelines for the critical assessment of candidate BFIs have been proposed recently (10). Although valuable, these guidelines focused on qualifying the utility of individual BFIs to monitor exposure to specific foods/food groups. Food intervention studies to determine the impact of individual dietary components on health form a large component of nutrition research but equally important is the need for approaches to assess overall dietary exposure in epidemiological studies and clinical trials (24). Whilst these discoveries and developments are encouraging, several challenges remain, associated particularly with the deployment of BFI technology in real world settings (Table 1).

The MAIN (Metabolomics at Aberystwyth, Imperial and Newcastle) Study was designed to address these challenges by investigating biomarkers of food intake under conditions in which study participants consumed well-characterized foods within conventional diets with respect to meal design, cooking and eating patterns and collected urine samples at home without changing their usual behavior. This provided an opportunity to expand biomarker coverage to include a more comprehensive range of foods and beverages that are highly consumed in the UK and considered important for the UK government healthy eating policy (25). Our primary aim was to develop protocols which could be applied in large-scale epidemiological studies, clinical trials and in public health surveys. We focused on approaches that would be acceptable to the public, easy to follow and to adhere to, and which would be of modest cost. In this paper, we report the detailed design and protocol of the MAIN Study

Abbreviations: AGC, Automatic gain control; AUC, area under the Receiver Operator Characteristic curve; BFI, biomarker of food intake; BMI, Body Mass Index; CRN, Clinical Research Network; EPIC, European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition; FFQ, food frequency questionnaire; FIE-HRMS, flow infusion electrospray ionization—high resolution mass spectrometry; FMV, first morning void; HCD, Higher-energy collision dissociation; IPAQ, International Physical Activity Questionnaire; ISRCTN, International Standard Randomized Controlled Trial Number; MAIN, Metabolomics at Aberystwyth, Imperial and Newcastle; MDS, Multi-dimensional scalards Initiative; MSⁿ, Tandem mass spectrometry; NDNS, National Diet and Nutrition Survey; PA, physical activity; RF, Random Forest; ROC, Receiver Operator Characteristic; SD, Standard deviation; TMAO, Trimethylamine-N-oxide; UHPLC-HRMS, Ultra High Performance Liquid Chromatography-High Resolution MS.

TABLE 1 Challenges associated with the design of a food intervention study to develop and assess deployment of BFI technology to monitor overall dietary exposure.

- (1) Providing opportunity to expand the discovery of biomarkers to include as many commonly-consumed foods as possible
- (2) Ensuring structured exposure to a sufficiently comprehensive range of foods to mimic diets typical of a specific population
- (3) Validating biomarker specificity in real world settings using conventional eating patterns where a whole diet is consumed rather than focusing on single food items
- (4) Evaluating the impact of food preparation/processing/formulation and cooking method on the behavior of biomarkers of specific foods
- (5) Developing a urine sampling strategy that enables collection of samples with minimal burden on free-living participants and without adversely affecting the quality and comprehensiveness of biomarker measurement

conducted at Newcastle University (MAIN Study Newcastle) as well as baseline characteristics of participants recruited to the study. Elsewhere we have reported the validation of the urine sampling methodology for free-living study participants showing it was non-intrusive, imposed low participant burden, and delivered samples with high quality metabolome content assessed using metabolite fingerprinting (26, 27). Here, we include a summary of novel biomarkers discovered using samples from the MAIN Study with the aim of extending the BFI coverage to a wider range of commonly consumed foods.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethics Approval and Consent to Participate

The studies involving human participants were approved by East Midlands—Nottingham 1 National Research Ethics Committee (14/EM/0040) following Proportionate Review. Caldicott approval for storage of data and data protection was granted by Newcastle-upon-Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust [6896(3109)]. The trial was adopted into the UK Clinical Research Network (CRN) Portfolio (16037) and was registered with International Standard Randomized Controlled Trial Number (ISRCTN), 88921234.

A study information sheet was given to all potential participants in advance of their first visit to the research unit. The participants provided written informed consent to participate in each study, taken by an appropriately trained researcher. All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

Participant Recruitment

Participants were recruited using the inclusion criteria in **Supplementary Table 1** through poster and leaflet campaigns around Newcastle University campus and in local public buildings e.g., libraries. In addition, invitation letters were sent to potential participants who had registered their interest with Newcastle University in being contacted about upcoming nutrition-related studies. An advertisement for the study was also placed in a local newspaper. Some participants were recruited by word of mouth.

Based on data from our earlier studies (28), we aimed for a sample size of 15 participants for Study 1 (which incorporated experimental period 1 menu plans) and 30 participants for Study

2 (which incorporated experimental period 2 menu plans) this allowed for a 20% drop out. To minimize the risk that current disease or medications used for their management altered metabolism and, therefore, compromised the normal behavior of food-related biomarkers detected in urine, we implemented an *a priori* exclusion list (**Supplementary Table 1**). For similar reasons, we excluded potential participants who reported that they had had a cholecystectomy or who undertook a high level of exercise such as a professional athlete or body builder. Vegetarian recruits had to be willing to eat meat and fish during the studies.

Intervention Design and Randomisation

The MAIN Study Newcastle was built around six daily menu plans, delivered in two separate, 3-day experimental periods. Menu plans 1–3 constituted experimental period 1; menu plans 4–6 constituted experimental period 2. Menu plans were designed to emulate real world conditions and to reflect the whole diet by including many commonly-eaten foods in the context of a typical UK diet. All foods and drinks were provided to free-living individuals who prepared and consumed the meals in their own homes/places of work and were responsible for collecting urine samples while carrying out their normal daily activities.

Experimental period 1 menus were based largely on foods for which a significant amount of metabolite-based biomarker research has been published. The menus permitted the provision of 4-5 target foods each day, providing opportunity for biomarker validation as described in Lloyd et al. (27). On the first experimental day, participants consumed test foods for which there were some previously published urinary metabolite biomarkers while, on the two subsequent experimental days, they consumed foods for which putative biomarkers have been proposed but for which further validation and/or discovery is necessary. This first experimental period allowed the refinement of a spot urine sampling protocol for use in real world settings. Participants collected a range of post-prandial spot urines, which were compared for chemical richness and evaluated for the presence of known and putative dietary biomarkers. The overarching aims of this part of the study were to: (i) identify the urine collection times which provided the most data-rich spot urine for accurate capture of biomarker behavior relating to recent dietary intake and (ii) develop acceptable, nononerous and easy-to-implement urine sampling protocols for the future identification and validation of novel biomarkers of foods included within the menus [see Lloyd et al. (27) and Wilson et al. (29) for further detail].

To assess whether use of a standardized evening meal [as employed in our earlier studies (30)] was advantageous

for "normalizing" urines prior to biomarker validation and discovery, participants followed these menus in the same order on 2 separate weeks. Participants were randomized to either a standardized evening meal (chicken casserole ready meal and chocolate éclair) or a low polyphenol evening meal of their choice, to be eaten immediately before the experimental period. Participants were provided with a guide to high polyphenol foods/drinks that they should not eat/avoid and a list of low polyphenol foods/drinks which they should select from during the "Pre" day (see **Figure 1**). A cross-over design was employed so that all participants underwent both dietary interventions i.e., standardized evening meal and own choice low polyphenol evening meal.

Experimental period 2 menu plans were designed to identify novel biomarkers of food intake and to investigate whether the putative urinary biomarkers for specific foods were influenced by food preparation, processing, quality, formulation, complexity, and cooking method. Menus were created to deliver foods for which there were few, uncertain or no published biomarkers. In addition, we expanded the range of food formulations investigated in experimental period 1. For example, red and white grapes were included in the following forms: whole grapes, raisins (dried), wine (fermented), grape juice (pasteurized/heat-treated/concentrated), sparkling grape juice (carbonated drink), and a fruit smoothie (complex beverage). Whole grains were delivered across both experimental periods in the form of rye bread (with and without a sourdough starter, toasted and untoasted), wholemeal bread (toasted and untoasted), wholegrain breakfast cereal (Weetabix[®]), porridge oats (boiled/microwaved with milk) and wholemeal pasta (extruded). Participants consumed a range of commonly eaten foods in three different daily menu plans, which were presented in a different order in each of three experimental weeks. This design facilitated the search for novel biomarkers of specific foods, but also provided the potential to characterize the kinetics of biomarker appearance and decay and to investigate the longevity of biomarker signals in urine.

Each daily menu plan was designed to emulate conventional UK eating patterns with a breakfast, lunch, afternoon snack and dinner. All foods and drinks for the whole intervention were provided to participants in appropriate portion sizes and with cooking instructions, where necessary. Participants were encouraged to consume these items to the exclusion of any other foods or beverages, but had the freedom to eat or not the meals and to interpret the cooking instructions as they wished. During each experimental week, the allocated menu plans were followed from Tuesday to Thursday, as shown in Figure 1. Experimental period 1 menu plans were eaten in the same order on 2 consecutive weeks (Study 1); experimental period 2 menu plans were eaten in pre-determined orders over a 3-week period (Study 2). In each experimental week, the "Pre" day was the day before starting the experimental period and was always a Monday and included a pre-determined evening meal (Dinner). The "Post" day was the day following completion of the experimental period when the last biological samples were collected and was always a Friday. Participants visited the Clinical Aging Research Unit, Newcastle University on these 2 days only. This design minimized the number of trips the participants had to make to the University and also enabled participants to take a break from the studies at weekends, so reducing the burden of compliance.

During the "Pre" day, participants were asked to restrict, as far as possible, their polyphenol intake. In practical terms, this meant reducing their intake of brightly colored fruits and vegetables, chocolate, tea, herbal teas and coffee. Participants were asked to abstain from alcohol and stop taking any dietary supplements for the duration of the studies. In Study 1, dinner on the "Pre" day was either a standardized evening meal or a low polyphenol meal of the participant's choice whilst in Study 2 it consisted of one of three meals designed to capture biomarkers of relatively unhealthy food choices, particularly poorer-quality meats and breaded and battered foods.

Menu plans were developed using Public Health England policy advice from The Eatwell Plate which has been revised as The Eatwell Guide (25) and information on the eating habits of the British population which were collected and collated in the National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS), years 1-3 (31). The process of menu plan design has been described in detail in a recent publication (27). Briefly, this involved analysis of each food grouping described in the Eatwell Plate (e.g., fruit & vegetables) and investigating the disaggregated food groups that contribute to that food grouping in the NDNS (e.g., fresh & canned fruit; fruit juice; dried fruit etc.). We then identified the most commonly eaten foods within each disaggregated food group and incorporated as many as possible of the most commonly consumed foods into the menu plans using the most commonly reported method of preparation (e.g., raw/boiled/with or without skin). To assess biomarker robustness, multiple forms of similar foods using different processing methods and formulations were delivered as discrete meal components and incorporated within complex meals, and using different cooking methods. Foods and portion sizes were compatible with normal eating behavior and were provided according to conventional UK daily meal patterns using commercially available foods. We used average (medium) portions of each food as determined by the Food Standards Agency "Food Portion Sizes" Guide (32). Exact amounts of each food provided has been described elsewhere (26, 27). An example daily menu plan from experimental period 2 is shown in Supplementary Table 2.

To identify the easiest to collect and most informative spot urine sample, participants were asked to collect several spot urine samples each day. These included their first morning void (FMV) before breakfast; a fasting sample, defined as a sample collected after the FMV but before breakfast, following an overnight fast of at least 12 h; a sample collected any time between finishing breakfast and eating lunch and a sample collected any time between finishing lunch and eating their afternoon snack. Each urination between dinner and the FMV the following day was also collected. To reduce variation in timing of urine sample collection, participants were encouraged to consume meals within a 2h time slot (breakfast, lunch and dinner) or 30 min time slot (afternoon snack) as illustrated in Figure 1. However, the participants were free to ignore this advice and to provide a urine sample at the time most convenient for them.



FIGURE 1 | The MAIN Study timeline. Participants were asked to follow a low polyphenol diet prior to starting the experimental period. Where applicable, dinner was provided on the "Pre" day (Monday). All foods and drinks for 3 consecutive experimental days (Tuesday, Wednesday, and Thursday) were provided. Participants collected first morning void (FMV), fasting urines and spot urines post-breakfast and post-lunch each day during the experimental period, and a FMV and fasting urine on the "Post" day. Any urination between finishing dinner and providing the FMV the following day was also collected. A fasting blood sample was taken on the "Post" day only. Figure adapted from Lloyd et al. (27).

Participants were encouraged to keep hydrated and to drink water *ad libitum*. To help maintain good hydration, participants were given eight 500 ml bottles of water per experimental week, one to be drunk with/after each dinner, one to be drunk during each experimental day and one to be drunk on the morning of the "Post" day, prior to venipuncture.

Participants in Study 1 were randomized (random.org) at enrolment to one of two dinner options on the "Pre" day. In Study 2, participants were randomized to one of 12 3 \times 3 Latin squares (3 daily menu plans \times 3 experimental weeks) at enrolment. The order in which these participants consumed the three less healthy dinners on the "Pre" day in each of the three experimental weeks was randomized independently.

Compliance

Dietary compliance was assessed by participant self-report. They were asked to record how much of each food/drink item they ate. If some food was uneaten, the participant recorded the amount eaten as 75, 50, 25% or 0, as appropriate. Dietary substitutions, intrusions and protocol deviations were also recorded. Participants recorded if they substituted any foods or drinks of their own choosing for those provided by the research team, ate or drank any additional items or prepared any of the meals differently from that instructed.

A 1-day food diary was used to record all foods and drinks consumed from 8pm on the evening before and throughout the "Pre" day. This was used to check participant compliance with the low polyphenol diet prior to commencement of the experimental period each week.

To monitor compliance with both the urine collection protocol and suggested meal times, participants completed a Urine sample collection record and a Meal time record the latter asked specifically at what time they finished eating each meal. This acted as a check on the accuracy of the FMV and fasting urine samples collected. In addition, this information allowed calculation of the time interval between meal consumption and subsequent urine collections.

Study Measures

Information on participant socio-demographics (age, sex, smoking status, and alcohol consumption), medical history, current medications, and use of dietary supplements was collected at enrolment.

In Study 1, weight, height and waist circumference were measured on "Pre" and "Post" days of each experimental week. In Study 2, height and waist circumference were recorded in week 1 only, whilst weight was recorded weekly, pre- and postthe experimental period. All anthropometric measurements were made at the research unit by the same researcher.

Body weight was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg using a Tanita body composition analyzer (TBF-300 MA; Tanita Corporation, Tokyo, Japan); height was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm using a Leicester portable height measure (Chasmors Ltd, London, UK). Waist circumference (at the point equidistant between the costal margin and the iliac crest) was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm using a non-stretch tape measure over bare skin, whenever possible. Waist circumference measurements were taken in duplicate, or repeated until two measurements agreed within 1 cm. Participants were asked to wear lightweight clothing and removed their shoes for all measurements.

Habitual dietary intake was assessed at the beginning of each study using a locally adapted version of the validated food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) used in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) (33).

To monitor their physical activity (PA), each week participants were asked to complete the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) short form (34).

Blood and Urine Sample Collection

Participants collected urine samples at suggested times (Figure 1) in a calibrated plastic jug and recorded the date, time and total volume of collection. A 20 ml aliquot from each urination was retained and the rest discarded. If not at home, participants kept urine samples in a cool bag containing a frozen cool block, otherwise they stored them in a refrigerator before returning them to the research team at the end of each experimental week. It has been reported that no major changes in urinary metabolite fingerprints occur when samples are stored in tubes held at +4°C for up to 72 h (35). We have shown recently that the metabolome of spot urine samples collected, stored and transported as described in this manuscript is stable with negligible microbial growth at 4°C and, specifically, that inclusion of preservatives has no impact on data quality (36). For long-term storage, urine samples were divided into 10×1 ml aliquots [2 ml screwcap microtubes (Starstedt, Germany)] which were free from plasticisers (in house tests; data not shown)] and $1 \times 5-10$ ml aliquot (25 ml Universal tubes; Starstedt) and stored at -80° C.

Whole blood, serum and plasma were archived at -80°C for future lipidomic analysis and associated metabolite fingerprinting. Venipuncture was performed on the "Post" day of each week after a minimum 12 h overnight fast. After filling, blood tubes were inverted several times, kept flat on ice and processed within 2 h. Before processing, the height of the blood in each tube was recorded to assess filling. Plasma was separated from anti-coagulated blood collected in $1 \times EDTA$ and $2 \times$ lithium/heparin Vacutainer[®] blood collection tubes (Becton Dickinson, Oxford, UK) by centrifugation at $3,100 \times \text{g}$ for 5 min at 4°C in a Jouan CR3i centrifuge (Saint-Herblain, France). Plasma was stored at -80°C in 1 ml aliquots in plasticiser-free microtubes as described above. Serum was separated from coagulated blood collected in 2 \times gel Vacutainer[®] tubes at least 30 min after collection, aliquoted and stored as for plasma. One tube of unprocessed whole blood, collected in an EDTA-coated tube, was also stored at -80° C.

A summary of the time points at which key data, measurements and biological samples were collected is given in **Table 2** (Study 2) and **Supplementary Table 3** (Study 1).

Metabolomic Analysis

The metabolomics methods implemented for biomarker discovery have been published elsewhere (26, 27). All urine samples were normalized by refractive index prior to analysis

to ensure all MS measurements were made within a similar dynamic range. Essentially, urine samples were analysed by nontargeted metabolite fingerprinting using high resolution (HR) flow infusion electrospray (FIE) ionization mass spectrometry (MS), acquired on an Exactive Orbitrap (ThermoFinnigan, San Jose, CA) mass spectrometer coupled to an Accela (ThermoFinnigan) ultra-performance liquid chromatography system. Supervised Random Forest (RF) classification was implemented to investigate the presence of distinctive urine composition changes following consumption of specific meals. A combination of accuracy, margins of classification and area under the ROC (Receiver Operator Characteristic) curve (AUC) were used to evaluate the performance of classification models (37). To reveal potential explanatory signals responsible for discriminating between baseline and post-prandial urine samples, a combination of RF, AUC and Student's t-test was employed for feature selection (37).

The methodology used for biomarker identification has been described in detail elsewhere (26, 27). For metabolite signal annotation, accurate m/z values were extracted for high-ranked explanatory signals and queried using MZedDB, an interactive accurate mass annotation tool (38). Ultra High Performance Liquid Chromatography-High Resolution MS (UHPLC-HRMS) and Tandem mass spectrometry (MSⁿ) allowed further structural identification of putative biomarkers as previously described (39). Refractive index adjusted urine samples were diluted with 100% MeOH (1:1, v:v) and centrifuged at 1,400 \times g for 5 mins at 4°C. Samples were analysed on an Orbitrap Fusion Tribrid mass spectrometer (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA) coupled to a Dionex Ultimate 3000 Ultra High Performance Liquid Chromatography (UHPLC) system (Thermo Scientific). Chromatographic separation was performed on a reverse phase (RP) Hypersil Gold 1.9 μ m, 2.1 \times 150 mm column (Thermo Scientific) using 0.1% formic acid in H₂O (mobile phase A) and 0.1% formic acid in MeOH (mobile phase B) at a flow rate of 0.6 ml/min and column oven temperature at 60°C. Each sample (5 µl) was analysed by following a gradient after 0.5 min isocratic A to 40 % B in 3.5 min and subsequently to 100% in 5 min. The column was washed with 100% B for 2.5 min and re-equilibrated for 2.5 min. Data were acquired in two runs using respective positive and negative ESI mode. Each experiment consisted of a full scan [110-1,100 m/z at 120,000 resolution and MS² scans (ddMS2 OT HCD event, stepped Higher-energy collision energies of 45, 60, 75%) and 15,000 Orbitrap mass resolution] within a 1s cycle time using selected targeted mass properties for either positive or negative ionization mode between 1 and 12 min runtime. The maximum injection time was 22 ms and the Automatic Gain Control (AGC) target of 1×10^4 was set to be exceeded if there is parallelisable time. The spray voltage was 3.5 kV for positive and 2.5 kV for negative ionization modes. The temperatures of the ion transfer capillary and vaporiser were, respectively, 342° and 258°C with sheath and auxiliary gas set at 45 and 13 arbitrary units, respectively. The data were acquired using Thermo Scientific Xcalibur version 4.2.28.14.

Metabolites were annotated to Metabolomics Standards Initiative (MSI) level 1 (40) by matching masses, MS^n and retention times with authentic standards or with the respective TABLE 2 | Summary of data and biological samples collected during Study 2.

Data collected/measures	Study time point									
		Experimental week 1		Experimental week 2		Experimental week 3				
	Screening	Pre day visit	Between visits	Post day visit	Pre day visit	Between visits	Post day visit	Pre day visit	Between visits	Post day visit
Demographics (age, sex) & self-reported nthropometrics	Х									
Eligibility criteria (medical history, nedications, supplements, diet & lifestyle)	Х									
Written consent		Х								
Randomisation		Х								
One day food diary		Х			Х			Х		
Height & waist circumference		Х								
Veight		Х		Х	Х		Х	Х		Х
Food frequency questionnaire		Х								
PAQ Physical activity questionnaire		Х			Х			Х		
Dietary compliance record			Х			Х			Х	
Meal time record			Х			Х			Х	
Jrine samples			Х	Х		Х	Х		Х	Х
Jrine sample collection record			Х	Х		Х	Х		Х	Х
Blood sample (plasma, serum & whole blood)				Х			Х			Х

IPAQ, International Physical Activity Questionnaire.

aglycone (if the biotransformation product was unavailable). MSI level 2 structural assignment was achieved by putatively matching signal behavior with that of authentic standards reported in the literature (based upon physicochemical properties, retention times and spectral similarity) or fragmentation pattern alignment with data in public/commercial spectral libraries [Lipid Maps, HMDB, Metlin, and Massbank (41–44)]. MSI level 3 structural identification indicated a putatively characterized compound class.

RESULTS

Recruitment

As shown in **Figure 2**, 150 people expressed an interest, or were invited to participate, in the studies over a 10 month period: 40 people for entry into Study 1 and 116 people for entry into Study 2 (six people took part in both studies). Personal details, self-reported anthropometrics, medical history and lifestyle information (smoking, alcohol consumption, dietary supplementation) were provided by 70% people (n = 105). More than 70% of those invited to participate in Study 1 had taken part in earlier nutrition research studies at Newcastle University and six were subsequently recruited. A further nine participants learned about the study through word of mouth. The majority (85%) of those who expressed an interest in Study 2 and were

screened for eligibility (69%) had learned about it through local community and internal university advertising and contributed 66% of enrolled participants. The remaining participants had either taken part in Study 1 (17%) or heard about the study through word of mouth (17%). The desired sample size (n = 15) was met in Study 1 and the target recruitment (n = 30) was exceeded by 20% in Study 2.

Baseline Characteristics of Participants

Participants aged 19-77 years (mean 46 years), of whom 57% were female, took part in the studies (Table 3). The participants were generally healthy: arthritis, previous cancer and hypertension were the most commonly reported medical history. Smokers were excluded from the study and while 78% participants were alcohol consumers, weekly consumption (median 4.5 units) was well below the recommended maximum levels. Mean BMI (24.1) was within the normal range but almost 20% of participants had central obesity. Twenty-five percent of participants reported taking dietary supplements with fish oils/cod liver oil being the most commonly consumed supplement. Self-reported physical activity levels were relatively high-59% of participants were categorized as highly physically active according to the IPAQ guidelines (45). Self-reported sitting time, measured by the IPAQ, was also high with participants reporting, on average, 6 h sitting



time/day. This exceeds the 4 h sitting time/day cut-off point considered a proxy for sedentary behavior detrimental to health (46).

Participant characteristics were similar in both studies but those recruited to Study 2 were slightly older (mean 1.4 years) and had a lower BMI. They were less likely to report consuming alcohol, although weekly consumption amongst those who did was higher (based on self-reported weekly alcohol intake). Ten percent more participants were categorized as having central obesity in Study 1 than in Study 2.

Validation of Study Design for Discovery of Novel Biomarkers of Dietary Exposure

In recent publications, we have reported that dietary exposure biomarker discovery was possible within the context of the present comprehensive food intervention mimicking a typical UK diet in free-living individuals with minimal intrusion on normal daily activities (26, 27). Validation of the overall MAIN Study Newcastle design for efficient biomarker discovery was assessed initially by confirming the presence of expected BFIs in urine samples collected during and following experimental day 1 in Study 1 (26). Biomarker performance was further tested using different food formulations and processing methods with several types of meat, wholegrains, fruit and vegetables (26). Additionally it was shown that the urine sampling methodology for free-living study participants was non-intrusive and delivered samples with high quality metabolome content using metabolite fingerprinting (27).

Against this background, we now demonstrate that the MAIN Study Newcastle design, coupled with metabolomic techniques, made possible the discovery of new BFIs for use in monitoring dietary intake in free-living individuals eating conventional diets. As an example, the schematic of the dietary exposure biomarker discovery strategy using BFIs of legumes is shown in **Figure 3**. Participants were exposed to an evening meal (**Figure 3A**) containing a typically consumed legume (garden peas). Random Forest modeling of metabolite fingerprints representing urines collected at bed-time following this meal and FMV urine samples acquired earlier in the day showed that the urine

(SD) 5 3 14.8) 63 0 0 0	Mean (SD) 36 58 46.7 (18.7) 19–77 4 3 1 4 0 1 1 1 1 1	Mean (SD 51 57 46.3 (17.5) 19–77 4 4 1 4 1 1 1 1
3 14.8) 63))))	58 46.7 (18.7) 19–77 4 3 1 4 0 1 1 1	57 46.3 (17.5) 19–77 4 4 1 4 1 4 1 1
3 14.8) 63))))	58 46.7 (18.7) 19–77 4 3 1 4 0 1 1 1	57 46.3 (17.5 19–77 4 4 1 4 1 1 1
14.8) 63)))	46.7 (18.7) 19–77 4 3 1 4 0 1 1 1	46.3 (17.5 19–77 4 4 1 4 1 1 1
14.8) 63)))	46.7 (18.7) 19–77 4 3 1 4 0 1 1 1	46.3 (17.5 19–77 4 4 1 4 1 1 1
63))))	19-77 4 3 1 4 0 1 1 1	19-77 4 4 1 4 1 1
	4 3 1 4 0 1 1 1	4 1 4 1 1
	3 1 4 0 1 1	4 1 4 1
	3 1 4 0 1 1	4 1 4 1
	1 4 0 1 1	1 4 1 1
	4 0 1 1	4 1 1
	0 1 1	1
	1 1	1
)	1	
)	1	1
)		
)		
)	1	1
		2
1	2	2
	1	1
	9	13
	0	1
	0	1
	0	1
	0	1
)	1	1
	1	2
	1	2
	6	7
)	2	2
)	1	1
)	1	1
)	1	1
)	1	1
)	1	1
)	1	1
7	75	78
5–9)	6.5 (2–13.5)	4.5 (2–11)
13.5)	66.8 (10.4)	68.3 (11.5
(9.0)	167.6 (7.7)	168.2 (8.0
11.3)	82.5 (9.1)	83.1 (9.7)
	23.7 (3.1)	24.1 (3.3)
10.11	N- /	()
(0.7)	66.7	64.7
		29.4
.0		5.9
		19.6
	11.3) (3.7) 0 3	11.3) 82.5 (9.1) 3.7) 23.7 (3.1) 0 66.7 3 27.8 7 5.6

TABLE 3 | Continued

2,747 (1,969– 5,058)	2,994 (1,866– 4,878)	2,937 (1,894– 4,878)
69.2	54.8	59.1
30.8	29.0	29.5
0	16.1	11.4
390 (285–480)	360 (240–435)	360 (255–480)
	(1,969– 5,058) 69.2 30.8 0 390	(1,969– 5,058) (1,866– 5,058) 4,878) 69.2 54.8 30.8 29.0 0 16.1 390 360

In this table data are presented as mean (standard deviation, SD) for continuous variables and as number of participants or percentage (%) for categorical variables, except for alcohol consumption, total physical activity (PA), and sitting time, which are given as median (interquartile range). MET, metabolic equivalent of task.

^asmokers were excluded from the study.

^b participants who reported no alcohol consumption were excluded from this analysis. ^c body Mass Index (BMI) was calculated as [weight(kg)/height(m)2]. BMI cut-off points for determination of weight status were: normal weight 18.5–24.9 kgm–2, overweight 25.0–29.9 kgm–2, obese 29.9–39.9 kgm–2.

^d central obesity was determined using waist circumference as a proxy, with sex-specific cut-off points (females \geq 88 cm, males \geq 102 cm).

^e to classify individuals according to their self-reported PA, MET-minutes per week were calculated and participants were grouped into three activity levels (high, moderate, low) according to the cut-points defined in the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) guidelines (45). Outliers were excluded along with datasets of individuals containing missing values (n = 2). Reported duration of activity was truncated to 180 min, where necessary, according to the IPAQ data processing rules.

 $^{\rm f}$ sitting time is defined as a sedentary-related behavior (47) and spending 4 h or more ($\geq\!\!240\,{\rm min})$ a day sitting is a proxy measure of sedentary behavior detrimental to health (46).

[#]food allergies were to shellfish (1 person) and whole egg/milk (1 person).

¥ each serving contains 150 mg of caffeine and 1.7 g creatine monohydrate, plus specific amino acids, vitamins, fruit extracts, and black pepper extracts.

≠contains calcium. vitamin D. zinc. and magnesium.

samples had very distinctive compositions (**Figure 3B**). Feature selection identified several metabolite signals that were strongly explanatory of compositional differences between these two urine classes. Further analysis of urine composition after consumption of a range of legumes (beans, soy and peanuts) in other MAIN Study Newcastle menu plans revealed several explanatory metabolites in common, including m/z 204.98143. Detailed structural analysis indicated that this particular compound is pyrogallol sulpate (**Figure 3C**). The large relative increase in the pyrogallol sulpate signal after consumption of peas in shown in **Figure 3D**.

Following an identical rationale, a selection of potential biomarkers of an extended range of foods is summarized in **Table 4**. In addition to pyrogallol sulfate, pyrogallol glucuronide and trigonelline emerged as generic biomarkers of legume consumption (beans, peanuts, peas and soy). Eugenol glucuronide and eugenol sulfate were elevated in urine after consumption of curry and are potential biomarkers of this food group. The metabolite, 2-furoylglycine, appeared discriminatory for high temperature baked foods (e.g., pies) and toasted grain products (e.g., toasted bread). We identified furaneol (sulfate and glucuronide) and mesifurane after the consumption of strawberries and tomato products. Higher concentrations of Maillard reaction intermediates 2,4-dihydroxy-2,5-dimethyl-3(2H)-furanone (acetylformoine) in both its sulfate and glucuronide forms and norfuraneol sulfate (4-hydroxy-5-methyl-3(2H)-furanone) were observed in urine following consumption of both high temperature-baked and toasted grain products as well as strawberries, berries and tomato. After the consumption of a low-calorie beverage, urinary concentration of the sweetener acesulfame potassium was elevated for up to 12 h (**Table 4**).

DISCUSSION

Success of Free-Living Study Design

Our aim was to design and implement a prolonged dietary intervention study which would allow the collection of urine samples for biomarker studies in a home or work environment. Study recruitment achieved (Study 1) or surpassed (Study 2) original expectations with 51 healthy adults consuming specific foods and beverages, provided *in toto* by the research team. Apart from a visit to the research unit to pick up food at the beginning, and to deliver urine samples at the end, of each experimental week, participants were free-living and had the freedom to eat or not the meals and to interpret the cooking instructions as they wished. A combination of no drop outs and high compliance rates with regard to meal consumption (> 80%), suggests that this food intervention strategy was highly acceptable to participants [see Lloyd et al. (27) for details on compliance].

Participants collected urine samples within pre-specified time frames each day and fasting blood samples were collected in the morning of the final ("Post") day of each experimental week. This aspect of the study was designed to be as minimally intrusive as possible to investigate the potential for such urine collections to be incorporated into future larger-scale epidemiological studies and surveys. Data associated with urine collection has been described in a recent publication (27) and indicated that the most successful urine type collected within this cohort was the FMV and the post-dinner spot sample (both at 99% compliance). The fasting sample was the least successfully collected sample. Evidence that the urine sampling methodology imposed low burden on participants and delivered samples with high quality metabolome content has been published (27). From a metabolomics perspective, the overall experimental design was validated by confirming the presence of known BFIs in urine samples after exposure to menu plan 1 (26).

Discovery of Novel Exposure Biomarkers

For BFIs to have utility in assessing dietary intake as a whole, it is essential that the dietary exposure biomarker panel is as comprehensive as possible. To date, the focus on BFI discovery has centered largely on healthy foods of high public health significance (50, 51) rather than more unhealthy foods containing high levels of fat, sugar and salt (52–54). We used our intervention design in a free-living population to aid the discovery of novel biomarkers to help complete coverage of the UK Eatwell Guide (25) whilst aiming to monitor comprehensively both the whole diet and the range of cooking methods used in populations.

UK government policy recommends the consumption of more beans and pulses and less red and processed meat (25). However, there is very limited data on potential urinary biomarkers for non-meat protein-rich foods, such as beans, lentils, and other pulses (55, 56). Here we propose pyrogallol sulfate and glucuronide as potential markers of overall legume consumption (beans, peanuts, peas, soy). Additionally, trigonelline, despite being well-documented as a coffee (57) and pea consumption biomarker (58), and most recently, a novel candidate marker for soy (59), is, in fact, a general legume BFI. However, whilst potential BFIs for legumes, these markers are not exclusive to pulses. Pyrogallol is present in low quantities in beer (60), cocoa and coffee and is excreted as a sulfate after green tea and nut consumption (61, 62). These findings illustrate the need to utilize urine samples from a comprehensive food intervention to investigate specificity to individual foods or food groups. If the dietary source(s) of trigonelline needed to be identified further, then the relative contribution of coffee and soy consumption could be estimated using additional discriminatory biomarkers such as caffeine and daidzein sulfate, respectively (57, 63). These biomarkers could be added to a panel of BFIs to monitor protein-rich food intake, together with anserine and TMAO (Trimethylamine-N-oxide) to indicate poultry and fish intake and carnitine and carnosine to indicate red meat consumption (16, 64).

It still remains challenging to assess the overall "quality" of meat products that are consumed since processed meat products have very variable levels of striated muscle content (19, 65). However, it is possible that BFIs of meal components strongly associated with generally unhealthy diet patterns (66) such as a deep fried-potato (22) or mechanically recovered meat could be highly informative (19, 65). These issues will need to be addressed in the future to provide a comprehensive panel of biomarkers that can characterize and quantify eating habits *in toto*.

Concentrations of eugenol glucuronide and eugenol sulfate in urine increased after the consumption of curry possibly because clove (a common component of curry) is rich in eugenol (67). Having biomarkers that provide information about the cooking and processing methods used with foods would be an important addition to biomarkers that reflect the raw ingredients of the dish/meal because different cooking methods can change the quality and therefore healthiness of a food. Obtaining this level of information can be difficult using self-reported dietary assessment instruments, especially widely-used food frequency questionnaires. To date, a few such biomarkers of high-temperature cooked meats have been described (68). In the present study, the marker 2furoylglycine appeared discriminatory for thermally treated foods including pies, grains and toasted wheat products (e.g., toasted bread). This marker has been described as an acute coffee consumption biomarker (69) which results from furan metabolites that arise through roasting of coffee beans via the Maillard reaction. Our metabolomics approach identified several other thermally treated/heated food Maillard products-furanones-including 2,4-dihydroxy-2,5-dimethyl-3furanone sulfate and glucuronide and norfuraneol sulfate,



which have been detected as aglycones in bread crust and popcorn, respectively (70, 71), but not reported previously in urine samples. 2,4-dihydroxy-2,5-dimethyl-3-furanone sulfate and glucuronide have been reported as markers for the intake of deep-fried potatoes, but, due to their presence in other foods, these compounds are not likely to be specific (22). Although furanones are formed by the Maillard reaction during the thermal treatment of food, they can also be biosynthesized by plants, microorganisms, and insects [as reviewed by Slaughter (72)]. Other metabolites structurally identical to Maillard products, including furaneol and its methylether derivative mesifurane, are well-documented natural aroma components in fruits such as pineapple, raspberry, mango, grapefruit, tomato, and strawberry (73) and the glucuronide and sulfate of these compounds have been reported in urine after strawberry consumption (48, 74). In the current study, we confirmed this observation and suggest that furaneol glucuronide and sulfate, and mesifurane sulfate, are generic biomarkers of berry and tomato consumption (**Table 4**). Assessment of the relative concentrations of some of these chemicals and strawberry/berry/tomato specific compounds {i.e., pelargonidin [strawberry], hydroxyphenylvalerolactone [procyanidin-rich food (75)] and lycopene in plasma for tomato (76)}, could provide rich information on cooking methods and could, potentially, distinguish between berry fruit and tomato consumption.

Foods high in added sugar are not needed in the diet and should only be consumed in very small amounts (25).

TABLE 4 Discovery of novel biomarkers for foods where biomarkers have yet to be discovered in relation to UK Public health policies.

Food exposure source	Biomarker	Ionization products	MSI level
Legumes	Pyrogallol (1,2,3-Trihydroxybenzene) glucuronide	[M-H] ¹⁻	1
	Pyrogallol (1,2,3-Trihydroxybenzene) sulfate	[M-H] ¹⁻ , [M-H] ¹⁻¹³ C, [M-H] ¹⁻³⁴ S	1
	Trigonelline	[M+H] ¹⁺¹³ C, [M+Na] ¹⁺ , [M+Na] ^{1+ 13} C, [M+K] ¹⁺ , [M+K] ¹⁺¹³ C, [M+K] ¹⁺⁴¹ K	1
Curry (clove)	Eugenol glucuronide	[M-H] ^{1–} , [M-H-gluc] ^{1–} , [M-H-gluc] ^{1–13} C	1
	Eugenol sulfate	[M-H] ¹⁻ , [M-H] ¹⁻³⁴ S	1
High temperature baked and toasted grain products	2-Furoylglycine	[M+Na] ¹⁺ , [M+K] ¹⁺ , [M+2Na-H] ¹⁺ , [M+KNa-H] ¹⁺ , [M-H] ¹⁻	1
Strawberry, berries, and tomato	Furaneol sulfate	[M-H] ¹⁻ , [M-H] ¹⁻¹³ C, [M-H] ¹⁻³⁴ S	1
	Furaneol glucuronide	[M-H] ¹⁻	1
	Mesifurane (2,5-Dimethyl-4-methoxy-3(2H)-furanone) sulfate	[M-H] ¹⁻	2 (48, 49)
High temperature baked and toasted grain products and strawberry, berries, and tomato	Norfuraneol sulfate (4-hydroxy-5-methyl-3(2H)-furanone)	[M-H] ¹⁻ , [M-H] ¹⁻³⁴ S	1
	2,4-Dihydroxy-2,5-dimethyl-3(2H)-furanone sulfate	[M-H] ¹⁻	3
	2,4-Dihydroxy-2,5-dimethyl-3(2H)-furanone glucuronide	[M-H] ¹⁻ , [M-H] ¹⁻¹³ C	3
Low calorie drinks	Acesulfame potassium	[M-K] ¹⁻ , [M-K] ¹⁻¹³ C, [M-K] ¹⁻³⁴ S	1

MSI level 1, matching masses, MSⁿ and retention times with authentic standards or with the respective aglycone; MSI level 2, structural assignment achieved by putatively matching signal behavior with that of authentic standards reported in the literature or fragmentation pattern alignment with data in public/commercial spectral libraries; MSI level 3, structural identification indicated a putatively characterized compound class.

Urinary sucrose has previously been shown to be a marker of acute sugar exposure (53) and appeared discriminatory of the consumption of high sugar products, such as sweetened breakfast cereals, in the present study (26). Many food manufacturers are now substituting sugars in traditionally sugar-sweetened beverages with low-calorie sweeteners, to help combat risks associated with high sugar intake (77). The urinary concentration of the sweetener acesulfame potassium was elevated after the consumption of a low-calorie beverage and remained so for up to 12 h after consumption (**Table 4**). This low-calorie sweetener is a known component of the chosen beverage and, in addition to other commonly consumed sweeteners, is a potential biomarker of recent low-calorie beverage intake (78).

Strengths and Limitations of Study Design

The MAIN Study Newcastle is one of the largest food interventions reported to date using metabolomics approaches to discover new, and to help validate existing, biomarkers of foods frequently consumed in the UK. A key objective was to design an efficient and acceptable intervention strategy that would expose study participants to foods encountered commonly in the UK diet. We established a successful food exposure strategy using information on consumption frequencies, food groupings and eating habits from the UK NDNS data (31) together with Public Health England policy advice (25) using standard portion sizes (32). We demonstrated that it is possible to design menus that mimic major features of a typical UK diet and are suitable for short-term randomized controlled dietary interventions "experimental periods" lasting only 3 days. Importantly each experimental period contained menu plans organized to emulate conventional UK eating patterns with a breakfast, lunch, afternoon snack and dinner that differed each day. This intervention strategy may be of value for the design of future studies of BFI discovery and validation in other populations globally. This design differs from many other reported biomarker discovery studies that utilized either single meals/ingredients in isolation (15, 30, 79, 80) or repeated menus (81) or depended on supplementation of the habitual diet (82, 83). Additionally, the overall menu design ensured that participants were exposed to several formulations of individual foods. In other work within the MAIN project, we have demonstrated the value of spot urines for assessing dietary intake (29). The present protocol required all study participants to store 20 ml urine samples in their home fridges for up to 5 days before transporting them to the research unit at the end of each experimental week. We have checked that urine samples collected at home and stored at 4°C are stable and not subject to microbial degradation (36). When outside the home, small cool bags were supplied for temporary urine storage. All urine spot samples were collected with success rates exceeding 90% showing that this approach to urine sampling for biomarker studies is highly acceptable. Additionally, the collection of multiple spot urines allowed us to investigate systematically the utility of home collected spot urine samples taken at various times in the diurnal feeding and fasting cycle for BFI discovery [see Lloyd et al. (27)]. Based on these observations we suggest that the protocols used in the MAIN

study have overcome many of the design challenges summarized in **Table 1**.

From a biomarker discovery perspective, an important finding from Study 1 was that the consumption of a standardized evening meal prior to the experimental period had little impact on the ability to discover BFIs [see Lloyd et al. (26)]. This finding simplified the design of the wider food intervention in Study 2 and reduced the burden on the study participants by requiring only a limit on the consumption of polyphenolrich foods prior to each experimental period. Furthermore, the characteristics of the MAIN study participants (Table 3) in respect of sex, age, adiposity, physical activity and general health indicate that BFIs discovered in this study are likely to be generalizable to the wider population. Importantly, in the MAIN Study Newcastle, all foods and beverages were prepared and consumed by free-living participants in their own homes rather than in a controlled clinical facility (24). This strategy ensured that metabolomic analyses were undertaken within the context of normal eating behaviors and in real world meal patterns, rather than following consumption of discrete items in isolation. In addition, this study design took into account the inherent variability associated with unsupervised individuals preparing meals and eating them in their own homes and collecting urine samples within flexible time ranges. Importantly, the comprehensiveness of this food intervention provides opportunity to examine the specificity of putative biomarkers in relation to exposure to a wide range of foods within the same biobank of samples.

Although the MAIN study had great value for the discovery of putative BFIs, some sources of variability were not considered. For example, the study employed relatively healthy individuals and we excluded those with current disease or disease treatment which might have altered the metabolism of ingested foods. As a consequence, future studies should explore the robustness of biomarkers of food intake in population groups with poorer health, particularly those who are taking prescribed medications that affect the P450 enzyme consortium or the gut microbiome. Our cohort of participants included one individual with irritable bowel syndrome (IBS)-contrary to the study inclusion criteriabut it seems unlikely that this would have had a major effect on the overall findings. Similarly, our cohort included three participants who were slightly obese (BMI 32.2-33.0 kg/m²) and, again, it is unlikely that this infringement of the exclusion criteria will have affected the findings. It is possible also that participant genotype will alter the pattern of metabolites produced from a given food constituent and so for this reason further work should investigate the impact of common variants in the genes encoding Phase 1 and Phase 2 enzyme systems, an example being the P450 consortium (14), on urinary BFIs. It should be noted that several of the putative BFI reported here are biotransformation products (sulfates and glucuronides) that could be identified to the level of the aglycone only (i.e., pyrogallol, eugenol, furaneol), because chemical standards for the biotransformed products are not available commercially at a reasonable cost.

Future Work

In previous publications, we have shown that when using a combination of non-targeted metabolite profiles and targeted BFIs for assessment of dietary patterns, spot samples are suitable replacements for 24-h urine samples (29). The collection of multiple spot urine samples throughout the day using a home urine sample collection method will enable us to determine which samples (e.g., FMV or bed-time) or combinations thereof, and how many samples, are optimal for assessment of eating behavior using BFIs. It is anticipated that multiple, wellspaced spot samples collected over several weeks would be able to capture biomarker data accurately, reflecting habitual exposure to a wide range of food groups in a similar way to that achieved using multiple 24 h recall methods. The ultimate aim of our studies is to deploy a comprehensive BFI panel to aid in monitoring habitual dietary exposure in clinical trials or population surveys at a range of scales. With this aim in mind, we have developed methodology for urine collection using vacuum transfer technology which is suitable for routine use and may provide a scalable, costeffective means to collect urine samples and to assess dietary intake in large-scale epidemiological studies and in public health surveys (36).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and a favorable ethical opinion was obtained following Proportionate Review by the East Midlands-Nottingham 1 National Research Ethics Committee (14/EM/0040). Caldicott approval for storage of data and data protection was granted by Newcastle-upon-Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust [6896(3109)]. The trial was adopted into the UK Clinical Research Network (CRN) Portfolio (16037) and was registered with International Standard Randomized Controlled Trials Number (ISRCTN), 88921234. A study information sheet was given to all potential participants in advance of their first visit to the research center. Written informed consent was obtained prior to participation from each eligible individual, for each study, by an appropriately trained researcher. All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. Trial registration: ISRCTN, ISRCTN88921234. Registered 3rd April 2014-retrospectively registered, http:// www.isrctn.com/ISRCTN88921234. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JD, JM, and MB conceived the study. JM, JD, NW, AL, and MB designed the study and menu plans. NW and LX undertook participant recruitment, developed participant handling protocols, ran the intervention study, supervised support staff, collected all biological samples, and refined sampling methodology. IG-P and EC coordinated project input from Imperial College London. NW and MS analysed and interpreted the data with respect to study design, participant recruitment and characteristics and participant and sample handling, and produced the tables and figures. KT and MB analysed the urine samples. AL analysed and interpreted the metabolomics data and produced the tables and figures. NW, AL, JD, and JM wrote the manuscript. JM and JD coordinated the project and supervised the research teams in Newcastle and Aberystwyth Universities, respectively. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Kolehmainen M, Ulven SM, Paananen J, de Mello V, Schwab U, Carlberg C, et al. Healthy nordic diet downregulates the expression of genes involved in inflammation in subcutaneous adipose tissue in individuals with features of the metabolic syndrome. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2015) 101:228–39. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.092783
- Murray CJ, Richards MA, Newton JN, Fenton KA, Anderson HR, Atkinson C, et al. UK health performance: findings of the global burden of disease study 2010. *Lancet*. (2013) 381:997–1020. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60355-4
- Penn L, Boeing H, Boushey CJ, Dragsted LO, Kaput J, Scalbert A, et al. Assessment of dietary intake: NuGO symposium report. *Genes Nutr.* (2010) 5:205–13. doi: 10.1007/s12263-010-0175-9
- Poslusna K, Ruprich J, de Vries JHM, Jakubikova M, van't Veer. P. Misreporting of energy micronutrient intake estimated by food records 24 hour recalls, control adjustment methods in practice. *Br J Nutr.* (2009) 101(Suppl. 2):S73–85. doi: 10.1017/S0007114509990602
- Jessri M, Lou WY, L'Abbé MR. Evaluation of different methods to handle misreporting in obesity research: evidence from the Canadian national nutrition survey. Br J Nutr. (2016) 115:147–59. doi: 10.1017/S0007114515004237
- Stumbo PJ. New technology in dietary assessment: a review of digital methods in improving food record accuracy. *Proc Nutr Soc.* (2013) 72:70–6. doi: 10.1017/S0029665112002911
- Dragsted LO, Gao Q, Praticò G, Manach C, Wishart DS, Scalbert A, et al. Dietary and health biomarkers—time for an update. *Genes Nutr.* (2017) 12:24. doi: 10.1186/s12263-017-0578-y
- Beckmann M, Lloyd AJ, Haldar S, Favé G, Seal CJ, Brandt K, et al. Dietary exposure biomarker-lead discovery based on metabolomics analysis of urine samples. *Proc Nutr Soc.* (2013) 72:352–61. doi: 10.1017/S0029665113001237
- Gao Q, Praticò G, Scalbert A, Vergères G, Kolehmainen M, Manach C, et al. A scheme for a flexible classification of dietary and health biomarkers. *Genes Nutr.* (2017) 12:34. doi: 10.1186/s12263-017-0587-x
- Dragsted LO, Gao Q, Scalbert A, Vergères G, Kolehmainen M, Manach C, et al. Validation of biomarkers of food intake-critical assessment of candidate biomarkers. *Genes Nutr.* (2018) 13:14. doi: 10.1186/s12263-018-0603-9
- Brouwer-Brolsma EM, Brennan L, Drevon CA, van Kranen H, Manach C, Dragsted LO, et al. Combining traditional dietary assessment methods with novel metabolomics techniques: present efforts by the food biomarker alliance. *Proc Nutr Soc.* (2017) 76:619–27. doi: 10.1017/S0029665117003949
- 12. Bingham SA, Cummings JH. Urine nitrogen as an independent validatory measure of dietary intake: a study of nitrogen balance in individuals

FUNDING

This study was funded by the Medical Research Council (MRC), Grant No. MR/J010308/1.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the study participants for their commitment and the Clinical Aging Research Unit, Newcastle University for participant support.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2020. 561010/full#supplementary-material

consuming their normal diet. Am J Clin Nutr. (1985) 42:1276–89. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/42.6.1276

- Spencer JP, Abd El Mohsen MM, Minihane AM, Mathers JC. Biomarkers of the intake of dietary polyphenols: strengths, limitations and application in nutrition research. *Br J Nutr.* (2008) 99:12–22. doi: 10.1017/S0007114507798938
- Sim SC, Ingelman-Sundberg M. Update on allele nomenclature for human cytochromes P450 and the human cytochrome P450 allele (CYPallele) nomenclature Database. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2013) 987:251–9. doi: 10.1007/978-1-62703-321-3_21
- Lloyd AJ, Beckmann M, Favé G, Mathers JC, Draper J. Proline betaine and its biotransformation products in fasting urine samples are potential biomarkers of habitual citrus fruit consumption. *Br J Nutr.* (2011) 106:812–24. doi: 10.1017/S0007114511001164
- Lloyd AJ, Fave G, Beckmann M, Lin W, Tailliart K, Xie L, et al. Use of mass spectrometry fingerprinting to identify urinary metabolites after consumption of specific foods. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2011) 94:981–91. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.111.017921
- Ulaszewska M, Vázquez-Manjarrez N, Garcia-Aloy M, Llorach R, Mattivi F, Dragsted LO, et al. Food intake biomarkers for apple, pear, stone fruit. *Genes Nutr.* (2018) 13:29. doi: 10.1186/s12263-018-0620-8
- Cuparencu C, Praticó G, Hemeryck LY, Sri Harsha PSC, Noerman S, Rombouts C, et al. Biomarkers of meat and seafood intake: an extensive literature review. *Genes Nutr.* (2019) 14:35. doi: 10.1186/s12263-019-0656-4
- Cuparencu C, Rinnan Å, Dragsted LO. Combined markers to assess meat intake—human metabolomic studies of discovery and validation. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2019) 63:1900106. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201900106
- Landberg R, Hanhineva K, Tuohy K, Garcia-Aloy M, Biskup I, Llorach R, et al. Biomarkers of cereal food intake. *Genes Nutr.* (2019) 14:28. doi: 10.1186/s12263-019-0651-9
- Brouwer-Brolsma EM, Brandl B, Buso MEC, Skurk T, Manach C. Food intake biomarkers for green leafy vegetables, bulb vegetables, and stem vegetables: a review. *Genes Nutr.* (2020) 15:7. doi: 10.1186/s12263-020-00667-z
- 22. Zhou X, Ulaszewska MM, Cuparencu C, de Gobba C, Vázquez-Manjarrez N, Gürdeniz G, et al. Urine metabolome profiling reveals imprints of food heating processes after dietary intervention with differently cooked potatoes. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2020) 68:6122–31. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.0c01136
- Scalbert A, Brennan L, Manach C, Andres-Lacueva C, Dragsted LO, Draper J, et al. The food metabolome: a window over dietary exposure. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2014) 99:1286–308. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.076133
- 24. Garcia-Perez I, Posma JM, Gibson R, Chambers ES, Hansen TH, Vestergaard H, et al. Objective assessment of dietary patterns by use of metabolic

phenotyping: a randomized, controlled, crossover trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2017) 5:184–95. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(16)30419-3

- Public Health England. *The Eatwell Guide*. (2016). Retrieved from: https:// www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-eatwell-guide (accessed February 28, 2017).
- Lloyd AJ, Willis ND, Wilson T, Zubair H, Chambers E, Garcia-Perez I, et al. Addressing the pitfalls when designing intervention studies to discover and validate biomarkers of habitual dietary intake. *Metabolomics*. (2019) 15:72. doi: 10.1007/s11306-019-1532-3
- Lloyd AJ, Willis ND, Wilson T, Zubair H, Xie L, Chambers E, et al. Developing a food exposure and urine sampling strategy for dietary exposure biomarker validation in free-living individuals. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2019) 63:1900062. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201900062
- Lloyd AJ, Beckmann M, Haldar S, Seal C, Brandt K, Draper J. Data-driven strategy for the discovery of potential urinary biomarkers of habitual dietary exposure. Am J Clin Nutr. (2013) 97:377–89. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.048033
- 29. Wilson T, Garcia-Perez I, Posma JM, Lloyd AJ, Chambers ES, Tailliart K, et al. Spot and cumulative urine samples are suitable replacements for 24-h urine collections for objective measures of dietary exposure in adults using metabolite biomarkers. *J Nutr.* (2019) 149:1692–700. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxz138
- Favé G, Beckmann M, Lloyd AJ, Zhou S, Harold G, Lin W, et al. Development and validation of a standardized protocol to monitor human dietary exposure by metabolite fingerprinting of urine samples. *Metabolomics*. (2011) 7:469–84. doi: 10.1007/s11306-011-0289-0
- Department of Health. National Diet and Nutrition Survey: Headline Results from Years 1, 2 and 3 (combined) of the Rolling Programme 2008/09 – 2010/11 (2012).
- 32. Food Standards Agency. *Food Portion Sizes*. London: The Stationary Office (2002).
- 33. Bingham SA, Gill C, Welch A, Cassidy A, Runswick SA, Oakes S, et al. Validation of dietary assessment methods in the UK arm of EPIC using weighed records, 24-hour urinary nitrogen potassium serum vitamin C carotenoids as biomarkers. *Int J Epidemiol.* (1997) 26(Suppl. 1):S137–51. doi: 10.1093/ije/26.suppl_1.S137
- 34. Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjostrom M, Bauman AE, Booth BE, Ainsworth BE, et al. International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2003) 35:1381–95. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB
- 35. Roux A, Thévenot EA, Seguin F, Olivier MF, Junot C. Impact of collection conditions on the metabolite content of human urine samples as analyzed by liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Metabolomics*. (2015) 11:1095–105. doi: 10.1007/s11306-014-0764-5
- Lloyd AJ, Wilson T, Willis ND, Lyons L, Phillips H, Janssen HG, et al. Developing community-based urine sampling methods to deploy biomarker technology for assessment of dietary exposure. *Public Health Nutr.* (2020) 1–12. doi: 10.1017/S136898002000097X
- Enot DP, Lin W, Beckmann M, Parker D, Overy DP, Draper J. Preprocessing, classification modeling and feature selection using flow injection electrospray mass spectrometry metabolite fingerprint data. *Nat Protoc.* (2008) 3:446–70. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2007.511
- 38. Draper J, Enot DP, Parker D, Beckmann M, Snowdon S, Lin W, et al. Metabolite signal identification in accurate mass metabolomics data with MZedDB, an interactive m/z annotation tool utilising predicted ionization behavior 'rules'. *BMC Bioinformatics*. (2009) 10:227. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-10-227
- 39. Lloyd AJ, Beckmann M, Wilson T, Tailliart K, Allaway D, Draper J. Ultra high performance liquid chromatography–high resolution mass spectrometry plasma lipidomics can distinguish between canine breeds despite uncontrolled environmental variability and non-standardized diets. *Metabolomics*. (2017) 13:15. doi: 10.1007/s11306-016-1152-0
- Sumner LW, Amberg A, Barrett D, Beale MH, Beger R, Daykin CA, et al. Proposed minimum reporting standards for chemical analysis chemical analysis working group (CAWG) metabolomics standards initiative (MSI). *Metabolomics*. (2007) 3:211–21. doi: 10.1007/s11306-007-0082-2
- Sud M, Fahy E, Cotter D, Brown A, Dennis EA, Glass CK, et al. LMSD: LIPID MAPS structure database. Nucleic Acids Res. (2007) 35:D527–32. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl838

- Sana TR, Roark JC, Li X, Waddell K, Fischer SM. Molecular formula and METLIN personal metabolite database matching applied to the identification of compounds generated by LC/TOF-MS. J Biomol Tech. (2008) 19:258–66.
- Wishart DS, Knox C, Guo AC, Eisner R, Young N, Gautam B, et al. HMDB: a knowledgebase for the human metabolome. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2009) 37:D603–10. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn810
- Horai H, Arita M, Kanaya S, Nihei Y, Ikeda T, Suwa K, et al. MassBank: a public repository for sharing mass spectral data for life sciences. J Mass Spectrom. (2010) 45:703–14. doi: 10.1002/jms.1777
- IPAQ Group. Guidelines for Data Processing and Analysis of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) - Short and Long Forms. (2005) Available online at: http://www.ipaq.ki.se/ (accessed February 28, 2017).
- Hallal PC, Andersen LB, Bull FC, Guthold R, Haskell W, Ekelund U, et al. Global physical activity levels: surveillance progress, pitfalls, and prospects. *Lancet.* (2012) 380:247–57. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60646-1
- Pate RR, O'Neill JR, Lobelo F. The evolving definition of "sedentary". Exerc Sport Sci Rev. (2008) 36:173–8. doi: 10.1097/JES.0b013e3181877d1a
- Cuparencu CS, Andersen MBS, Gürdeniz G, Schou SS, Mortensen MW, Raben A, et al. Identification of urinary biomarkers after consumption of sea buckthorn and strawberry, by untargeted LC–MS metabolomics: a meal study in adult men. *Metabolomics*. (2016) 12:31. doi: 10.1007/s11306-015-0934-0
- Andersen MB, Rinnan Å, Manach C, Poulsen SK, Pujos-Guillot E, Larsen TM, et al. Untargeted metabolomics as a screening tool for estimating compliance to a dietary pattern. J Proteome Res. (2014) 13:1405–18. doi: 10.1021/pr400964s
- Rechner AR, Kuhnle G, Bremner P, Hubbard GP, Moore KP, Rice-Evans CA. The metabolic fate of dietary polyphenols in humans. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2002) 33:220–35. doi: 10.1016/S0891-5849(02)00877-8
- Krupp D, Doberstein N, Shi L, Remer T. Hippuric acid in 24-hour urine collections is a potential biomarker for fruit and vegetable consumption in healthy children and adolescents. J Nutr. (2012) 142:1314–20. doi: 10.3945/jn.112.159319
- Llorach R, Urpi-Sarda M, Jauregui O, Monagas M, Andres-Lacueva C. An LC-MS-based metabolomics approach for exploring urinary metabolome modifications after cocoa consumption. *J Proteome Res.* (2009) 8:5060–8. doi: 10.1021/pr900470a
- 53. Beckmann M, Joosen AM, Clarke MM, Mugridge O, Frost G, Engel B, et al. Changes in the human plasma and urinary metabolome associated with acute dietary exposure to sucrose and the identification of potential biomarkers of sucrose intake. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2016) 60:444–57. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201500495
- 54. Arab L. Biomarkers of fat and fatty acid intake. *J Nutr.* (2003) 133:9258–328. doi: 10.1093/jn/133.3.9258
- 55. Sri Harsha PSC, Wahab RA, Garcia-Aloy M, Madrid-Gambin F, Estruel-Amades S,Watzl B., et al. Biomarkers of legume intake in human intervention and observational studies: a systematic review. *Genes Nutr.* (2018) 13:25. doi: 10.1186/s12263-018-0616-4
- 56. Garcia-Aloy M, Ulaszewska M, Franceschi P, Estruel-Amades S, Weinert CH, Tor-Roca A, et al. Discovery of intake biomarkers of lentils, chickpeas, and white beans by untargeted LC-MS metabolomics in serum and urine. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2020) 64:1901137. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.2019 01137
- Rothwell JA, Fillâtre Y, Martin JF, Lyan B, Pujos-Guillot E, Fezeu L, et al. New biomarkers of coffee consumption identified by the non-targeted metabolomic profiling of cohort study subjects. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e93474. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0093474
- Posma JM, Garcia-Perez I, Heaton JC, Burdisso P, Mathers JC, Draper J, et al. Integrated analytical and statistical two-dimensional spectroscopy strategy for metabolite identification: application to dietary biomarkers. *Anal Chem.* (2017) 89:3300–9. doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.6b03324
- Münger LH, Trimigno A, Picone G, Freiburghaus C, Pimentel G, Burton KJ, et al. Identification of urinary food intake biomarkers for milk, cheese, and soy-based drink by untargeted GC-MS and NMR in healthy humans. J Proteome Res. (2017) 16:3321–35. doi: 10.1021/acs.jproteome.7b 00319
- 60. Lang R, Mueller C, Hofmann T. Development of a stable isotope dilution analysis with liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry detection for the quantitative analysis of di- and trihydroxybenzenes in foods and

model systems. J Agric Food Chem. (2006) 54:5755-62. doi: 10.1021/jf06 1118n

- Tulipani S, Llorach R, Jáuregui O, López-Uriarte P, Garcia-Aloy M, Bullo M, et al. Metabolomics unveils urinary changes in subjects with metabolic syndrome following 12-week nut consumption. J Proteome Res. (2011) 10:5047–58. doi: 10.1021/pr200514h
- van der Hooft JJ, de Vos RC, Mihaleva V, Bino RJ, Ridder L, de Roo N, et al. Structural elucidation and quantification of phenolic conjugates present in human urine after tea intake. *Anal Chem.* (2012) 84:7263–71. doi: 10.1021/ac3017339
- Shelnutt SR, Cimino CO, Wiggins PA, Badger TM. Urinary pharmacokinetics of the glucuronide and sulfate conjugates of genistein and daidzein. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2000) 9:413–9.
- Dragsted LO. Biomarkers of meat intake and the application of nutrigenomics. *Meat Sci.* (2010) 84:301–7. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2009.08.028
- Wedekind R, Keski-Rahkonen P, Robinot N, Viallon V, Ferrari P, Engel E, et al. Syringol metabolites as new biomarkers for smoked meat intake. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2019) 110:1424–33. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqz222
- O'Sullivan A, Gibney MJ, Brennan L. Dietary intake patterns are reflected in metabolomic profiles: potential role in dietary assessment studies. Am J Clin Nutr. (2011) 93:314–21. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.110.000950
- Shan B, Cai YZ, Sun M, Corke H. Antioxidant capacity of 26 spice extracts and characterization of their phenolic constituents. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2005) 53:7749–59. doi: 10.1021/jf051513y
- Gibis M. Heterocyclic aromatic amines in cooked meat products: causes, formation, occurrence, risk assessment. *Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf.* (2016) 15:269–302. doi: 10.1111/1541-4337.12186
- Heinzmann SS, Holmes E, Kochhar S, Nicholson JK. Schmitt-Kopplin P. 2furoylglycine as a candidate biomarker of coffee consumption. J Agric Food Chem. (2015) 63:8615–21. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.5b03040
- Schieberle P. Formation of furaneol in heat-processed foods. *Flavor Precurs* Am Chem Soc. (1992) 490:164–74. doi: 10.1021/bk-1992-0490.ch012
- Buttery RG, Ling LC, Stern DJ. Studies on popcorn aroma and flavor volatiles. J Agric Food Chem. (1997) 45:837–43. doi: 10.1021/jf9604807
- Slaughter JC. The naturally occurring furanones: formation and function from pheromone to food. *Biol Rev.* (1999) 74:259–76. doi: 10.1017/S0006323199005332
- Sanz C, Olias JM, Perez AG. Aroma biochemistry of fruits vegetables. In: Tomás-Barberán FA, Robins RJ. editors. *Phytochemistry of Fruit Vegetables*. Oxford: Clarendon Press (1997). p. 125–55.
- Roscher R, Koch H, Herderich M, Schreier P, Schwab W. Identification of 2,5-dimethyl-4-hydroxy-3[2H]-furanone β-d-glucuronide as the major metabolite of a strawberry flavour constituent in humans. *Food Chem Toxicol.* (1997) 35:777–82. doi: 10.1016/S0278-6915(97)00055-0
- 75. Appeldoorn MM, Vincken JP, Aura AM, Hollman PC, Gruppen H. Procyanidin dimers are metabolized by human microbiota with 2-(3,4-

Dihydroxyphenyl)
acetic acid and 5-(3,4-Dihydroxyphenyl)- γ -valerolactone as the major metabolites. J Agric Food Chem. (2009) 57:1084–92. doi: 10.1021/jf803059z

- Hadley CW, Clinton SK, Schwartz SJ. The consumption of processed tomato products enhances plasma lycopene concentrations in association with a reduced lipoprotein sensitivity to oxidative damage. J Nutr. (2003) 133:727– 32. doi: 10.1093/jn/133.3.727
- 77. World Health Organization. Sugars Intake for Adults and Children. Geneva (2015). p. 1–49.
- Logue C, Dowey LRC, Strain JJ, Verhagen H, McClean S, Gallagher AM. Application of liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry to determine urinary concentrations of five commonly used low-calorie sweeteners: a novel biomarker approach for assessing recent intakes? J Agric Food Chem. (2017) 65:4516–25. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.7b00404
- Andersen MBS, Reinbach HC, Rinnan Å, Barri T, Mithril C, Dragsted LO. Discovery of exposure markers in urine for brassica-containing meals served with different protein sources by UPLC-qTOF-MS untargeted metabolomics. *Metabolomics*. (2013) 9:984–97. doi: 10.1007/s11306-013-0522-0
- Gibbons H, McNulty BA, Nugent AP, Walton J, Flynn A, Gibney MJ, et al. A metabolomics approach to the identification of biomarkers of sugar-sweetened beverage intake. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2015) 101:471–7. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.095604
- Garcia-Perez I, Posma JM, Chambers ES, Nicholson JK, C Mathers J, Beckmann M, et al. An analytical pipeline for quantitative characterization of dietary intake: application to assess grape intake. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2016) 64:2423–31. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.5b05878
- Martínez-González MÁ, Corella D, Salas-Salvadó JP, Ros E, Covas MI, Fiol MS, et al. Cohort profile: design and methods of the PREDIMED study. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2012) 41:377–85. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyq250
- Huey L, Bitok E, Kazzi N, Sirirat R, Tabrizi SH, Ros E, et al. Dietary compliance of walnut or no walnut intake in a 1-year randomized intervention trial among free-living elderly in the Walnuts and healthy aging study (WAHA). *FASEB J.* (2016) 30(Suppl. 1):1157.10–1157.10. doi: 10.1096/fasebj.30.1_supplement.1157.10

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Willis, Lloyd, Xie, Stiegler, Tailliart, Garcia-Perez, Chambers, Beckmann, Draper and Mathers. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Within- and Between-Household Variation in Food Expenditures Among Low-Income Households Using a Novel Simple Annotated Receipt Method

Sruthi Valluri^{1,2*}, Simone A. French¹, Brian Elbel³, J. Michael Oakes¹, Sarah A. Rydell¹ and Lisa J. Harnack¹

¹ Division of Epidemiology and Community Health, School of Public Health, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, United States, ² Medical Scientist Training Program, University of Minnesota Medical School, Minneapolis, MN, United States, ³ School of Medicine and Wagner School of Public Service, New York University, New York, NY, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Megan A. McCrory, Boston University, United States

Reviewed by:

Claudio Esteban Perez-Leighton, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Chile Hollie Raynor, The University of Tennessee, Knoxville, United States

> *Correspondence: Sruthi Valluri vall0161@umn.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrition Methodology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 13 July 2020 Accepted: 16 September 2020 Published: 22 October 2020

Citation:

Valluri S, French SA, Elbel B, Oakes JM, Rydell SA and Harnack LJ (2020) Within- and Between-Household Variation in Food Expenditures Among Low-Income Households Using a Novel Simple Annotated Receipt Method. Front. Nutr. 7:582999. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.582999 **Background:** Household food purchasing behavior has gained interest as an intervention to improve nutrition and nutrition-associated outcomes. However, evaluating food expenditures is challenging in epidemiological studies. Assessment methods that are both valid and feasible for use among diverse, low-income populations are needed. We therefore developed a novel simple annotated receipt method to assess household food purchasing. First, we describe and evaluate the extent to which the method captures food purchasing information. We then evaluate within- and between-household variation in weekly food purchasing to determine sample sizes and the number of weeks of data needed to measure household food purchasing with adequate precision.

Methods: Four weeks of food purchase receipt data were collected from 260 low-income households in the Minneapolis-St. Paul metropolitan area. The proportion of receipt line items that could not be coded into one of 11 food categories (unidentified) was calculated, and a zero-inflated negative binomial regression was used to evaluate the association between unidentified receipt items and participant characteristics and store type. Within- and between-household coefficients of variation were calculated for total food expenditures and several food categories.

Results: A low proportion of receipt line items (1.6%) could not be coded into a food category and the incidence of unidentified items did not appreciably vary by participant characteristics. Weekly expenditures on foods high in added sugar had higher within- and between-household coefficients of variation than weekly fruit and vegetable expenditures. To estimate mean weekly food expenditures within 20% of the group's usual ("true") expenditures, 72 households were required. Nine weeks of data were required to achieve an r = 0.90 between observed and usual weekly food expenditures.

Conclusions: The simple annotated receipt method may be a feasible tool for use in assessing food expenditures of low-income, diverse populations. Within- and

56

between-household coefficients of variation suggest that the number of weeks of data or group sizes required to precisely estimate usual household expenditures is higher for foods high in added sugar compared to fruits and vegetables.

Keywords: nutrition methodologies, household food purchasing, food receipt method, within-household variation, between-household variation, epidemiology

BACKGROUND

Food purchasing behavior has gained interest as an intervention target to improve nutrition and nutrition-associated health outcomes in the United States (1–4). Evidence that the nutritional quality of food purchases corresponds with dietary quality (5, 6) has prompted numerous interventions targeting food purchasing behavior (3, 4). Low-income populations have generated particular attention due to socioeconomic differences in diet quality (7, 8). However, valid and feasible methods for measuring food purchasing among low-income households are limited.

Existing methods to evaluate household food purchasing behavior—including home food inventories (9–12), bar code scanners (13, 14), point of sale data (15–17), food purchase records (18–21), and food receipts (22–25)—have unique strengths, but their weaknesses present noteworthy challenges for implementation, validity, and capturing the full range of purchase information (**Table 1**) (12). Furthermore, there are important differences in food purchasing by household socioeconomic status (7, 8). Assessments methods therefore need to be evaluated among low-income households to ensure that the detail and variation in household expenditures is fully captured (12).

Food receipt methods are appealing because they can be used to assess food expenditures from a variety of retailers and for all types of foods (12, 22–25). In the annotated food receipt method, participants collect receipts and transcribe information onto forms to clarify missing details and unclear abbreviations (e.g., items described as "dairy" rather than "skim milk," or "Pillsbury white cake mix" listed as "pills white") (24, 25). However, participant burden is high and literacy is required. In contrast, participants submit receipts without transcription or annotation in the food receipt collection method (22). Although this method substantially lowers participant burden, many details that receipts generally lack may not be captured.

To capitalize on the detailed information possible using the annotated food receipt method while reducing participant burden, a simple version of the annotated food receipt method (the "simple annotated receipt method") was developed for use in a prospective trial (26). Participants are not required to transcribe all purchase information using this newly developed method; instead, they annotate items with vague or unclear descriptions directly on the receipts.

This study has two primary aims. First, we describe and evaluate the simple annotated receipt method using data from the aforementioned trial. We illustrate the food purchasing information that may be captured using this method. We also evaluate the extent to which receipt items could not be identified due to inadequate annotation and whether this varies by participant characteristic and store type. To date, this is the first study to describe and evaluate this method.

Second, we evaluate sources of variation in household food purchasing to help guide study designs using this method. Household food purchasing behavior is often evaluated for one of three research objectives: (1) to compare mean household expenditures between different groups (e.g., control vs. intervention groups), (2) to rank households by expenditures (e.g., into quartiles), (3) or to assess an individual household's expenditures (e.g., change in expenditures before and after intervention) (27, 28). Thus, this paper addresses practical and essential questions: How many households are needed in a study group to assess the group's *usual* ("true") food expenditure pattern or to rank households with reasonable precision? How many weeks of data are needed to precisely evaluate a household's usual food expenditure?

Evaluating a household's usual expenditures requires an understanding of the sources of variation in week-to-week spending. Similar to dietary intake—which varies daily and requires multiple days of assessment—household food expenditures likely vary from week to week, necessitating multiple weeks and adequate sample sizes to ascertain usual food expenditures (28, 29). Group sizes and data collection periods may also vary by food group, analogous to the differing number of dietary assessments needed to evaluate intake of specific nutrients (28).

We quantify within- and between-household variation in weekly expenditures for all foods and beverages and for two specific categories of food: fruits and vegetables, and foods high in added sugar (sugar-sweetened beverages [SSBs], candy, and sweet baked goods). Using these values, we estimate the group size needed to estimate a group's average food expenditures. We also estimate the number of weeks of data needed to rank household expenditures or estimate a household's usual food expenditures with adequate precision. Results from this paper can help researchers design efficient studies of food purchasing behavior (27–29). To our knowledge, this is the first study to provide these important metrics.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

This paper is a secondary analysis of data from a prospective trial (26, 30, 31). Briefly, low-income households in the Minneapolis-St. Paul, Minnesota, metropolitan area were recruited between August 2013 and May 2015. Eligibility criteria included: (1) not currently enrolled in the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) or planning to enroll

Method	Description	Strengths	Limitations
Home food inventories (9–12)	Collected by study staff or participants. Catalogs foods available in the home at the time inventory is completed	Low participant burdenRelatively easy to complete	 Multiple administrations of the inventory required for accurate assessment of usual household food available Foods purchased and consumed outside home are not ascertained Captures types of food (e.g., soft drinks) but not quantity (e.g., fluid ounces)
Bar code scanners (12–14)	Participants scan bar codes for all foods purchased. Researchers provide codes to participants for unpackaged items.	 Does not require participant literacy Can provide rich data on types and quantities of packaged foods 	 Scanners can be expensive, susceptible to hardware malfunctioning, and rely on external database of codes to match bar codes to food items. May not capture foods that typically lack bar codes such as bulk items, fresh produce and meats in grocery stores, and food purchased at restaurants.
Point of sale data (12, 15–17)	Uses data available from food retailers on customer food purchasing	 Minimal participant burden Can provide rich data on types and quantities of foods 	 Linking data from vendors with individual shoppers can be challenging due to proprietary nature of data, privacy concerns, and technological issues Unable to capture comprehensive assessment of household food purchases since it is generally limited to one retailer
Food purchase record (12, 17–21)	Participants keep a written record of all foods purchased, including description of each item and quantity.	 Offers detailed and comprehensive information about types and quantities of food purchased over time 	Requires participant literacyHigh participant burden
Food receipt collection (12, 22, 23)	Participants collect and mail all receipts for food purchases. Receipt purchases are coded by study staff.	Offers details about expenditures over timeLow participant burden	 May not be able to code purchases with insufficient detail on receipt, including specific types of food (e.g., "produce" vs. "tomatoes") and quantities (e.g., fluid ounces)
Annotated food receipt (12, 24, 25)	Participants collect receipts for food purchases and transcribe receipt information onto a form to provide details not available on receipts	Offers detailed information about all food and beverage purchases	Requires participant literacyHigh participant burden

TABLE 1 Description and summary of strengths and weaknesses of existing methods to assess household food purchasing.

during the study; (2) household income < 200% the federal poverty rate or participating in a government program that automatically qualifies households for SNAP (e.g., the Diversionary Work Program in Minnesota); (3) adult in the household primarily responsible for food shopping is able to read and speak English and participate in the study. Some SNAP eligibility criteria, such as citizenship status, were not applied. The University of Minnesota Institutional Review Board approved all aspects of the study (ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT02643576).

Participants were asked to annotate and submit all household food purchase receipts throughout the study using the protocol described in greater detail below. At the baseline visit, participants completed a survey to assess demographic characteristics. Household food security was evaluated using the US Household Food Security Survey Module: 6 Item Short Form (32).

Participants who completed baseline measures and submitted at least 2 weeks of receipts received a study debit card with monthly benefits for 12 weeks. Households were randomized into one of four study arms, which varied with respect to whether a financial incentive was provided for fruit and vegetable purchases and whether foods high in added sugars could be purchased with benefits. Analyses for this paper are limited to the baseline period of the trial.

Simple Annotated Receipt Method Receipt Collection

Research staff met participants in-person to provide verbal and written instructions, and materials necessary for receipt collection. Participants were instructed to collect all food purchase receipts and to query other household members for receipts. Receipts were requested from both restaurants (retailers that serve or sell ready-to-consume food) and food retailers (retailers that primarily sell unprepared food). This paper focuses on receipts from food retailers.

Participants were instructed to annotate food retailer receipts if the item description was vague or unclear. To annotate receipts, participants were instructed to write details directly on the receipt next to the item lacking information. For example, an item described as "produce" would need annotation to specify the type of produce (e.g., "tomatoes"). Annotation was not requested for quantities of food purchased. Missing food receipt forms were requested for purchases without receipts, such as purchases made at retailers that do not provide receipts (e.g., farmer's market) or lost receipts. The missing receipt form included details such as the store name, date of purchase, food items purchased, quantity purchased, price per item, and total price. As part of the instruction process, study staff reviewed a sample annotated receipt and missing receipt form with participants.

All receipts were to be mailed to study staff on a weekly basis using pre-addressed, postage-paid envelopes, which were prelabeled with the participant ID number, dates comprising the week of receipt collection, and the target mailing date to facilitate tracking by staff. Participants were mailed a gift card as a reward for receipt collection every month. The reward amount was prorated, with \$30 provided if 4 weeks of receipts were submitted, and lesser amounts for three (\$15), two (\$10), and one (\$5) week. Research staff contacted participants to encourage submission if receipts were not received.

Food Retailer Receipt Coding

Receipts were first sorted into two categories: restaurant purchases and food retailer purchases. Restaurants were classified as full-service, limited-service, or unable to determine restaurant type. This study focuses on food retailers, which were further classified as supermarket/market (e.g., Cub, Aldi, farmers market), natural food store (e.g., co-ops), warehouse store (e.g., Costco, Sam's Club), drug store (Walgreens, CVS), convenience store/gas station (including dollar stores), superstore (e.g., Target, Walmart), or other (e.g., Home Depot, Menards) (24). Each receipt was then assigned a unique identifier to specify the participant, week, and receipt number.

Items on food retailer receipts were classified into one of 11 food categories. The choice of food categories reflects the primary aims of the original trial, which was to evaluate two food categories: fruits and vegetables, and foods high in added sugars (sugar-sweetened beverages [SSBs], sweet baked goods, and candies). Items with potential substitution effects (e.g., milk, savory snacks) were measured, while items of lesser interest to the trial (e.g., diet sodas) were categorized as "other food" purchases.

Food items that lacked sufficient detail to code into one of the 11 food categories were coded as having "insufficient detail to code" (unidentified). Before coding an item as unidentified, study staff followed a series of procedures to obtain missing information. First, an online search was conducted using the store name, item, code, and/or abbreviation. When available, the item's Universal Product Codes was searched (http://www. upcdatabase.org). Stores were contacted to verify the item for successful online searches. If these procedures failed to provide necessary details, items were coded as unidentified.

For each receipt, the total number of line items and expenditures were calculated for overall food and beverages, and for each of the food categories. Totals for each category were determined by summing across line items classified into the category. Quantities or weight of foods purchased was not considered in the tabulation. For example, a line item of "apples" would count as a frequency of one in the tally for receipt items for fruits, and total expenditure amounts are reported rather than per unit prices. The first 10 receipts coded were reviewed for accuracy by a second staff member. Errors identified were reviewed and corrected. Spot checks of coded receipts were conducted throughout for quality assurance.

Statistical Analysis

Analyses for this paper are restricted to participants who submitted at least 3 weeks of food retailer receipts during the 4-week baseline period. First, we described the food purchasing information captured by the method using total number of receipt line items and expenditures for overall food expenditures, each of the 11 food categories, and items categorized as having insufficient detail to code (unidentified). Food purchasing data was also evaluated by store, which was collapsed into four types based on previous literature and low frequency of receipts in some categories: Grocery stores, Convenience stores/Gas Stations, Drug stores, and Superstores/Mass merchandiser/Warehouse club store.

Second, we used a zero-inflated negative binomial model to evaluate whether unidentified line items on receipts were associated with participant characteristic or store type. This model was used because the distribution of unidentifed items was heavily skewed, with 94% of receipts submitted without any unidentified items. Likelihood ratio tests confirmed zeroinflation and overdispersion, supporting the model choice. The model simultaneously evaluates two processes. The logit portion of the model evaluates participant characteristics and store types associated with submitting receipts with unidentified items, yielding odds ratios (OR). The negative binomial model evaluates the incident rate ratios (IRR) of unidentified items by participant characteristics and store types among those who submitted at least one receipt with an unidentified item. Participant characteristics of interest were age, gender, race/ethnicity, marital status, household size, education level, annual household income, and food security. A dummy variable was used to indicate the store type. The model was adjusted for the total number of line items per receipt. A p < 0.05 was the criterion for claiming statistical significance.

Third, a mixed effects regression model with an unstructured covariance and restricted maximum likelihood estimator was used to estimate the mean, within-household variance (σ_w^2) , and between-household (σ_b^2) variance for overall food expenditures, fruits and vegetables, and foods high in added sugar. We calculated within- and between-household coefficients of variation (CV_w and CV_b, respectively) as percentages using the following equations (29): $CV_w = (\sigma_w/mean) \times 100$; $CV_b = (\sigma_b/mean) \times 100$. The ratio of within- to between-household variation, the variance ratios, were calculated as σ_w^2 / σ_b^2 (which is equivalent to $[CV_w/CV_b]^2$).

Using these values, we calculated the group size or weeks of data needed to estimate usual (or "true") food expenditures with adequate precision. The usual household food expenditures refers to the hypothetical "true" average of the study sample about which a household's expenditures vary during the period of data collection. We assume that within- and between-household variation observed in our sample is due to random variation **TABLE 2** Baseline characteristics of households using the simple annotated receipt method as part of a trial evaluating food purchasing behavior (n = 260).

Characteristic	N (%)
AGE, YEARS	
Under 25	14 (5.4)
25–44	115 (44.2)
45–64	113 (43.5)
Over 65	18 (6.9)
GENDER	
Male	48 (18.5)
Female	212 (81.5)
RACE/ETHNICITY	
White, Non-Hispanic	77 (29.6)
Black, Non-Hispanic	131 (50.4)
Other, Hispanic	52 (20.0)
MARITAL STATUS	
Single, never married	117 (45.2)
Married or partnered	72 (27.8)
Separated/divorced/widowed	70 (27.0)
HOUSEHOLD SIZE	
1 person	58 (22.3)
2 people	58 (22.3)
3 people	61 (23.5)
4 or more people	83 (31.9)
EDUCATION LEVEL	
High school graduate or less	75 (28.9)
Some college/associates degree	138 (53.1)
College graduate or higher	47 (18.1)
ANNUAL HOUSEHOLD INCOME	
\$14,999 or less	79 (33.2)
\$15,000-\$34,999	114 (47.9)
\$35,000 or more	45 (18.9)
HOUSEHOLD FOOD SECURITY STATUS	
High or marginal	53 (19.3)
Low	96 (34.9)
Very low	126 (45.8)

about the hypothetical average, and not due to a changes in habitual spending patterns (33).

The number of households in a group (n_g) required to estimate group mean expenditure using a single week of expenditure data was calculated as follows: $n_g = Z_{\alpha}^2 x [(CV_b^2 + CV_w^2)/D_0^2]$, where D₀ is a specified percentage deviation of the group's usual expenditure, and Z_{α} is the normal deviate for the percentage of times the measured expenditure should be within a specified limit (29). For the purposes of this study, we evaluated estimates with 95% CIs (i.e., $Z_{\alpha} = 1.96$), with D₀ varying between 10 and 50%. The number of weeks of expenditure data (n_r) needed to obtain a given Pearson correlation coefficient, *r*, between observed and unobserved usual expenditures was also calculated (27, 33). The equation is as follows: $n_r = r^2/(1 - r^2) x (\sigma_w^2 / \sigma_b^2)$, where *r* varied between 0.75 and 0.95. Finally, the number of weeks of expenditure data (n_w) required to estimate mean household expenditures within the specified percentage deviation (D_0) from the household's usual ("true") expenditure was calculated as follows (29): $n_w = (Z_\alpha x CV_w/D_0)^2$. D_0 varied between 10 and 50% and Z_α was fixed at 1.96 to derive 95% CIs.

RESULTS

Of the 279 participants enrolled in the study, 260 submitted at least 3 weeks of food receipts during the baseline period and were included in the analyses. Participant characteristics are presented in **Table 2**. To summarize, most participants were female, over half were African-American, and most reported low or very low food security.

Food Purchase Information

Over a 4-week period, households included in the analyses submitted a total of 5,635 receipts. Of these, 2,094 receipts from restaurants and 11 receipts for non-food purchases were excluded from analyses. Over 98% of the receipts were submitted as original receipts; 1.5% (n = 52) were submitted as missing receipt forms. Over the 4-week data collection period, households submitted on average 13.6 receipts (95% CI: 12.5, 14.7). This translates to 3.4 receipts per week (95% CI: 3.1, 3.7), with an average of 8.3 (95% CI: 7.6, 9.0) line items per receipt. On average, households spent \$23.30 (95% CI: \$21.00, \$25.51) per receipt.

Figure 1 shows the average household food expenditures over a 4-week period for selected food categories. On average, unidentified items accounted for \$5.81 (95% CI: \$4.25, \$7.37) of household food expenditures over the 4-week period. Fruit and vegetable expenditures accounted for \$15.41 (95% CI: \$13.04, \$17.77) and \$16.34 (\$13.90, \$18.78), respectively. Households spent an average of \$13.45 (95% CI: \$11.45, \$15.45) on sugar-sweetened beverages (SSBs) over the 4-week period. Table 3 presents average household food expenditures and line items submitted over a 4-week period for all categories of food. Foods coded as "other" -food and beverages that did not fit into the 11 food categories of interestcomprised the largest share of expenditures, accounting for \$180.00 (95% CI: \$162.52, \$197.47) of food expenditures and 58.7 (95% CI: 53.2, 64.2) receipt line items over a 4week period.

Figure 2 shows the average household food expenditures over a four-week period by store type. Households spent the most money at grocery stores (\$169.34, 95% CI: \$150.37, \$188.30) and superstores/mass merchandisers/warehouse club stores (\$115.68, 95% CI: \$98.89, \$132.46). **Table 3** presents average household food expenditures and receipt line items submitted over a 4-week period by different store types. Grocery stores and superstores accounted for the greatest number of line items submitted over the 4-week period, accounting for 62.4 (95% CI: 55.5, 69.3) and 36.9 (95% CI: 31.7, 42.1) receipt line items, respectively.

Supplemental Tables 1, **2** describe the total volume of food expenditure information captured over the 4-week data collection period. The 3,530 food retailer receipts submitted by the study sample represented \$70,822.21 in







total food expenditures and contained over 25,000 line items. Food purchases coded as "other" —food and beverages that do not fit into the 11 coded food categories of interest comprised the largest share of expenditures at food retailers (66.0%), followed by vegetables (6.0%), fruits (5.7%), sugar sweetened beverages (4.9%), and savory snacks (4.7%). With respect to findings for the number of receipt line items, "other" composed the largest number of line items (59.4%) followed by vegetables (9.1%), sugar sweetened beverages (7.2%), fruits (5.7%), and savory snacks (5.5%). "Unsure fruit beverages" (fruit beverages for which it could not be determined whether the beverage was 100% fruit **TABLE 3** | Average household food expenditures and receipt line items submitted over a 4-week period by low-income households using a simple annotated receipt method, by food category and store type (n = 260).

	Expenditures USD (95% CI)	Receipt line items number (95% Cl)
Total	272.62 (247.13, 298.11)	98.8 (90.1, 107.6)
FOOD CATEGORY		
Fruits	15.41 (13.05, 17.77)	5.6 (4.9, 6.3)
Vegetables	16.34 (13.90, 17.78)	9.0 (7.7, 10.2)
Sweet baked goods	9.39 (7.94, 10.85)	3.6 (3.1, 4.1)
Candy	5.70 (4.75, 6.65)	3.36 (2.8, 3. 9)
Savory snacks	12.72 (11.15, 14.29)	5.4 (4.8, 6.0)
Regular, unflavored milk	8.07 (6.59, 9.55)	2.5 (2.1, 2.9)
Flavored milk	0.47 (0.23, 0.71)	0.2 (0.1, 0.3)
100% Juice	4.21 (3.33, 5.10)	1.5 (1.2, 1.8)
Sugar-sweetened beverages	13.45 (11.44, 15.45)	7.1 (6.1, 8.2)
Fruit beverage, unknown type	1.04 (0.62, 1.46)	0.4 (0.3, 0.5)
Other foods	180.00 (162.52, 197.47)	58.7 (53.2, 64.2)
Unidentified	5.81 (4.25, 7.37)	1.6 (1.2, 2.0)
STORE TYPE		
Grocery stores	169.34 (150.37, 188.30)	62.4 (55.5, 69.3)
Superstores/Mass merchandisers	115.68 (98.89, 132.46)	36.9 (31.7, 42.0)
Convenience stores/Gas stations	18.30 (15.02, 24.57)	11.7 (9.7, 11.6)
Drug stores	10.38 (7.82, 12.94)	5.0 (3.9, 6.1)

juice or a fruit drink that should be classified as a sugar sweetened beverage) comprised <1 percent of both the total food spending (0.4%) and the proportion of total line items (0.4%) (**Supplemental Table 1**). Nearly 60% of total food retailer expenditures (\$41,826.57) was spent in supermarkets/markets, and \$24,985.98 (35.8%) was spent in superstores/mass merchandisers/warehouse club stores (**Supplemental Table 2**).

Unidentified Food Expenditures

Unidentified food expenditures comprised 2.1% of total spending and 1.6% of total line items submitted by 260 households over a 4-week period (**Supplemental Table 1**). **Table 4** presents results from the zero-inflated negative binomial model to evaluate the association between unidentified receipt items and participant characteristic and store type. Drugs stores had a lower rate of unidentified line items compared to supermarkets (p =0.04). There were no significant differences in the rate of occurrence of unidentified receipt line items by the participant characteristics examined.

Within- and Between-Household Variation

Table 5 shows the means, within-household coefficient of variation (CV_w), between-household coefficient of variation (CV_b), and ratios for weekly household expenditures for total food expenditures and selected food categories. On average, households spent \$85.65 per week (standard error of the mean [SE] \$5.38) on total food expenditures. Mean household expenditures on fruits and vegetables was \$11.05 per week (SE

TABLE 4 | Adjusted* incidence rate ratios of unidentified items in receipts submitted over a 4-week baseline period by 260 low-income households using a simple annotated receipt method (n = 3,530 food retailer receipts).

	Unidentified receipt line items IRR (95% CI)
STORE TYPE	
Supermarket (ref)	1.00
Convenience store/Gas station	1.03 (0.58, 1.82)
Drug store	0.11 (0.01, 0.99)
Superstore/Mass merchandiser/Warehouse club store	0.92 (0.47, 1.80)
AGE, YEARS	
<25	1.40 (0.67, 2.91)
25–44 (ref)	1.00
45–64	1.56 (0.67, 3.66)
Over 65	1.04 (1.90, 5.70)
GENDER	
Female (ref)	1.00
Male	1.11 (0.70, 1.82)
RACE/ETHNICITY	
White, Non-Hispanic (ref)	1.00
Black, Non-Hispanic	0.65 (0.37, 1.13)
Other, Hispanic	1.40 (0.71, 2.62)
MARITAL STATUS	
Single, never married (ref)	1.00
Married or partnered	0.76 (0.37, 1.13)
Separated/divorced/widowed	1.37 (0.71, 2.62)
HOUSEHOLD SIZE	
1 person (ref)	0.40 (0.19, 0.84)
2 people	0.68 (0.30, 1.60)
3 people	0.68 (0.41, 1.12)
4 or more	1.00 (ref)
EDUCATION LEVEL	
High school graduate or less	1.00
Some college/associates degree (ref)	0.78 (0.50, 1.23)
College graduate or higher	1.14 (0.58, 2.23)
ANNUAL HOUSEHOLD INCOME	
\$14,999 or less	1.00
\$15,000–\$34,999 (ref)	0.79 (0.50, 1.26)
\$35,000 or more	0.87 (0.46, 1.64)
FOOD SECURITY	
Very low (ref)	1.00
Low	0.67 (0.44, 1.04)
High or marginal	0.65 (0.33, 1.27)

*Model adjusted for the total number of line items per receipt.

\$0.90), with comparable amounts spent on fruits and vegetables individually. Households spent an average of \$7.95 (SE \$0.78) per week on foods high in added sugar, with varying amounts spent on individual food categories. Regardless of food category, CV_w was larger than CV_b , and both values were higher when evaluating individual food categories for foods high in added sugar. The CV ratio was above 1 for all categories of food, ranging from 1.44 for fruits and vegetables to 6.44 for candy.

TABLE 5 Mean weekly expenditures (USD), within-household coefficients of
variation (CV _w), between-household coefficients of variation (CV _b), and variance
ratios for food expenditures of low-income households using the simple annotated
receipt method ($n = 260$).

	Mean (SE) Dollars (USD)/week	CVw	CVb	Variance Ratio
Total food expenditures	85.65 (5.38)	70.8	49.8	2.02
Fruits and vegetables	11.05 (0.90)	85.5	71.3	1.44
Fruits	5.67 (0.53)	100.5	75.6	1.77
Vegetables	5.38 (0.52)	104.4	81.3	1.65
Foods high in added sugar	7.95 (0.78)	105.6	79.0	1.78
Sugar-sweetened beverages	3.57 (0.45)	138.3	95.5	2.10
Sweet baked goods	2.70 (0.37)	161.9	80.3	4.07
Candy	1.70 (0.26)	184.5	72.7	6.44

 CV_{w} , Within-household coefficient of variation; CV_b , Between-household coefficient of variation; Variance ratio, $\sigma_w^2 / \sigma_b^2 = (CV_w/CV_b)^2$.

Table 6 shows the number of households in a group required to estimate the group mean weekly expenditure with 95% CIs within 10–50% deviation of the group's observed mean from the group's usual ("true") mean. To maintain precision of $\pm 20\%$ of the group's true total food expenditures, at least 72 households are required. Larger group sizes are required to estimate specific food categories, with the highest requirements for evaluating individual categories of food high in added sugar.

Table 7 shows the number of weeks of food expenditure data required to ensure a correlation coefficient, r, between observed and true expenditures. As the variance ratio decreased, fewer weeks of observation were needed to rank households by expenditure and distinguish households with low expenditures from those with high expenditures. Assuming r = 0.90, a minimum of 9 weeks of data are required for total food expenditures, 6 weeks of data for fruits and vegetables, and 8 weeks of data for foods high in added sugar. Compared to evaluating fruits and vegetables as individual food categories, a greater number of weeks are required for evaluating individual categories of food high in added sugar to rank households with a given r.

Table 8 shows the number of weeks of food expenditure data required to estimate mean weekly household expenditures with 95% CIs within 10–50% deviation from the usual ("true") household expenditure. To maintain precision of 20% within the household's true expenditures, 48 weeks are required to estimate total food expenditures with 95% CIs. Greater number of replicate weeks of data are required to estimate individual food categories, with the highest number of weeks for categories of foods high in added sugar.

DISCUSSION

This paper describes and evaluates a simple annotated receipt method for assessing household food purchasing. Results show that the method can capture food purchasing information for **TABLE 6** | Number of households in a group needed to estimate weekly expenditures with 95% CIs within 10–50% deviation of the observed group mean from the group's usual ("true") mean using a single week of expenditure data.

	Specified % of true mean				n
	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%
Total food expenditures	288	72	32	18	12
Fruits and vegetables	477	119	53	30	19
Fruits	609	152	68	38	24
Vegetables	674	168	75	42	27
Foods high in added sugar	669	167	74	42	27
Sugar-sweetened beverages	1087	272	121	68	43
Sweet baked goods	1256	314	140	79	50
Candy	1514	379	168	95	61

TABLE 7 | Number of weeks of data needed to ensure a given correlation coefficient, *r*, between observed and usual ("true") weekly household expenditures.

	<i>r</i> -value				
	0.75	0.80	0.85	0.90	0.95
Total food expenditures	3	4	5	9	19
Fruits and vegetables	2	3	4	6	13
Fruits	2	3	5	8	16
Vegetables	2	3	4	7	15
Foods high in added sugar	2	3	5	8	17
Sugar-sweetened beverages	3	4	5	9	19
Sweet baked goods	5	7	11	17	38
Candy	8	11	17	27	60

TABLE 8 | Number of weeks of data needed to estimate mean household expenditures with 95% CIs within 10–50% of the usual ("true") household mean.

	Specified % of usual (true) mean				
	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%
Total food expenditures	192	48	21	12	8
Fruits and vegetables	281	70	31	18	11
Fruits	388	97	43	24	16
Vegetables	419	105	47	26	17
Foods high in added sugar	428	107	48	27	17
Sugar-sweetened beverages	734	184	82	46	29
Sweet baked goods	1006	252	112	63	40
Candy	1308	327	145	82	52

various food categories in a variety of store types, and may be a feasible tool for use among diverse, low-income populations.

Most food items on the receipts could be coded into one of the 11 food categories of interest in the study. Only 1.6% of line items—comprising 2.1% of total spending—could not be categorized because of insufficient detail. Importantly, unidentified line items did not vary by demographic characteristics, which suggests that the tool is applicable to diverse, low-income populations. Compared to supermarkets, drug stores had a lower rate of unidentified items. This may be because drugs stores tend to sell less produce, fresh meats, and bulk items, which often lack detail on receipts and require less annotation by the participant.

Findings also suggest that the simple annotated receipt method may be adapted for specific research questions. While the majority of food items were coded as "other," this is a result of a priori food category definitions outlined in the study protocol. The experimental trial for which this method was developed assessed policy changes to SNAP. As a result, the focus was on policy-specific food categories-specifically, fruits, vegetables, sweet baked goods, sugary sweetened beverages, and candies. The "other" category captured foods that were of lesser interest to the study aims, such as diet sodas and water. However, this category is adaptable to various study-specific questions. For example, sugar-sweetened beverages (SSBs) and fruit juices were of interest in the study. To ensure comprehensive and precise evaluation of beverage expenditures, multiple categories of beverages were specified, including a "fruit beverage, unknown type" category for fruit beverages that could not be identified as either 100% fruit juice or a sugar-sweetened fruit drink. Items labeled "fruit beverage, unknown type" comprised only 0.4% of receipt line items in comparison to 7.2% of line items for SSB and 1.5% of line items for fruit juices, suggesting that the present method can differentiate food and beverage categories as required by studyspecific aims. Researchers interested in capturing different food or beverage categories can therefore adapt the method to studyspecific needs using different coding protocols (e.g., "diet sodas" were included in the "other" category in the present study, but can be coded).

To our knowledge, this is the first study to apply established methods of evaluating within- and between-individual variations to a food expenditure assessment tool (27-29). The results have implications for the design of studies evaluating household food expenditures in lower-income households. CVw and CVb values were lowest for total food expenditures and largest for individual categories of foods high in added sugar. Larger CV_w values for foods high in added sugar values had the greatest impact on the number of replicate weeks required to assess a household's usual food expenditures. For example, candy had the highest CV_w value of the food categories evaluated, requiring 52 to 1,307 weeks to estimate the household mean weekly expenditure within 10-50% deviation of the true values. Future researchers should consider alternative or additional tools to evaluate expenditures of foods such as SSBs, candies, and sweet baked goods that are highly variably purchased week to week by households.

Our findings also suggest that the simplified annotated food receipt method is most appropriate for comparing mean expenditures of different study groups or ranking household expenditures (e.g., into quartiles). For example, a group size of at least 119 households is required to estimate the mean group expenditure on fruits and vegetables within 20% of the true mean. Similarly, at least 6 weeks of data are required to rank households by weekly fruit and vegetable expenditure level with a precision of r = 0.90.

Strengths and Limitations

Food purchasing behavior is strongly patterned by socioeconomic status (7, 8), but few food receipt methods have been evaluated in low-income households (12). This study addresses the need for feasible methods to evaluate food purchasing. Importantly, this novel method was evaluated in a sample of diverse, low-income households. This study also has a relatively large sample size and prolonged duration of receipt collection for evaluation of a measurement method.

There are several limitations worth noting. This study did not assess the completeness of receipt submission, the accuracy of receipt annotation, or the reliability of coding. It is possible that receipts were not submitted for some food purchases, resulting incomplete assessment of food purchasing. Future evaluations of this methodology should evaluate completeness of receipt submission and evaluate interrater reliability of receipt coding. Furthermore, this receipt method does not provide information on food quantities. Expenditure data may suffice if change in food purchasing is the primary outcome of interest (e.g., to evaluate whether an intervention decreases purchasing of SSBs). Previous studies also suggest that food expenditure data may be a reasonable approximation of intake (17, 19, 21). Evaluating the association of expenditure data with food quantities and dietary intake is an area for further method development. The present analyses also relies on a sample of lower-income households in one metropolitan area. The levels of variation in food expenditures may differ for other population groups and requires further research.

Finally, the present method was not directly compared to other receipt methods. A qualitative review of previously published studies shows that results are somewhat comparable. This suggests that the present method may be able to capture details similar to previous receipt methods-while potentially reducing the burden for participants (compared to the annotated receipt method) and minimizing the number of unidentified food expenditures (compared to the receipt collection method). A study using the annotated receipt collection method, which requires transcription of all receipt information, collected an average of 3.1 receipts from food retailers per household per week (24). This is comparable to an average of 3.3 receipts per household per week in the present study. The annotated receipt method also yielded an average of 25.8 line items per household per week for both food retailers and restaurant receipts (24)-compared to 24.7 line items per household per week in the present study, which included only food retailers. Results for specific beverage categories across receipt methods also suggests similarities. Sugar-sweetened beverages accounted for 9.1% of all line items using the annotated receipt method, compared to 7.2% in the present study (24). In a study using the receipt collection method-which involves neither annotation or transcription--100% fruit juices comprised 1.6% of total grocery expenditures, similar to 1.6% of total expenditures in the present study (22). Importantly, the present method may have a lower rate of "missing/unclassified" items compared to the receipt collection method, which was previously reported as having 7.7% "missing classified/unclassified" expenditures (22).

However, it is worth noting that the annotated receipt method and receipt collection methods discussed above were deployed in different populations and studies. The annotated receipt method followed 90 participants who were predominantly white women in Minneapolis, Minnesota, for 4 weeks. In contrast, the receipt collection method was used for a sample of 107 diverse, low-income households in Houston, Texas over a 6-weeks period. The present study is specific to ethnically and racially diverse households in the Minneapolis-St. Paul, Minnesota, metropolitan area. Future studies are needed to formally compare different methods.

CONCLUSIONS

The simple annotated food purchase receipt method is a promising approach for assessing food purchasing behavior. Our findings suggest that this method is able to capture a wide range of food purchasing information from a variety of store types. Unidentified items were limited and did not vary by participant characteristic or stores, suggesting that the present method is broadly applicable among diverse, low-income households. This paper is also the first to quantify withinand between-household variation in food expenditures using a receipt method, which is crucial information for determining sample sizes, estimating data collection periods, and interpreting findings. Research is needed to further evaluate the method and compare it to alternative receipt methods to assess food purchasing behavior.

REFERENCES

- Ammerman AS, Lindquist CH, Lohr KN, Hersey J, Achterberg C, Bara-Nowski T, et al. The efficacy of behavioral interventions to modify dietary fat and fruit and vegetable intake: a review of the evidence. *Med Consult Prev Med.* (2002) 35:25–41. doi: 10.1006/pmed.2002.1028
- Seymour JD, Lazarus Yaroch A, Serdula M, Blanck HM, Khan LK. Impact of nutrition environmental interventions on pointof-purchase behavior in adults: a review. *Prev Med.* (2004) 39(Suppl.2):S108–36. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.04.002
- Epstein LH, Jankowiak N, Nederkoorn C, Raynor HA, French SA, Finkelstein E. Experimental research on the relation between food price changes and food-purchasing patterns: a targeted review. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2012) 95:789– 809. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.111.024380
- Gittelsohn J, Trude ACB, Kim H. Pricing strategies to encourage availability, purchase, and consumption of healthy foods and beverages: a systematic review. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2017) 14:170213. doi: 10.5888/pcd14.170213
- Appelhans BM, French SA, Tangney CC, Powell LM, Wang Y. To what extent do food purchases reflect shoppers' diet quality and nutrient intake? *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2017) 14:46. doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0502-2
- Darmon N, Drewnowski A. Contribution of food prices and diet cost to socioeconomic disparities in diet quality and health: a systematic review and analysis. *Nutr Rev.* (2015) 73:643–60. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuv027
- Darmon N, Drewnowski A. Does social class predict diet quality? Am J Clin Nutr. (2008) 87:1107–17. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/87.5.1107
- Appelhans BM, Milliron BJ, Woolf K, Johnson TJ, Pagoto SL, Schneider KL, et al. Socioeconomic status, energy cost, and nutrient

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The University of Minnesota Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SV performed statistical analyses. SV and LH wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The project described was supported by Award Numbers R01DK098152 and T32DK083250 from the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases at the Division of Epidemiology & Community Health, School of Public Health at the University of Minnesota.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2020. 582999/full#supplementary-material

content of supermarket food purchases. Am J Prev Med. (2012) 42:398-402. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2011.12.007

- Patterson RE, Kristal AR, Shannon J, Hunt JR, White E. Using a brief household food inventory as an environmental indicator of individual dietary practices. *Am J Public Health*. (1997) 87:272–5. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.87.2.272
- Miller C, Edwards L. Development and validation of a shelf inventory to evaluate household food purchases among older adults with diabetes mellitus. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* (2002) 34:261–7. doi: 10.1016/S1499-4046(06)60104-8
- Marsh T, Cullen KW, Baranowski T. Validation of a fruit, juice, and vegetable availability questionnaire. J Nutr Educ Behav. (2003) 35:93– 7. doi: 10.1016/S1499-4046(06)60045-6
- French SA, Shimotsu ST, Wall M, Gerlach AF. Capturing the spectrum of household food and beverage purchasing behavior: a review. J Am Diet Assoc. (2008) 108:2051–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2008.09.001
- Baxter JS, Graves KL, Mullis RM, Potter JD. Experiences in using computerized sales data to evaluate a nutrition intervention program. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* (1996) 28:164–7. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3182(96) 70052-3
- Weinstein JL, Phillips V, MacLeod E, Arsenault M, Ferris AM. A universal product code scanner is a feasible method of measuring household food inventory and food use patterns in low-income families. *J Am Diet Assoc.* (2006) 106:443–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2005.12.004
- Brimblecombe J, Liddle R, O'Dea K. Use of point-of-sale data to assess food and nutrient quality in remote stores. *Public Health Nutr.* (2013) 16:1159– 67. doi: 10.1017/S1368980012004284
- 16. Timmins KA, Morris MA, Hulme C, Edwards KL, Clarke GP, Cade JE. Comparability of methods assigning monetary costs to diets: derivation

from household till receipts versus cost database estimation using 4-day food diaries. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2013) 67:1072–6. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.20 13.157

- Ransley JK, Donnelly JK, Khara TN, Botham H, Arnot H, Greenwood DC, et al. The use of supermarket till receipts to determine the fat and energy intake in a UK population. *Public Health Nutr.* (2001) 4:1279– 86. doi: 10.1079/PHN2001171
- Ricciuto L, Tarasuk V, Yatchew A. Socio-demographic influences on food purchasing among canadian households. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2006) 60:778– 90. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602382
- Lambe J, Kearney J, Becker W, Hulshof K, Dunne a, Gibney MJ. Predicting percentage of individuals consuming foods from percentage of households purchasing foods to improve the use of household budget surveys in estimating food chemical intakes. *Public Health Nutr.* (1998) 1:239– 47. doi: 10.1079/PHN19980040
- Becker W. Comparability of household and individual food consumption data–evidence from Sweden. *Public Health Nutr.* (2001) 4:1177–82. doi: 10.1079/PHN2001197
- Sekula W, Nelson M, Figurska K, Oltarzewski M, Weisell R, Szponar L. Comparison between household budget survey and 24-hour recall data in a nationally representative sample of Polish households. *Public Health Nutr.* (2005) 8:430–9. doi: 10.1079/PHN2004695
- Cullen K, Baranowski T, Watson K, Nicklas T, Fisher J, O'Donnell S, et al. Food category purchases vary by household education and race/ethnicity: results from grocery receipts. J Am Diet Assoc. (2007) 107:1747–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2007.07.007
- DeWalt KM, D'Angelo S, McFadden M, Danner FW, Noland M, Kotchen JM. The use of itemized register tapes for analysis of household food acquisition patterns prompted by children. J Am Diet Assoc. (1990) 90:559–62.
- French S, Wall M, Mitchell N, Shimotsu S, Welsh E. Annotated receipts capture household food purchases from a broad range of sources. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2009) 6:37. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-6-37
- French SA, Wall M, Mitchell NR. Household income differences in food sources and food items purchased. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. (2010) 7:77. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-7-77
- 26. Harnack L, Oakes J, Elbel B, Beatty T, Rydell S, French S. Effects of subsidies and prohibitions on nutrition in a food benefit program: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2016) 176:1610–8. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.5633

- Nelson M, Black AE, Morris JA, Cole TJ. Between- and within-subject variation in nutrient intake from infancy to old age: estimating the number of days required to rank dietary intakes with desired precision. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1989) 50:155–67. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/50.1.155
- Willet WC. Nutrition Epidemiology. 3rd Edition. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (2013).
- Beaton GH, Milner J, Corey P, McGuire V, Cousins M, Stewart E, et al. Sources of variance of 24-hour dietary recall data: implications for nutrition study designing and interpretation. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1979) 32:2546– 59. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/32.12.2546
- Rydell SA, Turner RM, Lasswell TA, French SA, Oakes JM, Elbel B, et al. Participant satisfaction with a food benefit program with restrictions and incentives. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2017) 118:294–300. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2017.08.010
- 31. French SA, Rydell SA, Mitchell NR, Michael Oakes J, Elbel B, Harnack L. Financial incentives and purchase restrictions in a food benefit program affect the types of foods and beverages purchased: results from a randomized trial. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2017) 14:127. doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0585-9
- Service UER. US Household Food Security Survey Module: Six-Item Short Form. (2012). Available from: http://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutritionassistance/food-security-in-the-us/survey-tools.aspx (accessed December 23, 2015).
- 33. Liu K, Stamler J, Dyer A, McKeever J, McKeever P. Statistical methods to assess and minimize the role of intra-individual variability in obscuring the relationship between dietary lipids and serum cholesterol. *J Chronic Dis.* (1978) 31:399–418. doi: 10.1016/0021-9681(78)90004-8

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Valluri, French, Elbel, Oakes, Rydell and Harnack. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Challenges Associated With the Design and Deployment of Food Intake Urine Biomarker Technology for Assessment of Habitual Diet in Free-Living Individuals and Populations—A Perspective

Manfred Beckmann¹, Thomas Wilson^{1†}, Amanda J. Lloyd^{1†}, Duarte Torres^{2,3}, Ana Goios^{2,3}, Naomi D. Willis⁴, Laura Lyons¹, Helen Phillips¹, John C. Mathers⁴ and John Draper^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alessandra Bordoni, University of Bologna, Italy

Reviewed by:

Fulvio Mattivi, University of Trento, Italy Diego A. Moreno, Spanish National Research Council, Spain

*Correspondence:

John Draper jhd@aber.ac.uk

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 03 September 2020 Accepted: 29 October 2020 Published: 25 November 2020

Citation:

Beckmann M, Wilson T, Lloyd AJ, Torres D, Goios A, Willis ND, Lyons L, Phillips H, Mathers JC and Draper J (2020) Challenges Associated With the Design and Deployment of Food Intake Urine Biomarker Technology for Assessment of Habitual Diet in Free-Living Individuals and Populations—A Perspective. Front. Nutr. 7:602515. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.602515 ¹ Institute of Biological, Environmental and Rural Sciences, Aberystwyth University, Aberystwyth, United Kingdom, ² Faculty of Nutrition and Food Sciences, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal, ³ Epidemiology Research Unit (EPIUnit), Institute of Public Health, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal, ⁴ Human Nutrition Research Centre, Population Health Sciences Institute, William Leech Building, Newcastle University, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, United Kingdom

Improvement of diet at the population level is a cornerstone of national and international strategies for reducing chronic disease burden. A critical challenge in generating robust data on habitual dietary intake is accurate exposure assessment. Self-reporting instruments (e.g., food frequency questionnaires, dietary recall) are subject to reporting bias and serving size perceptions, while weighed dietary assessments are unfeasible in large-scale studies. However, secondary metabolites derived from individual foods/food groups and present in urine provide an opportunity to develop potential biomarkers of food intake (BFIs). Habitual dietary intake assessment in population surveys using biomarkers presents several challenges, including the need to develop affordable biofluid collection methods, acceptable to participants that allow collection of informative samples. Monitoring diet comprehensively using biomarkers requires analytical methods to quantify the structurally diverse mixture of target biomarkers, at a range of concentrations within urine. The present article provides a perspective on the challenges associated with the development of urine biomarker technology for monitoring diet exposure in free-living individuals with a view to its future deployment in "real world" situations. An observational study (n = 95), as part of a national survey on eating habits, provided an opportunity to explore biomarker measurement in a free-living population. In a second food intervention study (n = 15), individuals consumed a wide range of foods as a series of menus designed specifically to achieve exposure reflecting a diversity of foods commonly consumed in the UK, emulating normal eating patterns. First Morning Void urines were shown to be suitable samples for biomarker measurement. Triple quadrupole mass spectrometry, coupled with liquid chromatography, was used to assess simultaneously the behavior of a panel of 54 potential BFIs. This panel of chemically diverse biomarkers, reporting intake of a wide range of commonly-consumed foods, can be extended successfully as new biomarker leads are discovered. Towards

validation, we demonstrate excellent discrimination of eating patterns and quantitative relationships between biomarker concentrations in urine and the intake of several foods. In conclusion, we believe that the integration of information from BFI technology and dietary self-reporting tools will expedite research on the complex interactions between dietary choices and health.

Keywords: dietary intake, metabolomics, biomarker of food intake (BFI), urinary biomarkers, habitual diet

INTRODUCTION

There is a rich history of nutrition research spanning many decades, much of which has had at its core a need for accurate information on dietary intake for investigation of the links between exposure to individual food/food groups and specific health outcomes. Food intervention projects commonly rely on participants collecting pre-prepared foods from research centres for consumption at home and then confirming compliance at a later date (1, 2). On the other hand, large-scale nutritional epidemiological projects and nutrition surveys involving freeliving individuals consuming their habitual diet rely almost totally on self-reporting of dietary exposure. Long-established tools to collect self-reported quantitative dietary information include Food Frequency Questionnaires (FFQs), diet diaries, and dietary recall methodology (3). However, because of the complexity of eating patterns and the conceptual and practical difficulties in recording or recalling the types and amounts of foods and beverages consumed, errors in self-reporting of dietary intakes by cognitively-able individuals is commonplace and substantial (4, 5) and can be exacerbated in those who are overweight or obese (6, 7).

Secondary metabolites derived from individual foods or food groups present in human biofluids can provide potential biomarkers of food intake, for reviews see (8–18). The inclusion of biomarker technology in dietary assessment could help to overcome some of the limitations of traditional dietary methodologies by providing additional objective estimates of food exposure (19). Unlike blood, urine is easy to collect and it provides an integrated estimate of exposure over several hours. For a panel of dietary biomarkers to have any significant utility, it is essential that its coverage is as comprehensive as possible. Using data-driven approaches, we have shown that the potential utility of a biomarker is dependent on the type, portion size, and frequency of consumption of individual foods (20). Data concerning nationally-representative estimates of intakes of foods by the UK population are collected by the UK National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS) (21) and this database can be explored to identify foods and food groups for which dietary exposure biomarker discovery might be feasible and relevant (1, 2, 22).

Over the past decade, our collaborative research projects and those of other teams (see Supporting Data 1 for a comprehensive list) have contributed to the discovery of putative dietary intake urinary biomarkers of specific foods including poultry and red meat (23-28) citrus fruits (29, 30), crucifers (31, 32), oily fish (26, 27, 32), red berries/strawberries (2, 32-34), wholegrain/rye (35-37), sugary drinks (38, 39), artificial sweeteners (2, 40), peas/beans/legumes (2, 41, 42), grapes (41, 43-45), apples (41, 46, 47), and potatoes (48). In addition, consensus guidelines for the critical assessment of candidate BFIs has been established (49). These BFI candidate guidelines have focused generally on qualifying the utility of individual BFIs for monitoring exposure to specific foods/food groups. However, because effects on health are a consequence of the whole diet, it is equally important to develop approaches to assess overall dietary exposure in nutrition surveys, epidemiological studies, and clinical trials (45).

The ideal biomarker is highly specific for one food item or food group, is not detected in the biological sample of interest when the specific food item is not ingested, and shows a distinct dose- and time-dependent response following consumption (50). Although metabolites distinctive of dietary exposure to particular foods have been described, it is not uncommon to discover subsequently that putative biomarkers are not necessarily specific for individual foods and therefore much rigour needs to be applied during validation of their utility to monitor habitual dietary intake (51). For application in the real world, the use of multi-metabolite biomarker panels may provide more reliable estimation of dietary exposure than a single-biomarker approach [reviewed by (52)]; such panels need to have comprehensive coverage and to be extendable (53). For this reason, in the future it will be important to evaluate biomarker performance in the context of complex exposures to multiple foods, with different food formulations, cooking, and processing methods and within complex meals, in eating patterns the target study population is likely to experience (2).

Optimal sampling requirements for urine biomarker analysis will be dependent largely on the study design and objectives (**Table 1**). For example, a food intervention study with free-living

Abbreviations: AUC, area under the ROC (Receiver Operator Characteristic) curve; BFI, biomarker of food intake; CRN, Clinical Research Network; FFQ, Food Frequency Questionnaire; FMV, First Morning Void; HESI, heated electrospray ionisation; HILIC, Hydrophilic Interaction Liquid Chromatography; HPLC, high-performance liquid chromatography; IAN-AF, Portuguese National Food, Nutrition and Physical Activity Survey; ISRCTN, International Standard Randomised Controlled Trials Number; LC-QQQ-MS, liquid chromatography triple quadrupole mass spectrometry; LoD, limit of detection; logP, partition coefficients; LoQ, limit of quantification; MACCS, Molecular ACCess System; MAIN, Metabolomics at Aberystwyth, Imperial and Newcastle; MDS, multidimensional scaling; MRC, Medical Research Council; MRM, multiple reaction monitoring; MS, Mass Spectrometry; NDNS, National Diet and Nutrition Survey; PCA, Principal Components Analysis; QC, Quality Control; RF, Random Forest; RI, refractive index; ROC, Receiver Operator Characteristic; RP, reverse phase; RSD, relative standard deviation; SG, specific gravity; SRM, Selected Reaction Monitoring; UHPLC, Ultra High Performance Liquid Chromatography.

TABLE 1 | Study objectives and biomarker of food intake (BFI) requirements.

Example study objectives		Single Multiple sample only samples		Biomarker requirements Biomarker(s) of Comprehensive only one biomarker food/food group panel		Data requirements		Study example and reference
						Quantitative orExposuresemi-quantitativerangemeasurementassignment		
A	Confirmation of participant compliance in a food intervention study or validation of a proposed biomarker focusing on a single food/food group, short term or long term		Υ	Y		Y		A validation trial: (54) A compliance trial: (55, 56)
В	Biomarker discovery and/or validation in a free-living population following a meal plan emulating normal eating patterns		Y		Y	Y		MAIN study: (1, 2, 22)
С	Investigation of individual "metabotype" in relation to interaction with specific dietary chemicals	?	?	Y		Y		Food4me study: (57)
D	Assessment of habitual (e.g., weekly, monthly, and annual) eating behavior of individuals		Y		Y	?	?	PREDIMED trial: (58, 59)
E	Observational epidemiological survey of eating habits in a large population	Y			Y	Y	?	IAN-AF: (60); EPIC: (27, 61)
F	Cohort stratification by dietary exposure levels to specific foods/food groups in a small clinical trial		Y		Y		Y	MAIN study: (45)

participants lasting several weeks investigating links between a health outcome and a specific food/food group will require appropriate samples on multiple days taken at random to assess compliance with dietary intake targets (1, 2). In contrast, assessing the general eating habits of a large population in an epidemiological survey may only require sampling of a large number of people on a single random day or multiple days (60). Any urine sampling procedure would need to be (i) acceptable for volunteers to provide samples repeatedly, (ii) require minimal researcher time and cost, and (iii) deliver samples with high quality information content. The theoretical optimal types of urine(s) to be sampled [e.g., spot, cumulative (i.e., "phase" of day) or 24 h] will also depend on study objectives (62) and, in many instances, the sampling strategy will be limited by cost constraints or the practicalities of collection. Twentyfour hour urine samples and single spot urine samples taken at random times during the day are commonly collected to monitor discrete aspects of human physiology, metabolism, or "exposome" in clinical trials and surveys (63-65). Unfortunately, such samples provide information only in relation to very recent eating behaviour and may be of limited utility in nutrition studies where the focus is on the whole diet or on the intakes of foods that are not eaten frequently. Additionally, eating behaviour and hydration levels can be very different between individuals in free-living populations and the fact that excretion half-lives of specific metabolites can vary enormously (49), means that research protocols must be in place to manage adequately these sources of variability in any biomarker discovery and validation strategy (62, 66).

Where the aim is to estimate absolute intake of specific foods, or the frequency of exposure, it will be desirable to generate quantitative or semi-quantitative data on BFI concentrations in urine. However, for other studies, it may be sufficient to be able to assign each individual into an exposure range (e.g., high-medium-low), typical of a specific reference population. Urine collection(s), sample processing, and the analytical methodology can be optimised for a target metabolite when using a single biomarker to monitor exposure to a single food/food group. In contrast, the desire to monitor habitual diet comprehensively using a panel of biomarkers requires the analytical approach to manage the complex physio-chemical attributes of the diverse range of putative biomarkers currently described, as well as coping with metabolites exhibiting differential stability during collection, transport, and storage. Other practical issues such as the commercial availability, costs, solubility, and stability of pure chemicals in mixtures as quantitation standards will also impact on the design of analytical solution likely to offer

scope for simultaneous measurement of a large number of metabolite targets.

The assessment of eating behaviour in free-living individuals is important in a wide range of types of nutrition research (**Table 1**), ranging from clinical trials investigating the mode of action of potentially beneficial "bioactive" compounds in individuals, to general surveys of national eating habits in large populations. Although considerable effort is being expended on BFI discovery and validation, there is an equally urgent need to consider the future challenges for effective deployment of dietary intake biomarker technology to assess habitual diet within populations. To summarise, these major challenges include:

- Strategies for validation of food intake biomarkers suitable for assessment of habitual dietary exposure;
- Standardised urine sampling approaches, including collection, temporary storage, transport, and long term biobanking;
- Development of biomarker analytical methodology, using a multi-panel of biomarkers, that is able to integrate new markers as they become validated;
- Algorithms to convert raw biomarker data into meaningful estimates of food intake and/or overall diet quality.

The present article aims to provide a perspective on *some* of these challenges associated with the development of urine biomarker technology to monitor recent or habitual dietary intake in freeliving individuals with a view to its future deployment in "real world" situations. For example the UK government's "Better Health" campaign, a 12 week fitness and healthy eating plan announced in July 2020 to help Briton's lose weight and reduce their risk of serious complications should they contract COVID-19 (https://www.nhs.uk/better-health/). One of the key aims of the plan is to encourage people to make healthier food choices. We believe that the BFI technology we have been developing over the past 10 years, alongside the low-effort, minimally intrusive urine sampling strategies (62, 67) will soon be validated to the point that they can be used to reproducibly and objectively monitor the effectiveness of such plans at a population level. A workflow summarising the overall experimental strategy is illustrated in Figure 1.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethics Approval and Consent to Participate

For *Study 1*, ethical approval was obtained from the National Commission for Data Protection, the Ethical Committee of the Institute of Public Health of the University of Porto and from the Ethical Commissions of each one of the Regional Administrations of Health. All participants gave written informed consent, and the study was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The MAIN (Metabolomics at Aberystwyth, Imperial, and Newcastle) food intervention trial at Newcastle (*Study 2*) was approved by the East Midlands—Nottingham 1 National Research Ethics Committee (14/EM/0040). Caldicott approval for storage of data and data protection was granted by Newcastle-upon-Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust [6896(3109)]. The MAIN food intervention trial in Newcastle was adopted into the UK Clinical

Research Network (CRN) Portfolio (16037) and is registered with International Standard Randomised Controlled Trials Number (ISRCTN), 88921234.

The participants provided written informed consent to participate in each study, taken by an appropriately trained researcher. All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

Epidemiological Study and Urine Sampling

Study 1 involved community-living individuals consuming a freely-chosen diet. The participants (n = 95) were volunteers who participated in the Portuguese National Food, Nutrition, and Physical Activity Survey (IAN-AF), whose aims and methods have been described previously (60). A 24 h dietary record was collected by trained nutritionists using the "eAT24" Software (68) which facilitates the assessment of dietary data using an automated multiple-pass method (5 steps) (69). Participants were asked to collect urine samples on the day before the second 24 h dietary record. Urine samples were collected in two separate containers. The first one (a 2,700 mL container identified as container A) was used to collect all urine passed during the day before the interview, except the first void of that morning. A second one (a 500 mL container identified as container B) was used to collect just the First Morning Void (FMV) on the day of the second interview. No preservatives were added to the urine containers, and the participants were asked to keep the samples refrigerated (4°C) throughout the collection period. Participants were asked to fill in a questionnaire with the time of the beginning and the end of collections, details of any medication, and whether or not they had any problems or missed urine collections. At the laboratory, urine samples were weighed and mixed. The weights of urine from containers A and B were quantified separately and a proportionally pooled 24 h urine sample (identified as "24 h urine") was prepared by using samples A and B. From each participant, both urine samples were aliquoted: 1×45 mL (in 50 mL Falcon pre-labelled tube) + 10 \times 1.5 mL (in 2 mL pre-labelled microtubes). These aliquots were refrigerated immediately before being moved to -80° C storage, within 24 h, for further analysis.

Food Intervention Study Design and Urine Sampling

The MAIN project at Newcastle included two controlled food intervention studies in free-living people who consumed the test foods as part of two 3day menu plans, designed to generate six distinctive "Menu Days" (1, 22). Participants were provided with all the foods and ingredients to prepare and consume meals at home, following the prescribed menus. Within this manuscript (*Study 2*) we have used data from 15 of the individuals from the second 3-day menu plan (8 male, 7 female; non-smokers; age: 21-74). We implemented urine sampling methods based on our previous studies (23, 70) and asked participants to collect a series of urine samples including the FMV the day after each menu plan. Participants collected urine samples in a plastic jug



Interaction Liquid Chromatography; LoD, limit of detection; LoQ, limit of quantification.

and transferred aliquots into labelled sterile 25 mL Universal tubes. Six of these 15 participants (2 female, non-smokers, age range 22–59) also collected FMV urine samples at home using the vacuum transfer system (67). All samples were placed in an opaque cool bag and stored at home in a fridge at 4°C for up to 4 days and then brought to the research facility in Newcastle at the end of the study week. Universal tubes were stored immediately at -80° C and the vacuum tubes remained at

 4° C for a further 2 weeks before storage at -80° C. Samples were then transported to the analytical facility in Aberystwyth on dry ice for metabolite analysis.

Urine Sample Preparation

Urine samples were prepared and adjusted as reported previously (1, 22). In brief, all urine samples were normalised by refractive index (RI) prior to analysis to account for differences in fluid
intake by participants and to ensure that all Mass Spectrometry (MS) measurements were made within a similar dynamic range within the linear range of the instrument. Samples were defrosted overnight at 4°C, centrifuged (1,600 × g for 5 mins at 4°C), placed on ice and aliquots of thawed urine (1,000 µL) were transferred into labelled 2 mL Eppendorf tubes. The remaining sample were returned to a -20° C freezer. An OPTI Hand Held Refractometer (Bellingham StanleyTM Brix 54 Model) was used to record the specific gravity (SG). Using these data, aliquots of the required amounts of urine from centrifuged 2 ml Eppendorf tubes and ultra-pure (18.2 Ω) H₂O were transferred into new tubes for extraction; this ensured that all samples had the same RI.

Strategy for Selection of Candidate Dietary Exposure Biomarkers

The selection of biomarkers was initiated with a literature search to generate an initial "long list" of food-related metabolites with potential for inclusion in a panel of biomarkers that would provide comprehensive coverage of food items consumed in the MAIN Study (see **Supporting Data 2** for a summary of the foods). The search was carried out using Google Scholar and Web of Knowledge using the following search terms in a range of combinations "biomarkers + urine + food + dietary + BFI" and ended on 22/06/2020. Publications were screened and information was added to the database if they contained data relating to potential dietary exposure biomarkers measured in urine samples (see **Supporting Data 3**). Specific details on metabolite excretion profile were recorded and the availability of a commercial supply of a pure chemical standard was investigated (see **Supporting Data 3**).

Evaluation of Chemical Diversity of Biomarkers

Biomarkers were assigned to chemical class and superclass using the ClassyFire application (71). Classifications for each biomarker were retrieved using the R package classyfireR Version 0.3.3. Pairwise similarity of biomarkers was measured using the Tanimoto Distance after converting structural representations of each biomarker to its MACCS (Molecular ACCess System) fingerprint. Fingerprints were generated using the get.fingerprint function from the R package rcdk (Version 3.5) and distances computed using the fp.sim.matrix function from the R package fingerprint. The resultant matrix of fingerprint distances, was then reduced to two dimensions using the cmdscale function. Chemical descriptors (-logP) were calculated using the rcdk package.

Sample Analysis by Liquid Chromatography Triple Quadrupole Mass Spectrometry (LC-QQQ-MS)

Methanol (primer trace analysis grade, Fisher Scientific, UK) was used for urine extraction and standards preparation. Acetonitrile (Optima[®] LC-MS grade, Fisher Scientific, UK), methanol (HPLC grade, Fisher Scientific, UK), and Ammonium acetate (Optima[®] LC-MS grade, Fisher Scientific, Belgium) were used for preparing the LC mobile phase. Water was ultra-pure water (18.2Ω) drawn from an Elga Purelab[®] flex water purifier system (Taiwan). The suppliers of chemical standards are given in **Supporting Data 4**.

Sample analysis was performed on a TSO Quantum Ultra EMR QQQ mass spectrometer (Thermo Scientific) equipped with a heated electrospray ionisation (HESI) source. Samples were delivered using an Accela ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography (UHPLC) system (Thermo Scientific) consisting of autosampler, column heater, and quaternary UHPLC-pump. For HILIC (Hydrophilic Interaction Liquid Chromatography) analysis, chromatographic separation was performed on a ZIC-pHILIC (polymeric $5 \mu m$, $150 \times 4.6 mm$) column (Merck). The mobile phase consisted of 10 mM ammonium acetate in water: acetonitrile (95:5) (A) and 10 mM ammonium acetate in water: acetonitrile (5:95) (B). The gradient program used was as follows: $0 \min$, 95% B (400 μ L min⁻¹); 15 min, 20% B (400 μ L min⁻¹); 15.01 min, 20% B (500 μ L min⁻¹); 20 min, 20 % B (500 μL min⁻¹); 20.01 min, 95 % B $(500 \ \mu L \ min^{-1})$; 25 min, 95% B (500 $\ \mu L \ min^{-1})$. The HPLC was carried out in low pressure ($\sim 0-7,000$ psi) operating mode with 0 psi and 650 psi as minimum and maximum pressures, respectively. For Reverse Phase (RP) analysis, chromatographic separation was performed on a Hypersil Gold (1.9 µm, 200 \times 2.1 mm) RP-column (Thermo Scientific). The mobile phase consisted of 0.1% formic acid in H₂O (A) and 0.1% formic acid in MeOH (B). The gradient program used was as follows: 0 min, 0% B; 0.5 min, 0% B; 5 min, 60% B; 11 min, 100% B; 13 min, 100% B; 13.01 min, 0% B; 19 min, 0% B. For RP analysis, the flow rate was maintained at 400 μ L/min⁻¹. The UHPLC was carried out in high pressure (~7,000-15,000 psi) operating mode with 0 and 1,000 psi as minimum and maximum pressures, respectively. For both chromatographic analyses, column oven and autosampler tray were maintained at 60 and 14°C, respectively. To ensure consistent sample delivery, 20 µL were injected using a 20 µL loop and partial loop injection mode. After each injection, syringe, and injector were cleaned using a 10 % HPLC grade MeOH solution in ultra-pure water (1 mL flush volume; 100 μ L/s⁻¹ flush speed, 2 mL wash volume) to avoid sample carryover. Mass spectra were acquired in multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) mode, in positive and negative ionisation polarities simultaneously using optimised values of collision energy and tube lens for each MRM transition (Supporting Data 4). Spectra were collected at a scan speed of 0.010 and 0.003 s for HILIC and RP analysis, respectively. A scan width of 0.010 m/z units and peak width (Q1, Q3) of 0.7 FWHM were used for both HILIC and RP analyses.

Raw files (ThermoFisher) were converted to mzML (72) using msconvert in the ProteoWizard tool kit (73). All further processing of mzML files was performed using the R Statistical Programming Language (74). Selected Reaction Monitoring (SRM) chromatograms were extracted from mzML files using the R library, mzR and peaks areas were calculated by extracting pre-defined chromatographic windows (based on calibration standards) around each peak apex. Absolute concentrations were calculated using a nine-point calibration curve (0.006561–100 μ g mL⁻¹). The limit of detection (LoD) and limit of quantification (LoQ) of all chemical standards were calculated as the lowest

concentration of each biomarker giving a signal-to-noise ratio of 3:1 and 10:1, respectively within the linear range of each calibration curve.

Quality Control (QC) Strategy for Target Biomarkers

Reproducibility of the mixture of chemical standards was determined using the relative standard deviation (RSD) of a multi component calibration standard and an external urine QC sample using a "master mix" of pooled samples. The external urine QC sample was used to determine the effect of the resultant urine matrix on the reproducibility of selected biomarkers across multiple experiments. The external QC (as distinct from an experimental QC) allowed for longitudinal monitoring of RSD without intra-experimental bias.

Data Analysis

Principal Components Analysis (PCA) was performed using the *prcomp* function in R, with variables scaled to unit variance. Supervised classification of quantitative metabolite data was performed using Random Forest (RF) classification using the randomForest package (75) in R (74). For all RF models, the number of trees (*ntree*) used was 500 and the number of variables considered at each internal node (*mtry*) was the square root of the total number of variables. Accuracy, margins of classification and area under the ROC (Receiver Operator Characteristic) curve (AUC) were all used to evaluate the performance of classification models, as described previously (76). RF classification models were plotted following multi-dimensional scaling (MDS). Proximity measures for each individual observation were extracted from RF models and scaled coordinates produced using cmdscale on *1—proximity*.

Spearman rank correlations of biomarker concentrations in 24 h vs. FMV urine were produced using the *rcorr* function from the R (Version 4.0.3) package Hmisc (Version 4.4.0). Reported *P*-values are the asymptotic *p*-values from the rank correlation. Quantile–Quantile plots were produced using the *qqnorm* function in R.

RESULTS

Selection of Target Foods and Design of a Food Intervention Study for Preliminary Survey of the Potential Utility of Urine Biomarker Technology

A major component of our strategy to develop urine biomarker technology to monitor habitual diet was the need for a biobank of urine samples from a food intervention trial that was designed to provide comprehensive exposure to foods commonly consumed in the UK. Key food groups were identified initially from *The Eatwell Guide* (77); the most commonly eaten foods were identified within each disaggregated food group using estimates of intakes of foods by the UK population from the UK National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS) (21). **Supporting Data 2** describes the representative foods that were incorporated into a six-menu design as part of the MAIN food intervention trial at Newcastle [see Lloyd et al. (1) and Willis et al. (2) for full details]. The menu plans aimed to deliver foods for BFI discovery and validation, including the assessment of BFI specificity and sensitivity within the context of the whole diet. Particularly important was consideration of the impact of the likely major sources of variance on biomarker monitoring procedures including:

- The impact of exposure to targeted foods as part of complex and mixed meals, rather than foods consumed in isolation;
- The use of average portion sizes and normal eating patterns rather than exposure to huge, unrealistic portions consumed in a fasted state;
- The impact of different food formulations, processing, and cooking methods representing the range of ways in which foods are processed and eaten;
- The dynamics of putative BFI retention in the body (to inform development of biomarkers of both acute or habitual food consumption).

The selection of biomarkers was initiated with a preliminary literature search to identify putative urinary biomarkers that would provide comprehensive coverage of each specific food/food group consumed within the six menus. This database (**Supporting Data 1**) suggested that 765 urinary metabolites were potential dietary exposure biomarker candidates as summarised in **Supporting Data 2**. It is clear from these data that there is considerable choice in terms of potential biomarkers and considerable overlap of metabolites between some foods/food groups.

Evaluation of Approaches for Urine Collection and Storage for Monitoring Habitual Dietary Exposure

Using LC-MS fingerprinting methodology, we have shown previously that the metabolome of spot urine samples taken just before bed time on the study day is compositionally very similar to the corresponding 24 h urine samples (62). In the present study, RI measurements revealed that FMV spot urine samples from a national dietary intake survey (Study 1) also had an almost identical overall solute concentration range to that of 24 h urines (Figure 2A). Since creatinine concentrations are often used as a reference for normalisation in urine samples, we evaluated the relationship between creatinine concentration and RI in both FMV spot and 24 h urines. Creatinine concentrations were within the same range in FMV spot and 24 h urines and exhibited a strong linear relationship ($R^2 = 0.65$ and 0.68, respectively) with RI (Figure 2B), supporting the concept of sample normalisation to the same RI. The value of FMV spot urine samples for assessment of dietary exposure was explored further by examining the correspondence between the concentration of putative biomarkers in 24 h urine and spot urine samples using targeted, quantitative measurements of individual biomarkers. Figure 2C shows scatter plots of metabolite concentration in FMV urine vs. 24 h urine for eight example biomarkers from samples derived from Study 1. Although the actual biomarker levels varied between the two urine types there was



list of number codes for biomarkers is in Supporting Data 4).

a strong linear relationship between concentrations in 24 h and FMV urine (**Figure 2C**). More than 50% of the biomarkers demonstrated a very strong correlation (>0.6). Further potential biomarkers exhibited a weaker correlation in concentration (**Supporting Data 4**) and it is suggested that that r > 0.2 (with a p < 0.05 from a rank correlation test) may be considered adequate. The Quantile–Quantile plot in **Supporting Data 5** shows the comparable distribution of biomarker concentrations measured in FMV and 24 h urine samples.

We have shown recently that vacuum tube technology has considerable value for spot urine sampling and that, even in the absence of preservatives, urine composition is stable for several days at $4^{\circ}C(67)$ and under different temperature regimes. To explore further the utility of vacuum tube technology for large-scale urine sampling in community settings, we evaluated the compositional stability of FMV spot urine at $4^{\circ}C$ for 2 weeks, to mimic longer term storage in a domestic fridge. A selection of biomarkers useful for assessment of exposure to meat, fish, wholegrain, fruit, and vegetable components of meals were targeted for analysis. Metabolite concentrations after storage in vacuum tubes at $4^{\circ}C$ were very similar to those of the same urine samples after being frozen at $-80^{\circ}C$ (Figure 3).

Literature Analysis to Select Biomarker Leads for Inclusion in a Panel That Will Provide a Comprehensive Survey of Dietary Exposure

A comprehensive list of potential urinary BFIs based on a literature analysis (53) of putative dietary exposure biomarkers in various human biofluids is presented in **Supporting Data 2**. The present biomarker panel strategy aimed to assess habitual diet in individuals and populations; key to this objective was the need to use spot urine samples, specifically urine samples collected just before bedtime and FMV urines, that would be informative of overall food consumption (1, 62). A detailed examination of the dietary exposure biomarker literature was undertaken with particular emphasis on the identification of biomarker candidates present in spot urine samples > 12 h after food consumption (Table 2 and described in further detail in Supporting Data 3). A shortlist of candidate biomarkers for initial biomarker panel development was generated, focusing largely on metabolites that were available from commercial providers (Supporting Data 3). For 28 out 54 putative biomarkers there was already evidence in the literature of their presence in FMV urine. The majority



Supporting Data 4).

of the remaining dietary exposure biomarker leads selected had been shown to be present in 24 h urine samples and so it was reasonable to expect their presence in FMV urine samples collected the day after a specific food intervention.

Examination of Biomarker Behaviour During LC-MS and Development of a Biomarker Panel Strategy

Previous analysis of published literature revealed that the great majority of dietary exposure biomarker candidates were detected and quantified using LC-MS technology (53). Chemical classification of putative biomarkers showed great structural diversity that included metabolites from 17 Chemical Classes representative of 7 Chemical Super-Classes (**Figure 4A**). *In silico* multi-dimensional scaling of structural attribute fingerprint distances shows the large diversity in chemical structure across biomarker candidates, highlighting the necessity for employing multiple chromatography systems (**Figure 4B**). Focusing specifically on partition coefficients (log*P*) and molecular weight attributes, it is clear from the scatterplot shown

in **Figure 4C** that a large percentage of biomarker candidates were quite strongly hydrophilic. Based on this distribution a decision was made to develop an analytical strategy based largely on the use of a HILIC column to measure strongly polar chemicals and a RP (C_{18}) column to quantify less polar metabolites.

LC-QQQ-MS/MS technology is used widely for measuring, with high sensitivity, the concentration of target chemicals in complex biological samples. Quantification of pre-determined fragmentation products of targeted metabolites in expected retention time windows using MRM approaches allows the investigator to obtain data on large numbers of individual metabolites in short (10–15 min) HPLC runs. Chemical mixtures designed as calibration standards for either HILIC or RP (C₁₈) chromatography were used to optimise metabolite separation and detection conditions on a Thermo QQQ instrument (see **Supporting Data 4**). Serial dilutions of the two standard chemical mixtures (30–0.00197 μ g ml⁻¹) were used to establish LoD and LoQ and to examine analytical reproducibility over several months. The reproducibility of measurement of chemical standard mixtures was determined at nine concentration levels.

TABLE 2 | Selection of biomarkers for panel development.

Dietary component	Putative urine biomarker	Potential use as a habitual dietary exposure biomarker?	Key reference in relation to habitual dietary exposure biomarker potential	
Alcohol	Ethyl-beta-D-glucuronide	**	(78)	
Wine	Resveratrol	*	(59)	
Coffee	Chlorogenic acid	*	(79)	
Coffee	Dihydrocaffeic acid#	*	(80)	
Coffee	Ferulic acid-4-O-sulphate	*	(80)	
Coffee	Feruloylglycine	**	(1)	
Coffee	m-Coumaric acid#	*	(46)	
Сосоа	3-Methyl-xanthine	**	(81)	
Cocoa	7-Methyl-xanthine	**	(81)	
Cocoa/Tea	Caffeic acid#	*	(80)	
Coffee/Cocoa	Caffeine	*	(81)	
Cocoa	Vanillic acid	**	(46)	
Sweetener	Acesulphame-K	**	(2)	
Sugary Foods and Drinks	Sucrose	**	(39)	
Fruit and Vegetables	3-Hydroxyhippuric acid	**	(82)	
Fruit and Vegetables	4-Hydroxyhippuric acid	**	(82)	
Fruit and Vegetables	Hippuric acid	*	(83)	
Citrus	4-Hydroxyproline-betaine	**	(30)	
Banana	Dopamine-3-O-sulphate [#]	**	(84)	
Banana	Dopamine-4-O-sulphate [#]	**	(84)	
Strawberries/red berries	Furaneol	**	(2)	
Citrus (grapefruit)	Naringenin	*	(85)	
Grapes/wine/red berries	p-Coumaric acid	**	(86)	
Citrus	Proline betaine	**	(30)	
Apple	Rhamnitol	**	(22)	
Grapes	Tartarate	**	(87)	
Onion and tomato	Quercetin	*	(11)	
Onion and tomato		**		
	Quercetin-3-O-b-D-glucuronide	**	(88)	
Cruciferous Vegetables Cruciferous Vegetables	D,L-Sulphoraphane L-cysteine	**	(89)	
<u> </u>	D,L-Sulphoraphane-N-acetyl-L-cysteine	*	(1)	
Wholegrain/Rye	BOA (1,3-Benzoxazol-2-one)	*	(35)	
Wholegrain	DHBA (3,5-Dihydroxybenzoic acid)	*	(90)	
Wholegrain Wholegrain	DHBA-3-O-sulphate DHPPA (3-(3,5-Dihydroxyphenyl)-1-propanoic	*	(91) (90)	
	acid)			
Wholegrain	DHPPA-3-sulphate	*	(91)	
Meat (general)	1-Methyl histidine	*	(92)	
Poultry/Fish	3-Methyl histidine	*	(27)	
Meat (processed)	Carnitine	*	(93)	
Red meat	Carnosine	*	(24)	
Meat (general)	Creatinine	*	(25)	
Chicken	L-Anserine	**	(1)	
Meat (general)	Taurine	*	(25)	
Fish/Shellfish	Trimethylamine-N-oxide	**	(1)	
Potatoes	Calystegine A ₃	**	(48)	
Potatoes	Calystegine B_2/B_1	**	(48)	
Soy products	Daidzein	**	(94)	
Legumes	Pyrogallol	**	(2)	
Legumes	Trigonelline	**	(2)	

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Dietary component	Putative urine biomarker	Potential use as a habitual dietary exposure biomarker?	Key reference in relation to habitual dietary exposure biomarker potential	
Strongly Heated Foods	N-(2-Furoyl)glycine	**	(2)	
Polyphenol rich foods	Epicatechin(-)	*	(79)	
Polyphenol rich foods	Ferulic acid	*	(95)	
Polyphenol/Anthocyanin rich foods	Ferulic acid-4-O-b-D-glucuronide	*	(96)	
Fruit/Grapes/Tea/wine	Gallic acid	*	(86)	
Anthocyanin rich foods	Protocatechuic acid	**	(97)	

*Normally the conjugated forms detected; the impact/use of the selected metabolite as a potential biomarker of habitual dietary exposure where *Possible and **Likely.



chemical space. Where: logP, partition coefficients [Full list of number codes for biomarkers in panels (B,C) is in Supporting Data 4].

RSD data for biomarkers used to monitor exposure to six example foods/food groups are illustrated in **Figure 5** and in all cases, reproducibility gradually worsened as biomarker concentration dropped. Median concentrations of the same biomarkers were measured in FMV urine taken from 95 free-living participants from *Study 1*. For each metabolite the median concentration was substantially greater than the level at which RSD approached 20% (see dotted boxes in **Figure 5**) and usually an order of magnitude greater than the LoQ (see **Supporting Data 4**).

Demonstration of Biomarker Panel Utility to Examine Eating Behaviour in the MAIN Study

The utility of the biomarker panel to characterise eating habits within populations was explored by measuring the concentrations of 54 BFIs in FMV urine samples obtained on days following consumption of three distinctive meal plans (see text box in Figure 6) from 15 individuals in the Newcastle MAIN food intervention study (Study 2). The data were subjected to PCA which showed distinctive clustering of urine samples by Menu Day (colour coded) in relation to the zero position in PC1 and PC2 (indicated by dotted red grid lines in the scores plot shown in Figure 6A). Menu Day 1 and Menu Day 2 samples separated strongly in PC1, whereas Menu Day 3 samples clustered away from samples representative of the other 2 Menu Days in the PC2 dimension. Biomarkers that are strongly explanatory of differences in the composition of urines collected the morning after individual Menus Days are shown in Figure 6B. Examination of the 4 sectors delineated by the zero grid lines of the loadings plot revealed a strong association between specific biomarkers and particular foods consumed on each menu day. For example, TMAO (60) was strongly associated with cod fish fingers consumed on Menu Day 2, 3-Methyl histidine (3) was linked to chicken consumption on Menu Day 1 and carnosine (15) was indicative of exposure to a 100% beef burger on Menu Day 3. 1- and 3-Methyl-xanthine (4 and 7) and Epicatechin(-) (28; a marker for general polyphenolrich foods) detected exposure to cocoa products on Menu Day 1, whilst Acesulphame-K (8) was associated with exposure to a diet soft drink on the same day. Sulphoraphane derivatives (18 and 19; D,L-Sulphoraphane L-cysteine and D,L-Sulphoraphane-N-acetyl-L-cysteine) were highly explanatory of exposure to coleslaw (containing cabbage) on Menu Day 3, whilst trigonelline (53) and N-(2-Furoyl)glycine (39; a strongly heated food marker) reflected exposure to coffee on the same day. Tartrate (51) and the calystegines (12 and 13; A₃ and B₂/B₁) contributed strongly to the clustering of urine samples from Menu Days 2 and 3 away from Menu Day 1 samples when grape products and potato products were not consumed. The example box plots (colour coded by Menu day) in Figure 6C demonstrate a clear increase in the concentration in urine of the selected biomarkers the day after the consumption of a specific food.

An important feature of any biomarker strategy designed to monitor habitual diet in both individuals and populations is the ability to add in new biomarkers as they are discovered and validated. RF can be used to assess the stringency of sample classification based on modelling output measures such as accuracy, AUC, and margins (76). **Figure 7** shows a MDS of proximity scores extracted from a RF classification model of the same 15 individuals consuming three unique menus, and panels of 38 dietary biomarkers used in 2018 (**Figure 7A**) and extended to 54 biomarkers in 2020 (**Figure 7B**). In both models, sample clustering by Menu Day is very similar and modelling output measures are still excellent, despite the challenge of measuring many more biomarkers in each MRM experiment in the more complex panel utilising 54 biomarkers.

DISCUSSION

More than a decade of intensive research to discover putative BFIs has yielded a wealth of information highlighting specific metabolites that appear in urine following consumption of individual foods/food groups. A large number of such metabolites have great potential as biomarker leads for particular foods/food groups when validated in isolation (49). However, their deployment in any cost-effective strategy aimed at comprehensive monitoring of habitual diet imposes a substantial number of further challenges that require both definition and investigation (1, 22). Preliminary investigation of the performance of any specific biomarker in the context of a complex biomarker panel requires urine samples from complex food intervention studies designed specifically to emulate habitual eating patterns. The MAIN Study at Newcastle was designed with this specific objective in mind (1, 2, 22). By validating biomarkers in urine samples from studies researching eating behaviour in free-living populations (62, 67) it is anticipated that BFI technology will mature rapidly over the next few years.

It is particularly important to consider carefully urine sampling approaches when deploying BFI technology to help monitor diet and to adopt a methodology that is appropriate for the study objectives (see Table 1). Twenty-four hour urine samples, which include the FMV after the study day, provide an ideal type of sample to assess food intake on a single day with the caveat that their collection imposes considerable burden on study participants. To assess habitual diet using BFI data would demand the collection 24 h urine samples on multiple days which can have a substantial influence on the acceptability of the study requirements and compliance by participants, as well as impacting greatly on study logistics and overall costs (1, 62, 67). Consequently, spot urine samples are becoming the urine samples of choice for studying BFIs of a single food/food group when compared with 24 h collections [e.g., (89, 98)] because their collection has little impact on normal daily activities of study participants.

Nutrikinetic studies of potential BFIs have shown that dietderived metabolites from individual foods reach peak levels in urine at different times post-prandially (49). Thus, choosing an appropriately-timed spot urine sample is clearly problematical when considering the effective deployment of a comprehensive biomarker panel covering the whole of diet. Our recent studies have shown that spot urine samples are generally adequate substitutes for 24 h urine samples for measurement of BFIs (22, 62); particularly post-evening meal (i.e., just before bed time) and FMV urines were collected with a high degree of success (22). In the present paper, we describe a strategy to select urinary biomarkers for inclusion in a comprehensive and extendable panel to monitor habitual dietary exposure that focuses on the



use of FMV urine samples. From an analytical perspective, sampling FMV urines after a substantial overnight sleep period allows sufficient time to elapse for any gut microbiome and liver P450 bio-transformations of targeted metabolites to be completed, thus extending the availability of characteristic biomarkers and increasing their concentrations in the collected urine. It has been shown previously that the distributions of biomarker concentrations are comparable between post-dinner spot samples, overnight cumulative samples, and 24h urines (62). We demonstrated recently (53) that more than 50 different potential BFIs were detectable in FMV urine the day after the consumption of targeted foods. In the present study, we show that for many, but not all, BFIs there is a relatively linear correlation between concentration in 24 h and FMV urine and suggest that only those with an R^2 approaching 0.2 may be suitable for accurate quantification when using a comprehensive biomarker panel to monitor habitual diet. Although this is clearly a limitation for accurate quantification of food intake it is very likely that the presence in FMV urine of BFIs with lower correlation coefficients will still provide a useful qualitative indication of recent exposure to their target foods.

Our recent collaborations have highlighted the importance of understanding metabolic biotypes (metabotypes) in populations that may impact on nutritional status (41, 45, 99). As many dietary exposure biomarkers are derived from food chemicals that are metabolised and/or biotransformed before excretion, it is possible that chemical "signatures" reflective of common metabotype groupings in any population can be visualised using a biomarker panel. Differential metabolism of any particular BFI by metabotype sub-groups in any population would provide an additional limitation on its utility for quantitative assessment of dietary intake. The hydration levels of study participants can vary considerably and has to be adjusted for in any BFI deployment strategy. The use of 24 h urine samples for biomarker quantification demands the accurate measurement of the total volume of urine produced during any 24 h period and then the concentration and extraction of a specific aliquot before analysis in order to calculate the overall daily excretion rate.

Logistics, the analytical and computational skills required, and costs will also impact on the wider acceptance and adoption of dietary exposure biomarker technology by the nutrition research community. In the methodology we describe, urine processing is limited to a simple dilution with ultra-pure water as QQQ instruments operating in MRM mode are extremely sensitive and thus there is a need to collect only small volumes of urine for analysis (e.g., 0.5-3 ml). With this objective in mind, we have shown that spot samples can be collected in the home with high collection compliance using vacuum tube technology (67). Importantly, urine samples collected by this method are compositionally stable at room temperature for several days without preservatives (67). This feature of vacuum tube collection methodology allows transport by domestic mail without dry ice offering the opportunity to scale up dietary exposure studies in community settings. A commercial



FIGURE 6 | Biomarker panel to characterise eating behaviour on individual Menu Days in *Study 2*. (A) Principal Components Analysis (PCA) scores plot of biomarker panel measurements in First Morning Void (FMV) urine of 15 individuals across three Menu Days in *Study 2*. (B) PCA variable loadings plot showing the variance contributions of biomarkers on each Menu Day (Full list of number codes for biomarkers in panel B is in **Supporting Data 4**). (C) Boxplots illustrating the concentration in FMV urine of top ranked biomarkers discriminating Menu Days following Random Forest classification. Text box provide details of meals consumed on each Menu Day. Where: Biomarker 3,3-Methyl histidine; Biomarker 7,7-Methyl xanthine; Biomarker 19, D,L-Sulphoraphane-N-acetyl-L-cysteine; Biomarker 22, DHBA-3-O-sulphate; Biomarker 50, Tartarate; Biomarker 53, Trimethylamine-N-oxide.



product for spot urine collection (**Supporting data 6**) is now on the market (https://www.co-vertec.co.uk/) and is currently under evaluation in several clinical trials interested in monitoring vulnerable populations in community environments to study malnutrition (https://www.hra.nhs.uk/planningand-improving-research/application-summaries/researchsummaries/stream-feasibility-study/), impact of homelessness

summaries/stream-feasibility-study/), impact of homelessness on diet (100) and evaluating the eating behaviours in pre-diabetic individuals (https://waru.org.uk/cms/waru_news/targeting-prediabetes-through-primary-care/).

Targeted profiling of urine using high resolution hybrid quadrupole/ion trap technology, coupled with RP C₁₈ UHPLC, can capture information about the relative concentrations of a substantial number of metabolites in a sample when combined with urine concentration by solid phase extraction methodology [e.g., (101)]. However, sample processing can add significant time and cost to any analytical process and in our experience differential metabolite recovery from ion exchange cartridges can add a significant degree of uncertainty and variance in metabolite measurement. In the present study, we have described a fully quantitative approach using QQQ-MS/MS to measure biomarker abundance. This methodology uses complex mixtures of chemicals standards for quantitation and utilises two HPLC columns solutions to provide optimal resolution of a structurally diverse range of chemicals using short chromatography runs.

As outlined in **Table 1** the utility of any biomarker panel will depend on the study objectives. The biomarker panel described in the present study was optimised specifically to investigate eating behaviour in free-living populations and was targeted towards frequently consumed foods of high public health importance in the UK (2). One limitation of the present study is that only relatively small populations have been used in these initial validation studies and in future BFI technology will need to be tested rigorously in multiple larger populations. We have shown that the biomarker panel can be extended incrementally as new biomarker leads are evaluated and current evidence suggests that it should be straightforward to adapt our strategy to develop biomarker panels that provide comprehensive coverage of foods consumed frequently in other populations. Combined with existing bespoke software for data extraction, it is expected that the development of high throughput, automated biomarker measurement procedures to assess dietary intake is within scope in the near future. In addition, the routine generation of quantitative BFI data will offer further opportunities to develop novel "healthy eating indices" to summarise and "score" eating habits for use in personalised nutrition applications (26, 45). In conclusion, we believe that the integration of information from BFI technology and dietary self-reporting tools, combined with a deeper understanding of nutritional metabolic biotypes in populations, will help to provide more robust understanding of the complex interactions between dietary behaviour and human health.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Study 1 involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the National Commission for Data Protection, the Ethical Committee of the Institute of Public Health of the University of Porto and from the Ethical Commissions of each one of the Regional Administrations of Health. All participants gave written informed consent, and the study was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Study 2 was reviewed and approved by East Midlands—Nottingham 1 National Research Ethics Committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MB developed quantification methods, supervised MS support staff, and wrote the manuscript. TW developed quantification methods and wrote the manuscript. AL researched literature and wrote the manuscript. NW undertook volunteer recruitment in Newcastle, coordinated volunteer CRF visits, and supervised CRF support staff. DT and AG undertook volunteer recruitment in Portugal and coordinated volunteer visits and supervised support staff. LL and HP provided QQQ technical support and data generation. JM coordinated project and supervised research in Newcastle University. JD coordinated project, supervised research in Aberystwyth, designed Figures, and wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the Medical Research Council (MRC), grant number MR/J010308/1.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the participants in Newcastle and Portugal for their commitment in the food intervention and dietary survey studies, respectively. The researchers acknowledge all

REFERENCES

- Lloyd AJ, Willis ND, Wilson T, Zubair H, Xie L, Chambers E, et al. Developing a food exposure and urine sampling strategy for dietary exposure biomarker validation in free-living individuals. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2019) 63:1900062. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201900062
- Willis ND, Lloyd AJ, Xie L, Stiegler M, Tailliart K, Garcia-Perez I, et al. Design and characterization of a randomized food intervention that mimics exposure to a typical UK diet to provide urine samples for identification and validation of metabolite biomarkers of food intake. *Front Nutr.* (2020) 7:51010. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.561010
- Penn L, Boeing H, Boushey CJ, Dragsted LO, Kaput J, Scalbert A, et al. Assessment of dietary intake: NuGO symposium report. *Genes Nutr.* (2010) 5:205–13. doi: 10.1007/s12263-010-0175-9
- Bingham SA, Gill C, Welch A, Day K, Cassidy A, Khaw KT, et al. Comparison of dietary assessment methods in nutritional epidemiology: weighed records v. 24 h recalls, food-frequency questionnaires and estimated-diet records. *Br J Nutr.* (1994) 72:619–43. doi: 10.1079/BJN19940064
- Lennox A, Bluck L, Page P, Pell D, Cole D, Ziauddeen N, et al. Appendix X Misreporting in the National Diet and Nutrition Survey Rolling Programme (NDNS RP): Summary of Results and Their Interpretation. National Diet and Nutrition Survey. Results from Years 1-4 (combined) of the Rolling Programme (2008/2009–2011/12) (2014).
- Poslusna K, Ruprich J, de Vries JH, Jakubikova, M, van't Veer P. Misreporting of energy and micronutrient intake estimated by food records and 24 hour recalls, control and adjustment methods in practice. *Br J Nutr.* (2009) 101:S73–85. doi: 10.1017/S0007114509990602
- Jessri M, Lou YW, L'Abbe MR. Evaluation of different methods to handle misreporting in obesity research: evidence from the Canadian national nutrition survey. Br J Nutr. (2016) 115:147–59. doi: 10.1017/S0007114515004237
- Münger LH, Garcia-Aloy M, Vázquez-Fresno R, Gille D, Rosana ARR, Passerini A, et al. Biomarker of food intake for assessing the consumption of dairy and egg products. *Genes Nutr.* (2018) 13:26. doi: 10.1186/s12263-018-0615-5
- 9. Praticò G, Gao Q, Manach C, Dragsted LO. Biomarkers of food intake for Allium vegetables. *Genes Nutr.* (2018) 13:34. doi: 10.1186/s12263-018-0624-4
- Rothwell JA, Madrid-Gambin F, Garcia-Aloy M, Andres-Lacueva C, Logue C, Gallagher AM, et al. Biomarkers of intake for coffee, tea, and sweetened beverages. *Genes Nutr.* (2018) 13:15. doi: 10.1186/s12263-018-0607-5

the institutions and persons that integrated the activity of the IAN-AF (2015-2016) Consortium at all phases of the Survey.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2020. 602515/full#supplementary-material

Supporting Data 1 | Putative urinary dietary exposure biomarkers from a literature search between the years of 2010–2020.

Supporting Data 2 Foods consumed frequently by the UK population reported to have urine biomarkers and foods used in the MAIN study menu design.

Supporting Data 3 | Selection of biomarkers for panel development.

Supporting Data 4 | Technical detail of Triple Quadrupole targeted quantification of dietary intake biomarkers including: ionisation mode; chromatography column; retention time selected reaction monitoring (SRM) parameters of collision energy and product ion mass; quantification ion product; limitation of measurement, and concentrations in FMV urine.

Supporting Data 5 | Quantile-Quantile (QQ) plots of biomarker concentrations (n = 52), where **(A)** First Morning Void (FMV); **(B)** 24 h urine collection.

Supporting Data 6 | Urine collection kit characteristics and supplier.

- Sri Harsha PSC, Wahab RA, Garcia-Aloy M, Madrid-Gambin F, Estruel-Amades S, Watzl B, et al. Biomarkers of legume intake in human intervention and observational studies: a systematic review. *Genes Nutr.* (2018) 13:25. doi: 10.1186/s12263-018-0616-4
- Ulaszewska M, Vázquez-Manjarrez N, Garcia-Aloy M, Llorach R, Mattivi F, Dragsted LO, et al. Food intake biomarkers for apple, pear, and stone fruit. *Genes Nutr.* (2018) 13:29. doi: 10.1186/s12263-018-0620-8
- Cuparencu C, Praticó G, Hemeryck LY, Sri Harsha PSC, Noerman S, Rombouts C, et al. Biomarkers of meat and seafood intake: an extensive literature review. *Genes Nutr.* (2019) 14:35. doi: 10.1186/s12263-019-0656-4
- Garcia-Aloy M, Hulshof PJM, Estruel-Amades S, Osté MCJ, Lankinen M, Geleijnse JM, et al. Biomarkers of food intake for nuts and vegetable oils: an extensive literature search. *Genes Nutr.* (2019) 14:7. doi: 10.1186/s12263-019-0628-8
- Landberg R, Hanhineva K, Tuohy K, Garcia-Aloy M, Biskup I, Llorach R, et al. Biomarkers of cereal food intake. *Genes Nutr.* (2019) 14:28. doi: 10.1186/s12263-019-0651-9
- Maruvada P, Lampe JW, Wishart DS, Barupal D, Chester DN, Dodd D, et al. Perspective: dietary biomarkers of intake and exposureexploration with omics approaches. *Adv Nutr.* (2019) 11:200–15. doi: 10.1093/advances/nmz075
- Zhou X, Gao Q, Praticò G, Chen J, Dragsted LO. Biomarkers of tuber intake. Genes Nutr. (2019) 14:9. doi: 10.1186/s12263-019-0631-0
- Ulaszewska M, Garcia-Aloy M, Vázquez-Manjarrez N, Soria-Florido MT, Llorach R, Mattivi F, et al. Food intake biomarkers for berries and grapes. *Genes Nutr.* (2020) 15:17. doi: 10.1186/s12263-020-00675-z
- Brouwer-Brolsma EM, Brennan L, Drevon CA, van Kranen H, Manach C, Dragsted LO, et al. Combining traditional dietary assessment methods with novel metabolomics techniques: present efforts by the Food Biomarker Alliance. *Proc Nutr Soc.* (2017) 76:619–27. doi: 10.1017/S0029665117003949
- Lloyd AJ, Beckmann M, Haldar S, Seal C, Brandt K, Draper J. Data-driven strategy for the discovery of potential urinary biomarkers of habitual dietary exposure. Am J Clin Nutr. (2013) 97:377–89. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.048033
- Department of Health. National Diet and Nutrition Survey: Headline Results from Years 1, 2 and 3 (Combined) of the Rolling Programme 2008/09 -2010/11. (2012) (Retrieved June, 2017).
- Lloyd AJ, Willis ND, Wilson T, Zubair H, Chambers E, Garcia-Perez I, et al. Addressing the pitfalls when designing intervention studies to discover and validate biomarkers of habitual dietary intake. *Metabolomics*. (2019) 15:72. doi: 10.1007/s11306-019-1532-3

- Favé G, Beckmann ME, Draper JH, Mathers JC. Measurement of dietary exposure: a challenging problem which may be overcome thanks to metabolomics? *Genes Nutr.* (2009) 4:135–41. doi: 10.1007/s12263-009-0120-y
- Yeum KJ, Orioli M, Regazzoni L, Carini M, Rasmussen H, Russell RM, et al. Profiling histidine dipeptides in plasma and urine after ingesting beef, chicken or chicken broth in humans. *Amino Acids*. (2010) 38:847–58. doi: 10.1007/s00726-009-0291-2
- Cross AJ, Major MJ, Sinha R. Urinary biomarkers of meat consumption. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev.* (2011) 20:1107–11. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-11-0048
- Playdon MC, Moore SC, Derkach A, Reedy J, Subar AF, Sampson JN, et al. Identifying biomarkers of dietary patterns by using metabolomics. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2016) 105:450–65. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.144501
- Cheung W, Keski-Rahkonen P, Assi N, Ferrari P, Freisling H, Rinaldi S, et al. A metabolomic study of biomarkers of meat and fish intake. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 105:600–8. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.146639
- Cuparencu C, Rinnan Å, Dragsted LO. Combined markers to assess meat intake-human metabolomic studies of discovery and validation. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2019) 63:1900106. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201900106
- Heinzmann SS, Brown IJ, Chan Q, Bictash M, Dumas M-E, Kochhar S, et al. Metabolic profiling strategy for discovery of nutritional biomarkers: proline betaine as a marker of citrus consumption. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2010) 92:436–43. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2010.29672
- Lloyd AJ, Beckmann M, Fave G, Mathers CJ, Draper J. Proline betaine and its biotransformation products in fasting urine samples are potential biomarkers of habitual citrus fruit consumption. *Br J Nutr.* (2011) 106:812– 24. doi: 10.1017/S0007114511001164
- Edmands WMB, Beckonert OP, Stella C, Campbell A, Lake BG, Lindon JC, et al. Identification of human urinary biomarkers of cruciferous vegetable consumption by metabonomic profiling. *J Proteome Res.* (2011) 10:4513–21. doi: 10.1021/pr200326k
- 32. Lloyd AJ, Fave G, Beckmann M, Lin W, Tailliart K, Xie L, et al. Use of mass spectrometry fingerprinting to identify urinary metabolites after consumption of specific foods. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2011) 94:981–91. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.111.017921
- 33. González-Barrio R, Borges G, Mullen, W, Crozier A. Bioavailability of anthocyanins and ellagitannins following consumption of raspberries by healthy humans and subjects with an ileostomy. J Agric Food Chem. (2010) 58:3933–39. doi: 10.1021/jf100315d
- 34. Cuparencu CS, Andersen M-BS, Gürdeniz G, Schou SS, Mortensen MW, Raben A, et al. Identification of urinary biomarkers after consumption of sea buckthorn and strawberry, by untargeted LC-MS metabolomics: a meal study in adult men. *Metabolomics*. (2016) 12:31. doi: 10.1007/s11306-015-0934-0
- Beckmann M, Lloyd AJ, Haldar S, Seal C, Brandt K, Draper J. Hydroxylated phenylacetamides derived from bioactive benzoxazinoids are bioavailable in humans after habitual consumption of whole grain sourdough rye bread. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2013) 57:1859–73. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201200777
- Bondia-Pons I, Barri T, Hanhineva K, Juntunen K, Dragsted LO, Mykkänen H, et al. UPLC-QTOF/MS metabolic profiling unveils urinary changes in humans after a whole grain rye versus refined wheat bread intervention. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2013) 57:412–22. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201200571
- 37. Garcia-Aloy M, Llorach R, Urpi-Sarda M, Tulipani S, Salas-Salvadó J, Martínez-González MA, et al. Nutrimetabolomics fingerprinting to identify biomarkers of bread exposure in a free-living population from the PREDIMED study cohort. *Metabolomics*. (2015) 11:155–65. doi: 10.1007/s11306-014-0682-6
- Andersen M-BS, Rinnan Å, Manach C, Poulsen SK, Pujos-Guillot E, Larsen TM, et al. Untargeted metabolomics as a screening tool for estimating compliance to a dietary pattern. J Proteome Res. (2014) 13:1405–18. doi: 10.1021/pr400964s
- 39. Beckmann M, Joosen AM, Clarke MM, Mugridge O, Frost G, Engel B, et al. Changes in the human plasma and urinary metabolome associated with acute dietary exposure to sucrose and the identification of potential biomarkers of sucrose intake. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2016) 60:444–57. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201500495

- Logue C, Dowey LRC, Strain JJ, Verhagen H, McClean S, Gallagher AM. Application of liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry to determine urinary concentrations of five commonly used low-calorie sweeteners: a novel biomarker approach for assessing recent intakes? J Agric Food Chem. (2017) 65:4516–25. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.7b00404
- Posma JM, Garcia-Perez I, Heaton JC, Burdisso P, Mathers JC, Draper J, et al. Integrated analytical and statistical two-dimensional spectroscopy strategy for metabolite identification: application to dietary biomarkers. *Anal Chem.* (2017) 89:3300–9. doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.6b03324
- 42. Garcia-Aloy M, Ulaszewska M, Franceschi P, Estruel-Amades S, Weinert CH, Tor-Roca A, et al. Discovery of intake biomarkers of lentils, chickpeas, and white beans by untargeted LC-MS metabolomics in serum and urine. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2020) 64:e1901137. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201901137
- Stalmach A, Edwards CA, Wightman, DJ, Crozier A. Identification of (poly)phenolic compounds in concord grape juice and their metabolites in human plasma and urine after juice consumption. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2011) 59:9512–22. doi: 10.1021/jf2015039
- 44. Khymenets O, Andres-Lacueva C, Urpi-Sarda M, Vazquez-Fresno R, Mart MM, Reglero G, et al. Metabolic fingerprint after acute and under sustained consumption of a functional beverage based on grape skin extract in healthy human subjects. *Food Funct.* (2015) 6:1288–98. doi: 10.1039/C4FO00684D
- 45. Garcia-Perez I, Posma JM, Gibson R, Chambers ES, Hansen TH, Vestergaard H, et al. Objective assessment of dietary patterns by use of metabolic phenotyping: a randomised, controlled, crossover trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2017) 5:184–95. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(16)30419-3
- Edmands WM, Ferrari P, Rothwell JA, Rinaldi S, Slimani N, Barupal DK, et al. Polyphenol metabolome in human urine and its association with intake of polyphenol-rich foods across European countries. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2015) 102:905–13. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.101881
- Ulaszewska MM, Koutsos A, Trošt K, Stanstrup J, Garcia-Aloy M, Scholz M, et al. Two apples a day modulate human:microbiome co-metabolic processing of polyphenols, tyrosine and tryptophan. *Eur J Nutr.* (2020). doi: 10.1007/s00394-020-02201-8. [Epub ahead of print].
- Beckmann M, Lloyd AJ, Wilson T, Torres D, Goios A, Willis N. Calystegines are potential urine biomarkers for dietary exposure to potato products. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2020) 64:2000515. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.202000515
- Dragsted LO, Gao Q, Scalbert A, Vergères G, Kolehmainen M, Manach C, et al. Validation of biomarkers of food intake-critical assessment of candidate biomarkers. *Genes Nutr.* (2018) 13:14. doi: 10.1186/s12263-018-0603-9
- Kristensen M, Engelsen SB, Dragsted LO. LC-MS metabolomics top-down approach reveals new exposure and effect biomarkers of apple and apple-pectin intake. *Metabolomics*. (2012) 8:64–73. doi: 10.1007/s11306-011-0282-7
- 51. Praticò G, Gao Q, Scalbert A, Vergères G, Kolehmainen M, Manach C, et al. Guidelines for Biomarker of Food Intake Reviews (BFIRev): how to conduct an extensive literature search for biomarker of food intake discovery. *Genes Nutr.* (2018) 13:3. doi: 10.1186/s12263-018-0592-8
- 52. Garcia-Aloy M, Rabassa M, Casas-Agustench P, Hidalgo-Liberona N, Llorach R, Andres-Lacueva C. Novel strategies for improving dietary exposure assessment: multiple-data fusion is a more accurate measure than the traditional single-biomarker approach. *Trends Food Sci Technol.* (2017) 69:220–9. doi: 10.1016/j.tifs.2017.04.013
- Beckmann M, Wilson T, Zubair H, Lloyd AJ, Lyons L, Phillips H, et al. A standardized strategy for simultaneous quantification of urine metabolites to validate development of a biomarker panel allowing comprehensive assessment of dietary exposure. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2020) 64:2000517. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.202000517
- Quifer-Rada P, Martínez-Huélamo M, Chiva-Blanch G, Jáuregui O, Estruch R, Lamuela-Raventós RM. Urinary isoxanthohumol is a specific and accurate biomarker of beer consumption. J Nutr. (2014) 144:484–8. doi: 10.3945/jn.113.185199
- Vetrani C, Rivellese AA, Annuzzi G, Mattila I, Meudec E, Hyötyläinen T, et al. Phenolic metabolites as compliance biomarker for polyphenol intake in a randomized controlled human intervention. *Food Res. Int.* (2014) 63:233–8. doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2014.01.018
- 56. Lang R, Lang T, Bader M, Beusch A, Schlagbauer V, Hofmann T. Highthroughput quantitation of proline betaine in foods and suitability as a valid

biomarker for citrus consumption. J Agric Food Chem. (2017) 65:1613–9. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.6b05824

- O'Donovan CB, Walsh MC, Woolhead C, Forster H, Celis-Morales C, Fallaize R, et al. Metabotyping for the development of tailored dietary advice solutions in a European population: the Food4Me study. *Br J Nutr.* (2017) 118:561–9. doi: 10.1017/S0007114517002069
- Estruch R, Martínez-González MA, Corella D, Salas-Salvadó J, Ruiz-Gutiérrez V, Covas MI, et al. Effects of a Mediterranean-style diet on cardiovascular risk factors: a randomized trial. *Ann Intern Med.* (2006) 145:1–11. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-145-1-200607040-00004
- Zamora-Ros R, Rothwell JA, Achaintre D, Ferrari P, Boutron-Ruault M-C, Mancini FR, et al. Evaluation of urinary resveratrol as a biomarker of dietary resveratrol intake in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study. *Br J Nutr.* (2017) 117:1596–1602. doi: 10.1017/S0007114517001465
- Lopes C, Torres D, Oliveira A, Severo M, Guiomar S, Alarcão V, et al. National food, nutrition, and physical activity survey of the portuguese general population (2015-2016): protocol for design and development. *JMIR Res Protoc.* (2018) 7:e42. doi: 10.2196/resprot.8990
- Riboli E, Hunt KJ, Slimani N, Ferrari P, Norat T, Fahey M, et al. European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition (EPIC): study populations and data collection. *Public Health Nutr.* (2002) 5:1113–24. doi: 10.1079/PHN2002394
- 62. Wilson T, Garcia-Perez I, Posma JM, Lloyd AJ, Chambers ES, Tailliart K, et al. Spot and cumulative urine samples are suitable replacements for 24h urine collections for objective measures of dietary exposure in adults using metabolite biomarkers. J Nutr. (2019) 149:1692–700. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxz138
- Hong YH, Dublin N, Razack AH, Mohd AM, Husain R. Twenty-four hour and spot urine metabolic evaluations: correlations versus agreements. Urology. (2010) 75:1294–8. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2009.08.061
- 64. Bradman A, Kogut K, Eisen EA, Jewell NP, Quirós-Alcalá L, Castorina R, et al. Variability of organophosphorous pesticide metabolite levels in spot and 24-hr urine samples collected from young children during 1 week. *Environ Health Perspect*. (2013) 121:118–24. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1104808
- 65. Wang Y-X, Feng W, Zeng Q, Sun Y, Wang P, You L, et al. Variability of metal levels in spot, first morning, and 24-hour urine samples over a 3month period in healthy adult Chinese men. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2016) 124:468–76. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1409551
- Edmands WMB, Ferrari P, Scalbert A. Normalization to specific gravity prior to analysis improves information recovery from high resolution mass spectrometry metabolomic profiles of human urine. *Anal Chem.* (2014) 86:10925–31. doi: 10.1021/ac503190m
- Lloyd AJ, Wilson T, Willis ND, Lyons L, Phillips H, Janssen HG, et al. Developing community-based urine sampling methods to deploy biomarker technology for the assessment of dietary exposure. *Public Health Nutr.* (2020) 1–12. doi: 10.1017/S136898002000097X. [Epub ahead of print].
- Goios ACL, Severo M, Lloyd AJ, Magalhães VPL, Lopes C, Torres DPM. Validation of a new software eAT24 used to assess dietary intake in the adult Portuguese population. *Public Health Nutr.* (2020) 1–11. doi: 10.1017/S1368980020001044. [Epub ahead of print].
- Lopes C, Torres D, Oliveira A, Severo M, Guiomar S, Alarcão V, et al. National food, nutrition and physical activity survey of the portuguese general population. *EFSA Support Publ.* (2017) 14:37. doi: 10.2903/sp.efsa.2017.EN-1341
- Favé G, Beckmann M, Lloyd AJ, Zhou S, Harold G, Lin W, et al. Development and validation of a standardized protocol to monitor human dietary exposure by metabolite fingerprinting of urine samples. *Metabolomics*. (2011) 7:469–84. doi: 10.1007/s11306-011-0289-0
- Djoumbou Feunang Y, Eisner R, Knox C, Chepelev L, Hastings J, Owen G, et al. ClassyFire: automated chemical classification with a comprehensive, computable taxonomy. J Cheminform. (2016) 8:61. doi: 10.1186/s13321-016-0174-y
- Martens L, Chambers M, Sturm M, Kessner D, Levander F, Shofstahl J, et al. mzML-a community standard for mass spectrometry data. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2011) 10:R110.000133. doi: 10.1074/mcp.R110.000133
- Chambers MC, Maclean B, Burke R, Amodei D, Ruderman DL, Neumann S, et al. A Cross-platform Toolkit for Mass Spectrometry and Proteomics. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2012) 30:918–20. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2377

- 74. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2013).
- Liaw A, Wiener M. Classification and Regression by randomForest. *R News*. (2002) 2:18–22.
- Enot DP, Lin W, Beckmann M, Parker D, Overy PD, Draper J. Preprocessing, classification modeling and feature selection using flow injection electrospray mass spectrometry metabolite fingerprint data. *Nat Protoc.* (2008) 3:446–70. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2007.511
- 77. Public Health England. *The Eatwell Guide*. (2016). Available online at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-eatwell-guide (Retrieved November, 2017).
- Dahl H, Stephanson N, Beck O, Helander A. Comparison of urinary excretion characteristics of ethanol and ethyl glucuronide. J Anal Toxicol. (2002) 26:201–4. doi: 10.1093/jat/26.4.201
- Ito H, Gonthier M-P, Manach C, Morand C, Mennen L, Rémésy C, et al. Polyphenol levels in human urine after intake of six different polyphenol-rich beverages. Br J Nutr. (2007) 94:500–9. doi: 10.1079/BJN20051522
- Stalmach A, Mullen W, Barron D, Uchida K, Yokota T, Cavin C, et al. Metabolite profiling of hydroxycinnamate derivatives in plasma and urine after the ingestion of coffee by humans: identification of biomarkers of coffee consumption. *Drug Metab Disposit.* (2009)37:1749–58. doi: 10.1124/dmd.109.028019
- Martínez-López S, Sarriá B, Gómez-Juaristi M, Goya L, Mateos R, Bravo-Clemente L. Theobromine, caffeine, and theophylline metabolites in human plasma and urine after consumption of soluble cocoa products with different methylxanthine contents. *Food Res. Int.* (2014) 63:446–55. doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2014.03.009
- Rechner AR, Kuhnle G, Hu H, Roedig-Penman A, van den Braak MH, Moore KP, et al. The metabolism of dietary polyphenols and the relevance to circulating levels of conjugated metabolites. *Free Rad Res.* (2002) 36:1229–41. doi: 10.1080/246-1071576021000016472
- Krupp D, Doberstein N, Shi L, Remer T. Hippuric acid in 24-hour urine collections is a potential biomarker for fruit and vegetable consumption in healthy children and adolescents. J Nutr. (2012) 142: 1314–20. doi: 10.3945/jn.112.159319
- 84. Vázquez-Manjarrez N, Weinert CH, Ulaszewska MM, Mack CI, Micheau P, Pétéra M, et al. Discovery and validation of banana intake biomarkers using untargeted metabolomics in human intervention and cross-sectional studies. *J Nutr.* (2019) 149:1701–13. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxz125
- Erlund I, Meririnne E, Alfthan G, Aro A. Plasma kinetics and urinary excretion of the flavanones naringenin and hesperetin in humans after ingestion of orange juice and grapefruit juice. J Nutr. (2001) 131:235–41. doi: 10.1093/jn/131.2.235
- Boto-Ordóñez M, Urpi-Sarda M, Queipo-Ortuño MI, Corella D, Tinahones FJ, Estruch R, et al. Microbial metabolomic fingerprinting in urine after regular dealcoholized red wine consumption in humans. J Agric Food Chem. (2013) 61:9166–75. doi: 10.1021/jf402394c
- Garcia-Perez I, Posma JM, Chambers ES, Nicholson JK, Mathers JC, Beckmann M, et al. An analytical pipeline for quantitative characterization of dietary intake: application to assess grape intake. J Agric Food Chem. (2016) 64:2423–31. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.5b05878
- Mullen W, Edwards CA, Crozier A. Absorption, excretion and metabolite profiling of methyl-, glucuronyl-, glucosyl- and sulpho-conjugates of quercetin in human plasma and urine after ingestion of onions. *Br J Nutr.* (2007) 96:107–16. doi: 10.1079/BJN20061809
- Hauder J, Winkler S, Bub A, Rüfer CE, Pignitter M, Somoza V, et al. LC-MS/MS quantification of sulforaphane and indole-3-carbinol metabolites in human plasma and urine after dietary intake of selenium-fortified broccoli. J Agric Food Chem. (2011) 59:8047–57. doi: 10.1021/jf201501x
- Zhu Y, Shurlknight KL, Chen X, Sang S. Identification and pharmacokinetics of novel alkylresorcinol metabolites in human urine, new candidate biomarkers for whole-grain wheat and rye intake. *J Nutr.* (2014) 144:114–22. doi: 10.3945/jn.113.184663
- Zhu Y, Wang P, Sha W, Sang S. Urinary biomarkers of whole grain wheat intake identified by non-targeted and targeted metabolomics approaches. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:36278. doi: 10.1038/srep36278
- 92. Altorf-van der Kuil W, Brink EJ, Boetje M, Siebelink E, Bijlsma S, Engberink MF, et al. Identification of biomarkers for intake of protein from meat, dairy

products and grains: a controlled dietary intervention study. *Br J Nutr.* (2013) 110:810–22. doi: 10.1017/S0007114512005788

- Heinzmann SS, Merrifield CA, Rezzi S, Kochhar S, Lindon JC, Holmes E, et al. Stability and robustness of human metabolic phenotypes in response to sequential food challenges. *J Proteome Res.* (2012) 11:643–55. doi: 10.1021/pr2005764
- King RA, Bursill DB. Plasma and urinary kinetics of the isoflavones daidzein and genistein after a single soy meal in humans. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1998) 67:867–72. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/67.5.867
- 95. Gonthier M-P, Rios LY, Verny M-A, Rémésy C, Scalbert A. Novel liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization mass spectrometry method for the quantification in human urine of microbial aromatic acid metabolites derived from dietary polyphenols. *J Chromatogr B.* (2003) 789:247–55. doi: 10.1016/S1570-0232(03)00073-4
- Agulló V, Villaño D, García-Viguera C, Domínguez-Perles R. Anthocyanin metabolites in human urine after the intake of new functional beverages. *Molecules.* (2020) 25:371. doi: 10.3390/molecules25020371
- Nurmi T, Mursu J, Heinonen M, Nurmi A, Hiltunen R, Voutilainen S. Metabolism of berry anthocyanins to phenolic acids in humans. J Agric Food Chem. (2009) 57:2274–81. doi: 10.1021/jf8035116
- Urbain, P, Bertz H. Monitoring for compliance with a ketogenic diet: what is the best time of day to test for urinary ketosis? *Nutr Metab.* (2016) 13:77. doi: 10.1186/s12986-016-0136-4

- Garcia-Perez I, Posma JM, Chambers ES, Mathers JC, Draper J, Beckmann M, et al. Dietary metabotype modelling predicts individual responses to dietary interventions. *Nature Food.* (2020) 1:355–64. doi: 10.1038/s43016-020-0092-z
- 100. Fallaize R, Seale JV, Mortin C, Armstrong L, Lovegrove JA. Dietary intake, nutritional status and mental wellbeing of homeless adults in Reading, UK. *Br J Nutr.* (2017) 118:707–14. doi: 10.1017/S0007114517002495
- 101. González-Domínguez R, Urpi-Sarda M, Jáuregui O, Needs PW, Kroon AP, Andrés-Lacueva C. Quantitative dietary fingerprinting (QDF)-a novel tool for comprehensive dietary assessment based on urinary nutrimetabolomics. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2020) 68:1851–61. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.8b07023

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Beckmann, Wilson, Lloyd, Torres, Goios, Willis, Lyons, Phillips, Mathers and Draper. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Characterizing Measurement Error in Dietary Sodium in Longitudinal Intervention Studies

Adam Pittman^{1*}, Elizabeth A. Stuart^{1,2} and Juned Siddique³

¹ Department of Biostatistics, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, United States, ² Department of Mental Health, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, United States,

³ Department of Preventive Medicine, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States

Background: Previous measurement error work that investigates the relationship between a nutritional biomarker and self-reported intake levels has typically been at a single time point, in a single treatment group, or with respect to basic patient demographics. Few studies have examined the measurement error structure in longitudinal randomized trials, and whether the error varies across time or group. This structure is crucial to understand, however, in order to correct for measurement error in self-reported outcomes and properly interpret the longitudinal effects of dietary interventions.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Megan A. McCrory, Boston University, United States

Reviewed by:

Janet Tooze, Wake Forest School of Medicine, United States Francesco Bonomi, University of Milan, Italy

> *Correspondence: Adam Pittman apittma6@alumni.jh.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 08 July 2020 Accepted: 05 November 2020 Published: 27 November 2020

Citation:

Pittman A, Stuart EA and Siddique J (2020) Characterizing Measurement Error in Dietary Sodium in Longitudinal Intervention Studies. Front. Nutr. 7:581439. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.581439 **Methods:** Using two longitudinal randomized controlled trials with internal longitudinal validation data (urinary biomarkers and self-reported values), we examine the relationship between urinary sodium and self-reported sodium and whether this relationship changes as a function of time and/or treatment condition. We do this by building a mixed effects regression model, allowing for a flexible error variance-covariance structure, and testing all possible interactions between time, treatment condition, and self-reported intake.

Results: Using a backward selection approach, we arrived at the same final model for both validation data sets. We found no evidence that measurement error changes as a function of self-reported sodium. However, we did find evidence that urinary sodium can differ by time or treatment condition even when conditioning on self-reported values.

Conclusion: In longitudinal nutritional intervention trials it is possible that measurement error differs across time and treatment groups. It is important for researchers to consider this possibility and not just assume non-differential measurement error. Future studies should consider data collection strategies to account for the potential dynamic nature of measurement error, such as collecting internal validation data across time and treatment groups when possible.

Keywords: lifestyle intervention, measurement error, nutrition, sodium intake, biomarkers, self-reporting habits

INTRODUCTION

Dietary interventions seek to change dietary behaviors – either to affect some clinical outcome or to change the behavior itself. These studies might use only one time point after baseline to assess participant outcomes, or they may be longitudinal, in which participant outcomes are measured several times over the course of months or years after initial group assignment.

86

Dietary intervention studies usually require investigators to collect nutrient intake data— such as sodium consumption in study participants—to estimate the effect of the intervention on diet. Yet properly measuring dietary intake, especially over time, with high accuracy can be difficult. Direct nutrient intake is rarely observed, and in dietary studies, researchers frequently resort to two methods to measure nutrient intake: self-report or biomarkers (1).

Self-reported measures generally rely on participants reporting their dietary intake over some period of time, such as the past 24 h or 7 days. This often takes the form of a food frequency questionnaire (FFQ), where participants fill out a survey about their eating habits or a 24-h dietary recall, where participants report everything consumed over the previous day. That is then used to extract information about the nutrients in the food reported as having been consumed. Biomarkers are biologic components from participants, such as blood, urine, or hair, which contain information about a person's nutrient levels. Biomarkers are useful because they objectively measure intake and some provide unbiased estimates of intake. Therefore, biomarkers may be closer to the "truth" than self-reported methods (but still subject to measurement error), and hence provide a better estimate of a person's nutrient intake (2, 3).

Unfortunately, biomarkers are often expensive, invasive, and/or difficult to implement in a study (4). They place potentially greater burden on study participants than self-report measures; this burden may discourage participants from taking part in a longitudinal study. Thus, there are concerns that biomarkers can contribute to poor study adherence and missing data problems (i.e., that participants will drop out of the study because of the hassle or invasiveness of the biomarker collection) (5). For these reasons, in many studies, it is often infeasible to capture biomarker data over time. Self-reported methods are more frequently implemented than biomarker measurements since they are likely easier, cheaper, and more convenient for the participant (4).

Both of these methods (biomarkers and self-report) act as "proxy" measurements of true intake, because they can be representative, but are potentially imprecise versions of the truth. They are potentially subject to two main types of error: systematic and random. Systematic error, or bias, means that a measure consistently departs from the truth in the same direction (i.e., always higher or lower), and can be hard to detect and analyze statistically (6). Systematic errors can decrease the accuracy of measurements and create potentially erroneous conclusions about the relationship between food intake or nutrients and nutrition-related diseases (7). Random error can create variability in the measurements, which may reduce precision, resulting in a loss of statistical power. However, random errors can be more easily corrected with statistical methodology (8). These errors together help create measurement error, the difference between "true" and "observed" intake.

If researchers are concerned with measurement error, they may have a slight preference for biomarker collection methods because the objective nature of biomarkers leads to less systematic error, but they are still subject to potential random errors such as daily variation in diet (3, 8–10). Self-reported measures can be more susceptible to systematic measurement errors due to the many complexities of properly reporting food intake (8, 11, 12). Even with the best due diligence, factors such as social desirability or recall problems influence final results. Examples include constant over or under-reporting (systematic error) or daily fluctuations in food consumption (random error).

Given these measurement challenges in nutrition (and many other fields), researchers have developed statistical methods such as *regression calibration* (13) and *Simulation Extrapolation* (SIMEX) (14) to deal with measurement error in settings where the variable measured with error is a covariate in an outcome model. To implement these methods, it is necessary to have information on the relationship between the variable measured with error and its true value.

The existing measurement error literature in dietary studies, and their respective correction methods, typically examine measurement error at one specific time point and/or in a single observational cohort. However, these measurement error patterns may not remain constant in longitudinal lifestyle interventions.

In addition, in randomized controlled trials (RCTs), where individuals are randomly assigned to treatment conditions and the intervention and comparison groups have different experiences, self-reporting behaviors could change over time and/or by treatment assignment. Those in the treatment group may become more cognizant of nutrition intake through intervention exposure, leading to increased reporting accuracy. Participants may also modify their self-reported values (even if not necessarily their true intake) to appear compliant with intervention recommendations, which decreases their accuracy (12).

Self-reported precision could also wane over time as participants experience fatigue with repeated reporting (15). This fatigue could lead them to be more carefree and less rigorous, introducing uncertainty into measurements. Conversely, as people repeatedly monitor sodium intake over time, they may become more accurate with increased repetitions. Thus, the structure of the measurement error could be *differential*, meaning the amount of error may differ across treatment groups and could change over time differently for each treatment group. However, to this point there has been little empirical investigation of these patterns.

As a case study, we examined sodium intake in two longitudinal intervention trials, Trials of Hypertension Prevention (TOHP) (16) and PREMIER: Lifestyle Interventions for Blood Pressure Control (17). These data sets are particularly useful for examining measurement error over time because they, unlike most dietary intervention trials, contain both self-reported sodium intake via 24-h recall and a sodium biomarker—24-h urine—for each participant at every time point. With this information, we compare the participants' self-reported values with their directly measured urinary sodium to characterize the measurement error, and assess whether the error varies across treatment group and time. Our analyses could be helpful to learn about potential measurement error in other settings, and to help researchers understand when it is important to consider differential measurement error by time or treatment condition.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Trials of Hypertension Prevention

TOHP was a U.S. based, multicenter, randomized trial of 2,182 participants testing the efficacy of a lifestyle intervention aimed at lowering diastolic blood pressure (DBP) from the high normal range (80–89 mmHg) (16) to a lower range. Participants were assigned to one of four treatment groups: sodium reduction, weight reduction, stress management, or control. The sodium reduction group received counseling on how to reduce sodium consumption in everyday life. The weight reduction group received guidance on weight-loss techniques. The stress management group were provided coping mechanisms to handle stressful situations. The weight loss and stress management groups did not receive any counseling specifically on sodium intake. The control group did not receive any particular intervention or information; in this sense it was similar to a "usual care" condition.

Participants were considered eligible if they were healthy men and women, aged 30 through 54 years, who had high normal DBP and were not taking antihypertensive drugs for the prior 2 months (16). All participants were screened three times prior to enrollment to check eligibility requirements and then randomized to one of the four treatment groups. On the third screening, a 24-h dietary recall was conducted, and participants provided a 24-h urine sample; this served as their "baseline" measurement. All participants were contacted againat an unannounced point in time- ~ 6 and 18 months after enrollment to again provide 24-h dietary recall and 24-h urine biomarker for sodium consumption at each respective time point (Table 1). The 24-h recall data on individual foods was converted into nutrients using the Tufts Nutrient Data Bank based on the US Department of Agriculture Standard Reference (Release 9) in combination with extensive manufacturers' data and published nutrient data on currently consumed food products (16, 18, 19).

PREMIER: Lifestyle Interventions for Blood Pressure Control

PREMIER was also a U.S. based, multicenter randomized trial testing the effects of various lifestyle intervention on blood pressure outcomes in 810 adults with above optimal DBP (80–95 mmHg) and who were not taking antihypertensive medications (17).

Participants were randomly assigned to one of three treatment groups: Established, Established Plus Dash, or Advice Only. The Established group received guidance on improving their dietary habits (including reducing sodium consumption) and increasing physical activity. Established Plus Dash received an intervention similar to Established but also received education on the DASH diet, a diet high in fruits, vegetables and low-fat dairy products. Finally, Advice Only received general healthy behavior advice, but no specific counseling on sodium intake or physical activity.

All eligible participants attended a randomization visit, where researchers randomized them to a group and then collected baseline measurements including two 24-h dietary recalls, and a 24-h urine sample. Trial researchers contacted all participants unannounced at 6 and 18 months after enrollment, at which

TABLE 1 Study characteristics and participant demographics in TOPH and
PREMIER studies.

	TOHP [†]	PREMIER
N	751	818
Enrollment dates	1988–1990	1999-2001
Timing of sodium assessment	Baseline	Baseline
	6 months	6 months
	18 months	18 months
Assessment method	24-h recall	Two 24-h recalls
	24-h urine	24-h urine
Treatment categories (N in group)	Sodium reduction* (329) Control' (422)	Established* (271) Established plus DASH [*] (272) Advice only' (275)
Male N (%)	534 (71)	310 (38)
Mean baseline BMI (SD)	27.3 (3.6)	33.2 (5.7)
Mean baseline age (SD)	43 (6.4)	50 (8.9)

[†]Some cohorts in the original TOHP study were outside the scope of our analysis and therefore were excluded from the final models. N = 751 reflects a subset of TOHP we used for this study, and subsequent BMI and age calculations are derived from the subsetted population.

*Categorized as "treatment" for our purposes.

'Categorized as "control" for our purposes.

point individuals again provided two 24-h dietary recalls and 24-h urine samples (Table 1).

Intake of nutrients and food groups was assessed from unannounced 24-h dietary recalls conducted by telephone interviewers. Two recalls (one obtained on a weekday and the other on a weekend day) were obtained at baseline, 6-, and 18months by the Diet Assessment Center of Pennsylvania State University. The Nutrition Data System (NDS) developed and maintained by the Nutrition Coding Center of the University of Minnesota was used to generate the estimates of individual nutrient intake from the recalls (17).

We obtained the datasets for TOHP and PREMIER through an online request from the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute BioLINCC data repository after receiving IRB approval through Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health and Northwestern University.

For both datasets we consolidated the original treatment and control groups into new ones for our purposes. In TOHP, only the sodium reduction group received counseling on sodium management. Hence, we discarded the stress management and weight reduction groups and only use the original control group in the control arm. For the PREMIER study we considered both behavioral intervention groups (Established, Established plus DASH) as the "treatment" condition, and used the advice only condition as the control condition. We are interested in whether participants in the sodium reduction interventions, more (or less) accurately report their actual sodium intake compared to those in the advice only group, and whether the pattern of measurement error varies over time. The same data cleaning procedures were used for both studies prior to analysis. First, the biomarker sodium values were converted to dietary sodium values by dividing urine sodium values by 0.86, as only 86% of sodium intake appears in urine (1, 20). The dietary sodium and self-reported sodium values were both natural log-transformed to make the respective distributions approximately normal. In PREMIER, the two self-reported sodium values at each time point were averaged after log transformation. We centered log self-report (log self-report – mean log self-report at baseline) to help with the interpretability of regression coefficients.

Our model of interest is a calibration model in which a reference measure (urinary sodium) is regressed on its self-reported version (21). This relationship is used for missing data approaches (22) for handling measurement error where the variable measured without error is treated as missing data and imputation is used to fill in the unobserved data (23-26).

We began by plotting the data in order to visualize the relationship between urinary sodium and self-reported sodium and help inform our modeling efforts. We used scatterplots of urinary sodium against self-reported sodium, grouped by time, with an overlapping linear predicted regression line for each condition at each time point.

Mixed effects linear regression was used (27) to estimate the relationship between log measured urinary sodium and log self-reported sodium over time, and by treatment group, while taking into account the correlation of measures within a participant over time. To estimate these models, we used the lme4 and lmerTest packages in R version 3.5.1 (28–30).

For each trial, we started with an initial model that included main effects for follow-up time (indicators for 6- and 18-months), subjects' self-reported intake, as well as two-way interactions between self-reported intake and time, time and treatment assignment, and a three-way interaction between self-reported intake, time, and treatment. We allow each individual to have a random intercept, and the (log centered) self-reported values to have a random slope, and used an unstructured covariance matrix to model the random effects.

For each person *i* (i = 1,..., N), at time *j* (j = baseline, 6 months, 18 months; coded categorically), in our defined treatment group (TX; 0 = control, 1 = treatment) their urine measured sodium intake is represented by U_{ij} and self-reported intake is represented by *self_{ij}*. Our model can be written as:

$$\begin{aligned} U_{ij} &= \beta_0 + \beta_1 * self_{ij} + \beta_2 I(time_j = 6) + \beta_3 I(time_j = 18) \\ &+ \beta_4 I(time_j = 6) * TX_i + \beta_5 I(time_j = 18) \\ &* TX_i + \beta_6 * self_{ij} I(time_j = 6) + \beta_7 * self_{ij} I(time_j = 18) \\ &+ \beta_8 * self_{ij} I(time_j = 6) * TX_i + \beta_9 * self_{ij} I(time_j = 18) \\ &* TX_i + b_{0i} + b_{1i} * self_{ij} + e_{ij} \end{aligned}$$

In Equation (1) I() is an indicator function which takes on either 0 or 1. b_{0i} is the random intercept and b_{1i} is the random slope for each person's centered self-reported values, respectively. We assume correlated random effects where $b_{0i} \sim N(0, \tau_0^2), b_{1i} \sim N$

(0, τ_1^2), and residual error terms $e_{ij} \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$, independent of the random effects

We excluded a main effect for treatment (TX) from the model because the coefficient was \sim 0. This is expected because we assume treatment and control groups have similar sodium levels at baseline, at least in expectation (because of randomization) and thus reduces an extra parameter.

Including the three-way (self-reported intake by time by treatment) interactions in this initial model allows the relationship between urinary sodium and self-reported sodium to vary over time and across the treatment and control groups. We include a time by treatment interaction to examine whether average levels of urinary sodium differ by time and treatment condition at a fixed level of self-report.

A backwards variable selection approach was used to obtain a final analysis model. First, the initial saturated model with the three-way interaction shown in Equation (1) was fit. We used a significance level of 0.2 to decide whether a variable should remain in the model. We first tested the two three-way interactions self-report*time*treatment. If at least one coefficient had a *p*-value < 0.2, we kept both interaction terms in the model (i.e., for both time points). If both coefficients had *p*-value > 0.2, we dropped them from the model and refit our second-stage model which omits the 3-way interaction.

In our second-stage model, we tested the significance of the self-report*time terms (β_6 , β_7), which measure whether the relationship between urinary sodium and self-reported sodium changes over time, assuming any change is constant across the treatment and control groups. Once again, if both coefficients had *p*-values > 0.2, we dropped them from the model and fitted our final model.

Our final model allows urinary sodium levels to change across time and treatment status. In this model we test the time*treatment interactions (β_4 , β_5). If both coefficients had *p*-values > 0.2, we dropped them from the model.

After selecting our final model we then standardized the regression coefficients. To standardize the exposure self-reported intake—we subtracted the pooled (control and treatment) mean self-reported intake at baseline from all selfreported values and then divided that result by the standard deviation of self-reported intake at baseline. The outcome urinary sodium—was similarly standardized, using the pooled mean and standard deviation of urinary sodium at baseline.

RESULTS

Both datasets include people who over and under report by time and treatment status (**Figures 1**, **2**). The 45-degree line in each graph represents "perfect" reporting, where measured urine biomarker equals self-reported sodium. Those who fall above the line under report, meaning their measured urine sodium levels were higher than self-reported intake. Conversely, those below the line over report, meaning their measured urine sodium levels were lower than their self-reported amounts. The wide scattering of points suggests a high degree of variability in reported sodium levels.



We overlapped a linear smoother on top of the scatterplot to highlight some reporting differences between the treatment and control conditions. These lines should be considered as preliminary models, as they fit the models separately by time and group, and thus do not allow formal model comparisons across time or group, but the relationships between selfreported and biomarker values appear broadly similar. In both studies at baseline, the two study conditions are approximately equal in urinary vs. dietary sodium levels, as expected from the randomization.

Regression Results

Using the stepwise procedure described above, neither the threeway interactions in model (1), nor the interactions between selfreported sodium levels and time in the second-stage model met the criteria for inclusion in either study. As such, the final model for both studies only includes the interaction between treatment and time. This final model is shown in Equation (2).

$$U_{ij} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 * self_{ij} + \beta_2 I(time_j = 6) + \beta_3 I(time_j = 18) + \beta_4 I(time_j = 6) * TX_i + \beta_5 I(time_j = 18) * TX_i + b_{0i} + b_{1i} * self_{ij} + e_{ij}$$
(2)

This model implies that average measured urinary sodium changes over time (β_2 , β_3), and at different rates in the treatment group vs. control group (β_4 , β_5) but that there is no differential change in the slope of self-reported sodium across groups over time. It is interesting to note that the final regression results in both datasets were very similar to one another.

In TOHP (**Table 2**), there was a small but significant decrease in urinary sodium between baseline and 18 months in the control group. The control group at 18 months has 0.19 SD lower urinary sodium than the control group at baseline on the log scale $(\beta_3 = -0.19)$. There was, on average, a much larger significant decrease in measured urine sodium between baseline and each follow up time for the treatment group, for a given level of selfreported sodium. At 6 months, the treatment group has 0.81 SD lower urinary sodium than control group ($\beta_4 = -0.81$), and 0.65 SD lower at 18 months on the log scale ($\beta_4 = -0.81$).

In PREMIER (**Table 2**), there was a significant decrease in average measured urine sodium at 6 months compared to baseline. Both groups at 6 months had 0.24 SD lower urinary sodium at baseline on the log scale ($\beta_2 = -0.24$). However, this difference was no longer there at 18 months. There were no significant difference between treatment and control groups at any point in PREMIER.



FIGURE 2 | Scatterplots of log urinary sodium vs. log self-reported sodium data time and treatment conditions in PREMIER. The solid orange (control) and dashed blue lines (treatment) are linear smoothers of urinary sodium as a function of self-reported sodium in each treatment condition. 45-degree line represents where urinary sodium equals self-reported sodium. Units are on the natural log scale.

TABLE 2 | Standardized regression output from the final regression model.

Parameter from model (2)	ТОНР		PREMIER	
	Estimate (95%CI)	<i>p</i> -value	Estimate (95%CI)	<i>p</i> -value
Centered self-report β_1	0.29 (0.23, 0.34)	<0.001	0.21 (0.17, 0.26)	<0.001
Month 6 control β_2	0.03 (-0.10, 0.16)	0.68	-0.24 (-0.37, -0.10)	< 0.001
Month 18 control β_3	-0.19 (-0.32, -0.06)	0.005	-0.08 (-0.21, 0.05)	0.23
Month 6 Trt. β_4	-0.81 (-1.0, -0.63)	<0.001	-0.1 (-0.26, 0.06)	0.20
Month 18 Trt. β_5	-0.65 (-0.84, -0.47)	<0.001	-0.15 (-0.30, 0.0)	0.06

β1: Change in average log urinary sodium (in SD units) due to a 1 SD unit change in log self-reported sodium at baseline for treatment and control (assumed to be same across groups at baseline because of randomization).

β₂: Among the control group members, difference in average urinary sodium (in SD units) between baseline and 6 months on the log scale.

β₃: Among the control group members, difference in average urinary sodium (in SD units) between baseline and 18 months on the log scale.

 β_4 : Difference in average urinary sodium (in SD units) between treatment and control groups at 6 months on the log scale.

 β_5 : Difference in average urinary sodium (in SD units) between treatment and control groups at 18 months on the log scale.

If the relationship between urinary sodium and self-reported sodium did not change over time and by treatment condition, we would expect β_2 , β_3 , β_4 , $\beta_5 = 0$. Instead, we find that β_2 , β_3 , β_4 , $\beta_5 < 0$, an indication that the relationship between urinary sodium and self-reported sodium does in fact change over time and by treatment status. In general, for a given level of self-report, urinary sodium is *lower* at follow-up than it is at baseline.

DISCUSSION

We expand on the current nutrition literature by focusing on the differential measurement error structure of self-reported intake which may arise when the treatment group self-reports their sodium intake with increased or decreased accuracy (31). We do this by modeling the relationship of urinary sodium as a function of self-reported sodium, time, treatment condition and

all possible interactions. This information is important when designing studies where self-reported intake is a longitudinal outcome variable, and can help inform measurement error correction methods that use missing data approaches to correct for measurement error.

The final models for TOHP and PREMIER look very similar to one another, with slightly different coefficient values. The slopes of self-reported sodium did not change as a function of time or by treatment condition. The lack of significance in the three-way self-report*time*treatment interaction and the twoway self-report*time interaction indicates a lack of significant difference in systematic error in terms of the relationship between self-reported sodium and urinary sodium between the treatment arms across all three time points. However, the intercepts do change by time and/or treatment condition indicating that measurement error is affected by time and/or treatment condition. Further, our final models were much more parsimonious than our initial, fully saturated model. This result suggests that relatively simple measurement error correction models that involve only shifts in the intercept of the calibration model are sufficient to appropriately correct for measurement error.

In PREMIER, we see a decrease in measured urine sodium conditioning on self-report—at 6 months in the control group, whereas in TOHP we see a much stronger decrease in the treatment group at 6 and 18 months. These results suggest that the relationship between biomarker and self-report can differ by treatment group and/or time, however, these differences may be study specific.

A failure to take into account differential measurement error could result in biased estimates of the treatment effect. For example, in TOHP at 6-months, for a given level of self-reported sodium, participants in the treatment condition had lower urinary sodium than did control participants. A measurement error correction model that did not take this difference into account would result in an attenuated treatment effect because this difference in reporting would not be incorporated into the difference between groups.

Discrepancies in the literature still exist about the relationship between treatment and self-reporting error. Other studies have found evidence for a relationship between treatment assignment and self-report bias, similar to the results of TOHP. In the Women's Health Eating and Living Study, a longitudinal randomized intervention trial with validation data (32), researchers found dietary intervention affected measurement error in self-reported outcomes using plasma carotenoid biomarkers. In the Women's Health Initiative Dietary Modification Trial, another dietary intervention trial (33), participants in the control group under-reported protein intake at greater amounts compared to the treatment arm. There is thus evidence that there may be differential measurement error across time and treatment group, and that this may vary depending on the dietary component being measured.

One possible solution to examine and address measurement error across time and treatment groups would be internal validation datasets with longitudinal intervention aspects. While this route is resource intensive, it may be worthwhile if it allows researchers to estimate treatment effects with less bias and greater power to detect significant effects. A cheaper or less invasive biomarker would make creating this dataset more feasible. Another option would be more measurement error correction methods, which is why it is important to study how measurement error structures change over time and by treatment status. Siddique et al. (25) performed sensitivity analyses to the assumption that measurement error structure is time invariant, treatment invariant, and time and treatment invariant. Understanding how measurement error changes over time and by treatment condition in validation datasets can help encourage the implementation of these methods and improve the accuracy of self-reported measures in longitudinal intervention trials without available biomarker data.

Limitations

One limitation of this study is the amount of missing data, with the highest being 29% at 18 months in TOHP and the lowest being 1% at baseline in both studies. The regression models were fit assuming that the missing data was "missing at random" (MAR). This means we assume participants with unobserved dietary sodium information at a given time point will have similar intake values as the observed participants at the same time after conditioning on other observed values (34). This assumption may not hold in all circumstances however, and if violated could imply differences between the observed and unobserved groups. Future work could examine how the patterns of missingness may interact with measurement error structures.

In both studies, the 24-h recalls and the 24-urine samples were not required to capture the same day of measurement. We assume that these two measures are capturing estimates of shortterm intake. Even so, the limited number of measurements at each time point is likely not adequate to capture usual intake. Estimates from both the biomarker and self-reported data are therefore subject to additional variability due to day-to-day variation in diet (1).

The biomarker sodium levels—measured through urine—are also subject to additional sources of variability. Urinary sodium excretion may reflect more than 1 day of intake (35). Further, we divided urinary sodium values by 0.86 under the assumption that 86% of consumed sodium is available in urine (1, 20), this value is likely to differ by participant, introducing additional uncertainty in our estimates (36). These sources of variability in 24-h recalls and urinary sodium would have the result of attenuating the relationship between self-reported sodium and urinary sodium in our models.

Conclusion

We found that the measurement error structure in longitudinal studies can differ by time and treatment condition. When correcting for measurement error, intervention researchers need to take these differences into account, either by designing internal validation studies that are also longitudinal or by implementing measurement error correction methods that are explicitly designed to account for these changes in measurement error. Lifestyle intervention trials that fail to do this may draw erroneous conclusions of their results.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found here: https://biolincc.nhlbi.nih.gov/studies/premier/, https://biolincc.nhlbi.nih.gov/studies/tohp/.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health IRB Northwestern University IRB. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

REFERENCES

- 1. Willet W. *Nutritional Epidemiology*, 3rd ed. New York, NY: Oxford University Press. (2013). 552 p.
- Kaaks R. Biochemical markers as additional measurements in studies of the accuracy of dietary questionnaire measurements: conceptual issues. Am J Clin Nutr. (1997) 65:1232S–9S. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/65.4.1232S
- Hedrick VE, Dietrich AM, Estabrooks PA, Savla J, Serrano E, Davy BM. Dietary biomarkers: advances, limitations and future directions. *Nutr J*. (2012) 11:109. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-11-109
- Kirkpatrick S, Collins C, Keogh R, Krebs-Smith SM, Neuhouser ML, Wallace A. Assessing dietary outcomes in intervention studies: pitfalls, strategies, and research needs. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:1001. doi: 10.3390/nu10081001
- Prentice RL, Sugar E, Wang CY, Neuhouser M, Patterson R. Researcher strategies and the use of nutrient biomarkers in studies of diet and chronic disease. *Public Health Nutr.* (2002) 5:977–84. doi: 10.1079/PHN2 002382
- National Institutes of Health. Dietary Assessment Primer, Regression Calibration. (2014) Available online at: https://dietassessmentprimer.cancer. gov/ (Accessed June 22, 2020).
- Gibson R, Charrondiere U, Bell W. Measurement errors in dietary assessment using self-reported 24-hour recalls in low-income countries and strategies for their prevention. *Adv Nutr.* (2017) 8:980–91. doi: 10.3945/an.117. 016980
- Thompson FE, Kirkpatrick SI, Subar AF, Reedy J, Schap TE, Wilson MM, et al. The national cancer institute's dietary assessment primer: a resource for diet research. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2015) 115:1986–95. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2015.08.016
- Marshall J. Methodologic and statistical considerations regarding use of biomarkers of nutritional exposure in epidemiology. J Nutr. (2003) 133:881S-7S. doi: 10.1093/jn/133.3.881S
- Potischman N. Biologic and methodologic issues for nutritional biomarkers. J Nutr. (2003) 133:875S–80S. doi: 10.1093/jn/133.3.875S
- Freedman L, Schatzkin A, Midthune D, Kipnis V. Dealing with measurement error in nutritional cohort studies. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2011) 103:1086–92. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djr189
- Espeland MA, Kumanyika S, Wilson A, Wilcox S, Chao D, Bahnson J, et al. Lifestyle interventions influence relative errors in self-reported diet intake of sodium and potassium. *Ann Epidemiol.* (2001) 11:85–93. doi: 10.1016/S1047-2797(00)00173-3
- Carroll, R, Ruppert, D, Stefanski, L, Crainiceanu CM. Measurement Error in Nonlinear Models: A Modern Perspective. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Chapman & Hall/CRC (2006). 488 p. doi: 10.1201/9781420010138
- Cook JR, Stefanski L.A. Simulation-Extrapolation estimation in parametric measurement error models. J Am Stat Assoc. (2012) 89:1314–28. doi: 10.1080/01621459.1994.10476871
- Buzzard M, Faucett C, Jeffery R, McBane LA, McGovern PA, Baxter JS, et al. Monitoring dietary change in a low-fat diet intervention study: advantages of using 24-hour dietary recalls vs food records. J Am Diet Assoc. (1996) 96:574–9. doi: 10.1016/S0002-8223(96)00158-7

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JS originally conceived the idea for studying measurement error in longitudinal studies, and created the original model. AP performed the analyses and drafted the manuscript. ES provided assistance on analyses. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported through grant R01MH099010 (PI: Stuart) and R01HL127491 (PI: Siddique).

- Whelton P, Appel L, Charleston H. The effects of nonpharmacologic interventions on blood pressure of persons with high normal levels. Results of the trials of hypertension prevention, phase I. JAMA. (1992) 267:1213–20. doi: 10.1001/jama.1992.03480090061028
- Appel LJ, Champagne C, Harsha D, Cooper LS, Obarzanek E, Elmer PJ, et al. Effects of comprehensive lifestyle modification on blood pressure control: main results of the PREMIER clinical trial. *JAMA*. (2003) 289:2083–93. doi: 10.1001/jama.289.16.2083
- Satterfield S, Cutler JA, Langford HG, Applegate WB, Borhani NO, Brittain E, et al. Trials of hypertension prevention. Phase I design. *Ann Epidemiol.* (1991) 1:455–71. doi: 10.1016/1047-2797(91)90014-4
- Kahn HA, Whelton PK, Appel LJ, Kumanyika SK, Meneses JL, Hebert PR, et al. Validity of 24-hour dietary recall interviews conducted among volunteers in an adult working community. *Ann Epidemiol.* (1995) 5:484–9. doi: 10.1016/1047-2797(95)00065-8
- Holbrook JT, Patterson, KY, Bodner JE, Douglas LW, Veillon C, Kelsay JL, et al. Sodium and potassium intake and balance in adults consuming selfselected diets. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1984) 40:786–93. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/40.4.786
- Freedman LS, Commins JM, Moler JE, Willett W, Tinker LF, Subar AF, et al. Pooled results from 5 validation studies of dietary self-report instruments using recovery biomarkers for potassium and sodium intake. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2015) 181:473–87. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwu325
- Freedman LS, Midthune D, Carroll RJ, Kipnis V. A comparison of regression calibration, moment reconstruction and imputation for adjusting for covariate measurement error in regression. *Stat Med.* (2008) 27:5195–216. doi: 10.1002/sim.3361
- Cole SR, Chu H, Greenland S. Multiple-imputation for measurement-error correction. Int J Epidemiol. (2006) 35:1074–81. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyl097
- Schenker N, Raghunathan TE, Bondarenko I. Improving on analyses of selfreported data in a large-scale health survey by using information from an examination-based survey. *Stat Med.* (2010) 29:533–45. doi: 10.1002/sim.3809
- Siddique J, Daniels MJ, Carroll RJ, Raghunathan TE, Stuart EA, Freedman LS. Measurement error correction and sensitivity analysis in longitudinal dietary intervention studies using an external validation study. *Biometrics*. (2019) 75:927–37. doi: 10.1111/biom.13044
- Guo Y, Little RJ, McConnell DS. On using summary statistics from an external calibration sample to correct for covariate measurement error. *Epidemiol.* (2012) 1:165–74. doi: 10.1097/EDE.0b013e31823a4386
- 27. Fitzmaurice GM, Laird NM, Ware JH. *Applied Longitudinal Analysis*. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons (2004). 711 p.
- R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2018). Available online at: https://www.R-project.org/ (accessed October 25, 2020).
- Bates D, Maechler M, Bolker B, Walker S. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. J Stat Softw. (2015) 67:1–48. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Kuznetsova A, Brockhoff PB, Christensen RHB. ImerTest package: tests in linear mixed effects models. J Stat Softw. (2017) 82:1–26. doi: 10.18637/jss.v082.i13
- 31. Sanjeevi N, Lipsky L, Nansel T. Differential reporting of fruit and vegetable intake among youth in a randomized controlled trial of a

behavioral nutrition intervention. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. (2019) 16:15. doi: 10.1186/s12966-019-0774-9

- Natarajan, L, Pu M, Fan J, Levine R, Patterson R, Thomson CA, et al. Measurement error of dietary self-report in intervention trials. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2010) 172:819–27. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwq216
- Neuhouser ML, Tinker L, Shaw PA, Schoeller D, Bingham SA, Horn LV, et al. Use of recovery biomarkers to calibrate nutrient consumption selfreports in the women's health initiative. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2008) 10:1247–59. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwn026
- Bhaskaran K, Smeeth L. What is the difference between missing completely at random and missing at random? *Int J Epidemiol.* (2014) 43:1336–9. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyu080
- Rakova N, Jüttner K, Dahlmann A, Schröder A, Linz P, Kopp C, et al. Longterm space flight simulation reveals infradian rhythmicity in human Na⁺ balance. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 17:125–31. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.11.013

36. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. *Dietary Reference Intakes for Sodium and Potassium*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press (2019).

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Pittman, Stuart and Siddique. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Genetic Variants Shaping Inter-individual Differences in Response to Dietary Intakes—A Narrative Review of the Case of Vitamins

Aikaterini Niforou¹, Valentini Konstantinidou² and Androniki Naska^{1*}

¹ Department of Hygiene, Epidemiology and Medical Statistics, School of Medicine, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece, ² DNANUTRICOACH®, MEDOLIALI SL, Barcelona, Spain

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

John Draper, Aberystwyth University, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

José María Huerta, Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Spain Alberto Davalos, Madrid Institute for Advanced Studies (IMDEA), Spain Kallur Nava Saraswathy, University of Delhi, India

> *Correspondence: Androniki Naska anaska@med.uoa.gr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 03 May 2020 Accepted: 03 November 2020 Published: 01 December 2020

Citation:

Niforou A, Konstantinidou V and Naska A (2020) Genetic Variants Shaping Inter-individual Differences in Response to Dietary Intakes—A Narrative Review of the Case of Vitamins. Front. Nutr. 7:558598. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.558598

Recent advances in the field of nutrigenetics have provided evidence on how genetic variations can impact the individuals' response to dietary intakes. An objective and reliable assessment of dietary exposures should rely on combinations of methodologies including frequency questionnaires, short-term recalls or records, together with biological samples to evaluate markers of intake or status and to identify genetic susceptibilities. In an attempt to present current knowledge on how genetic fingerprints contribute to an individual's nutritional status, we present a review of current literature describing associations between genetic variants and levels of well-established biomarkers of vitamin status in free-living and generally healthy individuals. Based on the outcomes of candidate gene, genome-wide-association studies and meta-analyses thereof, we have identified several single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) involved in the vitamins' metabolic pathways. Polymorphisms in genes encoding proteins involved in vitamin metabolism and transport are reported to have an impact on vitamin D status; while genetic variants of vitamin D receptor were most frequently associated with health outcomes. Genetic variations that can influence vitamin E status include SNPs involved in its uptake and transport, such as in SCAR-B1 gene, and in lipoprotein metabolism. Variants of the genes encoding the sodium-dependent vitamin C transport proteins are greatly associated with the body's status on vitamin C. Regarding the vitamins of the B-complex, special reference is made to the widely studied variant in the MTHFR gene. Methodological attributes of genetic studies that may limit the comparability and interpretability of the findings are also discussed. Our understanding of how genes affect our responses to nutritional triggers will enhance our capacity to evaluate dietary exposure and design personalized nutrition programs to sustain health and prevent disease.

Keywords: genes, diet, nutrigenetics, nutritional status, SNPs, genetic variants, vitamins

95

INTRODUCTION

The assessment of the population's nutritional status lies in the heart of health monitoring surveys and epidemiological studies aiming to elucidate diet-disease associations. Methods employed have traditionally relied on questionnaires, food diaries as well as markers assessed in biological samples (1). The thus accumulated evidence has enriched our understanding of the complex interplay among nutrients and other food substances; patterns of dietary intake; and, lifestyle and environmental exposures that shape an individual's nutritional status. Furthermore, advances in the field of nutrigenetics illustrate how genetic variations can impact on an individual's response to a nutritional trigger (i.e., a dietary intake) and, possibly, on the risk of nutritionrelated diseases (2). It has now been generally recognized that objective dietary assessment should not solely rely on one method, but should employ combinations of methodologies including participants' self-reporting, as well as biological samples to assess established biomarkers and to identify routes of genetic susceptibilities.

In an attempt to present current knowledge on how genetic fingerprints participate in shaping the body's vitamin status, we have conducted a narrative review of studies evaluating associations between genetic variants and levels of well-established biomarkers of status of vitamin D, tocopherols and tocotrienols (vitamin E), vitamin C and vitamins of the B-complex, namely folic acid (B9) and cobalamin (B12), for which there is adequate evidence relating genetic variants and body status in free-living and generally healthy individuals.

METHODS

Studies Identification and Selection

We performed an online literature search in PubMed until March 2020. The search terms used included one term related to the vitamins under study (i.e., vitamin D; tocopherol, vitamin E; ascorbic acid, vitamin C; folic acid, folate, vitamin B9; and cobalamin, vitamin B12) followed by the term "status" and combined with either "nutrigenetics" or "polymorphisms." A study was considered if: (a) it was conducted among free-living healthy individuals and (b) was available in English. Original research papers, systematic reviews, and meta-analysis were all combined. In addition, reference lists of identified publications were further screened to identify additional literature, with the application of citation chasing techniques including reference list scanning of included studies and previous reviews, as well as backward and forward references of included studies. No limits on geographical location were applied.

Based on the search criteria and keywords used, 848 articles were identified. Among these, 817 articles were excluded after either title/abstract or full text screening since they did not address the aim of the present review, i.e., to collectively report on evidence regarding genetic variants that could impair the body's vitamin status. Finally, 31 articles were initially considered and through reference screening, we identified 30 additional publications. Overall, 60 articles have been considered in this review (**Table 1**).

VITAMIN D

Vitamin D is a fat-soluble vitamin that regulates bone growth and health through promotion of calcium absorption and maintenance of adequate calcium and phosphate concentrations. Vitamin D is further involved in the cell growth process and neuromuscular and immune activities (63, 64).

Vitamin D exists in two main forms: ergocalciferol (D2) and cholecalciferol (D3). Vitamin D3 is naturally present in animal foods (e.g., fatty fish, fish liver oils, dairy, egg yolk) and vitamin D2 is naturally present in some higher fungi. Vitamin D3 can also be synthesized endogenously in the skin from its provitamin 7-dehydrocholesterol, following exposure to UV-B radiation and subsequent thermal isomerization. The cutaneous synthesis in the human body is the main source of vitamin D3 and varies depending on the individual's exposure to sun, age, skin color, time spent outdoors, use of sunscreen, as well as the season of the year (64).

Vitamin D Metabolism

In the body, dietary or endogenous vitamin D (D2 and D3) is either converted into its biologically active metabolite, following two hydroxylations, or transferred to the storage tissues. Activation of vitamin D involves two steps. The first occurs in the liver, where vitamin D is hydroxylated to 25hydroxyvitamin D, 25(OH)D, also known as calcidiol. The 25(OH)D attaches to the vitamin D binding protein (DBP) and is transported to the kidneys where it is hydroxylated to form the 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, 1,25(OH)₂D, also known as calcitriol. A mitochondrial enzyme (CYP27A1) and several microsomal enzymes (including CYP2R1) play an important role in the process of the 25-hydroxylation of vitamin D in the liver. Vitamin D, in the form of either $1,25(OH)_2D$ or 25(OH)D, is transported in the blood primarily bound to the DBP. Upon its release, the biologically active form 1,25(OH)₂D reaches the main target tissues including the intestine, the kidneys, and the bone, where it binds to the intracellular vitamin D receptor (VDR). After hydroxylation of vitamin D in the liver, serum 25(OH)D is also delivered to the adipose tissue, muscle, and liver for long-term storage (65). Metabolites of both 25(OH)D and 1,25(OH)₂D are degraded in an oxidative pathway mediated by the CYP24A1 inactivation protein (24-hydroxylase) (64, 66).

Biomarkers of Vitamin D Status

The intake through diet and the level of exposure to sun are the most important determinants of vitamin D status. Serum concentration of 25(OH)D indicates the overall vitamin D levels derived from both cutaneous synthesis and dietary sources. It is considered a reliable marker of vitamin D status with a halflife of ~13 to 15 days because of its strong affinity for DBP (63, 67). In populations with low exposure to UV-B radiation, serum 25(OH)D can also be used as a biomarker of intake (68). However, the individual variability observed in vitamin D status could be attributed to different analytical methods, the use of distinct reference values to assess the body status and to genetic factors (28). Thus, assessments of vitamin D status in population studies should be interpreted with caution (64).

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of the publications included in the review (n = 60).

References	Type of study	Reference to vitamin	Study participants (original research articles) or number of publications in meta-analyses
Ahn et al. (3)	GWAS	Vitamin D	Five cohorts of 4,501 persons of European ancestry
Andrew et al. (4)	Cross-sectional (Twin Study)	Vitamin B12	n=2,110 female twins of women of North European descent (Caucasian), 18–79 y
Bahrami et al. (5)	Review	Vitamin D	
Batai et al. (6)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin D	n = 1,057 ($n = 652$ African Americans, $n = 405$ European Americans), US
Bendik et al. (7)	Review	Vitamin D	
Block et al. (8)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin C	n = 383 non-smokers Caucasians 18–85 y (participants in previous RCT)
Bhan (9)	Review	Vitamin D	
Borel et al. (10)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin E	n = 128, Caucasians 18–70 y (participants enrolled in the Medi-RIVAGE study)
Borel Desmarchelier (11)	Review	Vitamin E	
Bu et al. (12)	Cross-sectional (CGAS)	Vitamin D	n = 496, non-Hispanics
Bueno et al. (13)	Cross-sectional	Folate	n = 726, Spanish adults 18–75 y
Cahill et al. (14)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin C	n = 905 non-smoking subjects, 20–29 y (participants in the Toronto Nutrigenomics and Health Study)
Cahill and El Solemy (15)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin C	n = 1.277 non-smoking subjects, 20–29 y (participants in the Toronto Nutrigenomics and Health Study)
Cahill and El Solemy (16)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin C	n = 1,046 non-smoking subjects, 20–29 y (participants in the Toronto Nutrigenomics and Health Study)
Castro et al. (17)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin B12	n = 122 Portuguese individuals (mean age 46 y)
de Batlle et al. (18)	Cross-sectional	Folate	n = 988 French women 40–65 y (participants in French E3N-EPIC cohort)
Duan et al. (19)	Systematic Review and meta-analysis	Vitamin D	Sixteen publications with a total of 52,417 participants of Asian and Caucasian origin
Duarte et al. (20)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin C	n = 80 Brazilian subjects
Duell et al. (21)	Case-control (nested within EPIC Cohort)	Vitamin C	n = 1,649 subjects, 57–70 y
Galmés et al. (22)	Review	Vitamin E	
Grarup et al. (23)	GWAS	Vitamin B12	n = 45,574 Icelandic and Danish individuals
Engelman et al. (24)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin D	n = 1,379 participants of 40 y mean age (from IRAS Family Study), Hispanics and African Americans
Ferrucci et al. (25)	GWAS	Vitamin E	n = 3,941 Caucasians (participants in InCHIANTI, WHAS, and ATBC studies)
Hansen et al. (26)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin D	n = 989, African Americans, 70–79 y
Hazra et al. (27)	Meta-analysis	Vitamin B12	n = 4,763, Caucasians (from three GWA scans)
Herrmann et al. (28)	Review	Vitamin D	
Hiraoka and Kagawa (29)	Review	Folate	
Horska et al. (30)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin C	n = 388 Slovakian factory workers
Hustad et al. (31)	Cross-sectional	Folate	n = 10,601 adults 50–64 y (from the Norwegian Colorectal Cancer Prevention cohort)
Jolliffe et al. (32)	Review	Vitamin D	
Kwak et al. (33)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin D	n = 2,264, Korean adults >20 y
Lauridsen et al. (34)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin D	n = 595 Danish Caucasian postmenopausal women (participants in DOPS Study)
LeCompte et al. (35)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin E	n = 1,614 Caucasian adults (participants in SU.VI.MAX and HELENA studies)
Major et al. (36)	GWAS	Vitamin E	n = 5,006 men of European descent (in two adult cohorts)
Major et al. (37)	GWAS	Vitamin E	n = 2,112, Finnish male smokers, 50–69 y (participants in the ATBC trial)
McGrath et al. (38)	Review	Vitamin D	
McNulty et al. (39)	Cross-sectional	Folate	n = 123, Irish individuals, 19–63 y
McNulty et al. (40)	RCT	Folate	n = 89 Irish individuals, 18–65 y

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

References	Type of study	Reference to vitamin	Study participants (original research articles) or number of publications in meta-analyses
Michels et al. (41)	Review	Vitamin C	
Molloy (42)	Review	Folate	
Na et al. (43)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin C	n = 110 Chinese individuals, 18–50 y
Orton et al. (44)	Longitudinal population-based twin study	Vitamin D	n = 178 Canadian twins,34–78 y
Robien et al. (45)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin D	n = 504, Singapore Chinese men and women, 45–74 y
Schwartz (46)	Review	Vitamin C, Folate	
Shane (47)	Review	Folate	
Shane et al. (48)	GWAS analysis	Folate	n = 2,232 Irish subjects, 18–28 y
Signorello et al. (49)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin D	n=758~(n=379 African Americans, $n=379$ Caucasians), 40–79 y
Stanislawska-Sachadyn et al. (50)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin B12	n = 613 Northern Irish Men (Caucasians) 30–49 y
Surendran et al. (51)	Review	Vitamin B12	
Thuesen et al. (52)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin B12 Folate	n = 6,784 Danish, 30–60 y
Timpson et al. (53)	Meta-analysis	Vitamin C	Five cohorts with a total of 15.087 Caucasians
Tsang et al. (54)	Systematic Review and meta-analysis	Folate	Forty publications with non-pregnant, non-lactating females 12–49 y across various population groups
Touvier et al. (55)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin D	n = 1,828, Caucasian adults, <65 y
Voipio et al. (56)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin D	n = 2,204, Finnish subjects, 30–45 y (participants in prospective Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study)
von Castel-Dunwood et al. (57)	Cross-Sectional	Vitamin B12	n = 344 non-pregnant women, 20–30 y, non-Hispanic white (93%), non-Hispanic black (7%)
Wang et al. (58)	GWAS	Vitamin D	\sim 30,000 (n = 33.869) Individuals of European descent from 15 cohorts.
Wright et al. (59)	Case-control (nested within the ATBC Trial)	Vitamin E	n = 1,833 (982 cases, 851 controls), Finnish male smokers, 50–69 y
Xu et al. (60)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin D	n = 1,873 ($n = 945$ Uygur/ $n = 928$ Kazak ethnic)
Zanon-Moreno et al. (61)	Case-control study	Vitamin C	n = 300 (150 cases, 150 controls) Caucasian participants, 50–80 y
Zinck et al. (62)	Cross-sectional	Vitamin B12	n = 3,114 Canadians (85% Caucasians, 15% non-Caucasians) 20–79 y

Vitamin D Deficiency

Taking into account risk for rickets or symptomatic osteomalacia, serum 25(OH)D levels below 25 nmol/L have been suggested as an indicator of vitamin D deficiency in Europe (64). The Institute of Medicine concluded that people with serum concentrations below 30 nmol/L and between 30 and 50 nmol/L are susceptible to vitamin D deficiency and inadequacy, respectively (63). The Endocrine Society Task Force suggests that 25(OH)D concentration below 50 nmol/L indicates vitamin D deficiency (69). In general, a threshold of less than 25–30 nmol/L characterizes vitamin D deficiency, but to date a standard definition regarding the "optimal" 25(OH)D levels is still lacking (70). Recently, a target population value of 50 nmol/L for serum 25(OH)D concentration is proposed by EFSA (64).

Genetic Variations and Vitamin D Status

Genetic variants of proteins participating in the vitamin D metabolism, its binding to receptors and transport can have an impact on vitamin D availability and status (5, 7). Several

single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) related with serum 25(OH)D that have been detected in candidate gene studies and genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have enhanced our understanding of vitamin D balance; the detection of individuals more vulnerable to deficiency; as well as those who could benefit more than others from supplementation (5).

The Study of Underlying Genetic Determinants of Vitamin D and Highly Related Traits (the SUNLIGHT study) is the largest GWAS published to date that identified significant genetic determinants of 25(OH)D levels. The study involved individuals of European descent from 15 cohorts (n = 33,996) and reported variants at three loci reaching genome-wide significance in both discovery and replication cohorts for association with 25(OH)D concentrations. The genetic variants identified in this large study belong to the genes encoding DBP (GC gene), enzyme 7-dehydrocholesterol reductase (DHCR7 gene), vitamin D 25-hydroxylase (cytochrome P450, family2, subfamily R, member 1, CYP2R1 gene), and vitamin D 24-hydroxylase (cytochrome P450, family 24, subfamily A, member 1 CYP24A1 gene) (58)

Genetic Variants Shaping Vitamin Status

and confirm the results of previous smaller-scale studies (12). With respect to variants of the gene encoding the intracellular VDR, there are no consistent findings relating to vitamin D status. In a recent systematic review, Jolliffe et al. (32) reported that polymorphisms in DBP, CYP2R1, and DHCR7 are the ones most frequently associated with 25(OH)D blood concentrations, while variants in the VDR gene have mostly been reported as determinants of phenotypes. Genes implicated in vitamin D metabolism and signaling pathways have been schematically presented by Jolliffe et al. (32).

Vitamin D Binding Protein Related Variants (DBP)

The DBP initially known as Gc-globulin (group-specific component of serum), is a circulating alpha globulin produced primarily by the liver at relatively stable levels throughout life, except from conditions of high estrogen levels (e.g., during pregnancy, when production is increased) The DBP is a multi-functional compound that is involved in the binding of the majority (>85%) of circulating 25(OH) D, and also of extracellular actin and in the transport of fatty acids (71). The DBP has the highest affinity for 25(OH)D-lactones, followed by 25(OH)D and 1,25(OH)₂D (72) and binds more effectively to vitamin D3 and its metabolites than vitamin D2 and its metabolites (73). Variants of the DBP gene have been widely investigated as sources of variation in the circulating levels of vitamin D (5, 32).

The GC gene encodes the DBP and is located on chromosome 4q12-q13. The two most frequently investigated variants in the GC gene that modify the amino acid sequence of the protein are the SNPs found in exon 11. The rs4588 DBP SNP causes an amino acid change from lysine to threonine in codon 420 (substituting A for C, ACG \rightarrow AAG, Thr \rightarrow Lys) resulting in a Gc-2 protein. In addition, the rs7041 SNP leads to a change of aspartate to glutamate in codon 416 (substituting G for T, GAT \rightarrow GAG, Asp \rightarrow Glu) resulting in a Gc-1s protein (9). Although over 120 variants in the DBP gene have been recognized, three main phenotypic alleles-GC haplotypes (Gc1S, Gc1F, and Gc2) have been identified. Regarding electrophoretic migration, the slowest is Gc2, followed by Gc1S (slow) and Gc1F (fast) (74). The associated serum concentration of DBP and its affinity toward 25(OH)D differ among the phenotypic alleles (75, 76). The median concentration of 25(OH)D is the highest in Gc1s-1s (CC rs4588; GG rs7041), intermediate in Gc1-2 (Gc1F) (CC rs4588; TT rs7041), and lowest in Gc2-2 (AA rs4588; TT rs7041) (28, 34). These haplotypes further exhibit an important racial and geographic variation, since GC1F is more prevalent among dark-skinned individuals (particularly those of African descent), while Gc1S and Gc2 are more common in Caucasians (77, 78). The association between the rs4588/rs7041 SNPs with serum 25(OH)D levels has been confirmed in studies including different ethnic populations (32). Minor A allele of rs4588 is consistently associated with lower 25(OH)D levels, while minor G allele of rs7041 with higher 25(OH)D levels (32). In Caucasian adults, these associations were found to be significant after adjustment for vitamin D dietary intake, sun exposure, socio-demographic, anthropometric, and lifestyle factors (P < 0.0001) (55). Furthermore, in a recent study among African Americans the T allele of rs7041 was associated with lower serum 25(OH)D (b = -0.93, SE = 0.53, close to significance thresholds, P = 0.08) (26). Individuals with the Gc2-2 haplotype (AA rs4588 /TT rs7041) have significantly lower 25(OH)D concentrations compared to all other Gc haplotypes (ptrend < 0.001). In addition, individuals with Gc1s-1s haplotype (CC rs4588/GG rs7041) are characterized by higher 25(OH)D status (45). These findings confirm earlier observations between plasma 25(OH)D concentrations and Gc phenotypes reported by Lauridsen et al. (34).

Two GWAS meta-analyses identified another polymorphism in the GC gene (the rs2282679) which is located within intron 12 (A>C) and is in a high linkage disequilibrium with rs4588 (3, 58). In the Ahn et al. (3) meta-analysis of five cohorts of individuals with European ancestry, the (minor) risk C allele has been found to be inversely associated with circulating vitamin D levels (b = -0.36, SE: 0.05). Per copy of the minor allele of this variant, individuals have 49% higher risk of vitamin D insufficiency [<50 nmol/L OR = 1.49, 95% CI = 1.40–1.59, $P = 7.5 \times 10^{-33}$], after adjusting for age, sex, BMI, and season (58). A stronger association between the risk allele and vitamin D insufficiency has also been reported by Voipio et al. (56) in a study among Finish adults (OR = 2.08, 95% CI = 1.66-2.60). In a study among European Americans, the C allele of rs2282679 was associated with lower circulating 25(OH)D levels (b = -0.05, p = 0.001) (6). In studies among Koreans (33) and African-Americans (49) individuals carrying the G minor allele had lower 25(OH)D concentrations, as compared to those carrying the T allele.

7-Dehydrocholesterol Reductase Related Variants

Cholecalciferol and cholesterol are synthesized through the skin formation of 7-dehydrocholesterol (7-DHC). The DHCR7 gene on chromosome 11 encodes the enzyme 7-dehydrocholesterol reductase, which converts 7-DHC to cholesterol, reducing thus the availability of this precursor (7-DHC) for the synthesis of vitamin D (5). The UV-B radiation and the enzyme possibly antagonize in the conversion of 7-DHC and as a result, 25(OH)D has been reported to have a varying association with serum HDL or skin cholesterol levels shaped by the interrelation between the DHCR7 enzyme in serum and the amount of sun exposure (79).

Several studies have shown that the DHCR7 variant (rs12785878) is associated with 25(OH)D concentrations (overall $p = 2.1 \times 10^{-27}$, combined discovery and replication samples) (58) The rs12785878 variant is located in an intron of a different gene known as NADSYN1 and as a result this SNP is often indicated as the NADSYN1/DHCR7 locus. Homozygotes (GG) have lower mean 25(OH)D levels than heterozygotes (GT), who in turn on average have lower mean 25(OH)D levels than major homozygotes TT (58). A study among 2.204 Finnish individuals confirmed the association of the G minor allele of rs12785878 with lower 25(OH)D concentrations (b = -2.10, SE = 1.01) and the increased risk of vitamin D insufficiency (<50 nmol/L, OR = 1.31, 95% CI = 1.00-1.70) compared to the T allele

and after adjusting for vitamin D intake, nutrient supplement use, body mass index, physical activity, and lifestyle factors (56). In a multi-center study including individuals of Kazak ethnicity, the DHCR7/NADSYN1(rs12785878) has also been significantly associated with vitamin D deficiency (25(OH)D levels <20 ng/mL) (OR = 2.44, 95% CI = 1.22–4.87), adjusted for sex, age, BMI, and study center (60). The negative association between G allele of rs12785878 (DHCR7) and 25(OH)D levels was also reported in a study of healthy Korean adults (33).

CYP2R1 & CYP24A1 Related Variants

The human CYP2R1 gene (on chromosome 11p15.2) encodes a member of the cytochrome P450 superfamily of enzymes, the microsomal vitamin D 25-hydroxylase, involved in vitamin D activation through hydroxylation, to the vitamin D receptor ligand. The CYP24A1 (on chromosome 20q13.2) encodes the vitamin D 24-hydroxylase, participating in the inactivation process of vitamin D metabolites. Several GWAS have identified SNPs in the CYP2R1 and CYP24A1 genes associated with 25(OH)D concentrations (i.e., rs10741657, rs1993116, rs12794714, and rs10766197 for CYP2R1 and rs6013897 for CYP24A1) (32).

The rs10741657 (G>A) SNP is located in the non-coding region 5'-UTR, which may regulate gene expression and therefore modulate the expression and activity of 25-hydroxylase. In a large GWAS, Wang et al. (58) reported an association between the rs10741657 polymorphism and the 25(OH)D levels (overall $p = 3.3 \times 10^{-20}$, combined discovery and replication samples). In their recent meta-analysis, Duan et al. (19) confirmed this association and further reported that the GG genotype was associated with lower 25(OH)D levels when compared with the AA (reference) genotype [standardized mean difference SMD = -2.31, 95% CI = (-4.42, -0.20) overall and SMD = -3.46, 95% CI = (-6.60, -0.33) and SMD = -0.24,95% CI = (-0.51, -0.03) for Caucasian and Asian groups, respectively]. Consequently, the risk G allele has been associated with an increased risk of vitamin D deficiency (<20 ng/mL or 50 nmol/L) compared to no-risk allele A in both Caucasian and Asian populations (OR = 1.09; 95% CI = 1.03-1.15). Under the dominant model (GG+AG vs. AA), Duan et al. (19) reported a 42% higher risk of vitamin D deficiency (95% CI = 11-83%); nevertheless, under the recessive model (GG vs. AG+AA), the positive association remained but lost significance (OR = 1.28; 95% CI = 0.89-1.84).

Among African-Americans, the strongest association with 25(OH)D levels has been observed for the CYP2R1 rs12794714 variant located in exon 1 (G>A). The minor (A) allele has been significantly associated with lower 25(OH)D levels (b = -0.4, p = 0.01) (6), a finding also reported by Wang et al. (58) (overall $p = 2.7 \times 10^{-9}$). Among European-Americans the most relevant determinant of vitamin status was the CYP2R1 rs1993116 SNP, located in intron 1 (C>T) with the minor A allele was found to be associated with higher serum 25(OH)D levels (b = 0.04, p = 0.0006) (6). This association has also been observed in two large GWAS by Wang et al. (58) (overall $p = 6.3 \times 10^{-11}$) and Ahn et al. (3) (risk A allele b = 0.25, $p = 2.9 \times 10^{-17}$). Associations of CYP2R1 rs12794714 and rs1993116 variants with vitamin D

status have also been found significant in Chinese subjects (45). Furthermore, the rs10766197 variant, located in the promoter of the CYP2R1 gene has been associated with the 25(OH)D levels in the discovery cohort of healthy Caucasian subjects and remained significant after further replication and analysis of the pooled dataset and after adjusting for age, sex, BMI, habitual vitamin D supplementation and season. The minor A allele of rs10766197 has been inversely associated with serum 25(OH)D levels (b = -4.53, adjusted empirical *P*-value = 0.002, based on the pooled dataset analysis) (12).

A genetic risk score (GRS) was calculated by Wang et al. (58) combining three confirmed genetic variants related to circulating vitamin D levels (i.e., DHCR7 rs12785878; the CYP2R1 rs10741657; and, the GC rs2282679). Individuals with a "genotype score" in the top quartile had a 2-fold higher odds of vitamin D insufficiency (25(OH)D levels below 50 nmol/L) in comparison to the lowest quartile (OR = 1.92, 95% CI = 1.70–2.16, $P \le 1 \times 10^{-26}$]. After adjusting for age, sex, body mass index, and season, the odds of vitamin D deficiency (i.e., 25(OH)D levels below 20 nmol/L) increased by 43% (adjusted OR = 1.43, 95% CI = 1.13-1.79) among individuals in the top quartile of this score in comparison to those in the lowest quartile. In the same study, Wang et al. (58) further reported that the rs6013897 SNP was also associated with serum 25(OH)D concentrations (overall $p = 6 \ge 10^{-10}$ combined discovery and replication samples).

The VDR Related Variants

Two VDR SNPs—the rs2228570 and rs10783219—have been associated with serum 25(OH)D concentrations. Both the rs2228570 and the rs10783219 SNPs have been associated with lower 25(OH)D levels in a longitudinal population-based twin study and in a sub-population of a cross sectional family study, respectively (24, 44). In general, the way in which the VDR gene variants could influence the 25(OH)D concentrations (38) has not yet been elucidated; in their review of genetic association studies, Jolliffe et al. (32) suggested that genetic variation in VDR is strongly related to the phenotype rather than circulating 25(OH)D concentrations.

VITAMIN E

Vitamin E is a fat-soluble vitamin, existing in biologically different forms, the tocopherols (α , β , γ , δ) and the tocotrienols (α , β , γ , δ), that possess different antioxidant activity. In humans, α -tocopherol is the most abundant and physiologically active form of vitamin E. Since the food content of tocopherols and tocotrienols is converted to α -tocopherol equivalents, the terms "vitamin E" and " α -tocopherol" are used interchangeably. The α tocopherol, acting as a free radical scavenger preventing DNA oxidative damage, belongs to the antioxidant defense system. It notably protects polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) within plasma lipoproteins and membrane phospholipids, preserving thus the cellular membrane integrity (e.g., of erythrocytes, central and peripheral nerves). The α -Tocopherol has also been linked to cancer prevention through inhibiting cell proliferation and angiogenesis. The main dietary sources of α -tocopherol include vegetable oils and derivatives, some fatty fish, egg yolk, nuts, seeds, and whole grain cereals. The more abundant form in food are the α and γ -tocopherols (80).

Metabolism of Vitamin E

As a lipid-soluble vitamin, upon intake, vitamin E follows intestinal absorption, hepatic and cellular uptake similar to those of lipids and other lipophilic components (81). About 75% of a usual α -tocopherol intake is absorbed by the human body and efficient absorption requires the presence of fat (80). Proteins involved in the vitamin E uptake (in the enterocyte) include the scavenger receptor class B member 1 (SCAR-BI), the Niemann-Pick disease type C1 protein (NPC1) and the cluster determinant 36 (CD36) molecule, also known as scavenger receptor class B member 3 (SRB3). All these also participate to the transmembrane transport of cholesterol and other lipophilic components (10, 22). Scavenger receptor class B member 1 (SCAR-B1) is a multi-ligand membrane receptor expressed in many cell types. It is not only involved in atocopherol uptake by enterocytes, but also in its transport from enterocytes to the blood, transfer of a-tocopherol from highdensity lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol to tissues and in the biliary excretion of α -tocopherol. The SCAR-B1 also acts as a plasma membrane receptor for HDL and mediates cholesterol transfer to and from HDL (11). The CD36 is a membrane glycoprotein involved in the uptake of fatty acids and in binding native and oxidized lipoproteins contributing thus directly or indirectly to the transport of vitamin E (22).

After a-tocopherol is absorbed in the intestine, it is integrated into chylomicrons and along the lymphatic system chylomicrons are secreted into circulation. Part of the a-tocopherol in chylomicrons is incorporated into tissues by lipoprotein lipase (LPL), while the remaining is transferred to the liver. In the liver, the α -tocopherol transfer protein (α -TTP) binds atocopherol with the highest affinity. The a-TTP is responsible for a-tocopherol incorporation into the preliminary very low density lipoproteins (VLDLs) which are secreted by the liver into the circulation and then distributed to body tissues. VLDLs are converted into intermediate-density lipoproteins (IDLs) and low-density lipoproteins (LDLs) by the action of LPL, and to HDLs (81). Plasma lipoproteins (VLDL, LDL, and HDL) are the major carriers of vitamin E. Thus, proteins involved in lipoprotein synthesis and metabolism play a crucial role in forming lipoproteins for vitamin E transport. In particular, apolipoproteins, LPL, hepatic lipase, phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP), cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP), and lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase are indirectly involved in vitamin E metabolism. Among the main apo-lipoproteins involved are apo A-IV and apo AV (10). Amounts of α -tocopherol not bound to α -TTP is catabolized in the liver by the hepatic enzyme cytochrome P (CYP)4F2 ω -hydroxylase. Both α -TTP and ω -hydroxylase have a significant contribution to α -tocopherol metabolism, especially to the liver balance (storage vs. catabolism) and to vitamin E systemic level (82).

Biomarkers of Vitamin E Status

Fasting plasma or serum α -tocopherol concentration has been commonly used to assess vitamin E status. Since there is no precise cut-off value above which adequate status is characterized, plasma/serum α -tocopherol levels below 12 μ mol/L may indicate deficiency. In α -tocopherol deficiency, oxidative stress can damage red blood cells (RBCs) (80).

a-Tocopherol concentrations within the range of 2.5– 12 μ mol/L have been described in primary or secondary deficiency (83, 84). Mutations in the a-TTP gene result in primary α -tocopherol deficiency and related neurological symptoms, including ataxia (85). Secondary a-tocopherol deficiency is present in individuals suffering from conditions including abetalipoproteinaemia, cholestatic liver diseases, severe malnutrition, or fat malabsorption (83, 86). Low a-tocopherol dietary intake has not been reported to cause deficiency with clinical manifestations in healthy individuals (80).

Genetic Variations and Vitamin E Status

Vitamin E status is known to be affected by factors such as age, eating habits, oxidative stress (e.g., through smoking), absorption efficiency, and catabolism (10, 11). Genome-wide and candidate gene association studies have identified genetic variations that can influence vitamin E status, impairing its metabolism, absorption/uptake, transport and liver storage, or catabolism balance (11, 22). Borel and Desmarchelier (11) provide a comprehensive diagram illustrating the majority of genes encoding key players in the vitamin E status.

Vitamin E Uptake Related Variants

There is strong evidence that SNPs in SCAR-B1 gene on chromosome 12q24.31 affect vitamin E metabolism and α tocopherol levels (10, 11). Rs5888, which is also known as A350A, is a variant located on exon 8 of the SCAR-B1 gene including an exchange of the minor allele (C) for (T). TT carriers have the lowest plasma α-tocopherol levels as compared to CC or CT carriers and CT have shown the highest levels compared to the other two counterparts; these associations were significant (p < 0.05) in men after adjustment for cholesterol levels [mean a-tocopherol levels µmol/L (SD) per pair of alleles; TT: 23.47 (6.99) < CC: 26.14 (6.22) < CT: 28.07 (6.87)] (10). The Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta-Carotene Cancer Prevention (ATBC) Study was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled intervention trial and evaluated cancer prevention after supplementation with either alpha-tocopherol, or beta carotene or both among male smokers (37). In a GWAS of serum α -tocopherol concentrations within the ATBC cohort, Major et al. (36) reported that the presence of the minor (A) variant allele of another SCAR-B1 SNP (rs11057830) was significantly associated with plasma αto copherol concentration (b = 0.04, $p = 2.0 \times 10^{-8}$) in male smokers independent of their age, BMI, cholesterol levels, and cancer status and with high response in serum concentrations to long-term a-tocopherol supplementation in the same population $(b = 0.03, p = 2.9 \times 10^{-3}).$

The CD36 SNPs might also influence plasma α -tocopherol concentrations. So far, two relevant SNPs (rs1761667 and rs1527479) have been identified and are found in high linkage

disequilibrium. Individuals homozygous for the minor allele of rs1761667 (G) or rs1527479 (A) have lower plasma α-tocopherol concentrations than do carriers of the major allele (A of rs1761667, G of rs1527479) at about 22.9%, *p* = 0.046, and 23.7% p = 0.0061, respectively, especially among men after adjustment for age and BMI. The relationship between rs1527479 and atocopherol levels maintained its significance even after correction for multiple testing (*p* threshold < 0.0071). Furthermore, lower atocopherol levels were observed particularly among individuals carrying the A minor allele of rs1527479 with low triglyceride (p for trend = 0.013) or PUFA concentrations (p for trend = 0.005) than their corresponding GG individuals. The lower plasma a-tocopherol levels detected in individuals homozygous for the minor alleles may be related to a higher CD36 expression and a subsequent higher vitamin E and fatty acid transport. Dietary recommendations for higher vitamin E intakes among these individuals may be relevant to counteract the CD36 protein excess (35).

Vitamin E Transport Related Variants

Apo-AV is a minor apo-lipoprotein almost exclusively expressed in liver that plays a significant role in the regulation of plasma triglycerides. The most studied SNP located on the Apo-AV promotor is rs662799 (1131T>C) in which the minor variant (C) has been associated with both higher plasma vitamin E and VLDL-TGs levels in diabetic patients. In particular, among TT carriers the mean (SD) vitamin E levels in blood were 40.32 mmol/L (10.47), whereas in TC carriers were 45.48 mmol/L (8.20) (p = 0.02). Moreover, plasma triglyceride (TG) concentration was 21% higher in carriers of the TC genotype (p= 0.04), because of higher TG in VLDL [mean TG (SD); 0.96 mmol/L (0.78) for TT carriers and 1.33 mmol/L (1.11) for TC carriers, p = 0.043] and in HDL [mean TG mmol/l (SD); 0.14 mmol/L (0.05) for TT carriers and 0.17 mmol/L (0.03) for TC carriers, p = 0.017) (87).

In a GWAS investigating the circulating α-tocopherol phenotype, Ferrucci et al. (25) reported that the rs12272004 SNP, close to the apo-AV gene, was associated with higher plasma α-tocopherol concentrations. In particular, the A allele of rs12272004 was associated with a 0.07 SD higher vitamin (95% CI = 0.05-0.10). When analysis was adjusted for TG levels, the strength of the association was reduced (b = 0.055, 95% CI = 0.020–0.091). Major et al. (36) identified a significant association between serum α -tocopherol and rs964184 on chromosome 11q23.3, within or near the gene cluster Apo-AI/CIII/AIV/AV. The rs964184 minor G variant allele was associated with increased a-tocopherol levels (b = 0.04, SE = 0.01, p = 2.7x 10^{-10}) after adjustment for age, BMI, non-HDL cholesterol concentrations, and cancer status (36) and with high serum response to long term vitamin E supplementation (b = 0.07, SE $= 0.01, p = 2.6 \ge 10^{-12}$ (37).

Based on findings from a candidate gene association study, a variant of the apo A-IV was also found to be associated with vitamin E status. ApoA-IV is secreted in the intestine and is associated with chylomicrons. A polymorphism in the gene located on chromosome 11 result to an A to T substitution that changes the threonine residue at position 347 to serine ApoIVSer-347 (rs675). Women carrying the A allele (AT+AA) of rs675 were found to have significantly (p < 0.05) lower plasma concentrations of a-tocopherol than women homozygous for the T allele. [(mean a-tocopherol (SD) levels TT 34.12 μ mol/L (8.68) > AA+AT 26.40 μ mol/L (6.59)]. However, this association did not remain significant after adjustment for blood cholesterol levels (10). The same study confirmed the previously described association between plasma a-tocopherol and Apo-E variants. The human ApoE gene is polymorphic (derived from the combination of polymorphisms rs429358 and rs7412), which results in three major isoforms/alleles (ε_2 , ε_3 , and ε_4), particularly the ApoE-ε2 (Cys112, Cys158), ApoE-ε3 (Cys112, Arg158), and ApoE-e4 (Arg112, Arg158) alleles. Apo-lipoprotein E is a multifunctional protein involved in the catabolism of lipoprotein particles. In humans, the lowest plasma vitamin E concentrations were found in ApoE-E2/E2 genotype [mean atocopherol (SD); 18.68 μ mol/L (8.45), p < 0.05], whereas the presence of the ε 4 allele was associated with the highest vitamin E levels in plasma (ApoE- ε 4/ ε 2 genotype) [mean (SD); 32.81 μ mol/L (10.54) p < 0.05] (10).

Rare mutations in the a-TTP gene on chromosome 8q13 have been linked with severe vitamin E deficiency which cause an autosomal recessive neurologic disorder and ataxia in humans, also known as ataxia with isolated vitamin E deficiency (AVED) (85). Furthermore, the presence of the TT genotype of the rs6994076 TTPA polymorphism (980A/T) has been found to be associated with decreased protein activity and ~3% lower α tocopherol levels (p = 0.03) compared to AA genotypes based on data collected among the control group of the ATBC trial (59). A lower (25%) response to vitamin E supplementation was observed in serum a-tocopherol concentration (p = 0.002, in multivariate model) in individuals (males) with the TT genotype compared to those homozygous for the major A allele, AA genotype (59).

As previously indicated, CYP4F2 encodes for cytochrome P450 4F2, which is involved in the vitamin E catabolism. The SNP rs2108622 on CYP4F2 gene results in a valine for methionine substitution. Subjects homozygous for minor T allele (TT genotype) were found to have reduced ω -hydroxylation activity and increased serum α -tocopherol (36). The TT genotype has also been significantly associated with increased serum response (b = 0.04, p = 2.2 x 10⁻⁷) to long-term (3 years) α -tocopherol supplementation, adjusted for age, BMI, non-HDL cholesterol concentrations, and cancer status (37).

VITAMIN C

Vitamin C or ascorbic acid is a water-soluble vitamin. Vitamin C acts as a free radical scavenger and operates as an enzyme cofactor for various biochemical reactions. Vitamin C is also involved in the biosynthesis of collagen, synthesis of carnitine and catecholamines and in the metabolism of cholesterol to bile acids. Vitamin C is naturally present mainly in fruit, vegetables, and potatoes. Exposition to oxygen or high temperatures affects its stability and results in vitamin C oxidation (88).

Vitamin C Metabolism

Ascorbic acid (ascorbate) is the functional form of vitamin C. Two transporter proteins (SVCT1 and SVCT2) encoded by the sodium-dependent vitamin C transporter genes, SLC23A1 and SLC23A2, respectively, are responsible for vitamin's absorption by the gastrointestinal tract and reabsorption by renal system through active transport across membranes. Vitamin C concentrations and body homeostasis are regulated primarily by SVCT1 (89). The expression of SVCT1 in the kidney is important for the regulation of vitamin C status (41). The SVCT2 regulates vitamin C levels within specific metabolically active tissues (89). It promotes the accumulation of vitamin C into brain, eyes, and adrenals as it binds ascorbate with high-affinity (41). Dehydroascorbate, DHA, the oxidized form of ascorbate, is transferred into the cell by some glucose transporters, including GLUT1, GLUT3, and GLUT4. Within cells, DHA is recycled back to ascorbate, sustaining the intracellular ascorbate uptake (41). In plasma, the free anion of vitamin C is distributed to tissues. The body's absorption efficiency depends on the level of vitamin C intake. Vitamin C is excreted in urine, which is the main route of elimination, at an approximate proportion of 25% of the ingested amount for an intake of 100 mg/day (88).

Biomarkers of Vitamin C Status

Ascorbate concentrations in plasma and leukocytes are considered suitable biomarkers of body stores and status, within the usual range of intakes and independently of recent vitamin C intake (88, 90).

A plasma ascorbic acid value of 50 μ mol/L is indicative of an adequate status and values below 11 μ mol/L indicate severe deficiency (biochemical and/or clinical symptoms including those related to connective tissue defects; scurvy). Plasma levels between 11 and 23 μ mol/L (0.2–0.4 mg/100 mL) reflect marginal status, thus moderate risk of developing deficiency. The vitamin C physiological levels largely depend on the analytical methods used, limiting comparisons among laboratories. For instance, the interpretation of leukocyte vitamin C concentrations is complicated by the different concentrations of vitamin C in various leukocyte cell fractions—mononuclear contain up to 2- or 3-fold higher concentrations than polymorphonuclear cells (91).

Genetic Variations and Vitamin C Status

Polymorphisms in the genes encoding sodium-dependent SVCTs of the SLC23 family are strongly associated with vitamin C status due to their roles in direct transport, absorption, and vitamin accumulation in tissues (41, 92). Genetic variants in protein-coding genes known to play a role in oxidative stress, including haptoglobin, glutathione-S-transferases, and manganese superoxide dismutase, may also influence vitamin C status, but they have not been a priori associated with ascorbic acid (41). A diagram outlining vitamin C metabolism and related genes is provided by Michels et al. (41).

In a cross-sectional study of 1.046 volunteers including Caucasian and East Asian populations, Cahill and El-Sohemy (15) reported that individuals may differ in their blood vitamin C levels, regardless of their dietary intake, due to genetic variation in SVCT1 (rs4257763). Overall, average serum vitamin C levels were lower in individuals with the GG genotype than the AA; with the GA genotype being intermediate (p = 0.002). In a sub-population analysis, differences remained but were significant only among Caucasian subjects (p = 0.02) and not among East Asians (p = 0.14).

Timpson et al. (53) performed a large-scale analysis (using a discovery cohort, the British Women's Heart and Health Study BWHHS and a series of follow-up cohorts and metaanalysis) to assess the relationship between variation at SLC23A1 (rs33972313) and circulating levels of L-ascorbic acid in over 15,000 Caucasian participants from five longitudinal studies. A pooled analysis of the relationship between rs33972313 (C/T) and vitamin C status across all (discovery and replication) studies showed that each additional minor allele (T) was associated with a reduction in plasma levels by 5.98 µmol/L (95%CI = -8.23, -3.73) per minor allele. The rs33972313 variant in SLC23A1 results in a valine to methionine substitution at position 264 of SVCT1 and in decreased transport activity. In the discovery cohort, two SNPs showed positive association with vitamin C status. For each additional minor allele of SNPs rs10063949 (T/C) and rs6596473 (G/C), there was an increase in circulating ascorbic acid levels [b = $1.91 \mu mol/L$, 95% CI = 0.47-3.34 and b = 2.86 μ mol/L, 95% CI = 1.39-4.33 per minor allele (C), respectively]. In the first stage replication study [the European Prospective Investigation of Cancer Norfolk Study (EPIC-Norfolk)], results were consistent with those found in the discovery cohort regarding the rs6596473 variant (mean difference in L-ascorbic acid = $1.01 \,\mu$ mol/L, 95% CI = 0.14 - 1.87, p = 0.02, per minor allele) but there was no association between rs10063949 and vitamin C status [mean difference in L-ascorbic acid = $-0.05 \,\mu$ mol/L, 95% CI = (-0.90, 0.80), p = 0.9 per minor allele]. Among the polymorphisms examined, rs6596471 (A/G) in BWHHS showed a notable, albeit not significant, increase in plasma vitamin C levels [b = 0.95, 95% CI = (-0.63, 2.53) per minor G allele] (53).

In a case-control study, nested within the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) cohort of vitamin C transporter gene variants and gastric cancer risk (21), authors evaluated genetic variants of SVCT as predictors of vitamin C plasma concentrations in a subsample of participants. Authors applied a multiple linear regression model to assess associations between the SLC23A1 and SLC23A2 SNPs and the log-transformed plasma levels of vitamin C, adjusting for age, sex, country, smoking status, H. pylori infection, and season of blood collection. Two SNPs in SLC23A1 (rs33972313, rs11950646) and two SNPs in SLC23A2 (rs6053005, rs6133175) were statistically significantly associated with plasma vitamin C. In agreement with the findings of Timpson et al. (53), being a heterozygote (GA) in the rs33972313 SNP in this study was associated with lower plasma vitamin C levels, (GA vs. GG or AA in a codominant model, b = -0.28, 95% CI = -0.54, -0.016). Variant rs11950646 was also associated with lower plasma vitamin C, in a dominant model [GG or AG vs. AA, b = -0.14,95% CI = (-0.26, -0.011) and per G allele in an allelic or log-additive model [b = -0.11, 95% CI = (-0.20, -0.017)].In the case of the SLC23A2 gene, higher plasma vitamin C

concentrations were associated with rs6053005 TT homozygotes b = (0.21, 95% CI = 0.058-0.37) and rs6133175 GG homozygotes (b = 0.22, 95% CI = 0.029-0.40) in a recessive model (21).

Another SNP in SLC23A2 gene (rs1279683, A>G) was found to be significantly associated with plasma concentrations of vitamin C. In a case-control study including patients of primary open-angle glaucoma (POAG), homozygous subjects for the G allele (GG) had significantly lower plasma vitamin C levels than the other genotypes (AA + AG) (9.0 \pm 1.4 vs. 10.9 \pm 1.6 μ g/mL, p < 0.001 in cases and 10.9 \pm 1.6 vs. $12.1 \pm 1.8 \,\mu\text{g/mL}, p < 0.001$ in controls) even after multivariate adjustment for sex, age, BMI, smoking and alcohol, and after applying Bonferroni corrections for multiple comparisons (61). Unlike SLC23A1, genetic variation in SLC23A2 has little influence on vitamin C homeostasis and status, but controls the accumulation in tissues. Furthermore, studies are also lacking since most of the SNPs studied to date are located in intronic or untranslated regions and do not directly affect the SVCT2 protein coding(41).

Haptoglobin is a hemoglobin-binding protein, participating in iron metabolism and encoded by a polymorphic gene (haptoglobin gene, Hp) located on chromosome 16. In humans, Hp is characterized by a polymorphism with two alleles (Hp1 and Hp2) forming three main phenotypes: homozygous for the Hp1 allele (Hp 1-1 phenotype), heterozygous (Hp 2-1) and homozygous for the Hp2 allele (Hp2-2). Unlike Hp1, the hemoglobin protein derived from Hp2 binds insufficiently to hemoglobin and individuals expressing the Hp2-2 phenotype (Hp2-2 homozygotes) produce a less active protein and have increased circulating levels of iron compared to Hp1-1 (41). As a result, Hp 2-2 individuals are more susceptible to vitamin C deficiency since their plasma ascorbate is less stable (93). Na et al. (43) investigated the relation between haptoglobin genetic variants, vitamin C, and iron status in 110 Chinese subjects and reported that serum vitamin C was lower in Hp2-2 healthy Chinese male participants compared to both Hp2-1 and Hp1-1 individuals (p = 0.028). In the same study, vitamin C was also affected by iron status (ferritin levels) (43). It is however uncertain whether variations in vitamin C status related to haptoglobin polymorphism associate with iron dysregulation (affected by low dietary iron intake or anemia) especially among Hp2-2 individuals (41).

According to Cahill and Sohemy (16) individuals homozygous for the Hp2 allele had lower vitamin C concentrations compared to those with the Hp1 allele when their dietary vitamin C intake was low. In a cross-sectional examination of free-living adults enrolled in the Toronto Nutrigenomics and Health Study, individuals with the Hp2–2 genotype who did not meet the US Recommended Dietary Allowance for vitamin C had a significantly increased risk of ascorbic acid deficiency <11 μ mol/L (adjusted OR = 4.77, 95% CI = 2.36–9.65) compared to those who did. Conversely, the risk of deficiency for carriers of the Hp1 allele (Hp2-1 + Hp1-1 phenotype) was lower and not significant (OR = 1.69, 95% CI = 0.80–3.63) after adjusting for BMI, sex, energy intake, use of oral contraceptives, C-reactive protein levels, plasma α -tocopherol, ethnicity, and season (16). Based on this evidence, Schwartz (46) concluded that the required daily vitamin C intake in Hp 2-2 individuals should be higher than other Hp phenotypes.

The glutathione S-transferases (GSTs) are partof a large family of enzymes involved in the detoxification of detrimental compounds. Genetic variations in GST may affect vitamin C status through their impact on reactive oxygen species and glutathione status. Deletion polymorphisms in the GSTM1 and GSTT1 genes, found on chromosome 1 and chromosome 22, respectively, are generally present in Caucasian populations and result in absence of enzyme function (41) Subjects with the GSTM1-null genotype appeared to have increased vitamin C concentrations compared with carriers of the functional gene variant (8). Horska et al. (30) reported lower plasma vitamin C levels in subjects with deletion of GSTM1 compared with subjects carrying the functional gene variant (p = 0.042). In the cross sectional evaluation of participants in the Toronto Nutrigenomics and Health Study, however no differences in vitamin C status were observed (14). GSTM1 genotype and vitamin C status may be characterized by a more complex relation, taking into account dietary vitamin C intake and other environmental exposures such as smoking (41).

Dietary intake, GST genetic variants and serum ascorbic acid concentrations were determined for about 900 non-smoking men and women. When compared to individuals who met the Recommended Dietary Allowance for vitamin C, individuals who did not adhere to vitamin C recommendations and possessed the GST null genotypes had an increased risk of vitamin C deficiency. The odds ratio (95% CI) for deficiency among individuals with the GSTM1 null (0/0) genotypes and functional GSTM1 (1/1+1/0) not meeting the RDA values for vitamin C were 4.03 (2.01, 8.09) and 2.29 (0.96, 5.45), respectively as compared to those with intakes in accordance to recommended levels. For GSTT1 variant, the odds ratio (95% CI) for deficiency were 2.17 (1.10, 4.28) for functional and 12.28 (4.26, 33.42) for null genotypes who did not comply with recommendations as compared to those who did (14). Individuals with GSTM1/GSTT1 deletion (null genotypes) and low intake of vitamin C from their diet had lower plasma vitamin C concentrations than those with functional enzymes at the same level of intake. This may suggest that these enzymes protect against deficiency when the vitamin C intake is insufficient (14, 30). Cahill et al. (14) also reported that subjects with the GSTT1-null genotype had decreased serum ascorbate. However, these findings were not confirmed by Block et al. (8), in which no statistically significant association was observed (p > 0.05). A loss of GSTT1 function appears to affect cellular ascorbate levels but not plasma concentrations compared to other GSTs (41). In general, associations between vitamin C and glutathione S-transferases are complex and not well-understood yet.

The superoxide dismutase (SOD) is considered a significant antioxidant enzyme in the body and exists in three SOD isoforms including the mitochondrial SOD manganese dependent (MnSOD), encoded by the gene SOD2 located on chromosome 6q25, in humans. A common SOD2 polymorphism, the Ala16Val (rs4880) results in a mutation at codon 16 and an alanineto-valine substitution (GCT->GTT). The Val variant may be present at a lower concentration in the mitochondria and individuals homozygous (Val/Val) may have decreased resistance to oxidative stress (41). Duarte et al. (20) have studied the association of MnSOD variants with plasma vitamin C levels. Healthy homozygous for the valine variant individuals have higher levels of serum vitamin C (p < 0.05). In contrast, subjects with hypercholesterolemia and at least one copy of the val variant had lower serum vitamin C concentrations compared to subjects homozygous for the alanine variant, indicating an increase in the oxidative stress in subjects with the VV genotype for MnSOD and hypercholesterolemia (20).

FOLATE AND VITAMIN B12

From the group of B vitamins, folate (vitamin B9) and cobalamin (vitamin B12) have been primarily studied in relation to genetic variants affecting their body status. Therefore, this section focuses on the presentation of evidence related to these two B-vitamins. Folate is used to collectively describe a family of water-soluble compounds which are included in the B-complex vitamins. They are essential co-factors in onecarbon metabolism pathway (94), which involves three major interrelated metabolic cycles in the cells' cytosol and is essential in multiple biochemical processes, including: (a) amino acid metabolism and homeostasis, (b) de novo nucleotide synthesis (purines and thymidine; precursors for DNA and RNA), and (c) the process of methylation. Furthermore, the folate pathway is closely related to homocysteine metabolism (95, 96). Vitamins B12 and B6 (pyridoxine) are also important enzyme cofactors or substrates in one carbon metabolism (94).

Folate is present in high amounts in dark green leafy vegetables, legumes, orange and grapefruit (juice), and nuts (peanuts, almonds). Although folate in meat is generally found in low amounts, liver and kidney are particularly rich sources. Dairy products, fish, eggs, and potatoes are also sources of folate intake (96). Principal sources of cobalamin include products of animal origin (meat, fish, dairies, eggs, and liver) and it can also be added to foods and food supplements (97).

Metabolism and Functions of Folate and Vitamin B12

Dietary folate mainly exists as polyglutamates, which are hydrolyzed to monoglutamates by folyl poly- γ -glutamate carboxypeptidase (FGCP) found in the intestinal mucosa. In the intestinal cells, folate is usually reduced and methylated to be absorbed in the small intestine by the high-affinity proton-coupled folate transporter (PCFT1). In the circulation, the prominent form of folate is 5-Methyl-tetrahydrofolate (5-methyl-THF) monoglutamate. About 50% of folate is bound to albumin, in plasma about one-third is in a free form and a small proportion is bound to the plasma folate receptor. Folate molecules enter the cell through folate receptors (FRs) via endocytosis, with FR- α having a high affinity for the monoglutamate 5-methylTHF (42).

The 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate (5,10 methyl-THF), one of the one-carbon substituted forms of tetrahydrofolate present in the cell, plays a central role in the folate and methionine cycles,

as it can be used for thymidylate synthesis, or converted to 5methyl-THF in the methionine synthesis cycle, or oxidized to 10-formyl-tetrahydrofolate for purine synthesis. The reduction of 5,10 methyl-THF to 5-methyl-THF is achieved by the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR), which is a riboflavin-dependent enzyme. In the methionine cycle, 5-methyl-THF is used by methionine synthase (MTR) for the vitamin B12-dependent conversion of homocysteine to methionine and the formation of tetrahydrofolate (THF). Methionine synthase reductase encoded by MTRR gene is required for the reactivation and proper function of MTR (47).

Vitamin B12 in food is bound to proteins and is released in the stomach under the influence of hydrochloric acid and pepsin. The thus released vitamin initially binds to dietary proteins, including haptocorrin (transcobalamin I, TC-I). Cobalamin is released from its complex with TC-I by pancreatic enzymes in the duodenum and then free vitamin binds to gastric intrinsic factor (IF), a glycoprotein produced in the stomach. After IF-cobalamin complex is absorbed through receptor-mediated endocytosis in the lower part of small intestine, cobalamin is released into the blood stream primarily in the form of methylcobalamin and the IF is degraded in lysosomes. A protein called transcobalamin II (TC-II) combines with cobalamin to form holotranscobalamin-holoTC (metabolic active cobalamin) and the complex is transferred to the cells after binding to the transcobalamin receptor TC-R. The vitamin's dietary source, its ability to be released from food and bind appropriately to IF determine cobalamin's absorption. The main fraction of plasma cobalamin (70-90%) binds to haptocorrin, while holoTC accounts for 10-30% of total plasma levels (47, 97).

Vitamin B12 is involved in the cytosolic transmethylation of homocysteine to methionine by the enzyme methionine synthase. Cobalamin is also required as coenzyme to form succinyl coenzyme A (CoA) from methylmalonyl CoA in propionate metabolism by methylmalonylCoA mutase in mitochondria (97).

Biomarkers of Status

A sensitive and short-term indicator of folate dietary intake is serum or plasma folate concentration (98), while red blood cell (RBC) folate concentration is a marker of long-term intake responding gently to changes—and the most reliable biomarker of status, as it indicates tissue folate stores (96). The assessment of folate status should include either multiple measurements of serum/plasma folate over several weeks or a single measurement combined with other biomarkers of status (RBC folate). This combination is recommended by a World Health Organization (WHO) Technical Consultation on folate and cobalamin deficiencies, at the population level (96, 99).

Folate adequacy is described by serum/plasma and red blood cell folate concentrations of higher than 10 nmol/L (4.4 ng/mL) and 340 nmol/L (150 ng/mL), respectively. Serum folate and RBC concentrations of less than 6.8 and 317 nmol/L, respectively, are indicative of folate deficiency. Folate deficiency adversely affects DNA replication and synthesis and thus cell division. As a result, bone marrow may produce uncommonly large cells with abnormal maturation of nuclei and development of megaloblastic anemia (96). Furthermore, folate deficiency impairs the methionine cycle functions, resulting in elevated plasma homocysteine and insufficient production of the S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) which is extensively used in methylation reactions (100). The association of folate status during pre-conceptional period and appearance of developmental anomalies, including neural tube defects (NTD), has long been established (101).

Serum **cobalamin** is the most widely used biomarker of vitamin B12 status, reflecting both the metabolically active cobalamin bound to TCII and the inert fraction bound to haptocorrin. However, since its concentration associates weakly with the biomarkers of cobalamin function, serum holoTC is the most specific biomarker for assessment of adequate vitamin B12 status. Other biomarkers studied (e.g., methylmalonic acid and homocysteine) are elevated in cobalamin deficiency but are influenced by numerous dietary and lifestyle factors or conditions (in poor renal function, for instance) (99, 102). Thus, their interpretation requires a more complete assessment of the body nutritional status (99).

In clinical settings, serum total **vitamin B12** is used to assess adequacy, with serum total B12 concentrations below 148 pmol/L indicating deficiency. Notwithstanding the limitations indicated in the previous section, the concentrations of homocysteine and methylmalonic acid in blood have also been used to assess vitamin B12 status, with homocysteine levels above 15 μ mol/L and methylmalonic acid above 750 nmol/L frequently used in adults to diagnose cobalamin deficiency. Clinical cobalamin deficiency is most frequently associated with megaloblastic anemia, as well as with neurological symptoms (97).

Genetic Variations and Folate Status

Several polymorphisms in genes encoding enzymes and transport proteins of folate metabolism are reported to affect folate status, homocysteine levels, and health outcomes. Folate-mediated onecarbon metabolism and related genes have been illustrated (101). To date, most studies have reported that the MTHFR C677T (rs1801133) SNP is related to both biomarkers of status and disease risk (54, 103-105). Together with rs1801131, they are the most well-known genetic factors influencing folate status that have been studied in great detail in terms of molecular mechanism and impact on disease risk (29, 42). However, the 1298A-C MTHFR variant (rs1801131), which is in strong linkage disequilibrium with the 677C-T variant, has no effect on biomarkers of folate status (42, 48). The distribution of the polymorphism shows a substantial variation worldwide and across ethnic groups. The frequency of the MTHFRrs1801133 TT SNP is described to be high in Europeans, Asians, Central, and South Americans (10-32%) and low in several African populations (0-3%) (106). Binia et al. (107) reported that the TT genotype presents at about 25 and 57% in Mexican Mestizo and American-Indian populations, respectively.

The common rs1801133 variant is a C to T transition at position 677, resulting in substitution of alanine with valine. MTHFR is a flavoprotein incorporating loosely bound flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD). This substitution results in weaker binding affinity for the riboflavin (vitamin B2) cofactor and increased loss of the FAD cofactor, creating a mildly dysfunctional thermolabile protein (108). Homozygosity for the T allele (TT genotype) is associated with reduced enzyme activity (109), lower serum and RBC folate and higher plasma homocysteine levels compared with the 677CC (31, 110, 111). The well-documented association between MTHFR rs1801133 and folate status has also been evaluated in more recent studies (13, 18, 48).

In their meta-analysis of the association between the MTHFR rs1801133 polymorphism and blood folate concentrations (plasma/serum, RBC), Tsang et al. (54) reported a steady difference in serum/plasma and RBC folate concentrations across MTHFR rs1801133 genotypes showing a distinct pattern of CC > CT > TT. The percentage difference was highest for the CC vs. the TT genotype [S/P = 13%, 95% credible interval (CrI) derived from Bayesian statistics = 7–18%] [RBC = 16%; 95% CrI = 12–20%] followed by CC vs. CT (S/P = 7%; 95% CrI = 1–12%] [RBC = 8%; 95% CrI = 4–12%) and CT vs. TT (S/P = 6%; 95% CrI = 1–11%] [RBC = 9%; 95% CrI = 5–13%]. The inheritance of one recessive allele (i.e., the CT genotype) is related to concentrations intermediate to the CC and TT genotypes, as described by the additive model (54).

Hyperhomocysteinemia is known to be most pronounced if the TT genotype occurs in combination with low nutritional status of either folate (110) or riboflavin (31, 39). Several studies have reported that individuals with the homozygous TT genotype exhibit decreased response of folate biomarkers to folate intervention compared to those with the homozygous CC genotype, suggesting a higher requirement for folate (29). The EFSA NDA Panel has taken this polymorphism into account in setting the dietary reference values for folate, applying a coefficient of variation of 15% to address additional variability (96). Moreover, genetically at-risk adults (TT homozygotes) also have higher riboflavin requirements in order to maintain adequate enzyme function (39, 40). Among TT genotypes, riboflavin supplementation results in decreased homocysteine concentrations by 22% overall (p = 0.03) and 40% among individuals with lower riboflavin status at baseline (p =0.010) (40).

Genetic Variations and Vitamin B12 Status

In a recent publication, Surendran et al. (51) reviewed candidate gene studies and GWAS published until May 2017 and conducted primarily among Caucasian populations, in order to identify associations between SNPs in genes related to vitamin B12 pathway and their impact on the circulating cobalamin levels. Authors present a comprehensive description together with schematic presentations of SNPs in genes related to co-factors, regulators of the vitamin transport, membrane cobalamin transporters or factors involved in enzymatic reactions of the one-carbon cycle (e.g., MTHFR and MTRR).

In their review, Surendran et al. (51) present, among others, the fucosyltranferase 2 gene. The FUT2 or secretor (Se) gene is located on chromosome 19 coding the a(1,2) fucosyltransferase enzyme that is involved in the production of H antigens (common precursors for the blood group A and B antigens expressed on secretory glands and digestive mucosal surfaces)

Genetic Variants Shaping Vitamin Status

and may also influence B12 absorption at the gastric level. In a meta-analysis of studies among US Caucasian populations Hazra et al. (27) concluded that the SNP rs601338, also known as 428 G/A non-secretor variant, was significantly associated with plasma vitamin B12 concentrations. In particular, the A allele was positively associated with circulating vitamin B12 levels ($\beta = 0.06$ pg/mL, SE = 0.01). There is a heterogeneity in associations between FUT2 polymorphism and cobalamin concentrations, as the distribution of the minor allele of rs601338 considerably varies among ethnicities. Hazra et al. (27) reported that the rs492602 SNP is in complete linkage disequilibrium with rs601338. The G allele of the SNP rs492602 variant was associated with lower vitamin B12 levels ($\beta = 0.06$ pg/mL, SE = 0.01) Interestingly, in another study among 3114 Canadian adults, the G allele of the same SNP was found to be associated with a lower risk (OR = 0.60, 95% CI = 0.54-0.70) of vitamin B12 deficiency (<148 pmol/L), compared to A allele (62). The most commonly studied FUT2 variant however is the rs602662 SNP, which is also reported to be in linkage disequilibrium with the rs601338 SNP. Carriers of the A allele in the rs602662 variant are at lower risk (OR = 0.61, 95%) CI = 0.47-0.80) of vitamin B12 deficiency (<148 pmol/L), compared to those carrying the G allele (62). Genetic variations in the FUT2 gene have also been implicated in alterations of the composition of the gut microbiome and individuals with the non-functional FUT2 phenotype (non-secretors) are susceptible to Helicobacter pylori infection and subsequent vitamin B12 malabsorption (51).

Another variant described in the Surendran et al. (51) review is the transcobalamin 2 (TCN2) gene, located on chromosome 22, which encodes transcobalamin II (vitamin B12 binding protein). The most commonly reported association between TCN2 polymorphism and vitamin B12 levels in Caucasians is the SNP rs1801198, characterized by C to G substitution at nucleotide 776 (TCN2 776C>G) and an exchange of proline to arginine at codon 259. In a candidate gene association study among 613 Irish men (50), individuals with the TCN2 776CC genotype were associated with lower serum vitamin B12 levels compared to those with 776 CG (adjusted P = 0.03) and 776GG genotypes (adjusted P = 0.045). In contrast, in a cross-sectional study of 122 individuals from Portugal, holotranscobalamin (Holo-TC) levels were significantly associated with the SNP rs1801198; carriers of the G allele had lower Holo-TC concentrations than C carriers (P < 0.05) (17), a finding which has also been reported in an earlier cross-sectional study (57).

Cubulin (CUBN), CD320 and methionine synthase reductase (MTRR) genes are also vitamin B12 related genes described in the Surendran et al. (51) review. CUBN is known as the intrinsic factor-cobalamin (IF-B12) receptor located on chromosome 10 and variants within this gene have been associated with B12 status, but results are often conflicting. Hazra et al. (27) reported that the A allele of the rs1801222 (Ser253Phe) variant was associated with lower cobalamin status ($\beta = -0.05$ pg/mL, SE = 0.01) in 4763 US individuals, while subjects homozygous for the rs1801222 G allele had higher vitamin B12 concentrations. In contrast, Zinck et al. (62) described that the G allele of the

rs1801222 was associated with an increased risk of cobalamin deficiency (OR = 1.61, 95% CI = 1.24-2.09).

The CD320 or "CD320 molecule" gene encodes the transcobalamin receptor (TCblR) and is located on chromosome 19. The most commonly studied variant is the rs2336573 variant characterized by a glycine to arginine change, at codon position 220. Zinck et al. (62) reported that the C allele of this variant was associated with a lower risk (OR = 0.62, 95% CI = 0.45–0.86) of inadequate vitamin B12 levels (<220 pmol/L). An earlier study among Icelandic and Danish individuals (n = 45,571 adults), however, reported that the "T" allele was associated with increased vitamin B12 concentrations (effect $\beta = 0.22-0.32$ pmol/L; $P = 8.4 \times 10^{-59}$) (23).

Genetic variants in methionine synthase reductase (MTRR) gene, located on chromosome 5, have also been associated with vitamin B12 levels in healthy individuals. Among them, SNP MTRR rs162036 (Lys350Arg) was found to be associated with vitamin B12 levels in a study of 2424 twins of North European descent (Caucasians) (p = 0.04) (4).While the majority of candidate gene association studies did not provide evidence (P > 0.05) for an association between the MTHFR gene polymorphisms (rs1801131 and rs1801133) and cobalamin concentrations, Thuesen et al. reported that the TT genotype of the rs1801133 variant was associated with a higher risk of vitamin B12 concentrations below 148 pmol/L compared with the CC genotype (OR = 1.78, 95% CI = 1.25–2.54) in a study among Danish participants (52).

DISCUSSION

We have undertaken a comprehensive narrative review of the literature available until March 2020 in order to identify genetic variants extensively studied that could impair the body's vitamin status. The fat-soluble vitamins D and E and the water-soluble vitamins C, B9 (folate), and B12 (cobalamin) prevail in the corresponding literature and have therefore been presented in this review. Based on the outcomes of candidate gene studies, GWAS and the meta-analysis thereof, several SNPs have been identified to impair enzymes, carrier proteins, cell membrane channels and similar routes and substances that can subsequently affect the absorption, release in the blood stream and cell uptake of the vitamins under study. Therefore, through possible impacts on the vitamins' physiology, metabolism, and functionality, several of these genetic variants could determine the individual's vitamin status following an intake through the diet. Evidence is however not always consistent and we opted for the presentation of both converging and diverging results which could be attributed to either the heterogeneity among the populations studied, lack of comparability between methods and different biomarkers of vitamin status or a combination of all.

Furthermore, for the vast majority of these polymorphisms, prevalence rates in the general population are not known and cannot be used for setting advice on dietary requirements at the population level or design public health actions. An exception, however, holds for the European dietary reference values for folate in which the MTHFR genotype (rs1801133) has been
taken into consideration. In particular, after setting the Average Requirement for folate, the EFSA Panel of Nutrition, Novel Foods and Food Allergens (96) considered evidence on the prevalence of the various genotypes in the European population and on the higher folate requirements among individuals with the MTHFR 677TT, compared to those with the MTHFR 677CC genotype, and selected a larger coefficient of variation to be applied in setting the Population Reference Intake.

Next to their impact on vitamin status, several of the polymorphisms presented have also been associated with disease risk. Variants in the vitamin D-related VDR gene have commonly been associated with the risk of a range of skeletal and non-skeletal health outcomes, including infections from the respiratory syncytial virus, the hepatitis B virus; tuberculosis; cancer, and autoimmune diseases such as systematic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis (32, 112). Polymorphisms in the SLC23A1 and SLC23A2 genes as well as in other genes encoding the vitamin C transporter have also been associated with the risk of chronic diseases, including cancer, inflammatory bowel disease, preterm delivery, coronary heart disease, and glaucoma (113).

Several studies indicated gene-diet interactions between folate intake, MTHFR C677T genotype and risk of breast, colorectal, and lung cancer (114). With respect to colorectal cancer, metaanalyses of case-control studies provided evidence that the 677TT genotype is associated with a lower risk of colorectal cancer when compared to the CC genotype (105, 115). In another meta-analysis of case-control studies including CHD patients, individuals with the 677TT genotype had a significantly higher risk of CHD (OR = 1.16, 95% CI = 1.05-1.28) compared to the CC genotype, particularly when combined with low folate status (OR = 1.44, 95% CI = 1.12-1.83) (116). Cronin et al. (104) reported a dose-response association between the MTHFR 677T allele and the risk of ischemic stroke (T allele pooled OR = 1.17, 95% CI = 1.09–1.26 and TT genotype pooled OR = 1.37, 95% CI = 1.15-1.64, respectively). Homozygosity for the MTHFR C677T polymorphism (TT genotype) has also been associated with an increased risk for NTD-affected pregnancies (103), which provides additional support to the well-reported link between folate status and NTD risk. The presentation of such gene-disease associations were out of the scope of the present manuscript.

Variants related to vitamin E transport have also been associated with disease risk. Apo-AV is a minor apo-lipoprotein almost exclusively expressed in liver that plays a significant role in the regulation of plasma triglycerides. The most studied SNP in Apo-AV is rs662799 where the minor variant (C) has been associated with both higher plasma vitamin E and VLDL-TGs levels in diabetic patients. Guardiola and Ribalta (117) reported that in patients with metabolic syndrome or type 2 diabetes, apo-AV variants increase TG levels and minor allele carriers present an altered lipoprotein profile including large VLDL and small LDL and HDL particles that characterize atherogenic dyslipidemia.

Some considerations are crucial when reporting and interpreting genetic studies in relation to vitamin status. Confounding generated through the use of less appropriate comparators can lead researchers to spurious findings. Ethnicity and race are for instance important characteristics that can confound the associations observed (118). In our review, we generally selected to present studies that controlled for self-reported ethnicity. Misclassification due to either the biomarker of vitamin status used or the analytic validity of genetic markers is an additional issue to consider. As regards the vitamin-related biomarker, we have solely relied on studies presenting associations between genetic variants and conventional biomarkers of vitamin status that have been widely used by national and international scientific bodies (64, 68, 80, 88, 90, 96, 97). With respect to the validity of the genetic markers used in the studies we report in this review, unless errors are systematic, any misclassification would have probably attenuated the association between a dichotomous biomarker and the risk of low vitamin status, but it would probably not generate an association when in reality this does not exist. Studies of genetic epidemiology making use of numerous gene variants suffer from an increased possibility for Type I and Type II errors, particularly when authors overemphasize on statistical testing. In our presentation of results, we selectively described the outcome of methods that addressed the problem of false positive associations resulting from multiple comparisons (e.g., *p*-values after the application of Bonferroni correction or Bayesian methods, when available). Next to statistical significance, biological relevance needs to be also taken into account in combination or as a separate criterion to establish causality.

The strengths of our narrative review lie in the provision of a collective description of converging and diverging evidence regarding genetic variants that influence vitamin status in response to dietary intake. Furthermore, our review summarizes studies among individuals from the general population, free of prevalent diseases that could affect their nutritional status addressing thus issues related to the public health. Our review is limited by the fact it focuses on vitamin deficiencies. However, it should be pointed out that the excess of water-soluble vitamins is physiologically controlled through homeostatic mechanisms and health professionals are primarily concerned with the deficiency rather than the excess of lipo-soluble vitamins (vitamins D and E, in our case).

The ongoing miRNA research is providing additional evidence on gene expression, body function and many other biological processes. miRNAs have been reported to target vitamin-related genes and human circulating vitamin levels (119). Nevertheless, the currently published research primarily explores such associations among patients of degenerative diseases/conditions. The demonstration of possible interactions among free-living, generally healthy individuals is yet to be accumulated and will substantially enhance our knowledge on disease progression.

In conclusion, our review summarizes current findings on how genetic variants could shape inter-individual differences in response to dietary intakes. Capturing these differences in intakes and mitigate sources of bias that could confound any association observed has traditionally been the goal of objective dietary assessment studies. The consideration of genetic variants has its own share in improving our understanding of the diet-disease inter-relationship. The individual genetic profile could add an extra layer of personalization in nutritional evaluation and offer a more comprehensive dietary assessment. Next to their association with vitamin status, genetic variants have also been implicated in underlying needs for differential vitamin intake to prevent chronic, diet-related diseases. The early knowledge of those needs could drive personalized nutritional advice favoring prevention. Well-designed studies addressing biological relevance next to statistical significance are however needed if the identification of genetic variants it to be included in future dietary assessments.

REFERENCES

- Naska A, Lagiou A, Lagiou P. Dietary assessment methods in epidemiological research: current state of the art and future prospects. *F1000Res.* (2017) 6:926. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.10703.1
- Bordoni L, Gabbianelli R. Primers on nutrigenetics and nutri(epi)genomics: origins and development of precision nutrition. *Biochimie*. (2019) 160:156– 71. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2019.03.006
- Ahn J, Yu K, Stolzenberg-Solomon R, Simon KC, McCullough ML, Gallicchio L, et al. Genome-wide association study of circulating vitamin D levels. *Hum Mol Genet*. (2010). 19:2739–2745. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddq155
- Andrew T, Gill R, Gillham-Nasenya I, Ahmadi KR. Unravelling the basis of variability in cobalamin levels in the general population. *Br J Nutr.* (2013) 110:1672–79. doi: 10.1017/S0007114513000974
- Bahrami A, Sadeghnia HR, Tabatabaeizadeh SA, Bahrami-Taghanaki H, Behboodi N, Esmaeili H, et al. Genetic and epigenetic factors influencing vitamin D status. *J Cell Physiol.* (2018) 233:4033–43. doi: 10.1002/jcp.26216
- Batai K, Murphy AB, Shah E, Ruden M, Newsome J, Agate S, et al. Common vitamin D pathway gene variants reveal contrasting effects on serum vitamin D levels in African Americans and European Americans. *Hum Genet*. (2014) 133:1395–405. doi: 10.1007/s00439-014-1472-y
- Bendik I, Friedel A, Roos FF, Weber P, Eggersdorfer M. Vitamin D: a critical and essential micronutrient for human health. *Front Physiol.* (2014) 5:248. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2014.00248
- Block G, Shaikh N, Jensen CD, Volberg V, Holland N. Serum vitamin C and other biomarkers differ by genotype of phase 2 enzyme genes GSTM1 and GSTT1. Am J Clin Nutr. (2011) 94:929–37. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.111.011460
- Bhan I. Vitamin d binding protein and bone health. Int J Endocrinol. (2014) 2014:561214. doi: 10.1155/2014/561214
- Borel P, Moussa M, Reboul E, Lyan B, Defoort C, Vincent-Baudry S, et al. Human plasma levels of vitamin E and carotenoids are associated with genetic polymorphisms in genes involved in lipid metabolism. *J Nutr.* (2007) 137:2653–9. doi: 10.1093/jn/137.12.2653
- Borel P, Desmarchelier C. Genetic variations involved in Vitamin E status. Int J Mol Sci. (2016) 17:2094. doi: 10.3390/ijms17122094
- Bu FX, Armas L, Lappe J, Zhou Y, Gao G, Wang HW, et al. Comprehensive association analysis of nine candidate genes with serum 25-hydroxy vitamin D levels among healthy Caucasian subjects. *Hum Genet.* (2010) 128:549– 56. doi: 10.1007/s00439-010-0881-9
- Bueno O, Molloy AM, Fernandez-Ballart JD, García-Minguillán CJ, Ceruelo S, Ríos L, et al. Common polymorphisms that affect folate transport or metabolism modify the effect of the MTHFR 677C > T polymorphism on folate status. J Nutr. (2016) 146:1–8. doi: 10.3945/jn.115.223685
- Cahill LE, Fontaine-Bisson B, El-Sohemy A. Functional genetic variants of glutathione S-transferase protect against serum ascorbic acid deficiency. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2009) 90:1411–7. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2009.28327
- Cahill LE, El-Sohemy A. Vitamin C transporter gene polymorphisms, dietary vitamin C and serum ascorbic acid. J Nutrigenet Nutrigenomics. (2009) 2:292–301. doi: 10.1159/000314597

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ANi performed the literature review, in collaboration with VK. ANi drafted the paper. All authors contributed in the development of the submitted manuscript. ANa has the primary responsibility for the manuscript's final content.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The manuscript has been prepared in the context of a collaboration between the Dept. of Hygiene, Epidemiology and Medical Statistics of the NKUA School of Medicine and the DNANUTRICOACH (\mathbb{R}) .

- Cahill LE, El-Sohemy A. Haptoglobin genotype modifies the association between dietary vitamin C and serum ascorbic acid deficiency. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2010) 92:1494–500. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2010.29306
- Castro R, Barroso M, Rocha M, Esse R, Ramos R, Ravasco P, et al. The TCN2 776CNG polymorphism correlates with vitamin B(12) cellular delivery in healthy adult populations. *Clin Biochem.* (2010) 43:645– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2010.01.015
- de Batlle J, Matejcic M, Chajes V, Moreno-Macias H, Amadou A, Slimani N, et al. Determinants of folate and vitamin B12 plasma levels in the French E3N-EPIC cohort. *Eur J Nutr.* (2018) 57:751– 60. doi: 10.1007/s00394-016-1365-z
- Duan L, Xue Z, Ji H, Zhang D, Wang Y. Effects of CYP2R1 gene variants on vitamin D levels and status: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Gene.* (2018) 678:361–9. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2018.08.056
- Duarte MM, Moresco RN, Duarte T, Santi A, Bagatini MD, Da Cruz IB, et al. Oxidative stress in hypercholesterolemia and its association with Ala16Val superoxide dismutase gene polymorphism. *Clin Biochem.* (2010) 43:1118–23. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2010.07.002
- Duell EJ, Lujan-Barroso L, Llivina C, Muñoz X, Jenab M, Boutron-Ruault MC, et al. Vitamin C transporter gene (SLC23A1 and SLC23A2) polymorphisms, plasma vitamin C levels, and gastric cancer risk in the EPIC cohort. *Genes Nutr.* (2013) 8:549–60. doi: 10.1007/s12263-013-0346-6
- Galmés S, Serra F, Palou A. Vitamin E metabolic effects and genetic variants: a challenge for precision nutrition in obesity and associated disturbances. *Nutrients.* (2018) 10:1919. doi: 10.3390/nu10121919
- Grarup N, Sulem P, Sandholt CH, Thorleifsson G, Ahluwalia TS, Steinthorsdottir V, et al. Genetic architecture of vitamin B12 and folate levels uncovered applying deeply sequenced large datasets. *PLoS Genet.* (2013) 9:e1003530. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1003530
- Engelman CD, Fingerlin TE, Langefeld CD, Hicks PJ, Rich SS, Wagenknecht LE, et al. Genetic and environmental determinants of 25-hydroxyvitamin D and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D levels in Hispanic and African Americans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2008) 93:3381–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.20 07-2702
- Ferrucci L, Perry JR, Matteini A, Perola M, Tanaka T, Silander K, et al. Common variation in the beta-carotene 15,15'-monooxygenase 1 gene affects circulating levels of carotenoids: a genome-wide association study. *Am J Hum Genet.* (2009) 84:123–33. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2008.12.019
- Hansen JG, Tang W, Hootman KC, Brannon PM, Houston DK, Kritchevsky SB, et al. Genetic and environmental factors are associated with serum 25hydroxyvitamin D concentrations in older African Americans. *J Nutr.* (2015) 145:799–05. doi: 10.3945/jn.114.202093
- 27. Hazra A, Kraft P, Lazarus R, Chen C, Chanock SJ, Jacques P, et al. Genomewide significant predictors of metabolites in the one-carbon metabolism pathway. *Hum Mol Genet*. (2009) 18:4677–87. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddp428
- Herrmann M, Farrell CL, Pusceddu I, Fabregat-Cabello N, Cavalier E. Assessment of vitamin D status - a changing landscape. *Clin Chem Lab Med.* (2017) 55:3–26. doi: 10.1515/cclm-2016-0264

- Hiraoka M, Kagawa Y. Genetic polymorphisms and folate status. Congenit Anom. (2017) 57:142–9. doi: 10.1111/cga.12232
- Horska A, Mislanova C, Bonassi S, Ceppi M, Volkovova K, Dusinska M. Vitamin C levels in blood are influenced by polymorphisms in glutathione S-transferases. *Eur J Nutr.* (2011) 50:437–46. doi: 10.1007/s00394-010-0147-2
- Hustad S, Midttun Ø, Schneede J, Vollset SE, Grotmol T, Ueland PM. The methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase 677C->T polymorphism as a modulator of a B vitamin network with major effects on homocysteine metabolism. *Am J Hum Genet.* (2007) 80:846–55. doi: 10.1086/513520
- 32. Jolliffe DA, Walton RT, Griffiths CJ, Martineau AR. Single nucleotide polymorphisms in the vitamin D pathway associating with circulating concentrations of vitamin D metabolites and non-skeletal health outcomes: review of genetic association studies. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol.* (2016) 164:18–29. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2015.12.007
- 33. Kwak SY, Yongjoo Park C, Jo G, Yoen Kim O, Shin MJ. Association among genetic variants in the vitamin D pathway and circulating 25hydroxyvitamin D levels in Korean adults: results from the Korea National health and nutrition examination survey 2011-2012. *Endocr J.* (2018) 65:881– 91. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ18-0084
- 34. Lauridsen AL, Vestergaard P, Hermann AP, Brot C, Heickendorff L, Mosekilde L, et al. Plasma concentrations of 25-hydroxy-vitamin D and 1,25dihydroxy-vitamin D are related to the phenotype of Gc (vitamin D-binding protein): a cross-sectional study on 595 early postmenopausal women. *Calcif Tissue Int.* (2005) 77:15–22. doi: 10.1007/s00223-004-0227-5
- Lecompte S, Szabo de Edelenyi F, Goumidi L, Maiani G, Moschonis G, Widhalm K, et al. Polymorphisms in the CD36/FAT gene are associated with plasma vitamin E concentrations in humans. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2011) 93:644–51. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.110.004176
- Major JM, Yu K, Wheeler W, Zhang H, Cornelis MC, Wright ME, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies common variants associated with circulating vitamin E levels. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2011) 20:3876– 83. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddr296
- 37. Major JM, Yu K, Chung CC, Weinstein SJ, Yeager M, Wheeler W, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies three common variants associated with serologic response to vitamin E supplementation in men. *J Nutr.* (2012) 142:866–71. doi: 10.3945/jn.111.156349
- McGrath JJ, Saha S, Burne TH, Eyles DW. A systematic review of the association between common single nucleotide polymorphisms and 25hydroxyvitamin D concentrations. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. (2010) 121:471–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2010.03.073
- McNulty H, McKinley MC, Wilson B, McPartlin J, Strain JJ, Weir DG, et al. Impaired functioning of thermolabile methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase is dependent on riboflavin status: implications for riboflavin requirements. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2002) 76:436–41. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/76.2.436
- McNulty H, Dowey le RC, Strain JJ, Dunne A, Ward M, Molloy AM, et al. Riboflavin lowers homocysteine in individuals homozygous for the MTHFR 677C->T polymorphism. *Circulation*. (2006) 113:74– 80. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.580332
- Michels AJ, Hagen TM, Frei B. Human genetic variation influences vitamin C homeostasis by altering vitamin C transport and antioxidant enzyme function. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2013) 33:45–70. doi: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-071812-161246
- Molloy AM. Genetic aspects of folate metabolism. Subcell Biochem. (2012) 56:105–30. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-2199-9_7
- Na N, Delanghe JR, Taes YE, Torck M, Baeyens WR, Ouyang J. Serum vitamin C concentration is influenced by haptoglobin polymorphism and iron status in Chinese. *Clin Chim Acta.* (2006) 365:319–24. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2005.09.015
- 44. Orton SM, Morris AP, Herrera BM, Ramagopalan SV, Lincoln MR, Chao MJ, et al. Evidence for genetic regulation of vitamin D status in twins with multiple sclerosis. Am J Clin Nutr. (2008) 88:441– 7. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/88.2.441
- 45. Robien K, Butler LM, Wang R, Beckman KB, Walek D, Koh WP, et al. Genetic and environmental predictors of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations among middle-aged and elderly Chinese in Singapore. Br J Nutr. (2013) 109:493–502. doi: 10.1017/S0007114512001675

- Schwartz B. New criteria for supplementation of selected micronutrients in the era of nutrigenetics and nutrigenomics. *Int J Food Sci Nutr.* (2014) 65:529–38. doi: 10.3109/09637486.2014.898258
- Shane B. Folate and vitamin B12 metabolism: overview and interaction with riboflavin, vitamin B6, and polymorphisms. *Food Nutr Bull.* (2008) 29(Suppl. 2):S5–19. doi: 10.1177/15648265080292S103
- 48. Shane B, Pangilinan F, Mills JL, Fan R, Gong T, Cropp CD, et al. The 677C→T variant of MTHFR is the major genetic modifier of biomarkers of folate status in a young, healthy Irish population. Am J Clin Nutr. (2018) 108:1334–41. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqy209
- 49. Signorello LB, Shi J, Cai Q, Zheng W, Williams SM, Long J, et al. Common variation in vitamin D pathway genes predicts circulating 25hydroxyvitamin D Levels among African Americans. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e28623. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028623
- Stanisławska-Sachadyn A, Woodside JV, Sayers CM, Yarnell JW, Young IS, Evans AE, et al. The transcobalamin (TCN2) 776C>G polymorphism affects homocysteine concentrations among subjects with low vitamin B(12) status. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2010) 64:1338–43. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2010.157
- Surendran S, Adaikalakoteswari A, Saravanan P, Shatwaan IA, Lovegrove JA, Vimaleswaran KS. An update on vitamin B12-related gene polymorphisms and B12 status. *Genes Nutr.* (2018) 13:2. doi: 10.1186/s12263-018-0591-9
- Thuesen BH, Husemoen LL, Ovesen L, Jørgensen T, Fenger M, Linneberg A. Lifestyle and genetic determinants of folate and vitamin B12 levels in a general adult population. Br J Nutr. (2010) 103:1195– 204. doi: 10.1017/S0007114509992947
- Timpson NJ, Forouhi NG, Brion MJ, Harbord RM, Cook DG, Johnson P, et al. Genetic variation at the SLC23A1 locus is associated with circulating concentrations of L-ascorbic acid (vitamin C): evidence from 5 independent studies with >15,000 participants. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2010) 92:375–82. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2010.29438
- 54. Tsang BL, Devine OJ, Cordero AM, Marchetta CM, Mulinare J, Mersereau P, et al. Assessing the association between the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) 677C>T polymorphism and blood folate concentrations: a systematic review and meta-analysis of trials and observational studies. Am J Clin Nutr. (2015) 101:1286–94. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.099994
- Touvier M, Deschasaux M, Montourcy M, Sutton A, Charnaux N, Kesse-Guyot E, et al. Determinants of vitamin D status in Caucasian adults: influence of sun exposure, dietary intake, sociodemographic, lifestyle, anthropometric, and genetic factors. J Invest Dermatol. (2015) 135:378– 88. doi: 10.1038/jid.2014.400
- Voipio AJ, Pahkala KA, Viikari JS, Mikkilä V, Magnussen CG, Hutri-Kähönen N, et al. Determinants of serum 25(OH)D concentration in young and middle-aged adults. The cardiovascular risk in young finns study. *Ann Med.* (2015) 47:253–262. doi: 10.3109/07853890.2015.1020860
- 57. von Castel-Dunwoody KM, Kauwell GPA, Shelnutt KP, Vaughn JD, Griffin ER, Maneval DR, et al. Transcobalamin 776C3G polymorphism negatively affects vitamin B-12 metabolism. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2005) 81:1436– 41. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/81.6.1436
- Wang TJ, Zhang F, Richards JB, Kestenbaum B, van Meurs JB, Berry D, et al. Common genetic determinants of vitamin D insufficiency: a genome-wide association study. *Lancet.* (2010) 376:180–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60588-0
- Wright ME, Peters U, Gunter MJ, Moore SC, Lawson KA, Yeager M, et al. Association of variants in two vitamin e transport genes with circulating vitamin e concentrations and prostate cancer risk. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:1429–38. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2343
- 60. Xu X, Mao J, Zhang M, Liu H, Li H, Lei H, et al. Vitamin D Deficiency in uygurs and kazaks is associated with polymorphisms in CYP2R1 and DHCR7/NADSYN1 genes. *Med Sci Monit.* (2015) 21:1960– 8. doi: 10.12659/MSM.894793
- Zanon-Moreno V, Ciancotti-Olivares L, Asencio J, Sanz P, Ortega-Azorin C, Pinazo-Duran MD, et al. Association between a SLC23A2 gene variation, plasma vitamin C levels, and risk of glaucoma in a Mediterranean population. *Mol Vis.* (2011) 17:2997–3004.
- 62. Zinck JW, de Groh M, MacFarlane AJ. Genetic modifiers of folate, vitamin B-12, and homocysteine status in a cross-sectional

study of the Canadian population. Am J Clin Nutr. (2015) 101:1295–304. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.115.107219

- Ross AC, Taylor CL, Yaktine AL, Del Valle HB. 2011 Institute of Medicine (US) Committee to Review Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin D Calcium; Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium Vitamin D. Washington, DC: National Academies Press (2011). Available online at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ books/NBK56070/
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition Allergies. Scientific opinion on dietary reference values for vitamin D. *EFSA J.* (2016) 14:145. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2016.4484
- 65. Whiting SJ, Calvo MS Stephensen CB. Current understanding of vitamin D metabolism, nutritional status, role in disease prevention. In: Coulston AM, Boushey CJ Ferruzzi MG, editors. *Nutrition in the Prevention Treatment of Disease*. Burlington, MA; San Diego, CA; London, UK: Elsevier. (2013) p. 811–38.
- Cheng JB, Levine MA, Bell NH, Mangelsdorf DJ, Russell DW. Genetic evidence that the human CYP2R1 enzyme is a key vitamin D 25-hydroxylase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2004) 101:7711–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0402490101
- Jones G, Strugnell SA, DeLuca HF. Current understanding of the molecular actions of vitamin D. *Physiol Rev.* (1998) 78: 1193–231. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1998.78.4.1193
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition Allergies. Scientific Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of vitamin D. EFSA J. (2012) 10:45. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2813
- Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Gordon CM, Hanley DA, et al. Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of vitamin D deficiency: an endocrine society clinical practice guideline. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2011) 96:1911–30. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-0385
- Spiro A, Buttriss JL. Vitamin D: an overview of vitamin D status and intake in Europe. Nutr Bull. (2014) 39:322–50. doi: 10.1111/nbu.12108
- Chun RF, Shieh A, Gottlieb C, Yacoubian V, Wang J, Hewison M, et al. Vitamin D binding protein and the biological activity of vitamin D. Front Endocrinol. (2019) 10:718. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00718
- Bikle DD, Gee E, Halloran B, Kowalski MA, Ryzen E, Haddad JG. Assessment of the free fraction of 25-hydroxyvitamin D in serum and its regulation by albumin and the vitamin D-binding protein. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (1986) 63:954–9. doi: 10.1210/jcem-63-4-954
- Hollis BW. Comparison of equilibrium and disequilibrium assay conditions for ergocalciferol, cholecalciferol and their major metabolites. J Steroid Biochem. (1984) 21:81–6. doi: 10.1016/0022-4731(84)90063-3
- Haddad JG. Plasma vitamin D-binding protein (Gc-globulin): multiple tasks. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. (1995) 53:579– 82. doi: 10.1016/0960-0760(95)00104-8
- Arnaud J, Constans J. Affinity differences for vitamin D metabolites associated with the genetic isoforms of the human serum carrier protein (DBP). *Hum Genet.* (1993) 92:183–8. doi: 10.1007/BF00219689
- Lauridsen AL, Vestergaard P, Nexo E. Mean serum concentration of vitamin D-binding protein (Gc globulin) is related to the Gc phenotype in women. *Clin Chem.* (2001) 47:753–6. doi: 10.1093/clinchem/47.4.753
- Speeckaert M, Huang G, Delanghe JR, Taes YE. Biological and clinical aspects of the vitamin D binding protein (Gc-globulin) and its polymorphism. *Clin Chim Acta*. (2006) 372:33–42. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2006.03.011
- Kamboh MI, Ferrell RE. Ethnic variation in vitamin D-binding protein (GC): a review of isoelectric focusing studies in human populations. *Hum Genet*. (1986) 72:281–93. doi: 10.1007/BF00290950
- Patwardhan VG, Khadilkar AV, Chiplonkar SA, Mughal ZM, Khadilkar VV. Varying relationship between 25-hydroxyvitamin D, high density lipoprotein cholesterol, and serum 7dehydrocholesterol reductase with sunlight exposure. J Clin Lipidol. (2015) 9:652–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jacl.2015.05.007
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies). 2015 Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for vitamin E as α-tocopherol. *EFSA J.* (2015) 13:72. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2015.4149
- Rigotti A. Absorption, transport, and tissue delivery of vitamin E. Mol Aspects Med. (2007) 28:423–36. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2007.01.002
- Zhao Y, Lee MJ, Cheung C, Ju JH, Chen YK, Liu B, et al. Analysis of multiple metabolites of tocopherols and tocotrienols in mice and humans. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2010) 58:4844–52. doi: 10.1021/jf904464u

- Eggermont E. Recent advances in vitamin E metabolism and deficiency. Eur J Pediatr. (2006) 165:429–34. doi: 10.1007/s00431-006-0084-5
- Zamel R, Khan R, Pollex RL, Hegele RA. Abetalipoproteinemia: two case reports and literature review. Orphanet J Rare Dis. (2008) 3:19. doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-3-19
- Ouahchi K, Arita M, Kayden H, Hentati F, Ben Hamida M, et al. Ataxia with isolated vitamin E deficiency is caused by mutations in the alpha-tocopherol transfer protein. *Nat Genet.* (1995) 9:141–5. doi: 10.1038/ng0295-141
- Jeffrey GP, Muller DP, Burroughs AK, Matthews S, Kemp C, Epstein O, et al. Vitamin E deficiency and its clinical significance in adults with primary biliary cirrhosis and other forms of chronic liver disease. *J Hepatol.* (1987) 4:307–17. doi: 10.1016/S0168-8278(87)80539-1
- Girona J, Guardiola M, Cabré A, Manzanares JM, Heras M, Ribalta J, et al. The apolipoprotein A5 gene–1131T–>C polymorphism affects vitamin E plasma concentrations in type 2 diabetic patients. *Clin Chem Lab Med.* (2008) 46:453–7. doi: 10.1515/CCLM.2008.110
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition Allergies). Scientific opinion on dietary reference values for vitamin C. *EFSA J.* (2013) 11:68. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3418
- Savini I, Rossi A, Pierro C, Avigliano L, Catani MV. SVCT1 and SVCT2: key proteins for vitamin C uptake. *Amino Acids*. (2008) 34:347– 55. doi: 10.1007/s00726-007-0555-7
- IOM (Institute of Medicine). Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin C, Vitamin E, Selenium, Carotenoids. Food Nutrition Board. Washington, DC: National Academy Press (2000). p. 531.
- Jacob RA. Assessment of human vitamin C status. J Nutr. (1990) 120(Suppl. 11):1480–5. doi: 10.1093/jn/120.suppl_11.1480
- Lucchini V. Nutrigenetics in practice: little is better than nothing. COFS. (2017) 16:114–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cofs.2017.11.001
- Langlois MR, Delanghe JR, De Buyzere ML, Bernard DR, Ouyang J. Effect of haptoglobin on the metabolism of vitamin C. Am J Clin Nutr. (1997) 66:606–10. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/66.3.606
- Mason JB. Biomarkers of nutrient exposure and status in one-carbon (methyl) metabolism. J Nutr. (2003) 133(Suppl. 3):941S-7. doi: 10.1093/jn/133.3.941S
- Stover PJ. One-carbon metabolism-genome interactions in folate-associated pathologies. J Nutr. (2009) 139:2402–5. doi: 10.3945/jn.109.113670
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies). Scientific opinion on dietary reference values for folate. *EFSA J.* (2014) 12:59. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2014.3893
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies) Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for cobalamin (vitamin B12). EFSA J. (2015) 13:64. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2015.4150
- Green R. Indicators for assessing folate and vitamin B12 status and for monitoring the efficacy of intervention strategies. *Food Nutr Bull.* (2008) 29(Suppl. 2):S52–66. doi: 10.1177/15648265080292S108
- de Benoist B. Conclusions of a WHO technical consultation on folate and vitamin B12 deficiencies. *Food Nutr Bull.* (2008) 29(Suppl. 2):S238– 44. doi: 10.1177/15648265080292S129
- Selhub J, Jacques PF, Wilson PW, Rush D, Rosenberg IH. Vitamin status and intake as primary determinants of homocysteinemia in an elderly population. JAMA. (1993) 270:2693–8. doi: 10.1001/jama.270.22.2693
- 101. Zinck JW, MacFarlane AJ. Approaches for the identification of genetic modifiers of nutrient dependent phenotypes: examples from folate. *Front Nutr.* (2014) 1:8. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2014.00008
- 102. Carmel R. Biomarkers of cobalamin (vitamin B-12) status in the epidemiologic setting: a critical overview of context, applications, and performance characteristics of cobalamin, methylmalonic acid, and holotranscobalamin II. Am J Clin Nutr. (2011) 94:348S-58. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.111.013441
- 103. Vollset SE Botto LD. Neural tube defects, other congenital malformations single nucleotide polymorphisms in the 5,10 methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) gene: a meta-analysis. In: Ueland PM Rozen R, editors. *MTHFR Polymorphisms Disease*. Georgetown; Washington, DC: Landes Bioscience (2005). p. 125–43.
- Cronin S, Furie KL, Kelly PJ. Dose-related association of MTHFR 677T allele with risk of ischemic stroke: evidence from a cumulative meta-analysis. *Stroke*. (2005) 36:1581–7. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000169946.31639.af

- Zhao M, Li X, Xing C, Zhou B. Association of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T and A1298C polymorphisms with colorectal cancer risk: a meta-analysis. *Biomed Rep.* (2013) 1:781–91. doi: 10.3892/br.2013.134
- 106. Wilcken B, Bamforth F, Li Z, Zhu H, Ritvanen A, Renlund M, et al. Geographical and ethnic variation of the 677C>T allele of 5,10 methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR): findings from over 7000 newborns from 16 areas world wide. *J Med Genet.* (2004) *J Med Genet.* (2003). 40:619–25. doi: 10.1136/jmg.40.8.619
- 107. Binia A, Contreras AV, Canizales-Quinteros S, Alonzo VA, Tejero ME, Silva-Zolezzi I. Geographical and ethnic distribution of single nucleotide polymorphisms within genes of the folate/homocysteine pathway metabolism. *Genes Nutr.* (2014) 9:421. doi: 10.1007/s12263-014-0421-7
- 108. Yamada K, Chen Z, Rozen R, Matthews RG. Effects of common polymorphisms on the properties of recombinant human methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:14853–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.261469998
- 109. Frosst P, Blom HJ, Milos R, Goyette P, Sheppard CA, Matthews RG, et al. A candidate genetic risk factor for vascular disease: a common mutation in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. *Nat Genet.* (1995) 10:111– 3. doi: 10.1038/ng0595-111
- 110. Jacques PF, Bostom AG, Williams RR, Ellison RC, Eckfeldt JH, Rosenberg IH, et al. Relation between folate status, a common mutation in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase, and plasma homocysteine concentrations. *Circulation*. (1996) 93:7–9. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.93.1.7
- 111. Molloy AM, Daly S, Mills JL, Kirke PN, Whitehead AS, Ramsbottom D, et al. Thermolabile variant of 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase associated with low red-cell folates: implications for folate intake recommendations. *Lancet.* (1997) 349:1591–3. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(96)1 2049-3
- Davis CD, Milner JA. Nutrigenomics, vitamin D and cancer prevention. J Nutrigenet Nutrigenomics. (2011) 4:1–11. doi: 10.1159/000324175
- Shaghaghi MA, Kloss O, Eck P. Genetic variation in human vitamin C transporter genes in common complex diseases. *Adv Nutr.* (2016) 7:287– 98. doi: 10.3945/an.115.009225

- Lee SA. Gene-diet interaction on cancer risk in epidemiological studies. J Prev Med Public Health. (2009) 42:360–70. doi: 10.3961/jpmph.2009.42.6.360
- 115. Huang Y, Han S, Li Y, Mao Y, Xie Y. Different roles of MTHFR C677T and A1298C polymorphisms in colorectal adenoma and colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis. J Hum Genet. (2007) 52:73–85. doi: 10.1007/s10038-006-0082-5
- Klerk M, Verhoef P, Clarke R, Blom HJ, Kok FJ, Schouten EG, et al. MTHFR 677C->T polymorphism and risk of coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. *JAMA*. (2002) 288:2023-31. doi: 10.1001/jama.288.16.2023
- 117. Guardiola M, Ribalta J. Update on APOA5 genetics: toward a better understanding of its physiological impact. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* (2017) 19:30. doi: 10.1007/s11883-017-0665-y
- Thomas DC, Witte JS. Point: population stratification: a problem for casecontrol studies of candidate-gene associations? *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2002) 11:505–12.
- 119. Ji X, Mao J, Zhou S. Rs739837 polymorphism in MiR-885-3p binding site within 3'-untranslated region of vitamin D receptor is associated with a decreased risk of pressure ulcers. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* (2017) 44:2129– 37. doi: 10.1159/000485952

Conflict of Interest: VK is the founder of MEDOLIALI SL, a nutrigenetic consulting and supporting SME.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Niforou, Konstantinidou and Naska. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Potential of Multi-Biomarker Panels in Nutrition Research: Total Fruit Intake as an Example

Aoife E. McNamara^{1,2}, Janette Walton^{3,4}, Albert Flynn³, Anne P. Nugent⁵, Breige A. McNulty¹ and Lorraine Brennan^{1,2*}

¹ School of Agriculture and Food Science, UCD Institute of Food and Health, University College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland, ² UCD Conway Institute of Biomolecular and Biomedical Research, University College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland, ³ School of Food and Nutritional Sciences, University College Cork, Cork, Ireland, ⁴ Department of Biological Sciences, Cork Institute of Technology, Cork, Ireland, ⁵ School of Biological Sciences, Institute for Global Food Security, Queens University Belfast, Belfast, United Kingdom

Dietary and food intake biomarkers offer the potential of improving the accuracy of dietary assessment. An extensive range of putative intake biomarkers of commonly consumed foods have been identified to date. As the field of food intake biomarkers progresses toward solving the complexities of dietary habits, combining biomarkers associated with single foods or food groups may be required. The objective of this work was to examine the ability of a multi-biomarker panel to classify individuals into categories of fruit intake. Biomarker data was measured using ¹H NMR spectroscopy in two studies: (1) An intervention study where varying amounts of fruit was consumed and (2) the National Adult Nutrition Survey (NANS). Using data from an intervention study a biomarker panel (Proline betaine, Hippurate, and Xylose) was constructed from three urinary biomarker concentrations. Biomarker cut-off values for three categories of fruit intake were developed. The biomarker sum cut-offs were <4.766, 4.766–5.976, $>5.976 \ \mu$ M/mOsm/kg for <100, 101–160, and >160 g fruit intake. The ability of the biomarker sum to classify individuals into categories of fruit intake was examined in the cross-sectional study (NANS) (N = 565). Examination of results in the cross-sectional study revealed excellent agreement with self-reported intake: a similar number of participants were ranked into each category of fruit intake. The work illustrates the potential of multi-biomarker panels and paves the way forward for further development in the field. The use of such panels may be key to distinguishing foods and adding specificity to the predictions of food intake.

Keywords: dietary biomarkers, nutrition, dietary assessment, food intake, metabolomics, multi-biomarker panel

INTRODUCTION

Dietary assessment is important for the elucidation of diet-disease relationships; however, traditional dietary assessment techniques are subject to some well-documented limitations (1). The identification of dietary and food intake biomarkers offers the potential of accurate and objective measure of food intake (2, 3). Food intake biomarkers are single metabolites, or a combination of metabolites, reflecting the consumption of either a specific food or food group, displaying a clear time- and dose-response after intake (4). An extensive range of putative intake biomarkers

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

John Draper, Aberystwyth University, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Carla Ferreri, National Research Council (CNR), Italy Jose Paulo Andrade, Universidade do Porto, Portugal

> *Correspondence: Lorraine Brennan lorraine.brennan@ucd.ie

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 29 June 2020 Accepted: 17 December 2020 Published: 14 January 2021

Citation:

McNamara AE, Walton J, Flynn A, Nugent AP, McNulty BA and Brennan L (2021) The Potential of Multi-Biomarker Panels in Nutrition Research: Total Fruit Intake as an Example. Front. Nutr. 7:577720. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.577720

113

of commonly consumed foods have been identified to date (5) but more work is needed toward confirming the utility of such biomarkers. To be efficient indicators of dietary intake, biomarkers need to be validated including analysis of sensitivity, specificity, and dose-response (6). Selecting a single intake biomarker to represent exact dietary intake is difficult due to the overlapping range of nutrients, non-nutrients, and bioactives present in foods. However, previously investigated food intake biomarkers have proven to be good predictors of consumption for classes within food groups, such as fruits and vegetables (7). As the field of food intake biomarkers progresses, and the need to elucidate the complexities of dietary habits arises, combining biomarkers associated with single foods or food groups may be required (8). It is possible that by combining two or more biomarkers together into multi-biomarker panels could result in more sensitive and specific estimates of intake.

Development of validated and comprehensive multibiomarker panels have the potential to add value to the assessment of dietary intake by enabling the capture of a broad range of dietary exposure including bioactive compounds, foods, food groups, and complex dietary patterns (9). Multi-biomarker panels have been previously used to classify individuals into banana consumers and non-consumers more robustly compared to individual biomarkers (10). In another example a multi biomarker panel, composed of beer ingredient and food processing biomarkers was capable of distinguishing beer consumption from urine samples collected before and up to 12h after intake of beer with excellent specificity and sensitivity (11). Other examples of successful use of multiple biomarkers include the SU.VI.MAX study, where the sum of urinary flavonoid biomarkers demonstrated higher correlations with fruit and fruit juice consumption than any of the included biomarkers individually (12). A biomarker panel containing the wine biomarkers ethyl glucuronide and tartrate outperformed individual markers when predicting wine consumers and non-consumers [90.7% receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curves area under the curve (AUC) compared to 86.3% for ethyl glucuronide and 85.7% for tartrate]. This panel was validated in an epidemiological study and was capable of estimating whether or not participants had consumed wine in the previous 3 days (13).

Multi-biomarker panels can be applied to classify and monitor adherence to dietary patterns. This was recently illustrated in post-menopausal women where a biomarker panel was capable of discriminating between high and low quintiles of adherence to four diet scores [the alternate Mediterranean diet score (aMED), alternate Healthy Eating Index (AHEI)-2010, Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet, and the Healthy Eating Index (HEI)-2015] (14). Another interesting application of multiple biomarkers is the interrogation of the relationships between food intake and diseases incidence. In this context previous work has employed a biomarker score, derived from multiple biomarkers of fruit and vegetable intake, as a proxy for intake to examine the relationship with diabetes incidence (15). This biomarker score demonstrated an inverse association with diabetes incidence, with odds ratio (OR) of incidence decreasing with increasing intake of fruit and vegetables (highest quartile of intake compared to lowest OR: 0.13; 95% CI: 0.08, 0.21) (15). Collectively, these studies highlight the potential for combinations of multiple biomarkers in determining intake of foods or dietary patterns and assessment of relationships with health outcomes.

Fruit is an important component of a healthy diet and previous work has investigated biomarkers of various fruit. A recent systematic review of the literature conclude that we have limited knowledge for biomarkers of pome and stone fruit (16) with many biomarkers requiring validation in terms of relating to fruit intake. With respect to apple intake the most promising biomarker identified was phloretin and phloretin glucuronide. The biomarker arbutin is promising for pear intake but again requires more validation. A review of biomarkers of tropical fruit intake also highlighted a dearth of information (17), concluding clearly that there is a need for further research in the area. Proline betaine is a well-established biomarker of citrus intake with previous work indicating that urinary proline betaine concentrations can give quantitative food intake information (18, 19). However, as most consumers eat more than one fruit, there is an interest to examine total fruit intake and thus combining multiple biomarkers could be a useful approach to estimate total fruit intake.

Although previous work has indicated the potential of multiple biomarkers in the form of multi biomarker panels, combining of biomarkers to give quantitative information on food intake is not trivial. Previous studies have highlighted the potential of multi biomarker panels in terms of classification into consumers and non-consumers. However, more work is needed in the field to examine the potential of such biomarker combinations for use in assessment of consumption of different quantities of food. Therefore, the objective of this work was to examine the ability of a multi-biomarker panel to classify individuals into categories of fruit intake.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

National Adult Nutrition Survey (NANS) Study—Cross-Sectional Study

Details of the NANS study have been published elsewhere (https://www.iuna.net/) (20). Ethical approval for this study was granted by the University College Cork Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the Cork Teaching Hospitals [ECM 3 (p) 4 September 2008] and recruitment began in May 2008. Briefly, NANS collected data on habitual food and beverage consumption, lifestyle, health indicators, and attitudes to food and health in 1,500 adults, representative of the population during 2008-2010 in Republic of Ireland. A subset of this population (N = 565) was randomly selected, to ensure equal numbers of men and women across the age ranges (18-90 years) for metabolomics analysis as previously described (20). A 4 days semi weighed dietary record was used to collect dietary data over 4 consecutive days. Detailed information on the type and amount of all foods, drinks and nutritional supplements consumed over the 4 days was recorded by participants. Where possible, participants were asked to weigh foods and encouraged to retain food packaging for further information on foods consumed, but where weights were not recorded a photographic food atlas was used to estimate food weights (18). Dietary data was analyzed using WISP software (Tinuviel Software, Anglesey, UK), which uses data from McCance and Widdowson's The Composition of Foods, fifth and sixth editions and all supplementary editions to generate nutrient data (21-24). Dietary data was coded into 2552 individual food codes and grouped into one of 68 food groups. For the purpose of this analysis any fruit containing food groups were collapsed into a single "Total Fruit Intake" group and the mean daily fruit intake over the 4 days was calculated. Biological samples were collected at the end, or as close to as possible, of the dietary recording period, including a fasting first void urine sample in a sterile 50 mL tube which was chilled until processing. All urine samples were centrifuged at $1,800 \times \text{g}$ for 10 min at 4°C . Aliquots of 1 mL were stored at -80° C for later analysis.

A-Diet Validation Intervention Study

Ethical approval for this A-Diet study was granted by the UCD Sciences Human Research Ethics Committee (LS-17-16-Brennan). Recruitment commenced at the end of March 2017 via advertisement (posters, flyers, and emails) and finished in November 2017. The recruitment process is outlined in Supplementary Figure 1. Details of the study design are published elsewhere (25). Briefly, inclusion criteria included healthy, non-pregnant/lactating and non-smoking individuals, between 18 and 60 years old, and with a body mass index (BMI) between 18.5 and 30 kg/m², without any diagnosed health condition (chronic or infectious diseases), no consumption of medications/nutritional supplements or any allergies/intolerances to the test foods. Once informed consent was acquired, participants were assigned to either a lunch (N =27) or dinner (N = 34) test meal group and invited to partake in a 5-weeks study. Each test week participants were provided with four portions of a test meal and asked to consume this test meal for 4 consecutive days. During these 4 days, participants were also asked to avoid consuming any other foods related to the test meal ingredients. Participants were also asked to record a 4 days dietary record for each test week, to ensure compliance. The focus of this analysis is the amount of fruit consumed as part of these test meals. The low, medium, and high portions of fruit provided was 50, 100, 300 g and 80, 160, 320 g for apples and oranges, respectively.

Fasting first void urine was collected after an overnight 12 h fast at the end of each test week and chilled until processing. All urine samples were centrifuged at $1,800 \times \text{g}$ for 10 min at 4°C. Aliquots of 1 mL were stored at -80° C for later analysis.

Metabolomic Analysis of Urine Samples

Metabolomic analysis was performed using nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy. Urine samples were first defrosted and then prepared by addition of 250 μ L phosphate buffer (0.2 mol KH₂PO₄/L, 0.8 mol K₂HPO₄/L) to 500 μ L urine. After centrifugation at 5,360 \times g for 5 min at 4°C, 10 μ L sodium trimethylsilyl [2,2,3,3-2H₄] propionate (TSP) and 50 μ L deuterium oxide (D₂O) were added to 540 μ L of the supernatant. Spectra were acquired on a 600 MHZ Varian Spectrometer

(Varian Limited, Oxford, United Kingdom) by using the first increment of a nuclear Overhauser enhancement spectroscopy pulse sequence at 25°C. Spectra were acquired with 16,384 data points and 128 scans. Water suppression was achieved during the relaxation delay (2.5 s) and the mixing time (100 ms). All ¹H NMR urine spectra were referenced to TSP at 0.0 parts per million (ppm) and processed manually with the Chenomx NMR Suite (version 7.7) by using a line broadening of 0.2 Hz, followed by phase and baseline correction. Three metabolites were chosen to demonstrate the proof-of-concept that combinations of biomarkers could be used to predict total fruit intake. The biomarkers chosen were xylose, proline betaine, and hippurate. Identification and quantification of metabolites was achieved using the Chenomx library. To confirm correct assignment, a urine sample was spiked with an analytical standard and a ¹H NMR spectrum acquired.

Osmolality was measured by using an Advanced Micro Osmometer model 3300 (Advanced Instruments). Aliquots of urine were measured for osmolality with the use of microosmometry by freezing point depression, with values reported as the number of solute particles, in moles, dissolved in a kilogram of urine (mOSM). Metabolite concentrations were normalized to osmolality for quantifying urinary concentrations of xylose, proline betaine and hippurate.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS software package version 24.0 for windows (SPSS Inc. Chicago, IL, USA) and SIMCA-P software (version13; Umetrics). One-way analysis of variance was performed to compare tertiles of selfreported intake and urinary concentrations of three biomarkers. Spearman's correlations were used to assess association between mean daily self-reported total fruit intake and biomarkers. The urinary concentrations of each biomarker were summed together to create a single combined biomarker value for each individual. Using the intervention data cut-offs were developed for certain fruit intake categories.

RESULTS

Examining Relationship Between Biomarkers and Self-Reported Fruit Intake

Urinary biomarkers of interest were quantified by ¹H NMR analysis in the NANS cross-sectional study. The following concentrations were obtained: xylose (range: 0.07–2.19 mM), proline betaine (range: 0.04–2.13 mM), and hippurate (range: 0.13–15.87 mM). Participants were grouped into tertiles based on self-reported mean daily intake of total fruit from semiweighed food records (**Table 1**, **Supplementary Table 1**). All three urinary biomarker concentrations increased as the intake of fruit increased with significant increases observed for proline betaine and hippurate. The urinary concentrations of all three biomarkers were also significantly correlated with mean daily intake of fruit. The main contributors to total fruit intake were apples, bananas, oranges, pears, strawberries, and pineapple, all of which increased significantly across tertiles of intake except for pineapple.

	Tertile 1 (N = 180)		Tertile 2	(N = 181)	Tertile 3	8 (N = 185)		Spearman's correlation	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	p-value	Rho	<i>p</i> -value
Metabolite (µM/	mOsm/kg)								
Xylose	0.596	0.34	0.614	0.35	0.637	0.42	0.574	0.078	0.070
Proline betaine	0.285	0.22	0.415	0.34	0.569	0.44	<0.001	0.400	< 0.001
Hippurate	3.600	2.78	3.991	2.87	4.727	3.20	0.001	0.181	< 0.001
Mean daily intak	es (g/d)								
Total fruit	28.42	24.61	127.80	32.61	315.19	115.44	< 0.001		
Apples	4.94	13.50	23.93	30.76	58.15	65.78	<0.001		
Banana	7.17	15.28	26.86	31.77	43.07	42.70	< 0.001		
Oranges	2.49	9.86	29.56	42.55	94.14	105.97	< 0.001		
Pears	0.52	3.70	4.46	15.61	22.18	47.46	<0.001		
Strawberry	1.03	5.41	2.48	9.34	4.44	13.40	0.005		
Pineapple	0.47	3.73	1.20	7.47	2.75	16.91	0.129		

TABLE 1 Urinary food intake biomarker concentrations across tertiles of fruit intake in cross-sectional study (NANS).

All values presented are mean and standard deviation (SD) unless stated otherwise. ANOVA, analysis of variance; MDI, Mean daily intake. N = 546.

+Spearman's correlation between each biomarker and total mean daily fruit intake.

Further analysis was performed using total fruit consumers only (N = 509) (**Table 2**). Similar trends were observed for the urinary biomarker concentrations, increasing across of tertiles of intake with significant values for proline betaine and hippurate.

Using Multiple Biomarkers to Classify Individuals Into Categories of Intake

The multi-biomarker panel was used to create a combined biomarker value by summing the individual biomarkers. In the A-Diet validation dataset (N = 160) the combined biomarker values were used to determine cut-offs for classification of individuals into categories of intake. Participants were categorized into one of three groups of intakes (0–100, 101–160, and >160 g/d) based on the fruit consumed as part of the intervention. The average sum of biomarkers for participants who consumed ≤ 100 g/day of fruit (4.766 μ M/mOsm/kg) was set as cut-off point 1. Cut-off 3 was calculated as the average biomarker sum (5.976 μ M/mOsm/kg) of participants who consumed >160 g of fruit in the A-diet study. The middle cut-off was set at any value in between cut-off 1 and 3 (**Table 3**).

To examine the ability of these biomarker sum values to categorize participants into categories of intake the method was applied to NANS study. Using the NANS (N = 546) self-reported dietary data participants were categorized into three groups of fruit intake (**Table 4**). Independently using the urinary biomarker concentrations, participants were assigned to a category of intake using the biomarker sum cut-offs. Excellent agreement between the two methods was observed with for example, 97 participants self-reporting intakes between 101 and 160 g/d, and 86 participants assigned into this category based on the biomarker panel data (**Table 4** and **Supplementary Table 2**). Assessment of the data split by gender revealed similar agreement trends (**Table 5**).

In order to examine other biomarker combinations, the biomarker values that increased across categories of intake were selected (**Supplementary Table 3**). The ability to categorize

participants into categories of intake was examined with all biomarkers and the sum of proline betaine and hippurate providing the best agreement (**Table 6**).

DISCUSSION

This study developed a biomarker panel that was capable of classifying individuals into categories of fruit intake. Examination of the approach in a free-living cross-sectional study revealed excellent agreement with self-reported intake. Similar number of participants were ranked into each category of fruit intake. The work illustrates the potential of multi-biomarker panels and paves the way forward for further development in the field.

The three biomarkers chosen to build the multi-metabolite panel in this research have frequently been found in previous research to be associated with fruit intake. Xylose was previously identified as a food intake biomarker associated with apple intake and capable of ranking participants in an observational study by increasing intake (25). Proline betaine is a well-established, robust, and quantitative biomarker of citrus intake (18, 26). Proline betaine was previously included as part of a biomarker panel for the investigation of orange juice intake and juice quality (27). Hippurate, has often been associated with consumption of polyphenol rich plant foods, such as citrus fruit, bananas, and berries (10, 26, 28-30). This research combined these three food intake biomarkers into a biomarker score for the successful ranking of fruit intake. It is important to acknowledge that there are other potential biomarkers of fruit intake; however, examination of the full panel of potential biomarkers was beyond the scope of the current work where the emphasis was on the demonstration of the potential of combination of biomarkers.

Previous multi-metabolite panels have focused on associating the panels with intake of certain foods or achieving a dichotomous classification of consumers and non-consumers. An example of previous work demonstrated good associations

Mean daily intakes (g/d)	Tertile [·]	1 (<i>N</i> = 168)	(N = 168) Tertile 2 $(N = 168)$		Tertile 3 (N = 173)		One-way ANOVA	Spearman's correlation	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	<i>p</i> -value	Rho	<i>p</i> -value
Metabolite (µM/mOsm/kg	1)								
Xylose	0.601	0.35	0.604	0.35	0.649	0.43	0.424	0.090	0.043
Proline betaine	0.298	0.24	0.425	0.33	0.581	0.45	< 0.001	0.382	< 0.001
Hippurate	3.622	2.63	3.957	2.82	4.771	3.24	0.001	0.187	< 0.001
Mean daily intakes (g/d)									
Total fruit	42.67	26.44	139.58	32.28	323.36	114.98	<0.001		
Apples	8.66	18.54	25.60	33.86	59.09	66.35	<0.001		
Banana	10.05	17.90	29.61	32.63	43.12	43.46	<0.001		
Oranges	4.18	13.92	33.34	43.80	97.75	108.18	<0.001		
Pears	1.11	6.39	4.24	15.46	23.71	48.71	<0.001		
Strawberry	1.36	6.01	2.42	9.45	4.74	13.81	0.008		
Pineapple	1.07	7.08	1.14	7.21	2.55	16.75	0.399		

All values presented are mean and standard deviation (SD) unless stated otherwise. ANOVA, analysis of variance; MDI, Mean daily intake. N = 509.

+Spearman's correlation between each biomarker and total mean daily fruit intake.

TABLE 3 | Cut-off points for each of the fruit intake categories derived from the Intervention Study.

Fruit intake category (g/d)	Biomarker cut-offs (µM/mOsm/kg)
0–100	<4.766
101–160	4.766–5.974
>160	≥5.975

Cut-offs were calculated using sums of biomarker concentrations in each intake category from the A-Diet intervention study.

between biomarkers of fruit and vegetables intake and selfreported dietary records (12). When 24 h urinary concentrations of isorhamnetin, hesperetin, naringenin, kaempferol, and phloretin were combined in a panel they were correlated with fruit intake (r = 0.27, p = 0.06), fruit juice intake (r = 0.28, p = 0.04), and intake of total fruits and fruit juices (r = 0.38, p= 0.006). The correlations for the fruit related panel improved when examined in spot urine samples: fruit intake (r = 0.34, p= 0.01), fruit juice intake (r = 0.44, p = 0.001), and total fruit and juice intake (r = 0.47, p = 0.0004). The authors concluded that this combination of flavonoids could be used as a reliable biomarker of total fruit and juice intake, however, to the best of our knowledge there is no demonstration that the biomarkers could predict intake. Our work is an important advancement as it clearly demonstrates that the multi-biomarker approach is capable of a classification of intake into a range of categories. However, it should be noted that the present work did not make the distinction between whole fruit and fruit juices and the biomarker panel classification was based on total fruit intake including juices.

Our previous work identified four food intake biomarkers of sugar sweetened beverages (formate, citrulline, taurine, and isocitrate) using heat-map analysis of metabolomic urinary profiles from the NANS study (31). These markers were **TABLE 4** | Classification into categories of fruit intake based on biomarker data or based on self-reported intake data in the cross-sectional study (NANS).

Fruit intake category (g/d)	Self-reported data (N)	Biomarker data (N)
0–100	227	306
101–160	97	86
>160	222	154

Participants were classified into one of 3 categories based on either (1) Self-reported dietary data or (2) biomarker data. The number of participants into each category is reported, N = 546.

TABLE 5 | Distribution of participants classified into each category of intake

 based on sum of urinary biomarker concentrations compared to reported intake

 data in the cross-sectional study, split by gender.

	NANS							
	Self	reported	Predicted					
Gender	м	F	м	F				
N	278	268	278	268				
Intake category								
0–100 (g/d)	128	99	170	136				
101–160 (g/d)	42	55	42	44				
>160 (g/d)	108	114	66	88				

Participants (N = 546) categories based on cut-offs were calculated using sums of biomarker concentrations in each intake category from the A-Diet intervention study. ADV, A-Diet Validation Study; NANS, National Adult Nutrition Survey; M, Male; F, Female; N, Number of participants.

confirmed by food analysis of the sugar-sweetened beverage and an acute intervention study. The markers were combined in a panel and ROC curves demonstrated that the panel could discriminate between consumers and non-consumers of sugar-sweetened beverages (AUC = 0.8) and was more

Classification method	Self-reported intake	Sum of proline betaine and hippurate	Sum of xylose and proline betaine	Sum of all biomarkers
Average fruit intake (g/d)	Ν	N	Ν	Ν
0–100	227	304	306	306
101–160	97	70	194	86
>160	222	172	46	154

TABLE 6 | Urinary biomarker classification of fruit intake compared to reported intake in the cross-sectional study (NANS).

Number of participants (N = 546) classified into each intake category was based self-reported intake and on combinations of urinary biomarker concentrations.

predictive of intake than the individual biomarkers themselves (AUCs ranging from 0.5 to 0.7). A recently published study used data from the KarMeN study to identify five metabolites [methoxyeugenol glucuronide (MEUG-GLUC), dopamine sulfate (DOP-S), salsolinol sulfate, 6-hydroxy-1-methyl-1,2,3,4tetrahydra-β-carboline sulfate, and xanthurenic acid] that were discriminative between high and non-consumers of banana (10). Individually, DOP-S had the best prediction ability [AUC = 0.84, error rate (ER) = 0.25] for classifying high consumers against non-consumers but was not as robust as a combination of all five metabolites (AUC = 0.90, ER = 0.13). However, the best predictive ability was a combined panel of MEUG-GLUC and DOP-S with the lowest error rate of misclassification. This research demonstrates how a panel of food intake biomarkers which individually were not robust enough, when combined can be used to classify recent banana intake. Our research takes the application of biomarker panels a step further by classifying participants into categories of fruit consumed and moves beyond the dichotomous classification of consumer/non-consumer.

While the above work demonstrates the potential for multibiomarkers in terms of estimating food intake such panels can also be used to assess the relationship between food and diet-related diseases. A combined biomarker-score was developed using the standardized plasma values of vitamin C, β-carotene, and lutein, all of which were previously related to fruit and vegetable intake (15). This score was inversely associated with odds of incidence of type 2 diabetes (OR: 0.13; 95% CI: 0.08, 0.21) even after adjustment for lifestyle factors and demographics. An identified plasma biomarker panel representative of dietary habits consisted of β-alanine (beef intake), alkylresourcinols (wholegrain/rye), eicosapentaenoic acid and 3-carboxy-4-methyl-5-propyl-2-furanpropanoic acid (fish), lauric acid (saturated fats), linoleic acid (seeds, nuts, and vegetable oils), oleic acid (olive and rapeseed oil), and α and γ tocopherol (32). This combined panel was capable of predicting new cases of type 2 diabetes over a 5-years follow-up period with a specificity and sensitivity similar to classic diabetes predictors (serum adiponectin, insulin resistance, impaired glucose tolerance and impaired fasting glycaemia). Collectively, these and other studies highlight the potential of a multi-metabolite panel for the assessment of the relationship between diet and health/disease.

If future studies develop comprehensive and validated multibiomarker panels, they could add value to the assessment of dietary intake by enabling the capture of a broad range of dietary exposures including bioactive compounds, foods, food groups, and complex dietary patterns. Panels could

then be used in epidemiological research to elucidate the mechanisms and metabolic pathways of diet-related diseases and to validate self-reported dietary data. Further development of more comprehensive panels could enable measurement of adherence to specific dietary patterns, such as the Mediterranean diet. Future challenges for the field will be finding the simplest combination of metabolites to accurately determine exposures as well as validating these panels to a standard where they can be applied in nutritional research and public health surveys (9). As the field develops further, there will be a need to develop new statistical tools to integrate multiple biomarkers with selfreported data. Our work has recently developed calibration equations based on biomarker-predicted citrus intakes to gain a more accurate and objective measure of true intake (33). Using biomarker data to correct self-reported data for food intake is a promising option and could be adapted to include a biomarker panel. Further work is to develop the statistical tools to achieve this.

This study has strengths and limitations. A limitation worth noting is the fact that we examined the ability of the biomarker panel to categorize fruit intake in a cross-sectional study where intake was estimated with self-reported data. Future studies where comparison is performed in large intervention studies would be useful to examine relationships with true food intake. On the other hand, including the development of a food intake biomarker panel with testing in cross-sectional study is a strength as it demonstrates that the panel was capable of ranking fruit intake at a population level, against the background of exposure to various other foods. This research did not examine the potential impact of gut microbiome on the biomarker panel. Future work is warranted to address this.

To conclude, this study successfully demonstrated the utility of a panel of biomarkers for estimating fruit intake. The identification of comprehensive and validated multi-biomarker panels related to certain foods will be important as this field develops. The use of such panels may be key to distinguishing foods and adding specificity to the predictions of food intake. Combining such panels with self-reported measures will be important for increasing the accuracy of dietary assessment methods. Furthermore, there is potential for the use of such panels in large epidemiological studies to examine the relationships between diet and disease.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**,

further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by UCD HREC. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AM conducted the A-Diet Validation study, acquired, analyzed the data, and prepared the manuscript. LB designed the research, analyzed the data, and prepared the manuscript. BM, AN, JW, and AF contributed the data from the NANS study. All authors read and accepted the final version of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Bingham SA. Biomarkers in nutritional epidemiology. Public Health Nutr. (2002) 5:821–7. doi: 10.1079/PHN2002368
- Gibbons H, O'Gorman A, Brennan L. Metabolomics as a tool in nutritional research. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* (2015) 26:30–4. doi: 10.1097/MOL.00000000000140
- Jenab M, Slimani N, Bictash M, Ferrari P, Bingham SA. Biomarkers in nutritional epidemiology: applications, needs and new horizons. *Hum Genet*. (2009) 125:507–25. doi: 10.1007/s00439-009-0662-5
- Gao Q, Praticò G, Scalbert A, Vergères G, Kolehmainen M, Manach C, et al. A scheme for a flexible classification of dietary and health biomarkers. *Genes Nutr.* (2017) 12:1–15. doi: 10.1186/s12263-017-0587-x
- Lloyd AJ, Willis ND, Wilson T, Zubair H, Chambers E, Garcia-Perez I, et al. Addressing the pitfalls when designing intervention studies to discover and validate biomarkers of habitual dietary intake. *Metabolomics*. (2019) 15:72. doi: 10.1007/s11306-019-1532-3
- Dragsted LO, Gao Q, Scalbert A, Vergères G, Kolehmainen M, Manach C, et al. Validation of biomarkers of food intake-critical assessment of candidate biomarkers. *Genes Nutr.* (2018) 13:14. doi: 10.1186/s12263-018-0603-9
- Baldrick FR, Woodside JV, Elborn JS, Young IS, McKinley MC. Biomarkers of fruit and vegetable intake in human intervention studies: a systematic review. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2011) 51:795–815. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2010.482217
- Brennan L, Hu FB. Metabolomics-based dietary biomarkers in nutritional epidemiology-current status and future opportunities. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2019) 63: e1701064. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201701064
- Garcia-Aloy M, Rabassa M, Casas-Agustench P, Hidalgo-Liberona N, Llorach R, Andres-Lacueva C. Novel strategies for improving dietary exposure assessment: Multiple-data fusion is a more accurate measure than the traditional single-biomarker approach. *Trends Food Sci Technol.* (2017) 69:220–9. doi: 10.1016/j.tifs.2017.04.013
- Vázquez-Manjarrez N, Weinert CH, Ulaszewska MM, Mack CI, Micheau P, Pétéra M, et al. Discovery and validation of banana intake biomarkers using untargeted metabolomics in human intervention and cross-sectional studies. *J Nutr.* (2019) 149:1701–13. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxz125
- Gürdeniz G, Jensen MG, Meier S, Bech L, Lund E, Dragsted LO. Detecting beer intake by unique metabolite patterns. *J Proteome Res.* (2016) 15:4544–56. doi: 10.1021/acs.jproteome.6b00635
- Mennen LI, Sapinho D, Ito H, Bertrais S, Galan P, Hercberg S, et al. Urinary flavonoids and phenolic acids as biomarkers of intake for polyphenol-rich foods. *Br J Nutr*. (2006) 96:191–8. doi: 10.1079/BJN20061808
- 13. Vázquez-Fresno R, Llorach R, Urpi-Sarda M, Khymenets O, Bulló M, Corella D, et al. An NMR metabolomics approach reveals a combined-biomarkers

FUNDING

This work was supported by a H2020 European Research Council (647783).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank all volunteers for their commitment and patience during the study. The authors would like to acknowledge the help of Dr. Helena Gibbons and Dr. Diana González-Peña.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2020. 577720/full#supplementary-material

model in a wine interventional trial with validation in free-living individuals of the PREDIMED study. *Metabolomics.* (2015) 11:797–806. doi: 10.1007/s11306-014-0735-x

- McCullough ML, Maliniak ML, Stevens VL, Carter BD, Hodge RA, Wang Y. Metabolomic markers of healthy dietary patterns in US postmenopausal women. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2019) 109:1439–51. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqy385
- Cooper AJ, Sharp SJ, Luben RN, Khaw KT, Wareham NJ, Forouhi NG. The association between a biomarker score for fruit and vegetable intake and incident type 2 diabetes: the EPIC-Norfolk study. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2015) 69:449–54. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2014.246
- Ulaszewska M, Vazquez-Manjarrez N, Garcia-Aloy M, Llorach R, Mattivi F, Dragsted LO, et al. Food intake biomarkers for apple, pear, and stone fruit. *Genes Nutr.* (2018) 13:29. doi: 10.1186/s12263-018-0620-8
- Vazquez-Manjarrez N, Ulaszewska M, Garcia-Aloy M, Mattivi F, Pratico G, Dragsted LO, et al. Biomarkers of intake for tropical fruits. *Genes Nutr.* (2020) 15:11. doi: 10.1186/s12263-020-00670-4
- Gibbons H, Michielsen CJR, Rundle M, Frost G, McNulty BA, Nugent AP, et al. Demonstration of the utility of biomarkers for dietary intake assessment; proline betaine as an example. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2017) 61:1700037. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201700037
- Mack CI, Weinert CH, Egert B, Ferrario PG, Bub A, Hoffmann I, et al. The complex human urinary sugar profile: determinants revealed in the cross-sectional KarMeN study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2018) 108:502–16. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqy131
- Cashman KD, Muldowney S, McNulty B, Nugent A, FitzGerald AP, Kiely M, et al. Vitamin D status of Irish adults: findings from the National Adult Nutrition Survey. *Br J Nutr.* (2013) 109:1248–56. doi: 10.1017/S0007114512003212
- 21. Nelson M, Atkinson M, Meyer J. A Photographic Atlas of Food Portion Sizes. London: Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food (2002).
- McCance R, Widdowson E. McCance and Widdowson's The Composition of Foods. 5th ed. Cambridge: Royal Society of Chemistry (1991).
- McCance R, Widdowson E. McCance and Widdowson's The Composition of Foods. 6th ed. Cambridge: Royal Society of Chemistry (2002).
- 24. McCance R, Widdowson E. *McCance and Widdowson's The Composition of Foods.* 7th ed. Cambridge: Royal Society of Chemistry (2014).
- McNamara AE, Collins C, Harsha PSCS, González-Peña D, Gibbons H, McNulty BA, et al. Metabolomic-based approach to identify biomarkers of apple intake. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2020) 64:e1901158. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201901158
- Heinzmann SS, Brown IJ, Chan Q, Bictash M, Dumas ME, Kochhar S, et al. Metabolic profiling strategy for discovery of nutritional biomarkers: proline betaine as a marker of citrus consumption. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2010) 92:436–43. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2010.29672

- Rangel-Huerta OD, Aguilera CM, Perez-de-la-Cruz A, Vallejo F, Tomas-Barberan F, Gil A, et al. A serum metabolomics-driven approach predicts orange juice consumption and its impact on oxidative stress and inflammation in subjects from the BIONAOS study. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2017) 61:1600120. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201600120
- Toromanović J, Kovac-Besović E, Sapcanin A, Tahirović I, Rimpapa Z, Kroyer G, et al. Urinary hippuric acid after ingestion of edible fruits. *Bosn J Basic Med Sci.* (2008) 8:38–43. doi: 10.17305/bjbms.2008.2994
- Andersen MB, Kristensen M, Manach C, Pujos-Guillot E, Poulsen SK, Larsen TM, et al. Discovery and validation of urinary exposure markers for different plant foods by untargeted metabolomics. *Anal Bioanal Chem.* (2014) 406:1829–44. doi: 10.1007/s00216-013-7498-5
- Walsh MC, Brennan L, Pujos-Guillot E, Sébédio JL, Scalbert A, Fagan A, et al. Influence of acute phytochemical intake on human urinary metabolomic profiles. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2007) 86:1687–93. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/86.5.1687
- Gibbons H, McNulty BA, Nugent AP, Walton J, Flynn A, Gibney MJ, et al. A metabolomics approach to the identification of biomarkers of sugar-sweetened beverage intake. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2015) 101:471–7. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.095604

- 32. Savolainen O, Lind MV, Bergström G, Fagerberg B, Sandberg AS, Ross A. Biomarkers of food intake and nutrient status are associated with glucose tolerance status and development of type 2 diabetes in older Swedish women. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 106:1302–10. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.117.152850
- D'Angelo S, Gormley IC, McNulty BA, Nugent AP, Walton J, Flynn A, et al. Combining biomarker and food intake data: calibration equations for citrus intake. Am J Clin Nutr. (2019) 110:977–83. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqz168

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 McNamara, Walton, Flynn, Nugent, McNulty and Brennan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Estimating Dining Plate Size From an Egocentric Image Sequence Without a Fiducial Marker

Wenyan Jia¹, Zekun Wu¹, Yiqiu Ren¹, Shunxin Cao¹, Zhi-Hong Mao^{1,2} and Mingui Sun^{1,2,3*}

¹ Department of Electrical & Computer Engineering, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States, ² Department of Bioengineering, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States, ³ Department of Neurosurgery, University of Pittsburgh, PA, United States

Despite the extreme importance of food intake in human health, it is currently difficult to conduct an objective dietary assessment without individuals' self-report. In recent years, a passive method utilizing a wearable electronic device has emerged. This device acquires food images automatically during the eating process. These images are then analyzed to estimate intakes of calories and nutrients, assisted by advanced computational algorithms. Although this passive method is highly desirable, it has been thwarted by the requirement of a fiducial marker which must be present in the image for a scale reference. The importance of this scale reference is analogous to the importance of the scale bar in a map which determines distances or areas in any geological region covered by the map. Likewise, the sizes or volumes of arbitrary foods on a dining table covered by an image cannot be determined without the scale reference. Currently, the fiducial marker (often a checkerboard card) serves as the scale reference which must be present on the table before taking pictures, requiring human efforts to carry, place and retrieve the fiducial marker manually. In this work, we demonstrate that the fiducial marker can be eliminated if an individual's dining location is fixed and a one-time calibration using a circular plate of known size is performed. When the individual uses another circular plate of an unknown size, our algorithm estimates its radius using the range of pre-calibrated distances between the camera and the plate from which the desired scale reference is determined automatically. Our comparative experiment indicates that the mean absolute percentage error of the proposed estimation method is ~10.73%. Although this error is larger than that of the manual method of 6.68% using a fiducial marker on the table, the new method has a distinctive advantage of eliminating the manual procedure and automatically generating the scale reference.

Keywords: wearable device, fiducial marker, dining plate size, egocentric image, technology-based dietary assessment

INTRODUCTION

Many chronic diseases, such as heart diseases, cancer and diabetes, are associated with unhealthy diet. A recent study by the Global Burden of Disease found that poor diet accounted for \sim 20% of adult deaths in 2017 (1). As diet-related health risks are high, it is important to conduct dietary assessment among individuals' with, or in an emerging stage of, chronic diseases. Traditionally,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Natasha Tasevska, Arizona State University Downtown Phoenix Campus, United States

Reviewed by:

Wei-Ta Chu, National Cheng Kung University, Taiwan Fengqing Maggie Zhu, Purdue University, United States Sepehr Makhsous, University of Washington, United States

> *Correspondence: Mingui Sun drsun@pitt.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 11 December 2019 Accepted: 04 December 2020 Published: 14 January 2021

Citation:

Jia W, Wu Z, Ren Y, Cao S, Mao Z-H and Sun M (2021) Estimating Dining Plate Size From an Egocentric Image Sequence Without a Fiducial Marker. Front. Nutr. 7:519444. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.519444

121

this assessment depends on individuals' self-report, which is subjective and often inaccurate (2). In recent years, as microelectronic and mobile technologies advance, image-based dietary assessment has emerged (3, 4). The images of food are acquired from an individual either actively or passively. In the active approach, the individual takes pictures of his/her food before and after each eating event (5). Although this method is inexpensive (because of the wide availability of the smartphone) and the image quality is high, picture-taking must be volitionally initiated, which depends on the individual's memory. In the passive approach, the individual is provided with a small electronic wearable device, such as the eButton in the form of a chest pin [Figure 1A, (6, 7)]. This device is equipped with a wide-angle camera aiming at the food on the table during the eating process. Rather than taking pictures manually, a sequence of images is acquired automatically at a pre-set rate (4-6s between images). For a complete dietary assessment, the device can be activated for the entire day, producing a large amount of data saved on the device. Once the data are uploaded to a computer, they are first screened using the Artificial Intelligence (AI) technology (8). This screening automatically filters out all image segments not containing foods or beverages, both reducing the burden of data examination by human experts and mitigating the related privacy concerns. The AI approach also allows objective studies of snacking and a wide range of other dietrelated activities, such as food shopping, storage, preparation, cooking, and post-eating events. This work is in the domain of the passive approach.

Although image-based dietary assessment has many advantages over the traditional self-report method, it requires

a scale reference within each image. The scale reference is extremely important, analogous to the importance of the scale bar in a map which enables the determination of the distance between any two points on the map or the area of any geological region covered by the map. Likewise, the volumes of foods and beverages on a dining table in the scope of an image cannot be determined without the scale reference. Currently, the scale reference is provided by a fiducial marker which is an object of known dimensions, such as a checkerboard or a business card (2, 5, 9). This method requires the individual to physically carry the card, place it on the dining table before the eating process and retrieve it afterwards. Clearly, these tasks are inconvenient and contradicts the goal of passive dietary assessment. In order to eliminate these tasks, we previously developed a method to use the dining plate itself as the scale reference (10, 11). Since a circular plate appears in the image as an ellipse and the eccentricity of the ellipse depends on the viewing angle of the wearable device, the coordinate transformation between the image pixel coordinates and the world coordinates can be established, under the condition that the radius of the plate is known. Although this method eliminates the need to carry, place and retrieve the fiducial marker, it requires a measurement of the plate radius, which is still a manual procedure and a significant burden to the participant. Eliminating this manual procedure would lead to a true passive dietary assessment, removing the last bottleneck that undermines the passiveness. Because of the high importance of this problem, considerable effort has been spent by the research community, and several approaches have been reported, such as using two cameras for a stereo view (12), adopting a depth camera (13), and using a laser



reference produced by an add-on device (14, 15). Although these solutions are effective, the extra power consumption, enlarged wearable device size and increased cost have hampered their practical utility.

Unfortunately, elimination of the manual procedure and automatic determinization of the scale reference based purely on image contents represent an extremely difficult problem. The theory of computer vision has indicated that it is impossible to estimate the real size of an object in a single 2D image without providing the scale information (16). However, we will show, in this work, that this theoretical constraint can be circumvented if we use a sequence of images as the input and meet the following assumptions: (1) the heights of the dining table and chair at each dining location are fixed, (2) a one-time calibration is performed at each dining location using a circular plate of known size, (3) the individual uses the same wearable device affixed at the same body location to capture images, and (4) one of the food containers on the dining table is a circular plate. Then, we show that the desired scale reference can be determined automatically from the circular plate. Here we point out that, as in the case of a map where the scale bar is applicable to all geological regions covered by the map, this scale reference, once obtained, is applicable to all foods, beverages and other objects on the dining table. As a result, their lengths and volumes can be estimated from the image.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Section Methods presents the details of our method including the concepts utilized, the formulation of the method, and the plate radius estimation procedure. Section Experimental Results summarizes the experimental data and analysis results. In section Discussion, several issues of this method are discussed. Finally, limitations and future work are described in section Limitation and Future Work and conclusions are drawn in section Conclusion.

METHODS

System Design Concepts

In real life, most individuals follow a certain eating pattern. With exceptions of traveling or "eating out," they usually use fixed locations to have meals, for example, the kitchen or dining room at home for breakfast and dinner, and the office desk, a cafeteria, or a favored restaurant for lunch. At each location, the heights of the dining table and chair are usually fixed. Additionally, when a wearable device is used for dietary assessment, the location of the wearable device is usually fixed also, such as the chest location of the eButton (**Figure 1A**). All these factors indicate that, during eating events, the imaging environment of the individual at each dining location does not change drastically regardless of the food served and utensils utilized.

Although, as indicated previously, the theory of computer vision prohibits the determination of plate radius from a single image alone without the scale information, the estimation becomes possible when a sequence of images is captured by a wearable camera. Our key approach is to investigate the variation in the size of the observed dining plate in the image sequence (see an example in **Figure 1B**) as the result of the individual's repeated motion for reaching and fetching food. Although this body motion is not truly periodic (hence we call it "quasiperiodic

motion") involving considerable irregularities in the camerato-plate distance, it is reasonable to assume that the statistical range of camera-to-plate distance variations remains the same for all eating events if the eating environment is fixed. From our previous studies (10), we know that the camera-to-plate distance can be calculated when a circular plate presents in the image and the plate size is known. If a one-time calibration with a plate of known size is conducted for an individual, the range of camera-to-plate distances during all future eating events of this person can be considered known. Then, the radius of an unknown plate can be estimated using this known range of the distances if his/her eating happens at the same location. These represent the key concepts of our method.

Our method, to be detailed below, for estimating the radius of an unknown plate from the image sequence is highlighted as follows. First, the relationship between the image of the plate (i.e., an ellipse) and the camera-to-plate distance is investigated and simplified. Then, a set of lines is generated to represent such relationship for different plate sizes. Next, from these lines, a particular line (i.e., the optimal line) is determined that best-matches the known range of the camera-to-plate distances obtained during the calibration process. The radius of the unknown plate is determined to be the radius represented by that line.

Modeling Camera-to-Plate Distance

Let D_i be the distance (unit: mm) between the lens of the wearable device to the center of the plate, where subscript *i* denotes the *i*th image in the image sequence (**Figure 1C**). We have previously shown (10) that D_i can be determined from the ellipse (representing the plate) in the image if the actual radius of the plate is measured, and the intrinsic parameters of the camera, including the focal length and pixel size of the semiconductor chip, are provided. **Figure 2A** illustrates the change of camera-to-plate distance (red dots) during an eating episode. The mathematical expression for D_i is derived based on intersecting a cone (with its vertex located at the optical center of the camera) by the surface of the tabletop, where the circular plate (assuming that its height can be ignored) coincides with the intersection contour (10, 17). While the mathematical details of the expression are quite complex, here we write it as *g*, given by

$$D_i = g\left(x_i, y_i, a_i, b_i, \theta_i, R\right), \qquad (1)$$

where (x_i, y_i) denote the coordinate of the center for the ellipse in the image; (a_i, b_i, θ_i) represent the length of the semimajor axis, the semiminor axis, and the major axis angle of the ellipse, respectively (shown in **Figure 1D**); and *R* is the radius of the plate (unit: mm). Among the six variables of *g*, *R* is the only one that has a physical size in the world coordinates. With the ellipse parameters, the orientation and location of the dining table where the plate is placed on can be determined.

Model Simplification

To simplify Equation (1) and make the relationship between D and (x, y, a, b, θ, R) more intuitive, we start with a simple case assuming that the optical axis of the camera goes through



FIGURE 2 (A) Plot of change of camera-to-plate distance (red dots) during an eating episode; (B) Simulated camera-to-plate distance vs. 1/a using Equation (3); (C) A set of fitted curves for $R = 60, 70, \dots, 150$ mm; (D) Camera-to-plate distance D vs. 1/a plot for the real data in (A); (E) The two dotted blue lines represent the distance range $[D_i, D_u]$ obtained from calibrated data (red dots). The black lines represent the fitted lines for different plate radii. The green dots are the corresponding D_i to each $1/a_i$ obtained from the image with unknown plate. (F) Plot of P and fitted Gaussian function.

the center of the plate and the camera is level (the bottom of the camera is parallel to the horizon) but tilting downwards by an angle γ to capture the food on table. Under these assumptions, we explicitly derive function g based on a pin-hole camera model. Even with these simplifications, the derivation is still complex. It is thus not included here. Interested readers are referred to the **Supplementary Material** (attached). The final relationship between camera-to-plate distance D and the reciprocal of semimajor axis a of the observed ellipse is given by:

$$\frac{1}{a} = \frac{1}{f} \sqrt{\left(\frac{D}{R}\right)^2 - \cos^2\gamma},\tag{2}$$

where *R* is the plate radius, γ is the tilting angle, and *f* is the camera's focal length. The reason that the semiminor axis *b* is not included is also discussed in the **Supplementary Material**. Note that the unit of *a* is millimeter in the image plane (i.e., the sensor chip) within the camera. The conversion between the pixel coordinates in the image and the real-world coordinates in the image plane can be made through the intrinsic parameters of the camera (such as focal length, pixel size) (16).

With Equation (2), we can find the relationship between 1/a and D when R and γ are given. In practice, angle γ changes during eating due to human body's movement for reaching, fetching and delivering the food to the mouth (exemplified in

Figure 1B as snapshots of this process). Thus, γ is set to a uniformly distributed random number between 20 and 70°. By simulation, a large number of pairs of $(1/a_i, D_i)$, $i = 1, 2, \dots, N$, using Equation (2) can be generated for different *R* values (see examples in **Figure 2B**). The red dots represent the data points for R = 150 mm, green dots for R = 100 mm and blue dots for R = 60 mm. It can be seen that the relationship between 1/a and *D* can be approximated by a linear function. By least-square fitting of the simulated data points for each R_t according to the following criterion

$$\min_{m,n} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(D_i - \frac{m}{a_i} - n \right)^2, \tag{3}$$

the fitting parameters m, n corresponding to the given radius R_t (t = 1, ..., T) can be obtained, as shown in **Figure 2B**. Here T is the total number of simulated fitting lines. Then, we have

$$D_i \approx \frac{m}{a_i} + n$$
 $(i = 1, \dots, N).$ (4)

Figure 2C illustrates a case for T = 10 where each line represents a different value of R. Thus, for each R value, the ellipse parameter 1/a can be calculated from camera-to-plate distance D. Conversely, if D is known, we can determine R. Although Dvaries during the eating process as stated previously, the range of D is known from pre-calibration. If the calibrated range of Dis $[D_l, D_u]$ and the extracted ellipse parameters from the image sequence are $\{1/a_i\}$, for i = 1, ..., N, the problem of estimating the unknown plate size becomes finding the optimal line among all the simulated (or pre-tabulated) lines that best-maps the set of $\{1/a_i\}$ into the range of $[D_l, D_u]$.

Although, in this simplification, the requirement that the optical axis of the camera goes through the plate center cannot be met normally, our data indicate that the approximate linear relationship between 1/a and camera-to-plate distance D still hold for real image sequences obtained during eating events (exemplified in **Figure 2D**). This demonstrates that the simplified model is generally acceptable. In some cases, however, the quasiperiodic body movement of the individual during eating is interrupted because of certain activities related or unrelated to the eating process (e.g., reaching a can of drink far away from the individual or operating a TV remote control). These activities result in sudden large changes in the positions and/or orientations in the observed sequence of ellipses. These changes do not fit our model but can be easily identified from the image sequence and discarded as data outliers.

System Calibration and Plate Radius Estimation

In the following, we will first describe the calibration procedure. Then, we will provide two different estimates for the camerato-plate distance, one by analytic calculation and the other by simulation. Finally, these two estimates are combined to estimate the unknown plate radius based on the result of calibration.

Calibration Procedure

A one-time calibration is required for each subject at each eating location. This calibration is nothing more than having a meal by the individual at the location with a circular plate of known radius R. From the calibration image sequence, the ellipse parameters are extracted from the *i*th image and thus the camera-to-plate distance can be computed using Equation (1) which specifies the relationship between D_i and ellipse parameters. Although the mathematical expression for Equation (1) is complex, an analytic solution has been reported and can be computed using ellipse parameters (10, 17). From the whole image sequence, we can obtain a set of $\{D_i\}$ and a set of ellipse parameters $\{x_i, y_i, a_i, b_i, \theta_i\}$. Thus, the range of D_i , defined as $[D_l, D_u]$, can be estimated from the distribution of $\{D_i\}$. Due to the limited number of images in a sequence and the noisy nature of the experimental data, the minimum and maximum value of D_i , $i = 1, 2, \dots, N$, may not reflect the actual distance range. We thus manipulate the histogram of $\{D_i\}$ to obtain the distance range, which will be described in section Data Analysis.

Camera-to-Plate Distance by Simulation

For a new image sequence including an unknown plate, the ellipse parameters $(x_i, y_i, a_i, b_i, \theta_i)$ can also be extracted for each image in the sequence. Then, we set R to be a variable and equally sample this variable to form R_t , t = $1, 2, \dots, T$ with a sufficient range and resolution (e.g., from $R_1 = 30 \text{ mm}$ to $R_T = 165 \text{ mm}$ with an increment of 1 mm). Next, the fitting parameters m,n corresponding to the given radius R_t ($t = 1, 2, \dots, T$) are obtained using Equation (3) as illustrated in **Figure 2B**. By substituting a_i to the simplified form of Equation (1), i.e., Equation (4), the camerato-plate distances D_i , $i = 1, 2, \dots, N$, for each R_t , t = $1, 2, \dots, T$, can be simulated (i.e., pre-tabulated), defined as $\{D_i^1\}$.

Calculated Camera-to-Plate Distance

Since the available data obtained from an eating event are usually limited (*N* is usually <100), we calculate another set of $\{D_i\}$ called $\{D_i^2\}$ for the same values of R_t , $t = 1, 2, \dots, T$, using Equation (1) although the calculation is complicated (10, 17). The main reason of adding this part of calculation is to double the number of data points that can be used to make the estimation more reliable.

Plate Size Estimation

After combining the two sets of $\{D_i\}$ as $\{D_i\} = \{D_i^1\} \cup \{D_i^2\}$ for each R, the number of $\{D_i\}$ that fall into the calibrated range $[D_l, D_u]$ can be counted. An index representing how close each R is to the actual radius can be calculated as $P = |\{D_i \in [D_l, D_u]\}| / |\{D_i\}|$ (see **Figure 2F** for an example), where the vertical bars " $|\cdot|$ " represent the number of elements in a set. Finally, we fit the curve with a Gaussian function, and the estimated R corresponds to this maximum point (i.e., the mean of the Gaussian distribution).

EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

To validate our plate radius estimation method, we conducted experiments in real-world settings. In this section, we describe the details of our experiments, including human subjects, experimental procedure, data analysis, and experimental results.

Human Subjects

With an approval by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Pittsburgh, three human subjects participated in the experimental study. In order to satisfy the assumptions presented in section Model Simplification, these subjects were selected based on the following criteria: (1) they were healthy with normal body posture at both sitting and standing positions; (2) they followed a regular daily routine during the study (e.g., traveling was excluded); and (3) their dining locations were mostly fixed.

Experimental Procedure

The subjects were first trained for using the eButton to record their dining events. They were instructed to comply with the following requirements: (1) using circular plates as the food container for serving; (2) wearing the eButton at a fixed chest location; and (3) keeping the heights of dining table and chair at each dining location unchanged. The subjects were instructed to follow their regular dietary patterns without restrictions on types of food and activities while sitting at the table (e.g., listening to music, watching TV, making a phone call, or interacting with people). No limitation was imposed on food types and utensils.

In each meal during the experiment, the subject wore the eButton and had meals normally using the pre-measured plate. The measured values were used either for the calibration process or as the gold standard for assessing the accuracy of our plate radius estimation algorithm.

Data Analysis

After the study, the subjects returned the eButton to our laboratory where the recorded data were read from the microSD card within the device. The following data analysis steps were implemented.

Image Screening and Ellipse Extraction

All the images in each eating event were visually examined by a researcher. The images that contained no plate or a plate with most of its boundary missing were regarded as outliers and excluded from data analysis. For each image, the contour of the plate edge, observed as an ellipse in the image, was first extracted automatically using an automatic algorithm developed by us previously (18). In some cases, the automatic method failed due to occlusion or shadowing. In these cases, we used interactive method in which six points on the ellipse were manually selected. In either case, the parameters of each ellipse (e.g., semimajor axis a) were extracted by a least-squares fitting of the ellipse boundary.

Distance Range From Calibrated Image Sequence

For each image in the calibrated image sequence, all $\{x_i, y_i, a_i, b_i, \theta_i\}$, $i = 1, 2, \dots, N$, where *N* is the number of images in an eating event after eliminating outliers, were extracted. Then, distance D_i corresponding to each image was

obtained using Equation (1) with the pre-measured *R*. The red dots in **Figures 2D**,**E** represent the pairs of $\{1/a_i, D_i\}$ calculated from the calibrated image sequence. To determine the range of $\{D_i\}$ reliably, the histogram of $\{D_i\}$ was calculated and the values in the two extreme bins were removed if the frequency in either bin was small (i.e., less than half of the average frequency). After that, the maximum and minimum values of the remaining D_i were set to $[D_l, D_u]$. Examples are shown in **Figure 2E**.

Simulation of the Relationship Between Ellipse Parameter and Camera-to-Plate Distance

The simulation was described in section System Calibration and Plate Radius Estimation. Simulated lines represent the relationship between D and 1/a, as shown in **Figure 2C**. In our experiment, the range of was chosen from 30 to 165 mm with an increment of 1 mm.

Plate Radius Estimation From the Image Sequence With Unknown Plate Size

For each human subject at each dining location, we collected data containing different eating events using plates of different radii. We call this collection of data "eating episodes" in which each episode is a particular event in the collected dataset. We took each plate as the calibration/reference plate sequentially from the dataset and the radii of the remaining plates were estimated using the procedure described in section System Calibration and Plate Radius Estimation. Our experiment resulted in M(M - 1) estimates of plate radii for each human subject where M is the number of plates utilized by the subject during the experiment.

Statistical Analysis

To observe the estimation error statistically, we calculated the percentage error for the estimated plate radius in each eating episode using different plates for calibration. Then, we calculated several statistical measures, including the mean Percentage Error (mPE), mean absolute Percentage Error (maPE), mean relative Root Mean Square Error (mrRMSE), defined as follows:

Percentage Error (PE) =
$$\frac{R_{k,j} - R_j}{R_j}$$

mean Percentage Error (mPE) =
$$\frac{1}{M(M-1)} \sum_{k} \sum_{j \neq k} \frac{R_{k,j} - R_j}{R_j}$$

mean absolute Percentage Error (maPE)

$$= \frac{1}{M(M-1)} \sum_{k} \sum_{j \neq k} \left| \frac{R_{k,j} - R_j}{R_j} \right|$$

mean relative Root Mean Square Error (mrRMSE)

$$= \sqrt{\frac{1}{M(M-1)}\sum_{k}\sum_{j\neq k}\left(\frac{R_{k,j}-R_{j}}{R_{j}}\right)^{2}}$$

where R_j is the true radius of the plate in the *j*th episode, $R_{k,j}$ is the estimated radius of plate in the *j*th eating episode using the plate in the *k*th episode as the reference plate for calibration, and *M* is the total number of episodes. Note that each error calculation is represented in the percentage value.

Results

In our experiments, a total of 37 eating episodes (15 for Subject 1, 12 for Subject 2, and 10 for Subject 3) were recorded, and the plate radius used in each episode was measured as the ground truth. One episode of Subject 3 was removed from further analysis because the number of images in this episode was insufficient. Thus, 36 episodes were analyzed, and 15 different circular plates with different radii and heights were used in this study. Typical images are illustrated in **Figure 3A**, where one image is shown for each episode. In these eating episodes, the foods consumed included beef, rice, noodle, dissert, bread, Chinese pancake, pasta, and different kinds of vegetables. Chopsticks, forks, knifes, and spoons were used as utensils.

While our results for all subjects are summarized in **Figure 3**, specific values of estimated plate radii for Subject 3 are provided in **Table 1** as an example. Total nine tests were conducted for this subject. In this table, the values in each row (denoted by "Test #") represent estimated radii of different plates using the same reference, while the values in each column (denoted by "Plate #") represent estimated radii of the same plate using different references. The boldfaced values along the diagonal lines are true radii, which are actually measured values. The calculated mPE, maPE, mrRMSE using the formula in section Data Analysis for each subject are listed in **Figure 3B**. A set of statistical measures is provided in **Figure 3C**, including distributions of percentage errors for all subjects, 25th percentiles of errors, 75th percentiles of errors, and median errors.

In order to compare the accuracies of our automatic and the traditional manual methods, we conducted an additional experiment using a fiducial marker, which was a rectangular checkerboard of $6 \times 7 \,\mathrm{cm}$. Ten circular plates with different radii and heights were utilized in this comparative experiment. The range of the plate radii was identical to that in the previous experiment. The checkerboard card was manually placed next to each plate before taking pictures with an eButton. Since the thickness of checkerboard was small, its surface can be considered as the same surface of the table. Due to the plate height, the plane of table surface estimated from the checkerboard in the image was different from the plane of the plate border, causing a small amount of error in plate radius estimation. For a fair comparison with our method, we assumed that the plate height was standard, which was the height of the reference plate, the same as the assumption made in our method. Under this assumption, each of the ten plates was taken as the reference plate and the remaining nine plates were estimated. Thus, total 90 plate radius estimates were obtained. In each estimate, five images in different viewing distances and angles were processed, and the five results were averaged. Example pictures, the data processing algorithm, estimated values and estimation errors are included in the Supplementary Material. Finally, the estimation errors were studied using the same statistical measures (i.e., mPE, maPE, mrRMSE, and boxplot), as in the previous experiment. The results of this comparative experiment are summarized in **Figures 3B,C**. It can be observed that our automatic method has a larger error than the manual method using a fiducial marker (10.73% vs. 6.68% in terms of the mean absolute percentage error). This is not surprising since the fiducial marker provides a scale reference directly in the image. Although a larger error is involved, the new method has a distinctive advantage of eliminating the manual procedure and automatically generating the scale reference.

DISCUSSIONS

In this work, we develop a new method to eliminate the requirement for a fiducial marker in egocentric image based dietary assessment. We take advantage of the fixed environment at the dining location to model the eating behavior of an individual. Our study yields a new method to estimate the dining plate radius automatically. If there is only one plate of food in the image, the plate radius (or diameter) is sufficient to serve as the scale reference. In cases where the captured image shows multiple foods on the table, we need to go only one step further. Using this radius and the orientation information obtained from the observed elliptic shape of the plate, a plane equation for the tabletop can be determined which serves as the desired scale reference. This plane equation is easy to obtain because the ellipse in the image provides the orientation (or the norm vector) of the plate, the circle of the plate is in or close to the plane of the tabletop, and the radius provides the scale in a real-world unit (e.g., mm). Analogous to a map where the sizes of all regions in the map can be estimated using the scale bar, the sizes or volumes of any foods (within containers of any forms or shapes or even without containers) or beverages on the table can be estimated using the scale reference. Compared with the existing methods using additional sensors and laser emitters, our method requires no added cost. A simple, once-for-all calibration is the only requirement to implement our method.

Our method is built upon a number of assumptions: (1) it is applicable only to each individual, (2) the heights of the dining table and chair at the dining location are invariant, (3) the devicewearing position on the body is fixed, and (4) the range of body rotation during normal eating is invariant. Clearly, these are strong assumptions which may not be met exactly in a realworld setting. However, making such assumptions is a key step to simplify the complex six-variable relationship (Equation 1) into a single-variable linear equation (Equation 4). Our experimental results have indicated that, even if the assumptions are not met completely, the mean absolute percentage error of plate radius estimation is <11%. Nevertheless, attention should be paid to the validity of the data as we did in data analysis. It is strongly recommended to exclude the images with a considerable portion of the plate shifted out of the image frame. These cases can be easily identified from the image data.

In our method, estimating the range of the distance from the calibrated image sequence is an important step. However, due to the limited data points in an image sequence (e.g., the eButton acquires one image in every 4–6 s, preset by the user), the



FIGURE 3 | (A) Illustrations of one typical image for each episode; (B) Calculated mPE, maPE, and mrRMSE for each subject and the fiducial marker method; (C) Box-plot of percentage errors for each subject with extreme percentage errors, 25th percentiles of errors, median, and 75th percentiles of errors marked for the three subjects and the fiducial marker method.

estimation of the distance range may not be sufficiently accurate. Increasing the frame rate of the wearable camera to obtain more images may improve the estimation.

We would also like to point out two main reasons of using a circular plate to obtain the scale reference. First, it is a commonly used utensil in most parts of the world. Second, if the plate is shallow, its top surface is close and parallel to the table surface. However, with exception of the disposable paper plate, most plates have significant heights. In our algorithm, we implicitly assume that the height of the reference plate is the height of the unknown plate, and this "standard height" is used as an offset to be considered in the plane equation for the tabletop. Nevertheless, this method involves a certain error. In some

cultures, bowls are used more commonly than plates. We point out that our method can still be used by changing the reference plate to the reference bowl and use its height as the standard height, with some tolerance of the height-related error. Finally, since our method relies only one circular plate to estimate the scale reference, in our experiments, each image contains only a single plate. However, our method is applicable to images containing multiple foods in any forms of containers as long as one of them is a circular plate (or bowl if the reference is a bowl).

The result of the comparative experiment indicates that the manual fiducial marker method is more accurate than our automatic method. This is understandable because the marker provides a scale reference directly while the automatic method

TABLE 1 Comparison of measured	d (ground truth) and e	stimated plate radii for Subject 3.
----------------------------------	------------------------	-------------------------------------

	Plate#1	Plate#2	Plate#3	Plate#4	Plate#5	Plate#6	Plate#7	Plate#8	Plate#9
Test#1	130	131	107	120	97	100	133	104	98
Test#2	130	125	103	115	93	96	128	99	95
Test#3	121	117	95	108	88	90	120	93	89
Test#4	148	146	118	127	107	110	147	114	109
Test#5	141	135	111	124	100	103	139	107	102
Test#6	154	153	124	141	113	112	154	121	115
Test#7	139	135	109	123	100	102	130	106	101
Test#8	132	128	105	118	95	98	131	100	97
Test#9	130	126	103	116	94	96	129	100	95

The numbers in each row (Test #) represent estimated radii of different plates using the same reference, while the numbers in each column (Plate #) represent estimated radii of the same plate using different references. The boldfaced numbers on the diagonal lines are true radii (actually measured values).

does not have such information. However, in the fiducial marker method, a checkerboard card must be carried by the individual, placed on the tabletop next to the food before eating, and retrieved after eating for the next use. These procedures are unwelcome and can be forgotten easily.

LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE WORK

Our method provides an automatic way to estimate the size of a circular plate. Therefore, as long as there is a plate on the table and the assumptions about the fixed eating environment are satisfied, we will be able to obtain a scale reference for all items on the table based on a one-time calibration procedure. If there are bowls, glasses/cups and/or snacks placed on the same table, in theory, their volumes can be estimated based on the scale reference that our method provides. However, the estimation is subject to various constraints, assumptions and, in some cases, availability of a certain set of knowledge (e.g., the shape of a bowl or a cup). In addition, the problem of 3D food volume estimation from a single or a series of 2D images has not yet been fully solved, and there is a strong demand to develop new computational methods using advanced technologies, such as artificial intelligence (AI). Even though this volume estimation problem is fascinating, its discussion would be lengthy, beyond the scope of this paper which is focused solely on automatic plate radius estimation to generate a scale reference. We emphasize again that this reference is a fundamental requirement regardless the technologies to be utilized.

Our method is currently limited to the dining scenarios where a circular plate or bowl is used as a food container. For the cases where only non-circular plates or bowls are present in the image, we have not found an effective method to estimate their parameters without pre-measurements. These types of containers are still the subjects of further investigation.

CONCLUSION

We have developed a new method to estimate the radius of a dining plate in a sequence of egocentric images acquired by a wearable device thus a scale reference can be obtained automatically. This method is based on mathematical analysis of the eating behavior of an individual and the invariance of the eating environment (i.e., the heights of the table and chair are fixed at each dining location). Unlike the traditional methods that use a fiducial marker or require measurement of plate radius for every meal, our method requires only a once-for-all radius measurement of a single plate. After this calibration step, the radius of arbitrary plate can be estimated. Due to the elimination of a fiducial marker, our method greatly reduces the research burden for research participants, making the dietary assessment passive and objective.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of Pittsburgh Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MS, ZW, and WJ were responsible for concept formulation and methodological design. ZW, YR, SC, and WJ conducted data collection and image processing. WJ, YR, ZW, Z-HM, and MS contributed to the algorithm for data analysis, final drafting, and editing of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health grant No. R56DK113819 and the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation Contract IDOPP1171395.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We also appreciate the support from all research participants.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2020. 519444/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- GBD 2017 Diet Collaborators. Health effects of dietary risks in 195 countries, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet.* (2019) 393:1958–72. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30041-8
- Thompson FE, Subar AF, (eds.). Chapter 1 Dietary Assessment Methodology. San Diego, CA: Academic Press (2001).
- Gemming L, Utter J, Ni Mhurchu C. Image-assisted dietary assessment: a systematic review of the evidence. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2015) 115:64–77. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2014.09.015
- Min W, Jiang S, Liu L, Rui Y, Jain R. A survey on food computing. ACM Comput Surv. (2018) 52:5. doi: 10.1145/3329168
- Boushey CJ, Kerr DA, Wright J, Lutes KD, Ebert DS, Delp EJ. Use of technology in children's dietary assessment. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2009) 63(Suppl. 1):S50–7. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2008.65
- Sun M, Burke LE, Mao ZH, Chen Y, Chen HC, Bai Y, et al. eButton: a wearable computer for health monitoring and personal assistance. In: *Proceeding 51st Annual Design Automation Conference*. San Francisco, CA: June (2014).
- Sun M, Burke LE, Baranowski T, Fernstrom JD, Zhang H, Chen HC, et al. An exploratory study on a chest-worn computer for evaluation of diet, physical activity and lifestyle. *J Healthc Eng.* (2015) 6:1–22. doi: 10.1260/2040-2295.6.1.1
- Jia W, Li Y, Qu R, Baranowski T, Burke LE, Zhang H, et al. Automatic food detection in egocentric images using artificial intelligence technology. *Public Health Nutr.* (2018) 22:1168–79. doi: 10.1017/S1368980018000538
- Pendergast FJ, Ridgers ND, Worsley A, McNaughton SA. Evaluation of a smartphone food diary application using objectively measured energy expenditure. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2017) 14:30. doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0488-9
- Jia W, Yue Y, Fernstrom JD, Yao N, Sclabassi RJ, Fernstrom MH, et al. Imagebased estimation of food volume using circular referents in dietary assessment. *J Food Eng.* (2012) 109:76–86. doi: 10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2011.09.031
- Jia W, Chen HC, Yue Y, Li Z, Fernstrom J, Bai Y, et al. Accuracy of food portion size estimation from digital pictures acquired by a chest-worn camera. *Public Health Nutr.* (2014) 17:1671–81. doi: 10.1017/S13689800130 03236

- Subhi MA, Ali SHM, Ismail AG, Othman M. Food volume estimation based on stereo image analysis. *IEEE Instrum Meas Mag.* (2018) 21:36–43. doi: 10.1109/MIM.2018.8573592
- Lo FP, Sun Y, Qiu J, Lo B. Food volume estimation based on deep learning view synthesis from a single depth map. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:2005. doi: 10.3390/nu10122005
- Yao N. (2010). Food Dimension Estimation From a Single Image Using Structured Lights. (Ph.D. thesis). University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States.
- Makhsous S, Mohammad HM, Schenk JM, Mamishev AV, Kristal AR. A novel mobile structured light system in food 3D reconstruction and volume estimation. *Sensors.* (2019) 19:564. doi: 10.3390/s190 30564
- Ma Y, Soatto S, Košecká J, Sastry SS. An invitation to 3-D vision : from images to geometric models. In: Antman SS, Marsden JE, Sirovich L, Wiggins S, editors. *Interdisciplinary Applied Mathematics*. New York: Springer Science and Business Media, LLC (2004).
- Safaee-Rad R, Tchoukanov I, Smith KC, Benhabib B. Three-dimensional location estimation of circular features for machine vision. *IEEE Trans Robot Automat.* (1992) 8:624–40. doi: 10.1109/70.163786
- Nie J, Wei Z, Jia W, Li L, Fernstrom JD, Sclabassi RJ, et al. Automatic detection of dining plates for image-based dietary evaluation. In: *Proceeding* 32nd Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. Buenos Aires (2010). p. 4312–5.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Jia, Wu, Ren, Cao, Mao and Sun. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Dietary Inflammatory Index Is Associated With Inflammation in Japanese Men

Ayaka Kotemori^{1,2}, Norie Sawada^{1*}, Motoki Iwasaki¹, Taiki Yamaji¹, Nitin Shivappa^{3,4,5}, James R. Hebert^{3,4,5}, Junko Ishihara², Manami Inoue¹ and Shoichiro Tsugane¹

¹ Epidemiology and Prevention Group, Center for Public Health Sciences, National Cancer Center, Tokyo, Japan, ² Department of Food and Life Science, Azabu University, Kanagawa, Japan, ³ Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Arnold School of Public Health, University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC, United States, ⁴ Cancer Prevention and Control Program, University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC, United States, ⁵ Department of Nutrition Connecting Health Innovations Limited Liability Company, Columbia, SC, United States

Background: Dietary components are known to affect chronic low-grade inflammation status. The dietary inflammatory index (DII[®]) was developed to measure the potential impact of a diet on an individual's inflammatory status, and it has been validated mainly in Western countries.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Megan A. McCrory, Boston University, United States

Reviewed by:

Roberta Masella, National Institute of Health (ISS), Italy Parvin Mirmiran, Research Institute for Endocrine Sciences, Iran

> *Correspondence: Norie Sawada nsawada@ncc.go.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 09 September 2020 Accepted: 09 March 2021 Published: 09 April 2021

Citation:

Kotemori A, Sawada N, Iwasaki M, Yamaji T, Shivappa N, Hebert JR, Ishihara J, Inoue M and Tsugane S (2021) Dietary Inflammatory Index Is Associated With Inflammation in Japanese Men. Front. Nutr. 8:604296. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.604296 **Objective:** This study aimed to examine the validity of the energy-adjusted DII (E-DIITM) using high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) concentration in Japanese men and women.

Methods: In total, 6,474 volunteers from a cancer-screening program (3,825 men and 2,649 women) completed a food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) and their hs-CRP concentrations were evaluated. E-DII scores were calculated on the basis of 30 food parameters derived from the FFQ. Higher E-DII scores reflect a greater pro-inflammatory potential of the diet. The associations between E-DII quartiles and hs-CRP concentration were assessed using regression models adjusted for age, body mass index, smoking status, and amount of physical activity.

Results: Mean E-DII in men and women was $+ 0.62 \pm 1.93$ and -1.01 ± 2.25 , respectively. The proportion of men and women who had hs-CRP concentration >3 mg/L was 4.7 and 3.1%, respectively. A significant positive association was observed between E-DII score and hs-CRP concentration in men; geometric mean of hs-CRP concentration in the lowest and highest E-DII quartiles was 0.56 mg/L and 0.67 mg/L ($P_{trend} < 0.01$), respectively. The odds ratio (95% confidence interval) of having an elevated hs-CRP concentration (>3 mg/L) was 1.72 (1.10–2.67) in the highest E-DII quartile ($P_{trend} = 0.03$) in men. However, no association was observed between E-DII score and hs-CRP concentration in the second hs-CRP concentration (>3 mg/L) was 1.72 (1.10–2.67) in the highest E-DII quartile ($P_{trend} = 0.03$) in men. However, no association was observed between E-DII score and hs-CRP concentration in the second hs-CRP concentration in the second hs-CRP concentration (>3 mg/L) was 1.72 (1.10–2.67) in the highest E-DII quartile ($P_{trend} = 0.03$) in men. However, no association was observed between E-DII score and hs-CRP concentration in women, except in those not taking prescription medications.

Conclusions: DII was associated with inflammation status in Japanese men, but the association was limited in Japanese women.

Keywords: dietary inflammatory index, food frequency questionnaire, inflammatory biomarker, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein, Japanese

131

INTRODUCTION

Low-grade chronic inflammation promotes the development of lifestyle-related chronic diseases such as cancer (1-3), cardiovascular disease (4), diabetes (5), and depression (6). High-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) is a well-known inflammatory biomarker, and previous studies have reported that elevated concentrations of hs-CRP are associated with an increased risk of cancer and the incidence of other chronic diseases (1-3, 7, 8).

Dietary components are one of the key factors affecting an individual's inflammatory status (9). High intake of dietary fiber has been shown to be associated with low hs-CRP concentrations, whereas high intake of saturated fatty acids leads to elevation in hs-CRP concentration (10). In addition, a healthy dietary pattern, characterized by high intake of fruits, vegetables, and fish, has been associated with lower hs-CRP concentrations (11). Mediterranean diet also has been shown to reduce hs-CRP concentrations in randomized controlled trials (12, 13). In contrast, Western dietary patterns, characterized by high intake of red and processed meat, is associated with high hs-CRP concentrations (11). These reports suggest that dietary components and dietary patterns may have a contrasting effect on inflammatory status. Therefore, a comprehensive index is required to understand the potential impact of whole diet on inflammatory status.

The Dietary Inflammatory Index (DII[®]) is a literature-based dietary score that was developed to measure the potential impact of a diet on the inflammatory status of an individual; a high DII score reflects pro-inflammatory potential of the diet, whereas a low DII score reflects the anti-inflammatory potential of the diet (14, 15). To date, 30 validation studies have been performed between DII and various inflammatory markers, mainly in Western countries (15-18). In addition, the DII has also been shown to be associated with an increased risk of many chronic diseases including cancer (19-21). In Japan, one study reported that a higher DII score increased the risk of upper aerodigestive tract cancers (22). Among the 30 construct validations performed throughout the world, two have been performed in Japan (18, 23), the results of which are inconsistent with regard to sex-specific analyses. Dietary habits and inflammatory status are considerably different between Japanese and Western populations (23-26). Therefore, it is important to determine the utility of the DII to quantify the inflammatory potential of diet in Japanese men and women.

Previously, we conducted a cross-sectional validation study in a subsample from the Japan Public Health Center-based prospective (JPHC) study but could not identify a positive association between the DII and inflammatory status in women (23). The underlying reasons for the null result could be the small sample size of the study and the fact that women consume a more anti-inflammatory diet than do men (23). Therefore, the present study aimed to assess the associations between DII scores and hs-CRP concentrations in a large number of Japanese men and women.

METHODS

Study Design and Participants

The National Cancer Center of Japan started a cancer-screening program in February 2004. The total number of participants in the present study was 7,919 healthy volunteers (4,664 men and 3,255 women) aged 40–69 years who had participated in the cancer-screening program from May 2009 to December 2013. The blood samples of participants were collected during cancer screening. They also answered self-administered questionnaires for demographic, lifestyle, and dietary information. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the National Cancer Center, Tokyo, Japan (approval number G15-01 and 2016-165). The study aims and protocols were explained to all participants, and each participant provided written informed consent before enrolment in the study.

Self-Administered Questionnaire

The self-administered questionnaire was designed to obtain participants' demographic, lifestyle, and dietary information, including information on height and weight at the time of examination, smoking status, physical activity, and past medical history of cancer, stroke, and myocardial infarction. Dietary information was obtained using a validated food frequency questionnaire (FFQ), which had questions on the consumption of 188 food and beverage items other than supplements. Energy and nutrient intakes were calculated by taking the sum of the products of eating frequency, portion size, and energy and nutrient content of each food, while referring to the Standard Tables of Food Composition in Japan, Fifth Revised and Enlarged Edition (27). A validation study for the energy and nutrient intake had already been conducted in a subsample of the examinees of the cancer screening program, wherein FFQderived data were compared with the data derived from four-day weighed dietary records. The correlation coefficients of energy intake in men and women were 0.53 and 0.34, respectively, and the median correlation coefficients of 45 nutrients were 0.57 and 0.47, respectively. More detailed information has been described elsewhere (28).

Calculation of DII Score

The DII is a literature-based dietary index calculated from 45 nutrients and food components to assess the potential impact of a diet on the inflammation status; a high score indicates proinflammatory potential of the diet and a low score indicates anti-inflammatory potential of the diet. The index was developed by reviewing and scoring 1,943 peer-reviewed publications, which included cell culture experiments, animal experiments, and human studies, and examined the associations between various dietary components and six inflammatory biomarkers [interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, Tumor Necrosis Factor α , and CRP] (14). Inflammatory effect scores for each of the DII

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; CV, coefficient of variation; DII, dietary inflammatory index; E-DII, energy-adjusted dietary inflammatory index; FFQ, food frequency questionnaire; hs-CRP, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; MET, metabolic equivalent; OR, odds ratio; SD, standard deviation.

components were determined by considering the direction of the effect on inflammation, weight of study design, and number of publications. The inflammatory effect scores are available from the publication (14). To calculate an individual's DII score, dietary intake of the DII components was standardized as a Z-score using global daily mean intake and converted into proportion scores in the study population. The global daily mean intake was calculated from a national database of dietary intake in eleven countries including Japan (14). Then, the individual's DII score was calculated as the sum of the products of the centered proportion score and the inflammatory effect score for each of the DII components.

In the present study, we computed the energy-adjusted DII (E-DIITM) using the energy-adjusted intake of the following 30 DII components (out of 45 possible components) (23): protein, total fat, saturated fatty acid, monounsaturated fatty acid, polyunsaturated fatty acid, n-3 fatty acid, n-6 fatty acid, cholesterol, carbohydrate, magnesium, iron, zinc, retinol equivalent, beta-carotene, vitamin D, alpha-tocopherol, vitamin B₁, vitamin B₂, niacin, vitamin B₆, vitamin B₁₂, folate, vitamin C, total dietary fiber, isoflavone, ethanol, onion, green or black tea, and caffeine. Some of the components (such as thyme or oregano and rosemary) are not commonly consumed by the Japanese (23). Energy adjustment was done using the density method, and the amount per 1,000 kcal was used for E-DII calculation.

Blood Sampling and Measurement of Inflammatory Biomarkers

Fasting blood samples were collected along with the selfadministered questionnaire data before any cancer screening procedures on the first day of screening. Venous blood was drawn into a vacutainer tube without anticoagulant, and the samples were centrifuged to obtain serum.

Serum hs-CRP concentrations were measured using a commercial reagent kit (Nanopia CRP, Sekisui Medical Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) with an automated analyzer JCA-BM6070 (Jeol Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) at National Cancer Center, Tokyo, Japan. The intra-assay coefficient of variation was 1.8% for 1 mg/L, 1.3% for 2 mg/L, and 0.7% for 82 mg/L of CRP concentration (n = 20 each) according to the manufacturer's data (29). The detection range of the kit was 0.2 mg/L–420 mg/L. In case the values were lower than the lower limit of quantification, we assigned a value of 0.1 mg/L.

Statistical Analysis

Among the 7,919 participants, 1,445 were excluded on the basis of following criteria: BMI < 14 or >40 kg/m² (n = 13); missing data on smoking status (n = 1); missing data on metabolic equivalents (n = 1); participants with a history of any cancer, stroke, and myocardial infarction (n = 877); extreme energy intake identified in the upper and lower 2.5%-tile (n = 349); missing data on alcohol consumption (n = 120); and missing data on hs-CRP or hs-CRP concentration >10 mg/L (n = 84). Therefore, data from 6,474 participants (3,825 men and 2,649 women) were included in the statistical analysis. Cohen's effect size f^2 and noncentral F distribution $F(df_{Reg}, df_{Res}, \lambda)$ were used to calculate sample size

n for multiple regression analysis; where $f^2 = \frac{R^2}{1-R^2}$, R^2 is the coefficient of determination, df_{Reg} is the degree of freedom for regression (= k), df_{Res} is the degree of freedom for residual (= n – k – 1), and the noncentral parameter λ is $\lambda = f^2 n$ (30). When we set the effect size = 0.01, k = 12, power = 0.8, and significance level = 0.05, the sample size *n* was calculated to be 1,745.

Participants' characteristics were summarized using percentages for categorical variables; mean and standard deviation (SD), as well as median and interquartile range for continuous variables; and geometric mean and coefficient of variation (CV) for log-transformed hs-CRP. The CV was also calculated with the log-transformed value using the formula: CV = $(e^{SD}-1)^{1/2}$ (31). Comparison of characteristics between men and women was done using the chi-square test for categorical variables. The Mann–Whitney U test was used for all continuous variables, as the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test revealed non-normal distribution of all variables except men's height.

Multiple regression analyses were performed for the associations between the E-DII score and food group intake. Associations between the E-DII scores and hs-CRP concentration were evaluated using multivariable linear regression models. Linear trends across E-DII quartiles were calculated using natural log-transformed hs-CRP concentration as a dependent variable. To interpret a partial regression coefficient estimated using this model, e (Euler's number) should be exponentiated with that coefficient. The models were adjusted for age (years; continuous), BMI (kg/m²; continuous), smoking status (current, past, and never), regular prescription medicine use (yes or no), and daily total physical activity level (MET-h/d; continuous). Sensitivity analyses were performed stratified by age, BMI, and regular prescription medicine use. In addition, logistic regression models were applied to estimate the odds ratio (OR) of having elevated hs-CRP concentration (>3 mg/L) across quartiles of E-DII score because this is a clinically relevant cut-off point for chronic inflammation status (32). All statistical analyses were performed using Statistical Analysis Systems software, version 9.3 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA), and the significance level was set at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Characteristics of the Participants

Table 1 shows the characteristics of the participants stratified by sex. BMI and the proportion of smokers and regular prescription medicine users were significantly higher in men than in women. The amount of physical activity was significantly higher in women than in men. The E-DII score was significantly higher in men ($\pm 0.62 \pm 1.93$) than in women (-1.01 ± 2.25) (p < 0.001). Hs-CRP concentrations also were significantly higher in men than in women; mean (CV) was 0.58 mg/L (1.21) and 0.44 mg/L (1.24), respectively (p < 0.001). The proportion of participants who had hs-CRP concentration >3 mg/L was also significantly higher in men than in women (4.7 and 3.1%, respectively; p < 0.001). The comparisons between the prescription medication non-users and users are shown in **Supplementary Table 1**. In both sexes, users were older and had higher BMI, lower DII, and higher hs-CRP concentrations than non-users did.

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of the volunteers of the cancer-screening program from May 2009 to December 2013 at National Cancer Center Japan.

		Men		Women	
		(n = 3825)		p-value	
	Mean (SD)	Median (interquartile range)	Mean (SD)	Median (interquartile range)	
Age (years)	56.7 ± 8.3	58 (50, 64)	56.5 ± 8.2	58 (50, 64)	0.45
Height (cm)	169.5 ± 5.9	169.6 (165.5, 173.4)	156.4 ± 5.5	156.4 (152.5, 160.0)	< 0.001
Weight (kg)	68.6 ± 9.5	67.6 (62.2, 74.2)	53.7 ± 8.1	52.7 (48.5, 57.8)	< 0.001
BMI (kg/m ²)	23.9 ± 2.9	23.7 (21.9, 25.5)	21.9 ± 3.1	21.5 (19.9, 23.5)	< 0.001
Smoking status (%)					
Current	15.4		5.5		< 0.001
Former	52.1		15.2		
Never	32.4		79.3		
Regular prescription medicine user (%)	48.1		44.7		0.008
Physical activity (MET-h/d)	36.6 ± 3.2	35.9 (34.6, 37.6)	38.0 ± 3.7	37.1 (35.6, 39.3)	< 0.001
E-DII (/1000 kcal) ^a	0.62 ± 1.93	0.88 (-0.62, 2.07)	-1.01 ± 2.25	-1.00 (-2.71, 0.63)	< 0.001
Crude hs-CRP (mg/L)	0.91 ± 1.14	0.5 (0.3, 1.0)	0.72 ± 1.04	0.4 (0.2, 0.8)	< 0.001
hs-CRP (mg/L) ^b	0.58 ± 1.21	_	0.44 ± 1.24	_	< 0.001
>3 mg/L of hs-CRP (%)	4.7		3.1		<0.001

Chi-square test and Mann-Whitney U test are used for statistical analyses.

^aE-DII is calculated from dietary intake converted per 1000 kcal.

^b Geometric mean and coefficient of variation were presented for log-transformed inflammatory biomarkers. Coefficient of variation is calculated using the formula: CV = (e^{SD}-1)^{1/2}. BMI, body mass index; E-DII, energy-adjusted dietary inflammatory index; hs-CRP, high-sensitive C-reactive protein; MET, metabolic equivalent.

Associations Between Food Group Intake and E-DII Score

Table 2 shows the results of multiple regression analyses between E-DII score and food group intake, stratified by sex. The findings suggest that a higher E-DII score was associated with a higher intake of sugar, meat, and confectioneries in men, while a higher E-DII score was associated only with higher sugar intake in women.

Association Between E-DII Score and hs-CRP Concentration

Table 3 shows the mean of E-DII score and the geometric mean of hs-CRP concentration according to the E-DII quartiles. The mean E-DII score increased from -2.04 to 2.85, and the geometric mean of hs-CRP concentration increased from 0.56 mg/L to 0.67 mg/L in men, according to the E-DII quartiles. For women, the mean E-DII score increased from -3.93 to 1.88, but the geometric mean of hs-CRP concentration remained unchanged across E-DII quartiles. A significant positive association was observed between E-DII quartiles and hs-CRP concentration in men (partial regression coefficient = 0.064, $P_{\text{trend}} < 0.01$) but not in women (partial regression coefficient = 0.012, $P_{\text{trend}} = 0.44$). This means that for every increase in E-DII quartiles in men, there was a 6.6% (e^{0.064} = 1.066) increase in the geometric mean concentration of hs-CRP.

In the sensitivity analysis stratified by age, although a positive association was not observed in participants aged 40–49 years ($P_{\rm trend} = 0.31$), significant positive associations were observed in those aged 50–59 years ($P_{\rm trend} = 0.01$) and 60–69 years ($P_{\rm trend} < 0.01$) in men. Upon stratification by BMI, positive associations

were consistently observed in underweight (14 kg/m² \leq BMI < 18.5 kg/m², $P_{trend} = 0.01$), lower normal-weight (18.5 kg/m² \leq BMI < 22 kg/m², $P_{trend} = 0.01$), higher normal-weight (22 kg/m² \leq BMI < 25 kg/m², $P_{trend} < 0.01$), and overweight and obese (25 kg/m² \leq BMI < 40 kg/m², $P_{trend} = 0.08$) men. Even when stratified by medication status, a significant association was observed in men (non-users, $P_{trend} < 0.01$; users, $P_{trend} < 0.01$). In contrast, no significant associations were observed between E-DII quartiles and hs-CRP concentration, stratified by age and BMI, in women. Similarly, when stratified by medication status in women, no association was observed in users; however, there was a significant positive association for women non-prescription-drug users (non-users, $P_{trend} = 0.034$; users, $P_{trend} = 0.267$, see the **Supplementary Table 2**).

Table 4 shows the association between E-DII quartiles and higher hs-CRP (>3 mg/L) concentration. Men in the highest quartile of E-DII had 72% higher odds of having CRP >3 mg/L than men in the lowest quartile of E-DII did [OR: 1.72, 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.10–2.67, $P_{\text{trend}} = 0.03$]. In contrast, no significant association was observed among women (OR for the highest vs. lowest: 0.92, 95% CI: 0.47–1.82, $P_{\text{trend}} = 0.96$).

DISCUSSION

The DII was developed to evaluate the inflammatory potential of people's diets. The present study was conducted to validate the E-DII with a hs-CRP concentration in a large number of Japanese participants. The findings of our study suggest that there are significant positive associations in all men and only in women who are prescription drug non-users. TABLE 2 | Standardized beta coefficient with 95% confidence interval between E-DII score and food groups' intake by multiple regression analyses in Japanese men and women aged 40–69 years.

	Men		Women	
	Standardized beta coefficient ^a	(95% CI)	Standardized beta coefficient ^a	(95% CI)
Cereals (g/day)	-0.056	(-0.076, -0.036)	-0.112	(-0.144, -0.079)
Potatoes and starch (g/day)	-0.075	(-0.091, -0.058)	-0.137	(-0.154, -0.119)
Sugar and sweetener (g/day)	0.023	(0.011, 0.035)	0.042	(0.023, 0.061)
Pulses (g/day)	-0.240	(-0.255, -0.224)	-0.227	(-0.243, -0.210)
Nuts and seeds (g/day)	-0.079	(-0.092, -0.065)	-0.091	(-0.108, -0.074)
Vegetables (g/day)	-0.386	(-0.404, -0.369)	-0.394	(-0.414, -0.373)
Fruits (g/day)	-0.194	(-0.210, -0.179)	-0.220	(-0.239, -0.202)
Mushroom (g/day)	-0.110	(-0.131, -0.090)	-0.060	(-0.076, -0.044)
Algae (g/day)	-0.079	(-0.095, -0.063)	-0.089	(-0.106, -0.071)
Fish and Shellfish (g/day)	-0.241	(-0.254, -0.227)	-0.291	(-0.310, -0.273)
Meat (g/day)	0.020	(0.004, 0.035)	-0.003	(-0.027, 0.021)
Egg (g/day)	-0.030	(-0.043, -0.017)	-0.042	(-0.059, -0.025)
Milk (g/day)	-0.042	(-0.058, -0.025)	-0.050	(-0.073, -0.027)
Fats and oil (g/day)	-0.087	(-0.104, -0.070)	-0.055	(-0.075, -0.034)
Confectioneries (g/day)	0.028	(0.011,0.045)	-0.009	(-0.028, 0.010)
Alcoholic beverages (g/day)	-0.085	(-0.102, -0.068)	-0.100	(-0.134, -0.067)
Non-alcoholic beverages (g/day)	-0.181	(-0.194, -0.167)	-0.188	(-0.205, -0.172)
Seasoning (g/day)	-0.087	(-0.100, -0.075)	-0.103	(-0.122, -0.084)

Food groups' intake adjusted by energy intake using the residual method.

^aMultiple regression analysis is performed with energy-adjusted dietary inflammatory index value (continuous) as the dependent variable and energy-adjusted food groups' intake as the independent variable.

Cl, confidence interval.

TABLE 3 | Adjusted geometric mean and 95% confidence interval of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) concentration in serum (mg/L) according to quartile of energy-adjusted dietary inflammatory index (E-DII)^a.

	n	E-DII	hs-CRP	Partial regression coefficient	P _{trend}
	Mean ± SD		GM (95% CI) ^{b,c}		
Men					
Q1	956	-2.04 ± 1.17	0.56 (0.53, 0.59)	0.064	< 0.01
Q2	956	0.20 ± 0.42	0.57 (0.54, 0.60)		
Q3	956	1.46 ± 0.34	0.62 (0.59, 0.66)		
Q4	957	2.85 ± 0.57	0.67 (0.63, 0.71)		
Women					
Q1	662	-3.93 ± 0.83	0.46 (0.43, 0.50)	0.012	0.44
Q2	662	-1.83 ± 0.48	0.45 (0.41, 0.48)		
Q3	662	-0.16 ± 0.46	0.48 (0.44, 0.51)		
Q4	663	1.88 ± 0.93	0.47 (0.44, 0.51)		

^aE-DII is calculated from dietary intake converted per 1000 kcal.

^b The quartile values of E-DII were entered as independent variables, and hs-CRP values were entered as dependent variables. Adjusted for age, body mass index (BMI), physical activity (MET-h/d), smoking status, and regular prescription medicine use.

^cGeometric mean is calculated by back transforming the arithmetic mean of the log-transformed values.

Cl, confidence interval; GM, geometric mean; Q, quartile; SD, standard deviation.

The positive association in Japanese men observed in the present study is consistent with the results of previous studies from Western countries (15–17) and Japan (18, 23). The dietary habits of the Japanese are different from those of the Western

people, and the CRP concentrations of the Japanese (0.6 mg/L in the men of the present study) are considerably lower than those of Westerners [typically, they are approximately 2–3 mg/L (15, 17)]. Therefore, the positive association observed in Japanese

	Men				Women		
	n (%)	OR (95% Cl) ^b	P _{trend}	n (%)	OR (95% CI) ^b	Ptrend	
Q1	38 (4.0)	1	0.03	22 (3.3)	1	0.96	
Q2	45 (4.7)	1.21 (0.78, 1.89)		17 (2.6)	0.74 (0.38, 1.43)		
Q3	40 (4.2)	1.15 (0.72, 1.83)		21 (3.2)	0.94 (0.50, 1.78)		
Q4	57 (6.0)	1.72 (1.10, 2.67)		21 (3.2)	0.92 (0.47, 1.82)		

TABLE 4 | Adjusted odds ratios and 95% confidence interval for the association between energy-adjusted dietary inflammatory index (E-DII) quartile^a and >3 mg/L of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP).

^aE-DII is calculated from dietary intake converted per 1,000 kcal.

^bAdjusted for age, body mass index (BMI), physical activity (MET-h/d), smoking status, regular prescription medicine use.

Number of participants who had higher hs-CRP values (>3 mg/L) is expressed as n (%).

CI, confidence interval; CRP, C-reactive protein; E-DII, energy-adjusted dietary inflammatory index; OR, odds ratio; Q, quartile.

men in the present study suggests that DII may apply to a diverse male population with considerably different dietary habits and a different range of inflammatory status.

As in previous studies, inconsistent results were observed between Japanese men and women in the present study. We could not detect any associations between E-DII scores and hs-CRP concentrations across women in this study. However, we did observe a positive association when we restricted the analyses to non-users of prescription medicine. The mean hs-CRP concentration was significantly lower in women than in men. In addition, the proportion of participants with hs-CRP concentration > 3.0 mg/L was significantly lower in women than in men. Therefore, owing to the low concentration of hs-CRP in Japanese women in this study, detection of the association between E-DII score and hs-CRP concentration may be difficult. This may have also been responsible for the limited positive association between DII and hs-CRP concentration in nonusers of prescription drugs among women. In this study, we excluded from the analysis subjects with a history of cancer, stroke, or myocardial infarction, which could be confounding. However, approximately half of the subjects were regular users of some prescription medication. It has been reported that hs-CRP concentrations are higher in hypertension patients than in healthy subjects (33) and that hs-CRP concentrations are higher in diabetes patients with high HbA1c concentrations (34). Considering these previous studies, hs-CRP concentrations may be high in populations with some disease taking prescribed medication. In fact, in the current study, prescription drug users of both sexes had higher hs-CRP concentrations than non-users did. The difference in the percentage of people with high hs-CRP concentration was particularly apparent in women (see Supplementary Table 1). Therefore, we suggest that in women, the association between DII and hs-CRP concentration may have been more clearly demonstrated in non-drug users only. Of note, studies in populations with low hs-CRP concentrations are limited; therefore, further studies are needed to determine the utility of DII in populations with low CRP concentrations, such as Japanese women.

Another underlying reason for the null finding among Japanese women may be the differences in dietary habits between men and women. The women's diets had significantly lower inflammatory potential, indicated by the negative value of mean E-DII score, than those of men, who showed a positive value of mean E-DII score. This is in line with the results of our previous study, wherein the E-DII scores of women were much lower than those of men, and no associations were observed in women in that study either (23). Further, similar results have been reported in a previous study conducted in postmenopausal women from USA, wherein mean E-DII score was a negative value (-0.62 ± 2.69), and a null association was observed between E-DII score and hs-CRP concentration despite having comparatively higher hs-CRP concentration (mean 1.36 mg/L) (35). Taking into consideration the aforementioned reports, it is possible that if the target population eats a predominantly anti-inflammatory diet, the association between DII score and hs-CRP concentration may be difficult to detect.

The dietary patterns that constitute E-DII may vary among populations. Among men with an association between E-DII and inflammatory markers in this study, the food groups positively associated with E-DII were meat and confectioneries. Similarly, in NIPPON DATA, wherein the association with inflammatory markers was confirmed, meat and confectioneries, as well as cereals and fats, were positively associated with E-DII (18). Contrastingly, in the male population of the JPHC-FFQ validation study, meat and confectioneries were not associated with E-DII. The higher the E-DII, the lower the intake of potatoes, legumes, vegetables, and seaweed (23). The study period of the current study (2009-2013) is similar to that of the NIPPON DATA2010 study (18), but it differs from that of the JPHC-FFQ validation study (1990-1993) (23). Thus, the differences in the dietary habits due to cohort effects may contribute to the differences in the dietary patterns involved in E-DII. Further studies in various populations are needed to determine the types of dietary patterns involved.

This study has several limitations. First, the participants of the present study were individuals who had voluntarily undergone cancer screening. These participants, especially women, may be particularly health conscious as indicated by their smoking rate, which was considerably lower than that observed in the National Health and Nutrition Survey in Japan: approximately 15% men and 5% women in the current study compared with 30% men and 10% women in the national survey (36). This selection bias

might have contributed to the null association between E-DII score and hs-CRP concentration, observed in women. Second, because this is a cross-sectional study, we could not account for the temporality requirement for assessing causality. Despite these limitations, the present study is a relatively large-scale study, and the results indicated gender differences in E-DII validity and reaffirmed validity in Japanese men. Thus, this justifies the use of E-DII in Japanese men.

To conclude, we conducted a validation study of E-DII using hs-CRP concentration in Japanese men and women and observed a positive association between E-DII scores and hs-CRP concentration in Japanese men, even after adjusting for age, BMI, smoking status, regular prescription medicine use, and physical activity. This indicates the utility of the E-DII in Japanese men who have different dietary habits and considerably lowergrade inflammation status than those of the Western population. However, we could not detect any association between E-DII scores and hs-CRP concentration in Japanese women, except for prescription medication non-users. Therefore, further studies are needed to clarify the utility of the E-DII in Japanese women.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

We cannot publicly provide individual data due to participant privacy, according to ethical guidelines in Japan. Additionally, the informed consent we obtained does not include a provision for publicly sharing data. Qualifying researchers may apply to access a minimal dataset by contacting Dr. Shoichiro Tsugane, Principal Investigator, Epidemiology and Prevention group, Center for Public Health Sciences, National Cancer Center, Tokyo, Japan, at stsugane@ncc.go.jp. Or, please contact the Office of the Research Center for Cancer Prevention and Screening Program at tyamaji@ncc.go.jp.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the National Cancer Center, Tokyo, Japan (approval number G15-01

REFERENCES

- Guo YZ, Pan L, Du CJ, Ren DQ, Xie XM. Association between C-reactive protein and risk of cancer: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.* (2013) 14:243–8. doi: 10.7314/APJCP.2013.14.1.243
- Sasazuki S, Inoue M, Sawada N, Iwasaki M, Shimazu T, Yamaji T, et al. Plasma levels of C-reactive protein and serum amyloid a and gastric cancer in a nested case-control study: Japan public health center-based prospective study. *Carcinogenesis*. (2010) 31:712–8. doi: 10.1093/carcin/ bgq010
- Otani T, Iwasaki M, Sasazuki S, Inoue M, Tsugane S. Japan public health center-based prospective study group. Plasma C-reactive protein and risk of colorectal cancer in a nested case-control study: Japan public health center-based prospective study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biom Prev.* (2006) 15:690– 5. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-05-0708
- Sarwar N, Thompson AJ, Di Angelantonio E. Markers of inflammation and risk of coronary heart disease. *Dis Markers*. (2009) 26:217-25. doi: 10.1155/2009/851962
- 5. Black PH. The inflammatory response is an integral part of the stress response: implications for atherosclerosis, insulin resistance, type II

and 2016-165). The study aims and protocols were explained to all participants, and each participant provided written informed consent before enrolment in the study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AK, NSa, MIw, JI, and MIn designed the study. ST, JI, NSa, MIw, and MIn arranged the field survey. AK, NSa, MIw, and TY contributed to the blood analysis. NSh and JH conducted DII calculation and provided critical input to the manuscript. AK performed statistical analysis, interpreted the results, and drafted the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare of Japan (Grant-in-Aid for the 3rd Term Comprehensive 10-Year-Strategy for Cancer Control), the National Cancer Center Research and Development Fund (23-A-1, 26-A-1, 29-A-1), Practical Research for Innovative Cancer Control from Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (AMED; No. JP19ck0106266h003), and JSPS KAKENHI (Grant Number: 20K15488).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to all the participants of the study and to the doctors, nurses, and administrative staff at the Research Center for Cancer Prevention and Screening who were involved in the study.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2021. 604296/full#supplementary-material

diabetes and metabolic syndrome X. Brain Behav Immun. (2003) 17:350-64. doi: 10.1016/S0889-1591(03)00048-5

- Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Derry HM, Fagundes CP. Inflammation: depression fans the flames and feasts on the heat. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2015) 172:1075– 91. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.15020152
- Calabro P, Golia E, Yeh ET. CRP and the risk of atherosclerotic events. Semin Immunopathol. (2009) 31:79–94. doi: 10.1007/s00281-009-0149-4
- Mora S, Musunuru K, Blumenthal RS. The clinical utility of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein in cardiovascular disease and the potential implication of JUPITER on current practice guidelines. *Clin Chem.* (2009) 55:219– 28. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2008.109728
- Smidowicz A, Regula J. Effect of nutritional status and dietary patterns on human serum C-reactive protein and interleukin-6 concentrations. *Adv Nutr.* (2015) 6:738–47. doi: 10.3945/an.115.009415
- King DE, Egan BM, Geesey ME. Relation of dietary fat and fiber to elevation of C-reactive protein. Am J Cardiol. (2003) 92:1335– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2003.08.020
- 11. Wood AD, Strachan AA, Thies F, Aucott LS, Reid DM, Hardcastle AC, et al. Patterns of dietary intake and serum carotenoid and tocopherol status are associated with biomarkers of chronic low-grade systemic

inflammation and cardiovascular risk. Br J Nutr. (2014) 112:1341– 52. doi: 10.1017/S0007114514001962

- Esposito K, Marfella R, Ciotola M, Di Palo C, Giugliano F, Giugliano G, et al. Effect of a mediterranean-style diet on endothelial dysfunction and markers of vascular inflammation in the metabolic syndrome: a randomized trial. *JAMA*. (2004) 292:1440–6. doi: 10.1001/jama.292.12.1440
- Chrysohoou C, Panagiotakos DB, Pitsavos C, Das UN, Stefanadis C. Adherence to the mediterranean diet attenuates inflammation and coagulation process in healthy adults: the ATTICA study. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2004) 44:152–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2004.03.039
- Shivappa N, Steck SE, Hurley TG, Hussey JR, Hebert JR. Designing and developing a literature-derived, populationbased dietary inflammatory index. *Public Health Nutr.* (2014) 17:1689–96. doi: 10.1017/S1368980013002115
- Shivappa N, Steck SE, Hurley TG, Hussey JR, Ma Y, Ockene IS, et al. A population-based dietary inflammatory index predicts levels of C-reactive protein in the seasonal variation of blood cholesterol study (SEASONS). *Public Health Nutr.* (2014) 17:1825–33. doi: 10.1017/S1368980013002565
- Shivappa N, Wirth MD, Hurley TG, Hebert JR. Association between the dietary inflammatory index (DII) and telomere length and C-reactive protein from the national health and nutrition examination survey-1999-2002. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2017) 61:1–7. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201600630
- Shivappa N, Bonaccio M, Hebert JR, Di Castelnuovo A, Costanzo S, Ruggiero E, et al. Association of proinflammatory diet with low-grade inflammation: results from the moli-sani study. *Nutrition*. (2018) 54:182– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2018.04.004
- Yang Y, Hozawa A, Kogure M, Narita A, Hirata T, Nakamura T, et al. Dietary inflammatory index positively associated with high-sensitivity Creactive protein level in Japanese from NIPPON DATA2010. J Epidemiol. (2020) 30:98–107. doi: 10.2188/jea.JE20180156
- Shivappa N, Godos J, Hebert JR, Wirth MD, Piuri G, Speciani AF, et al. Dietary inflammatory index and colorectal cancer risk—a meta-analysis. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:1–17. doi: 10.3390/nu9091043
- Fowler ME, Akinyemiju TF. Meta-analysis of the association between dietary inflammatory index (DII) and cancer outcomes. *Int J Cancer*. (2017) 141:2215–27. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30922
- Phillips CM, Chen LW, Heude B, Bernard JY, Harvey NC, Duijts L, et al. Dietary inflammatory index and non-communicable disease risk: a narrative review. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:1–32. doi: 10.3390/nu11081873
- Abe M, Shivappa N, Ito H, Oze I, Abe T, Shimizu Y, et al. Dietary inflammatory index and risk of upper aerodigestive tract cancer in Japanese adults. *Oncotarget.* (2018) 9:24028–40. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.25288
- 23. Kotemori A, Sawada N, Iwasaki M, Yamaji T, Shivappa N, Hebert JR, et al. Validating the dietary inflammatory index using inflammatory biomarkers in a Japanese population: a cross-sectional study of the JPHC-FFQ validation study. *Nutrition*. (2020) 69:110569. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2019.110569
- Willcox DC, Scapagnini G, Willcox BJ. Healthy aging diets other than the Mediterranean: a focus on the Okinawan diet. *Mech Ageing Dev.* (2014) 136–137:148–62. doi: 10.1016/j.mad.2014.01.002
- Oda E, Kawai R. Tentative cut point of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein for a component of metabolic syndrome in Japanese. *Circ J.* (2009) 73:755– 9. doi: 10.1253/circj.CJ-08-0848
- Kubota Y, Moriyama Y, Yamagishi K, Tanigawa T, Noda H, Yokota K, et al. Serum vitamin C concentration and hs-CRP level in middle-aged Japanese men and women. *Atherosclerosis.* (2010) 208:496–500. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2009.07.052
- 27. Standard Tables of Food Composition in Japan; Fifth Revised and Enlarged Edition. Tokyo: Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (2005).

- Takachi R, Ishihara J, Iwasaki M, Hosoi S, Ishii Y, Sasazuki S, et al. Validity of a self-administered food frequency questionnaire for middle-aged urban cancer screenees: comparison with 4-day weighed dietary records. *J Epidemiol.* (2011) 21:447–58. doi: 10.2188/jea.JE20100173
- 29. Reference Data for C-Reactive Protein Kit; Nanopia CRP. Available online at: https://www.sekisuimedical.jp/english/business/diagnostics/biochemistry/ crp/data.html (accessed April 14, 2020).
- 30. Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. New York, NY: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates (1988).
- Quan H, Zhang J. Estimate of standard deviation for a log-transformed variable using arithmetic means and standard deviations. *Stat Med.* (2003) 22:2723–36. doi: 10.1002/sim.1525
- 32. Pearson TA, Mensah GA, Alexander RW, Anderson JL, Cannon RO 3rd, Criqui M, et al. Markers of inflammation and cardiovascular disease: application to clinical and public health practice: a statement for healthcare professionals from the centers for disease control and prevention and the american heart association. *Circulation.* (2003) 107:499–511. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000052939. 59093.45
- Chrysohoou C, Pitsavos C, Panagiotakos DB, Skoumas J, Stefanadis C. Association between prehypertension status and inflammatory markers related to atherosclerotic disease: the ATTICA study. *Am J Hypertens.* (2004) 17:568–73. doi: 10.1016/j.amjhyper.2004. 03.675
- 34. Seo YH, Shin HY. Relationship between hs-CRP and HbA1c in diabetes mellitus patients: 2015-2017 korean national health and nutrition examination survey. *Chonnam Med J.* (2021) 57:62–7. doi: 10.4068/cmj.2021.57.1.62
- Tabung FK, Steck SE, Zhang J, Ma Y, Liese AD, Agalliu I, et al. Construct validation of the dietary inflammatory index among postmenopausal women. *Ann Epidemiol.* (2015) 25:398–405. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2015.03.009
- National Health and Nutrition Survey in 2013. Ministry of Health, Labour, and Welfare, Japan. Available online at: https://www.mhlw.go.jp/bunya/kenkou/ eiyou/dl/h25-houkoku-06.pdf (accessed August 31, 2020).

Conflict of Interest: JH owns a controlling interest in Connecting Health Innovations LLC (CHI), a company planning to license the right to his invention of the dietary inflammatory index (DII), from the University of South Carolina, to develop computer and smartphone applications for patient counseling and dietary intervention in the clinical setting. NSh is an employee of CHI. The subject matter of this paper will have no direct bearing on the work of CHI, nor has any CHI-related activity exerted any influence on this project. MI was the beneficiary of a financial contribution from the AXA Research Fund as a chair holder of the AXA Department of Health and Human Security at The University of Tokyo. The AXA Research Fund had no role in the design, data collection, analysis, interpretation, manuscript drafting, or in the decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Kotemori, Sawada, Iwasaki, Yamaji, Shivappa, Hebert, Ishihara, Inoue and Tsugane. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Validity and Reliability of a Water Frequency Questionnaire to Estimate Daily Total Water Intake in Adults

Abigail T. Colburn¹, Evan C. Johnson², François Péronnet³, Lisa T. Jansen^{4,5}, Catalina Capitan-Jimenez⁶, J. D. Adams⁷, Isabelle Guelinckx⁸, Erica T. Perrier⁸, Andy Mauromoustakos⁹ and Stavros A. Kavouras^{1*}

¹ Hydration Science Lab, College of Health Solutions, Arizona State University, Phoenix, AZ, United States, ² Human Integrated Physiology Laboratory, University of Wyoming, Laramie, WY, United States, ³ Department of Kinesiology, University of Montreal, Montreal, QC, Canada, ⁴ Division of Endocrinology, New Balance Foundation Obesity Prevention Center, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States, ⁵ Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ⁶ Department of Nutrition, Universidad Hispanoamericana, San Jose, Costa Rica, ⁷ Department Health and Human Performance, College of Charleston, Charleston, SC, United States, ⁸ Health, Hydration and Nutrition Science, Danone Research, Palaisaeu, France, ⁹ Agricultural Statistics Laboratory, University of Arkansas, Fayetteville, AR, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Megan A. McCrory, Boston University, United States

Reviewed by:

Brenda Davy, Virginia Tech, United States Claudio Esteban Perez-Leighton, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Chile

> *Correspondence: Stavros A. Kavouras

stavros.kavouras@asu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrition Methodology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 05 March 2021 Accepted: 18 May 2021 Published: 14 June 2021

Citation:

Colburn AT, Johnson EC, Péronnet F, Jansen LT, Capitan-Jimenez C, Adams JD, Guelinckx I, Perrier ET, Mauromoustakos A and Kavouras SA (2021) Validity and Reliability of a Water Frequency Questionnaire to Estimate Daily Total Water Intake in Adults. Front. Nutr. 8:676697. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.676697 The purpose of this investigation was to assess the validity and reliability of a seven-day water frequency questionnaire (TWI-FQ) to estimate daily total water intake (TWI) in comparison to a water turnover objective reference value via deuterium oxide (D_2O). Data collection occurred over 3 weeks, with a wash-out period during week two. Healthy adults (n = 98; 52% female; 41 \pm 14 y; BMI, 26.4 \pm 5.5 kg·m⁻²) retrospectively self-reported consumption frequencies of 17 liquids and 35 foods with specified volumes/amounts for weeks one and three via TWI-FQ. Standard water content values were utilized to determine the volume of water consumed from each liquid and food for calculation of mean daily TWI for each week. Diet records were completed daily during week two to estimate metabolic water production. To assess validity of the TWI-FQ, participants consumed D_2O at the start of each week and provided urine samples immediately before ingestion, the following day, and at the end of the week to calculate water turnover. Metabolic water was subtracted from water turnover to estimate TWI. TWI-FQ validity was assessed via Bland-Altman plot for multiple observations. Reliability was assessed via intraclass correlation and Pearson's correlation between weeks. TWI-FQ significantly underestimated D₂O TWI by $-350 \pm 1,431 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{d}^{-1}$ (95% confidence interval (CI): -551, -149 mL·d⁻¹). TWI-FQ TWI was significantly correlated (r = 0.707, P < 0.01) and not different (198 \pm 1,180 mL·d⁻¹, 95% CI: -38, 435 mL·d⁻¹) between weeks. TWI-FQ intraclass correlation = 0.706 was significant [95% CI: 0.591, 0.793; $F_{(97, 98)} = 5.799$], indicating moderate test-retest reliability. While this tool would not be suitable for individual TWI assessment, the magnitude of bias may be acceptable for assessment at the sample-level.

Keywords: dietary assessment, hydration, nutrition methodology, self-report, underhydration, water

INTRODUCTION

A limited ability to accurately assess water intake at a populationlevel has likely slowed progress in elucidating the impact of water intake on health. Some evidence suggests that low water consumption and underhydration are associated with adverse health outcomes including chronic kidney disease and diabetes (1-3). Similarly, the Institute of Medicine suggests dehydration may be related to numerous detrimental health outcomes including cardiovascular strain, urinary tract infection, and diabetes dysregulation (4). Conversely, increased water intake is associated with positive health outcomes including reduced risk for kidney stones (4) and urinary tract infections (5) as well as augmented glucose regulation (6) and adolescent cognitive performance (7). Thus, there appears to be an inverse relationship between water intake and health risk. However, evidence supporting these associations is not sufficient to establish total water intake (TWI) recommendations beyond an Adequate Intake, the least specific recommendation included in the Institute of Medicine's dietary reference intakes (4). Due to the wide range of TWI volumes that allowed individuals to maintain adequate serum osmolality, the Adequate Intake is the median value of the TWI volumes observed in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (4). These high variations have largely been attributed to differences in culture, climate, and/or physical activity (4). However, measurement error in TWI assessment and lack of a standard assessment tool could exacerbate these variations.

The TWI Adequate Intake recommendations encompass water consumed from all foods ($\sim 20\%$ TWI) and liquids (\sim 80% TWI) (4). The current recommendation is based upon the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 24h diet recalls, which were conducted before utilization of the United States Department of Agriculture's Automated Multiple-Pass Method, which is a validated method for energy and nutrient intake, but not TWI (8). Additionally, trained interviewers prompt participants to choose an occasion for every food item on the record, most of which are meals (9). However, beverage intake occurs more continuously throughout the day. Individuals have 0 - 19 drinking occasions per day (of water only), with an average time of 3 h between drinking occasions (range 1-17 h) (10). This has been observed when TWI was compared between a fluid-specific tool and the United Kingdom's National Diet and Nutrition Survey, which utilizes food diaries (11). The fluidspecific tool revealed that 70% of beverage consumption occurred outside of meals. In Indonesian populations, TWI estimated from a 7-day fluid diary was significantly greater than that from the 24-h dietary recall, by 382 mL (12). Additionally, the 24h dietary recall captured 2.2 fewer drinking occasions (6.7 vs. 8.9 occasions). Consequently, current dietary assessments which have not been validated for water intake are not necessarily suitable for drinking behavior.

To date, investigators have not been able to identify a method to estimate TWI that is comparable to an objective reference value, such as that obtained from water turnover by dilution of deuterium oxide (D_2O) (13) corrected for metabolic water, which is costly and impractical for population-level use. Recently,

our group and others have begun to advance the field through development and validation of fluid-specific assessment tools (14-19). Compared to 24-h recalls, which are subject to bias from day-to-day variation in consumption, frequency questionnaires are more likely to capture usual intake (20). However, only relative validation, via dual reporting, has been assessed for prior beverage frequency questionnaires with comparison of water intake estimates against self-reported 24-h records (14-17). As the 24-h diet record and new questionnaires under assessment for validation are both self-reporting instruments, sources of error will overlap between the instruments and be correlated. Additionally, validation through dual recording will not distinguish inaccuracies if they are reported on both assessments. Dual recording could also deceptively improve accuracy of the new questionnaire, and therefore falsely show validation, as recording intake in diet records in days leading up to a frequency recall will likely improve recall accuracy.

We recently utilized D₂O to validate Liq.In⁷, a 7-day fluid diary, to record all beverage intake over seven-days. While it has been shown to be an accurate recording instrument for TWI volume, the seven-days of recording impose substantial subject burden (18). Additionally, Liq.In⁷ only captures water from liquids, and not TWI. However, there is limited evidence from the US and Europe supporting the current belief that TWI is \sim 80% water from liquids. In fact, those with high and low TWI have been observed to consume a similar amount of water from food (~0.6 $\text{L}\cdot\text{d}^{-1}$), resulting in substantially different contributions to TWI. For instance, water from food comprised \sim 23% of TWI in those with high TWI, while \sim 47% in those with low TWI (21). Consequently, liquid-only assessments may be preferable in studies where precise recording of fluid intake is important but may elucidate misleading results in terms of TWI. To address this gap, we developed a total water intake frequency questionnaire (TWI-FQ) that prompts individuals to recall water intake from food and beverages over a 7-day period. The purpose of this investigation was to assess the reliability and validity of the TWI-FQ to estimate TWI as compared to the value obtained with dilution of D₂O, corrected for metabolic water.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

Potential healthy participants (n = 262, 18 – 65 y) were recruited from Northwest Arkansas, and provided informed consent acknowledging the risks and benefits of participating in the study (**Supplementary Figure 1**). Following completion of a medical history questionnaire, individuals were excluded if they satisfied any of the following criteria: (1) unable to understand and write English, (2) currently pregnant or breastfeeding, (3) previous surgical operation on digestive tract (excluding appendectomy), (4) drug treatment within 15-days prior to the start of the study, (5) exercise > 4 h·week⁻¹, (6) dietary changes within the last month, or (7) changes in body weight > 2.5 kg within the last month. Volunteers with clinically relevant diseases that could alter fluid balance (i.e., relevant metabolic, cardiovascular, hematologic, hepatic, gastrointestinal, renal, pulmonary, endocrine or psychiatric history of disease) were not enrolled.

Ultimately, 103 individuals received medical clearance, met all criteria, consented to voluntary participation, enrolled, and completed the study protocol. Data from five participants were excluded due to missing data that prevented calculation of TWI through TWI-FQ or dilution of D₂O during weeks one or three. Participant demographics are presented in **Table 1**. Data collection occurred May – December 2014 in Fayetteville, Arkansas, USA (ambient temperature, 17.2 \pm 8.4°C). This protocol was approved by the University's institutional review board and biosafety committee (protocol no. 14-03-555) and was conducted in compliance with the Helsinki Declaration as revised in 1983.

Questionnaire Development

The TWI-FQ is a 59-item water intake assessment that quantitatively assesses frequency and volume of TWI within the period of a week. The first and second page of the questionnaire consisted of 24 and 35 items to assess water from liquid and food, respectively. The TWI-FQ included 17 liquid types with specified volumes (e.g., water [8 fl oz cup]). Water was further broken into eight occasions of consumption to include periods that may be forgotten in traditional meal- and snack-focused questionnaires (e.g., before breakfast, between lunch & dinner, during your sleep). Nine frequency options were included, ranging from "Never or <1 per week" to "7+ per day." The TWI-FQ also includes four overarching food categories (vegetables; fruits; cheese, egg, meats; & bread, cereal, starches). Within categories, food types were listed with specified quantities (e.g., mango, pineapple [1 cup], pizza [1 slice]). Eight frequency options were included, ranging from "Never or <1 per week" to "6+ per day." The TWI-FQ has a Flesch-Kincaid grade level of 8.4 and a completion time of \sim 5 min.

The TWI-FQ is visually similar to the validated Harvard Willett Food Frequency Questionnaire (Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Department of Nutrition) (22). While this questionnaire includes a section on beverage intake, reproducibility and validation have only been established for dietary assessment of caloric intake and macro- and micronutrient intake, but not for TWI. There is only one

question for plain water intake in the Harvard Willett Food Frequency Questionnaire, which only allows individuals to record a maximum of 1.5 $L \cdot d^{-1}$ with the allotted frequency options. This is not adequate considering the median water intake from liquids is 2.2 L for women and 3.0 L for men (4). Additionally, as mentioned previously, water consumption occurs throughout the day (10) and is often underreported on self-report tools that are not specific to beverages (11, 12). The eight occasions of consumption for plain water were included in our TWI-WFQ to accommodate individuals who drink more than 1.5 $L \cdot d^{-1}$ of plain water. These eight occasions also serve as a reminder for individuals to report water consumed throughout the day. Outside of plain water, all other beverages and foods were selected from the U.S. Department of Agriculture What We Eat in America Food Categories from NHANES 2009-2010 (23). Within each food category, some items included multiple foods with similar water content. For example, "mango, pineapple (1 cup)" was one item in the fruit category. The water content of 1 cup of mango and 1 cup of pineapple are 138 mL and 142 mL, respectively.

Study Design

Participants visited the lab on nine separate occasions across 22 days with the second week serving as a wash-out period (**Supplementary Table 1**). A TWI-FQ was completed on day 1 to familiarize participants with the tool. Participants ingested D_2O at the start of weeks one and three for determination of total body water and mean daily water turnover from the disappearance of D_2O in the body water pool via the slope-intercept method (13, 18). The days following completion of weeks one and three (days 8, 22), participants completed the TWI-FQ for the previous seven days. Diet records (24) were completed daily during week two and analyzed to determine metabolic water (25, 26). Estimates of TWI from weeks one and three were compared between the D_2O method and TWI-FQ method to assess the validity of the TWI-FQ. TWI estimates were compared between weeks one and three to assess reliability.

Baseline characteristics were collected on day one. Body mass was assessed with a scale, height was measured using a wall-mounted stadiometer, and body fat was measured via

	Women			Men			All participants
Age range, y	18–29	30–49	50-65	65 18–29	30–49	50-65	41 ± 14
Participants, <i>n</i>	14	22	15	12	21	14	98
Height ^a , <i>m</i>	1.66 ± 0.06	1.62 ± 0.06	1.64 ± 0.08	1.75 ± 0.04	1.75 ± 0.07	1.81 ± 0.07	1.70 ± 0.09
Weight ^a , kg	68.9 ± 19.9	75.4 ± 17.6	69.6 ± 11.7	74.1 ± 18.1	79.2 ± 13.3	89.0 ± 14.2	76.2 ± 16.8
BMIª, kg⋅m ⁻²	25.0 ± 6.8	28.8 ± 6.7	25.8 ± 4.0	24.5 ± 6.5	25.7 ± 4.0	27.1 ± 3.7	26.4 ± 5.5
Total Body Water ^{a,b} , L	34.5 ± 6.9	33.1 ± 4.7	30.7 ± 3.3	39.6 ± 5.2	44.3 ± 6.4	46.2 ± 6.0	38.0 ± 8.0
Total Body Water ^{a,b} , %BM	51.1 ± 6.0	45.0 ± 7.0	44.6 ± 4.0	54.8 ± 7.6	56.4 ± 5.1	52.4 ± 4.8	50.5 ± 7.4

BMI, body mass index; %BM, total body water as a percentage of body mass

^aValues are presented as mean \pm standard deviation.

^b Total body water is the average of values computed at weeks 1 and 3.

TABLE 1 Baseline sample demographics by sex and age group



dual X-ray absorptiometry scan (Lunar Prodigy, GE Healthcare, Waukesha, WI).

Total Water Intake: Frequency Questionnaire

TWI-FQ were completed on days 1, 8, and 22. Day 1 served as a familiarization with the instrument, while participants retrospectively recalled water from liquids and foods for weeks 1 and 3 using TWI-FQs on days 8 and 22, respectively. The types and frequencies of liquids and foods consumed were entered into a customized spreadsheet and converted to mL (27). The volumes of liquids were converted to volumes of water based on standard water contents (e.g., 100 mL of milk = 89 mL water) (27). Reported volumes and frequencies were then used to determine mean daily water from liquids. Researchers converted reported quantities of foods to mL of water according to standard food water content and determined mean daily water from food based on calculated volumes and frequencies (**Figure 1**).

Water Production From Metabolism

Participants recorded all food and liquid intake in 24-h diet records (24) every day of week 2 (days 8–14). For each item consumed, participants were instructed to record timing, portion size, method of preparation, number of servings, and any other pertinent information (i.e., brand name, restaurant, nutrient

descriptors such as low-fat, condiments, etc.). Diet records were completed in real time, in contrast to diet recalls which can introduce error due to reliance on memory. Furthermore, multiple diet records were completed to increase the likelihood of capturing usual intake.

Diet records were analyzed with Nutrition Data System for Research software to determine the total energy intake and the proportions of energy that corresponded with each macronutrient. These values were then used to determine the volume of water generated through macronutrient oxidation using the following formula (25, 26):

Metabolic water
$$(mL \cdot d^{-1}) = \text{total energy expenditure}$$

x $\left(\frac{1}{10^5}\right)$ x $\left[\left(\%\text{fat x } 0.119\right) + \left(\%\text{protein x } 0.103\right) + \left(\%\text{carbohydrate x } 0.150\right) + \left(\%\text{alcohol x } 0.168\right)\right]$

Total energy expenditure was assumed to be equivalent to total energy intake. Body weights measured on the first, second, and fifth days of both weeks were assessed to confirm weight stability and therefore confirm the aforementioned assumption was met.

Total Water Intake: D₂O Dilution

Participants provided a urine sample on day 1 immediately before D_2O ingestion (0.1 g·kg⁻¹ LBM, 99.9% deuterium, Cambridge

TABLE 2 Mean daily water	turnover and mean daily water	intake by week and method.
----------------------------	-------------------------------	----------------------------

	Wee	ek 1	Week 2 Food diaries	Wee	3
	D ₂ O	TWI-FQ		D ₂ O	TWI-FQ
Water turnover ^a , mL·d ⁻¹	3,680 ± 1,341			3,596 ± 1,275	
Metabolic water ^a , mL·d ⁻¹			264 ± 104		
Water from food ^a , mL·d ⁻¹		508 ± 258			490 ± 242
Water from liquids ^a , mL·d ⁻¹		$2,624 \pm 1,587$			$2,443 \pm 1,358$
Total water intake ^a , mL⋅d ⁻¹	3,405 ± 1,331 ^b	3,132 ± 1,665°		3,356 ± 1,234 ^b	$2,933 \pm 1,425^{\circ}$

D₂O, deuterium oxide dilution method; TWI-FQ, total water intake frequency questionnaire.

^a Values are presented as mean \pm standard deviation.

^b Total Water Intake = Water Turnover – Metabolic Water.

^cTotal Water Intake = Water from Food + Water from Liquids.

Isotope Laboratories, Inc., Tewksbury, MA). The dose of D₂O was added to a cup with 100 mL of water. Participants consumed the diluted tracer followed immediately by two additional 100 mL volumes of water ingested from the same cup to ensure tracer was consumed and not left on the cup. Participants returned on days 2 and 8 to provide additional urine samples. This process was repeated during week 3 on days 15, 16, and 22 with a D₂O dose of $0.08 \text{ g}\cdot\text{kg}^{-1}$ LBM ingested at day 15 immediately after providing the urine sample. Samples were then analyzed via isotope ratio mass spectrometry (Micromass Isoprime DI, coupled with an Aquaprep system; Isoprime Ltd., Cheadle Hulme, UK) using the H₂-water equilibration method to determine the ratio of deuterium to hydrogen (13, 28). The slope intercept method (29) was then used as previously described (13) to compute the volumes of total body water for weeks one and three from the dose ingested and the ratio of deuterium to hydrogen backextrapolated at the time of ingestion, as well as water turnover from the disappearance of D_2O from the body water pool. Finally, D₂O TWI was calculated by subtracting metabolic water from water turnover.

Sample Size Estimation

An a priori sample size of n = 75 was determined based on the desired accuracy of Bland-Altman limit of agreement estimates (30). Accuracy of estimates is determined by the standard error of 95% confidence intervals (CI) for the limits of agreement. Standard error (SE) was determined by $SE = \sqrt{(3 x \frac{SD^2}{n})}$, where SD is the standard deviation of the mean difference and n is the sample size. The 95% $CI = \pm 1.96 x SE$. A sample size of 75 allows for 95% $CI = \pm 0.39 x SD$.

Statistical Analyses

Outcome variables were assessed for normality via Shapiro-Wilk test of normality, visual examination of the data (e.g., Q-Q plots, box plots, histograms), and skewness and kurtosis statistics. Non-normal data were analyzed non-parametrically. Analyses were conducted using commercial software (IBM SPSS Statistics Version 25.0.0). A jack-knife approach was employed using JMP Pro 15.2.0 (SAS Institute Inc.) to identify and examine the influence of outliers in the sample. Outliers were classified as mild (jack-knife distances > 2.5- \leq 4.0) or severe (jack-knife distances > 4.0). A *P* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant for all analyses. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation.

Correlation and t-test analyses alone are not sufficient to assess validity between two measurement methods (31, 32). Therefore, we used paired *t*-tests to assess mean differences between measurements and a Bland-Altman plot to assess agreement between D₂O and TWI-FQ to estimate daily fluid intake over weeks one and three. Bland-Altman analyses were conducted in accordance with methodology specific to multiple observations in which the true value of the primary outcome variable (i.e., TWI) is expected to vary over the observation period (33). This model accounts for mean difference (bias) between methods (TWI-FQ - D₂O TWI) as well as variance in individual differences (between + within-subject variance). Individual differences between methods were plotted against the average of methods [(TWI-FQ - D₂O TWI)/2], with repeated measurements treated as independent measurements (n = 196). Evaluation of the Bland-Altman plot within limits of agreement allowed us to understand the significance of bias of the TWI-FQ from the objective reference value D₂O TWI. Kendall's tau was utilized to evaluate heteroscedasticity of the plot.

Reliability of the TWI-FQ to estimate TWI was assessed via related-samples Wilcoxon Signed Rank test, Spearman's correlation, and Intraclass correlation coefficient. Paired *t*-test and Spearman's correlation analyses were also conducted on D₂O TWI to provide an indication of weekly variation in true TWI. To explore systematic bias in reliability, separate Bland-Altman plots (31) were created for D₂O and TWI-FQ estimates of TWI. For each method, differences between repeated estimates of TWI (week 1 TWI – week 3 TWI) were plotted against the average of estimates from both weeks (n = 98).

RESULTS

Body mass was consistent within weeks (% of change in body mass: week 1, $0.05 \pm 0.99\%$; week 2, $0.35 \pm 1.19\%$; week 3, $0.11 \pm 1.22\%$) with low coefficients of variance between the three measurements during all weeks (week 1, $0.54 \pm 0.36\%$; week 2, $0.62 \pm 0.41\%$; week 3, $0.60 \pm 0.50\%$). Mean daily water turnover and the components that contribute to water turnover computed using data from D₂O dilution and the TWI-FQ are presented in **Table 2**. Daily caloric intake during week 2 was 2,028 ± 523 kcal (range: 911–3,430 kcal).



The jack-knife analysis identified eight mild outliers and three severe outliers across eight participants (63% male; age, 37 ± 13 y; BMI, $26.5 \pm 5.9 \text{ kg} \cdot \text{m}^{-2}$) (**Supplementary Table 2**). All three severe outliers were found in males in week 1, while four mild cases were identified in each week. TWI was overestimated by the TWI-FQ in five of the eleven cases, two of which were identified as severe outliers. No outliers were excluded from validity or reliability analyses.

Questionnaire Validity

TWI estimates were not different between methods during week 1 ($t_{[97]} = 1.60$, mean difference = $-269 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{d}^{-1}$, 95% CI:-603, 65 mL·d⁻¹, P = 0.1133), but were significantly different during week 3 ($t_{[97]} = 3.71$, mean difference = $-431 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{d}^{-1}$, 95% CI: -661, $-200 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{d}^{-1}$, P = 0.003). Combined TWI-FQ TWI estimates from both weeks significantly underestimated D₂O estimates by $-350 \pm 1,431 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{d}^{-1}$ (95% CI: -551, $-149 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{d}^{-1}$; **Figure 2**). Limits of agreement for the Bland-Altman plot were -3,155 and 2,455 mL·d⁻¹. Kendall's tau was not significant (r = 0.076, P = 0.112), which indicates the data were not heteroscedastic.

Questionnaire Reliability

D₂O TWI was significantly correlated (r = 0.856, P < 0.01) and was not different (P = 0.805) between weeks. Similarly, TWI-FQ

TWI was significantly correlated (r = 0.707, P < 0.01) and was not different (P = 0.115) between weeks 1 and 3. The Intraclass correlation coefficient for TWI-FQ was significant [ICC = 0.706, 95% CI: 0.591, 0.793; $F_{(97,98)} = 5.799$, P < 0.001], indicating moderate test-retest reliability. Based on Bland-Altman plots, the mean difference in D₂O TWI estimates between weeks was $36 \pm$ 593 mL·d⁻¹ (95% CI: -83, 155 mL·d⁻¹; **Figure 3A**). The mean difference in TWI-FQ TWI estimates between weeks was $198 \pm$ 1,180 mL·d⁻¹ (95% CI: -38, 435 mL·d⁻¹; **Figure 3B**). Systematic bias in reliability was not observed for either method.

DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to assess the validity and reliability of a TWI-FQ to estimate TWI as compared to the objective reference value, D₂O. The principle finding of this study is that the TWI-FQ consistently underestimated TWI. While this tool would not be suitable for individual assessment, the overall magnitude of bias may be acceptable for assessment at the sample-level. In this protocol, we utilized the isotopic tracer, D₂O, as the rate of disappearance of D₂O following enrichment is directly associated with water turnover and is not subject to homeostatic or inter-individual variations in metabolism (34). Accordingly, D₂O is an unbiased measure of water turnover that



is not subject to measurement error commonly seen in selfreport data. Furthermore, we utilized Bland-Altman statistical analyses that accounted for variation between methods, between individuals, and between occasions (33). Most prior studies (14–17) have utilized correlation and *t*-test analyses, which are not independently sufficient to assess agreement between two methods for validity assessment (31, 32).

Due to the robustness of the D_2O dilution method, we observed total body water as a percentage of body mass estimates within the ranges reported by the Institute of Medicine (43–73%,

males 19–50 y; 41–60%, females 19–50 y) (4). Additionally, daily metabolic water production has been estimated to be ~250–350 mL·d⁻¹ for sedentary individuals (4). Although metabolic water ($264 \pm 107 \text{ mL} \cdot d^{-1}$) was determined from diet records during the wash-out period in the current study, it still aligns with the aforementioned estimates. Confirmation of body weight stability for all participants across each week indicates that the assumption that TEE was equivalent to total energy intake was met for metabolic water calculations. Accordingly, we are confident the D₂O TWI estimates reflect actual TWI.

The TWI-FQ significantly underestimated TWI by $-350 \pm$ 1,431 mL·d⁻¹ compared to D₂O. While the mean difference is clinically adequate, there is considerable variation in bias as evidenced by the standard deviation of 1,431 mL and limits of agreement allowing for underestimation of $-3,155 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{d}^{-1}$ and overestimation up to 2,455 mL·d⁻¹. The magnitude of these differences is substantial considering the Adequate Intake for water is 2.7 $L \cdot d^{-1}$ for women and 3.7 $L \cdot d^{-1}$ for men (4). Based on visual examination of Figure 3, these large differences appear to be driven, in part, by individuals who consume high amounts of TWI (>4 $L \cdot d^{-1}$). In some cases, high amounts of TWI were accurately reported in the TWI-FQ (Supplementary Table 2). Large differences may in part be related to a learning curve as all three severe outliers were identified in the first week. Furthermore, most participants with outliers appeared to improve by week 3 (i.e., reduced from severe to mild outlier or no longer an outlier). Ultimately, outliers were a mixture of overestimation and underestimation with no clear association with subject characteristics (i.e., sex, age, BMI). Despite large variances, the TWI-FQ was still determined to be reliable due to moderate correlation between weeks (r = 0.725) and moderate test-retest reliability (ICC = 0.706). Systematic bias in TWI-FQ between weeks was not statistically significant as evaluated via Bland-Altman plot, in which the mean difference in TWI-FQ TWI estimates was $198 \pm 1,180 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{d}^{-1}$.

The mean difference $(36 \pm 593 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{d}^{-1})$ between repeated D₂O TWI estimates was minimal and non-significant. However, the acceptable limits of agreement (-1,149, 1,221 mL·d⁻¹) are still large clinically and indicate a considerable degree of withinsubject variance in week-to-week TWI. Additionally, mean D2O TWI was distributed across a wide range of volumes, between 1,000 and 9,000 mL·d⁻¹, with the majority of mean D_2O TWI falling between 1,000 and 4,500 mL·d⁻¹. This indicates there is also a considerable degree of between-subject variance in D₂O TWI, which was also captured by the TWI-FQ, as can be seen in Figures 3A,B. This magnitude of variance in TWI is not surprising as daily water needs can vary greatly between and within individuals depending on age, sex, diet, physical activity behaviors, climate, and culture (4). We purposefully recruited participants who were well-distributed across sex and age. Therefore, although the limits of agreement for the TWI-FQ validity assessment were large, these data indicate that the variance observed was compounded by within- and betweensubjects' differences in water consumption habits.

Previous liquid questionnaires have been developed to assess fluid intake but not TWI (14–17, 19). While this TWI-FQ was designed specifically to assess water intake volume at population levels, previous questionnaires were developed primarily to assess energy intake from liquids (16, 17), grams or fluid ounces of individual and total liquids consumed (16, 17, 19), water intake and voiding habits for treatment of urinary tract symptoms (14), and water balance (15). Additionally, validation protocols for these questionnaires utilized imperfect reference instruments, such as 24-h diet records, which are subject to intake-related bias and correlated error (35). We used methods similar to the previous study to assess validity and reliability of the Liq.in⁷, which is a 7-day fluid record that required participants to record liquids and foods with high water content as they were consumed (18). Compared to D_2O , the Liq.in⁷ underestimated water from liquids by $-131 \pm 845 \text{ mL} \cdot d^{-1}$. However, this assessment was based only on one week of data, the Bland Altman statistical analysis utilized did not account for within or between subject variation, and water from food was not included in this analysis. TWI was also assessed between the Liq.in⁷ and a 24-h dietary recall in Indonesian adolescents and adults using a Bland Altman analysis (12). An overestimation of 382 mL d^{-1} was observed compared to the 24-h dietary recall with limits of agreement 1,600 and $-2,300 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{d}^{-1}$. Although the limits of agreement were narrower than those in the current study, the difference was determined to be significant as 11% of values fell outside of these limits. The mean difference also increased with greater TWI, with underestimation of 139 mL·d⁻¹ for the lowest quartile of TWI and overestimation of 1,265 mL·d⁻¹ for the highest quartile of TWI. Thus, it appears individuals are less able to recall fluid intake accurately with greater consumption.

Our approach does not come without limitations. Metabolic water production was determined through self-reported data in 24-h diet records. Self-report dietary assessments are subject to error (e.g., difficulty interpreting handwriting, day-to-day variation in consumption, or misreporting of consumption) and can be burdensome to participants. However, metabolic water is a small component of water turnover $(250-350 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{d}^{-1})$ (4) and over- or underestimation would not substantially impact the outcomes of this investigation. Furthermore, a prominent study in this field that determined water turnover in 458 adults (40–79 y) estimated metabolic water from the average macronutrient content of the diet based on a one-time 24-h recall in the general population in the US (26). In contrast, participants in the present investigation completed multiple 24-h diet recalls for metabolic water estimates.

The accuracy of the TWI-FQ may vary day-to-day, with TWI estimates that are more representative of days closer to the day of questionnaire completion. However, we were not able to evaluate this as participants are asked to recall consumption for the entire week rather than for each day of the week. Similarly, the D₂O method utilizes three urine samples to determine an average daily TWI for the 7-day period and does not allow for estimation for each specific day. Furthermore, we were not able to evaluate potential differences in validity or reliability of the TWI-FQ by age or sex as this study was not powered for these comparisons. Finally, we were not able to validate whether the TWI-FQ is sensitive to change in TWI. Therefore, this tool may not be suitable for use in intervention studies

designed to change TWI, particularly if detection of small changes is desired.

In conclusion, the TWI-FQ may be a useful tool to assess population-level TWI behaviors. Due to the large variances observed, the TWI-FQ should not be utilized to assess individual-level TWI behaviors in which greater accuracy may be needed. Utilization of the TWI-FQ to assess population-level TWI may allow investigators to better determine relationships between liquid intake, hydration, and health. Moreover, the TWI-FQ could be utilized in conjunction with multiple 24-h diet recalls/records to better reflect water from food and subsequently TWI. Several studies have successfully improved accuracy of self-report dietary data through combining 24-h diet recall/records with food frequency questionnaires (36). The findings of this study can only be generalized to individuals 19-65 y. Further investigation is needed to assess application of the TWI-FQ in different geographical regions, climates, cultures, activity levels, and age groups.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of Arkansas, IRB. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

REFERENCES

- Clark WF, Sontrop JM, Huang SH, Moist L, Bouby N, Bankir L. Hydration and chronic kidney disease progression: a critical review of the evidence. *Am J Nephrol.* (2016) 43:281–92. doi: 10.1159/000445959
- Enhorning S, Wang TJ, Nilsson PM, Almgren P, Hedblad B, Berglund G, et al. Plasma copeptin and the risk of diabetes mellitus. *Circulation.* (2010) 121:2102–8. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.9 09663
- Sontrop JM, Dixon SN, Garg AX, Buendia-Jimenez I, Dohein O, Huang SH, et al. Association between water intake, chronic kidney disease, and cardiovascular disease: a cross-sectional analysis of NHANES data. Am J Nephrol. (2013) 37:434–42. doi: 10.1159/0003 50377
- Medicine Io. Water. Dietary Reference Intakes for Water, Potassium, Sodium, Chloride, and Sulfate. Washington, DC: National Academies Press (2005). p. 73–185.
- Hooton TM, Vecchio M, Iroz A, Tack I, Dornic Q, Seksek I, et al. Effect of increased daily water intake in premenopausal women with recurrent urinary tract infections: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2018) 178:1509–15. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2018.4204
- Enhorning S, Tasevska I, Roussel R, Bouby N, Persson M, Burri P, et al. Effects of hydration on plasma copeptin, glycemia and glucoregulatory hormones: a water intervention in humans. *Eur J Nutr.* (2017) 58:315–24. doi: 10.1007/s00394-017-1595-8
- 7. Fadda R, Rapinett G, Grathwohl D, Parisi M, Fanari R, Calo CM, et al. Effects of drinking supplementary water at school on cognitive

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The authors' responsibilities were as follows–SK, FP, IG, and EP designed research (project conception, development of overall research plan, and study oversight). EJ, LJ, CC-J, and JA conducted research (hands-on conduct of the experiments and data collection). AC, EJ, FP, SK, and AM analyzed data or performed statistical analysis. AC and SK wrote paper. SK had primary responsibility for final content. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was funded by Danone Research (grant number: 30000273).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Costas N. Bardis, LynnDee Summers, Yasuki Sekiguchi, Mickey Hammer, Thomas Vidal, Ainsley Hoffman, Berkley Vaughan, Laurent Smith, Rebecca Mishler, and Weldon Murry, for their help during data collection.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2021. 676697/full#supplementary-material

performance in children. *Appetite*. (2012) 59:730–7. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2012. 07.005

- Blanton CA, Moshfegh AJ, Baer DJ, Kretsch MJ. The USDA automated multiple-pass method accurately estimates group total energy and nutrient intake. J Nutr. (2006) 136:2594–9. doi: 10.1093/jn/136.10.2594
- NHANES. MEC In-Person Dietary Interviewers Procedures Manual CDC. (2016). Available online at: https://wwwn.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhanes/2015-2016/manuals/2016_MEC_In-Person_Dietary_Interviewers_Procedures_ Manual.pdf (accessed February 14, 2020).
- Barraj L, Scrafford C, Lantz J, Daniels C, Mihlan G. Within-day drinking water consumption patterns: results from a drinking water consumption survey. J Expos Sci Environ Epidemiol. (2009) 19:382–95. doi: 10.1038/jes. 2008.28
- Gandy J. First findings of the United Kingdom fluid intake study. Nutr Today. (2012) 47:S14–6. doi: 10.1097/NT.0b013e31826265e3
- Bardosono S, Monrozier R, Permadhi I, Manikam NR, Pohan R, Guelinckx I. Total fluid intake assessed with a 7-day fluid record versus a 24-h dietary recall: a crossover study in Indonesian adolescents and adults. *Eur J Nutr.* (2015) 54(Suppl. 2):17–25. doi: 10.1007/s00394-015-0954-6
- Péronnet F, Mignault D, Du Souich P, Vergne S, Le Bellego L, Jimenez L, et al. Pharmacokinetic analysis of absorption, distribution and disappearance of ingested water labeled with D₂O in humans. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2012) 112:2213–22. doi: 10.1007/s00421-011-2194-7
- Arya LA, Banks C, Gopal M, Northington GM. Development and testing of a new instrument to measure fluid intake, output, and urinary symptoms: the questionnaire-based voiding diary. *Am J Obstetr Gynecol.* (2008) 198:559.e1– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2008.01.049

- Malisova O, Bountziouka V, Panagiotakos DB, Zampelas A, Kapsokefalou M. The water balance questionnaire: design, reliability and validity of a questionnaire to evaluate water balance in the general population. *Int J Food Sci Nutr.* (2012) 63:138–44. doi: 10.3109/09637486.2011.607799
- Hedrick VE, Comber DL, Estabrooks PA, Savla J, Davy BM. The beverage intake questionnaire: determining initial validity and reliability. *J Am Dietetic Assoc.* (2010) 110:1227–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2010.05.005
- Hedrick VE, Savla J, Comber DL, Flack KD, Estabrooks PA, Nsiah-Kumi PA, et al. Development of a brief questionnaire to assess habitual beverage intake (BEVQ-15): sugar-sweetened beverages and total beverage energy intake. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2012) 112:840–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2012.01.023
- Johnson EC, Péronnet F, Jansen LT, Capitan-Jiménez C, Adams J, Guelinckx I, et al. Validation testing demonstrates efficacy of a 7-day fluid record to estimate daily water intake in adult men and women when compared with total body water turnover measurement. J Nutr. (2017) 147:2001– 7. doi: 10.3945/jn.117.253377
- Fausnacht AG, Myers EA, Hess EL, Davy BM, Hedrick VE. Update of the BEVQ-15, a beverage intake questionnaire for habitual beverage intake for adults: determining comparative validity and reproducibility. *J Hum Nutr Diet.* (2020) 33:729–37. doi: 10.1111/jhn.12749
- Cade JE, Warthon-Medina M, Albar S, Alwan NA, Ness A, Roe M, et al. DIET@NET: best practice guidelines for dietary assessment in health research. *BMC Med.* (2017) 15:202. doi: 10.1186/s12916-017-0962-x
- Perrier E, Vergne S, Klein A, Poupin M, Rondeau P, Le Bellego L, et al. Hydration biomarkers in free-living adults with different levels of habitual fluid consumption. *Br J Nutr.* (2013) 109:1678–87. doi: 10.1017/S0007114512003601
- Willett WC, Sampson L, Stampfer MJ, Rosner B, Bain C, Witschi J, et al. Reproducibility and validity of a semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire. *Am J Epidemiol.* (1985) 122:51– 65. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a114086
- 23. U.S. Department of Agriculture: Agricultural Research Service. *What We Eat in America Food Categories 2009-2010*. CDC (2013).
- 24. Armstrong LE, Johnson EC, Munoz CX, Swokla B, Le Bellego L, Jimenez L, et al. Hydration biomarkers and dietary fluid consumption of women. *J Acad Nutr Diet.* (2012) 112:1056–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2012.03.036
- Fjeld CR, Brown KH, Schoeller DA. Validation of the deuterium oxide method for measuring average daily milk intake in infants. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1988) 48:671–9. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/48.3.671
- Raman A, Schoeller DA, Subar AF, Troiano RP, Schatzkin A, Harris T, et al. Water turnover in 458 American adults 40-79 yr of age. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*. (2004) 286:F394–401. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00295.2003
- Pennington JAT, Spungen J. Bowes and Church's Food Values of Portions Commonly Used. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins (2009). doi: 10.1097/NT.0b013e3181c29f65
- Horita J, Kendall C. Stable isotope analysis of water and aqueous solutions by conventional dual-Inlet mass spectrometry. In: Groot PAd, editor. *Handbook* of Stable Isotope Analytical Techniques. 1. Amsterdam: Elsevier B. V. (2004). p. 1–37. doi: 10.1016/B978-044451114-0/50003-X

- 29. Moore FD. Hartsuck JM, Zollinger Jr RM. Johnson IE. Reference models for clinical studies by isotope dilution (1968)168:671. doi: 10.1097/00000658-196810000-Ann Surg. 00013
- Bland JM. How Can I Decide the Sample Size for a Study of Agreement Between Two Methods of Measurement? (2004). Available online at: https://www-users. york.ac.uk/\simmb55/meas/sizemeth.htm (accessed March 17, 2020).
- Bland JM, Altman DG. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. *Lancet.* (1986) 1:307– 10. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(86)90837-8
- Bland JM, Altman DG. Measuring agreement in method comparison studies. Statis Methods Med Res. (1999) 8:135–60. doi: 10.1191/09622809967381 9272
- Bland JM, Altman DG. Agreement between methods of measurement with multiple observations per individual. J Biopharm Stat. (2007) 17:571– 82. doi: 10.1080/10543400701329422
- 34. *Dietary Assessment Primer, Learn More About Biomarkers*. National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute (2019). Available online at: https://dietassessmentprimer.cancer.gov/learn/biomarkers.html (accessed February 21, 2020).
- Dietary Assessment Primer, Imperfect Reference Instruments. National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute (2019). Available online at: https://dietassessmentprimer.cancer.gov/concepts/validation/imperfect. html (accessed March 21, 2020).
- 36. Freedman LS, Midthune D, Arab L, Prentice RL, Subar AF, Willett W, et al. Combining a food frequency questionnaire with 24-hour recalls to increase the precision of estimation of usual dietary intakes-evidence from the validation studies pooling project. Am J Epidemiol. (2018) 187:2227–32. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwy126

Conflict of Interest: EJ had received grants from Danone Research and FP had served as member of the scientific advisory board of Danone Research. IG and EP were Danone Research employees. SK had served as scientific consultant for Quest Diagnostics and Standard Process and had served as a member of the scientific advisory board of Danone Research, and had active grants with Danone Research and Standard Process.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Colburn, Johnson, Péronnet, Jansen, Capitan-Jimenez, Adams, Guelinckx, Perrier, Mauromoustakos and Kavouras. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

